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1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Background 
  
 The Consolidated Fund is the general operating fund of the 

Government of Bermuda (the “Government”) which records the 
financial transactions of the Senate, House of Assembly, all 
Government departments, offices and courts.  It is into this fund that 
taxpayers pay revenue such as Payroll Tax, Customs Duties, Company 
Fees and Land Tax.  Government uses this revenue to pay for its many 
programmes such as health, education, public safety, financial 
assistance, infrastructure and public transportation. 

  
 The preparation of the financial statements of the Consolidated Fund 

is the responsibility of the Accountant General’s Department (the 
“ACG”) within the Ministry of Finance. The ACG is responsible for 
the accurate and timely preparation as well as the fair presentation of 
the financial statements in accordance with public sector accounting 
standards generally accepted in Bermuda and Canada.  The ACG is 
also responsible for implementing internal controls which are 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

  
 These responsibilities are enshrined in the Public Treasury 

(Administration and Payments) Act 1969 which provides the 
legislative authority for the Minister of Finance to manage 
Government finances and authorizes the Accountant General to 
prepare the annual accounts. 

  
 My role as the Auditor General is to express an opinion on the financial 

statements based on my audit.  An audit involves performing 
procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements.  The procedures selected during the audit 
depend on professional judgment and includes an assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. 

  
 In making those risk assessments, the audit considers internal controls 

relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements.  This is done to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of internal controls.   

  



1. INTRODUCTION 
 
 

2 2010, 2011 & 2012 Consolidated Fund Report – Auditor General of Bermuda 
 
 

 In addition to these procedures, an audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. 

  
 In each year, the audit of the Consolidated Fund was conducted in 

accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Bermuda and 
Canada. Those standards require that I comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.   

  
 Reasonable assurance is not absolute assurance nor is it a guarantee 

that the financial statements are completely free from material error.  
Due to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk 
that some misstatements of the financial statements will not be detected 
(particularly intentional misstatements concealed through collusion), 
even though the audit is properly planned and performed. 

  
  
1.2 General Comments  
  
 This report includes the results of audits of the Consolidated Fund for 

the years ended March 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012.  My Auditor’s 
Reports on those audits were qualified for the reasons outlined in 
Section 2 of this report.  

  
 The following matters of special importance which are relevant to all 

three years of audit are also documented in Section 2: 
  
  Consolidated financial statements for the whole of 

Government; 
 Financial statement discussion and analysis; 
 Borrowing and the plan to reduce the deficit and public debt;  
 Pension and other employee future benefits; 
 Taxpayer indebtedness to Government; 

 Inadequate budget process; 
 Overspending of supplementary estimate limits; and 
 Non-compliance with Financial Instructions and related rules. 

  
 An important part of the audit process is discussing our observations 

and recommendations with the Accountant General and other 
stakeholders. Key observations and recommendations are presented in 
Section 3 and commentary on Government’s financial position is 
included in Section 4.   
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1.3 Audit Committee  
  
 The Audit Committee established under Section 5 of the Audit Act 

1990 reviews my reports.  The Committee’s role includes reviewing 
drafts of my public reports, discussing key  points  with me  and  
communicating  to  Cabinet  any  matters the Committee believes 
should be brought to Cabinet’s attention before the report is 
disseminated in the public domain.  The members of the Audit 
Committee who reviewed this report are: 
 

 Name Position Employer 

 

 Mr. Kirk L. Davis, CPA, CA,       
MioD, Chairman 

President & CEO Pin High Limited 

 Mr. Alan F. Richardson, CPA, CA 
Deputy Chairman 

President & CEO The Centre 
Limited 

 Mr. Andrew A. Griffith, CPA, CA Group Vice-
President & 
CFO 

BAS Group of 
Companies 

 Ms. Shade Subair, LLB FR (Hons) Partner and 
Director 

Mussenden Subair 
Limited 

 Mr. Ottiwell Simmons, JP Consultant  

 Mr. Christopher A. Coelho, CPA, CA Retired – Former 
Senior Vice-
President & 
CFO 

Ascendant Group 
Limited 

 The Hon. Everard Trenton  Richards JP, 
MP (ex-officio member) 

 

Minister of 
Finance 

 

  

1.4 Parliamentary Standing Committee on the Office of the Auditor 
General  

 The Parliamentary Standing Committee on the Office of the Auditor 
General is a bipartisan Committee established under the Rules of the 
House of Assembly.  It is tasked with the responsibility of ensuring that 
the Office of the Auditor General has the necessary resources to carry 
out its mandate.  On an annual basis, I present my annual budget to this 
Committee for its consideration. 

 The members of the Committee are: 

 Mr. N.H. Cole Simons, JP, MP 
  Chairman

 Government Whip 

 Ms. Nandi S. Outerbridge, JP, MP Member of Parliament
 Ms. Lovitta F. Foggo, JP, MP Party Whip 
 Ms. Susan E. Jackson, JP,  MP Member of Parliament
 Mr. Dennis P. Lister, JP, MP Shadow Minister of Public Works
 Mr. Clark Somner,  

  Clerk to the Committee
Deputy Clerk to the Legislature
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1.5 Parliamentary Standing Committee on the Public Accounts  
  
 The Public Accounts Committee (the “PAC”) is a Parliamentary 

committee appointed for the duration of the life of Parliament and is 
chaired by a member of the Opposition.

  
 The Committee’s mandate is to examine, consider and report on “the 

accounts showing the appropriation of the sums granted by the 
Legislature to meet the public expenditure of Bermuda” and the report 
of the Auditor General on those accounts.  The Committee also reports 
on “any accounts as may be referred to the Committee by the House”.

  
 After the audited financial statements of the Consolidated Fund and the 

Auditor General’s Annual Reports are tabled, the PAC reviews them.  
During its review, the PAC may make any inquiries and request the 
appearance of any person to address significant concerns.  At the end of 
the process, the PAC issues a Report to the House of Assembly which 
typically requires the Minister of Finance to respond to 
recommendations therein.  

  
 The PAC tabled its report covering the Auditor General’s Annual Report 

for 2007 and 2008 (Appendix 7) in July 2010.  The Committee has made 
several important recommendations in its reports over the years, many 
of which are yet to be implemented.  In August 2010, the Minister of 
Finance provided a response to the Report to the House of Assembly 
(Appendix 8).   

  
 On July 20, 2012, the PAC tabled its report covering the first part of the 

Auditor General’s Report on the Misuse of Public Funds (Appendix 9).  
The PAC focused on the Inappropriate Conduct of the Chairman and 
Deputy Chairman of the Bermuda Land Development Company Limited 
and noted that time did not permit for deliberation on other aspects of 
my reports.  

  
 On June 6, 2014, the PAC tabled its report covering the second part of 

the Auditor General’s Report on the Misuse of Public Funds - the 
Inappropriate Use of Public Funds for Payment of Personal Legal 
Expenses (Appendix 10).  The Ministry of Finance’s response is 
contained in Appendix 11.  The PAC Report on the Auditor General’s 
Annual Report which includes comments arising out of the audit of the 
Consolidated Fund for the year ended March 31, 2009 was tabled on 
July 18, 2014 (Appendix 12).  The Ministry of Finance’s responses is 
contained in Appendix 13. 
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 The members of the PAC are:    

  Mr. E. David G. Burt, JP, MP    
Chairman 

 Shadow Minister of Finance 

 Ms. Lovitta F. Foggo, JP, MP  Party Whip 
 Mr. N.H. Cole Simons, JP, MP  Government Whip 
 Mr. Glen C. Smith, JP, MP  Member of Parliament 
 Mr. Jefferson C. Sousa, JP, MP  Member of Parliament 
 Mr. Wayne L. Furbert, JP, MP  Shadow Minister of Economic 

Development 
  Mr. Clark Somner,  

Clerk to the Committee 
 Deputy Clerk to the Legislature 

 

Hamilton, Bermuda Heather A. Jacobs Matthews, JP, FCPA, FCA, CFE 
December 2014 Auditor General 
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2. MATTERS OF SPECIAL IMPORTANCE 
 

  
2.1 Qualification of the Auditor’s Report 
  
 The audits of the Consolidated Fund of the Government of Bermuda 

were conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in Bermuda and Canada.  In performing the audits, the audit 
evidence obtained was sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for my opinion that the financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Consolidated Fund of 
the Government of Bermuda except as explained below. 

  
 In 2009, a Special Report of the Auditor General detailed the reasons 

for the qualification on the financial statements of the Consolidated 
Fund for the year ended March 31, 2008.  That report documented a 
high level of unsupported payments as well as an override of controls 
at the highest level of management in the construction of the 
Magistrate’s Court Building and the Hamilton Police Station.  
Among other concerns, we found: 
 

 Insufficient appropriate documentation or approvals to 
support payments; 

 Compromised internal control systems; 
 A $6.5 million payment unsupported by verification to 

receipted invoices; 

 Concerns expressed by the Project Manager about the 
legitimacy of some costs being claimed by the recommended 
contractor and 

 Refusal by the certifying architect to certify $2.7 million in 
payment requests submitted by the recommended contractor. 

  
 During the course of the audit, we were denied the right to audit 

material expenditures related to this capital project. In subsequent 
years, appropriate disclosures were not made.  These matters led me 
to question the propriety of certain transactions and the underlying 
cost and value of the buildings. 
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 As a result, I was unable to determine whether adjustments might 
have been necessary to material balances on the financial statements 
including current expenses, capital development expenses, deficit, 
work in progress, accumulated deficit and related note disclosures. 

  
 Considering the significant public expenditure on this project, the 

Accountant General agreed to obtain an independent professional 
valuation.  However, a formal valuation was not provided during the 
course of these audits.  Consequently, the auditor’s opinion was 
qualified. 

  
 Recommendation No. 1: 

Government should follow through on its commitment to 
obtain an independent professional valuation. 

Note: Subsequent to the issuance of the 2012 financial 
statements, a valuation was obtained and the qualification 
removed. 

  
2.2 Consolidated financial statements for Government 
  
 In addition to the Consolidated Fund, Government business is 

transacted through other public funds and Government-controlled 
organizations such as the Bermuda Housing Corporation.   

  
 Government’s financial statements do not currently consolidate 

the results of these organizations with the Consolidated Fund.  
Consolidating these funds and organizations with the 
Consolidated Fund essentially means that each organization’s 
assets, liabilities and operating results would be incorporated into 
the Consolidated Fund and form a part of the Government’s 
annual deficit or surplus.   

  
 Canada’s Public Sector Accounting Board recommends 

standards of disclosure which should be followed by 
Governments. Those standards have been accepted by the 
Chartered Professional Accountants of Bermuda (formerly the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Bermuda) and are 
therefore generally accepted in Bermuda. 

  
 Such standards require that “Financial statements should provide 

an accounting of the full nature and extent of the financial affairs 
and resources which the Government controls, including those 
related to the activities of its agencies and enterprises.” The 
standards also state that: 
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  Government financial statements should consolidate the 
financial statements of organizations comprising the 
Government reporting entity, except for Government 
business enterprises; and 

 The Government reporting entity should comprise the 
organizations that are controlled by the Government. 

  
 The inclusion of various funds and organizations in the Government 

reporting entity is primarily based on the criterion of control.  
Control is defined as the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies of another organization with expected benefits or the risk 
of loss accruing to the Government from the other organization's 
activities.  In essence, if Government can control an organization, 
whether actual or implied, its results should be included in the 
Government reporting entity.  Various Government funds and 
organizations (many of which will be included in the Government 
reporting entity) are listed in Appendix 1.   

  
 The Report of the Parliamentary Standing Committee on the Public 

Accounts for the financial years ended March 31st 2005 and March 
31, 2006 also endorsed the need for consolidated financial 
statements for Bermuda. The Minister of Finance has in the past 
indicated a commitment to provide consolidated statements.  
However, this was still not achieved for the years under audit.   

  
 Until consolidated financial statements are presented, there is a risk 

that those reading and relying on the financial statements of the 
Consolidated Fund may mistakenly view them as the consolidated 
financial statements of the Government.  More importantly, the 
public is not provided with full disclosure regarding the 
accumulated deficit or surplus of its Government. 

  
 As a result of this failure to conform to the standards of disclosure 

generally accepted in Bermuda, I have included the following 
explanatory paragraphs in my Auditor’s Report on the Consolidated 
Fund’s financial statements for the years ended March 31, 2010, 
2011 and 2012: 
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 As described in Note 2, these financial statements represent the 
financial transactions of the Consolidated Fund and have been 
prepared primarily to provide accountability for the financial 
resources appropriated by the Legislature of Bermuda.  These 
financial statements are not the summary consolidated financial 
statements, as contemplated by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Bermuda and the Canadian Institute of 
Chartered Accountants that would report the financial position 
and results of operations of the Government of Bermuda.  
Significant financial activities of the Government occur outside 
the Consolidated Fund. 

  
 In the absence of consolidated summary financial statements 

for the Government of Bermuda, I am of the opinion that the 
financial statements of the Consolidated Fund are intended and 
used to represent for all practical purposes the financial 
position of the Government of Bermuda and the results of its 
operations, its change in net debt and its cash flows. As such, in 
my opinion, the accounting policies used to prepare these 
financial statements are inappropriate to present fairly the 
financial position of the Government of Bermuda and the results 
of its operations, its changes in net debt and its cash flows. 

  
 Recommendation No. 2: 

Government should prepare and issue consolidated 
summary financial statements for Government as a 
whole.

  
 Ministry of Finance Response 

 
The Ministry agrees and is working towards the 
preparation of consolidated summary financial statements. 

  
2.3 Financial statement discussion and analysis 
  
 Annual financial statements continue to be a key accountability 

document for Government.  However, financial statements alone do 
not provide the breadth of information needed for users to fully 
understand Government finances. 

  
 CPA Canada (formerly the Canadian Institute of Chartered 

Accountants) has issued a Statement of Recommended Practice 
(SORP) entitled “Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis”.  It 
states that a Government's (annual) report should include financial 
statements and financial statement discussion and analysis. 

  



2.  MATTERS OF SPECIAL IMPORTANCE 
 
 

2010, 2011 & 2012 Consolidated Fund Report – Auditor General of Bermuda 11 
 

 The SORP indicates that the purpose of Financial Statement 
Discussion and Analysis (FSD&A) is to expand on and explain 
information contained in financial statements, making them more 
understandable to the general public. 
 

 The SORP suggests that FDS&A should include: 
 

 a. a highlights section that provides a brief, concise 
summary of the significant events affecting the 
results and financial position reflected in the financial 
statements; and 

  
 b. an analysis section that: 
  
 (i) includes information on known significant risks and 

uncertainties inherent in the Government’s financial 
position and changes in financial position, and 
briefly outlines the strategies, policies and techniques 
adopted to manage those risks and uncertainties; 

 (ii) identifies and explains: 
- significant variances between current year actual 
results and budget; 
- significant variances between current year actual 
results and prior year actual results; and 
- changes that have occurred but that are not readily 
apparent from the quantitative analysis; and 

(iii) includes an analysis of significant trends related to 
financial assets, liabilities, net debt, tangible capital 
assets, net assets, revenues, expenses / expenditures, 
net revenues and cash flows. 

  
 I strongly endorse the idea of Government publishing 

a FSD&A document at the same time as it publishes its 
financial statements.  Such a document would provide 
a robust analysis of what the financial statements mean 
and what the long-term trends are and is vital if readers 
are to understand the Government’s financial position 
and results.  If the FSD&A were done in conjunction 
with consolidated financial statements for the whole of 
Government, this would represent another significant 
enhancement of the Government of Bermuda’s 
accountability. 
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 Recommendation No. 3: 
Government should develop and publish a Financial 
Statement Discussion and Analysis document at the same 
time as its annual financial statements. 

  
 Ministry of Finance Response 

 
The Ministry agrees and plans to have this analysis 
published with the financial statements for the year 
ended March 31, 2015. 

  
  
2.4 Borrowing and the plan to reduce the deficit  and 

public debt 
 
 In order to finance its annual operating deficits, replace maturing 

debt and acquire capital assets, Government has borrowed money 
from various lenders.  The borrowing and more specifically, the 
public debt and net debt amounted to $1.24 billion and $2.42 
billion respectively, at March 31, 2012.   

  
 The debt and related deficit continue to grow.  The annual 

operating deficit for the year ended March 31, 2012 totalled $343 
million – $100 million more than the 2008 deficit.  The legislated 
borrowing limit has been increased twice over the two year period 
(from $1.0 billion in 2010 to $1.45 billion in 2012). Similarly, the 
Government’s long-term debt as at March 31, 2012 ($1.1 billion) 
has almost quadrupled what it was four years ago and resulted in 
annual interest costs of about $71 million for the year ended March 
31, 2012.     

  
 Despite this increasing level of debt and public concerns regarding 

sustainability, Government has not provided us with a plan to 
reduce the deficit and public debt.   

  

 Recommendation No. 4: 
To ensure the sustainability of public services, 
Government should establish and communicate a plan to 
reduce the deficit and level of public debt.   
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 Ministry of Finance Response 
 
The Government has announced the implementation of a 
medium term expenditure framework (MTEF).  The full 
implementation of a MTEF involves the introduction, 
from the 2014/15 budget cycle of rolling three-year budget 
and forward estimates to establish hard multi-year budget 
ceilings for each Ministry. To achieve the Ministry of 
Finance’s strategy for fiscal consolidation (i.e. deficit 
reduction) the Ministry set an ambitious target of cost 
savings on current account expenditure of 15%, in real 
terms, to be achieved by the end of three years. The 
2015/16 fiscal year represents the second year of the 
MTEF.  The other part of this strategy is to enhance 
revenue through policies that generate income from 
economic growth and other revenue streams. This will 
enable the Ministry of Finance to begin to fulfill its 
commitment to changing the trajectory of deficits and debt 
over the medium-term. 

  
2.5 Pensions and other employee future benefits 
  
 There are currently three major Government sponsored pensions 

plans.  The Public Service Superannuation Fund (“PSSF”) provides 
pensions for retired Government and quango employees.  The 
Ministers and Members of the Legislature Pensions Fund 
(“MMLPF”) provides retirement pensions for the ministers, 
members and officers of the Legislature and the Contributory 
Pension Fund (“CPF”) provides old age pensions, disability and 
death benefits for the general workforce. In addition to the pension 
plans, the Government Employees Health Insurance Fund provides 
health insurance benefits for Government employees, Ministers 
and Members of the Legislature and their dependents. 

  
 Legislation relating to the PSSF and MMLPF provides that, if at any 

time the funds accumulated to pay pensions are insufficient, the
deficiency will be made up by the Consolidated Fund.  A
corresponding provision does not exist to require the Consolidated
Fund to provide for any shortfall if, at any time, the CPF has
insufficient funds to meet its current legislated obligations. 
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 An unfunded liability exists when the benefits to be paid out 
exceed amounts available to pay.  The unfunded liability is 
therefore the amount of pension benefits which have been earned 
by current and former employees net of the value of assets held to 
pay for those benefits. 

  
 At March 31, 2012, the net unfunded liability for the PSSF, 

MMLPF and GEHI stood at $1.1 billion. 
  
 Table 1: Unfunded liability – pension/health plans
  
  $ millions 

 07/08 08/09 09/10 10/11 11/12 
      
PSSF 555 615 694 779 863 
MMLPF 18 20 21 21 23 
GEHI 175 199 223 216 240 
Total unfunded liability 748 834 938 1,016 1,126 
      

 

  
 Recommendation No. 5: 

Government should establish and communicate its plan to 
address the unfunded liability of the plans.  

  



2.  MATTERS OF SPECIAL IMPORTANCE 
 
 

2010, 2011 & 2012 Consolidated Fund Report – Auditor General of Bermuda 15 
 

 Ministry of Finance Response 
 
The Ministry indicated that it has started to address the 
problems associated with the PSSF in particular. Based 
on actuarial advice, PSSF contribution rates were 
increased from 5% to 8% and 9.5% for regular members 
and uniformed officers respectively.  The increase in 
pension contributions was the first step in fixing this 
problem and the Ministry noted that Government still had 
to address the unfunded liability incurred from prior non-
contributory service and prior inadequate contributions. 
To this end, in 2012 the Ministry commissioned an 
actuarial review of the PSSF to ensure the future 
sustainability of the Fund.  
 
To assist with the review of these pension plans, a Pension 
and Benefits Working Group (PBWG) has been 
established to review all public sector pension plans, and 
make recommendations to Cabinet in order to ensure the 
sustainability of these plans and benefits in a manner that 
is responsible and fair to both the pensioners and 
members of the plans and Bermuda taxpayers. As a part 
of this exercise, benefit design changes will also be 
considered for the MMLPF.  Reviews of the GEHI Plan 
are also being conducted in order to ensure the 
sustainability of this plan.

  
2.6 Taxpayer indebtedness to Government  
  
 As the unfunded liability increases, arrearages of Payroll and other 

taxes and pension contributions continue to increase despite 
various collection efforts.  Measures to reduce taxpayer 
indebtedness to Government have been largely unsuccessful.   

  
 As at March 31, 2012, the amount of taxes greater than 90 days in 

arrears which was owed to just one department of Government 
was $56.8 million compared to March 31, 2008, when the amount 
owed was $36.6 million.  Timely collection of outstanding 
revenue by Government helps to reduce the need for borrowing 
along with its associated finance costs. 
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 Payroll, Hotel Occupancy, Corporate Services and Land Tax at 
March 31 greater than 90 days in arrears were: 

  
 Table 2: Outstanding taxes 
 

 $ millions 
 07/08 08/09 09/10 10/11 11/12 
      
Payroll, Hotel Occupancy and 
Corporate Services Taxes 

 
25.7 

 
25.9 

 
27.0 

 
29.9 

 
37.2 

Land Tax 10.9 12.0 13.1 16.4 19.6 
 36.6 37.9 40.1 46.3 56.8 
      

  
 Recommendation No. 6: 

Government should establish and communicate a plan to 
address taxpayer indebtedness.  

  
 Ministry of Finance Response 

 
The Ministry agrees and indicates that the Government is 
looking at increasing resources in its Debt Enforcement Unit 
to assist with debt collection as this is a high priority of the 
Government. 

  
2.7 Inadequate budget process  
  
 The annual budget process is not driven by sound information about 

needs or the performance of past programmes.  In reality, the attempt 
at zero-based budgeting has become an incremental process in which 
the current year’s budget is based on the amount a ministry or 
department received in the prior year.  This is evident in the lack of 
a formal analysis of spending priorities as well as a formal 
assessment of which programmes fit best with overall Government 
objectives.   

  
 We were not provided with any form of analysis highlighting which 

programmes are underperforming, the reason for the under 
performance and what needs to be done.  Neither was there any 
evidence of accountability for poor performance.  As a result, 
inefficiencies and ineffectiveness in the implementation of 
Government programmes is perpetuated and there is little incentive 
to improve the performance of programmes.   
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 Recommendation No. 7: 
If Government is committed to getting the debt and deficit 
under control, the annual budget needs to be driven by 
longer-term strategic considerations and sound information 
about the objectives and performance of programmes.  

  
 Ministry of Finance Response 

 
The Ministry indicates that the MTEF seeks to strengthen 
budget formulation using a simple and practical multi-year, 
results-informed, program budgeting methodology. It allows 
flexibility in the allocation of resources across a series of 
annual budgets to meet objectives related to debt service and 
other Government commitments that cannot be achieved in 
a single budget cycle but this process will take time to 
implement properly. 

  
2.8 Overspending of Supplementary Estimate limits  
  
 For a number of years, many ministries, departments and legislative 

Offices have exceeded the limits imposed on their annual 
expenditures by the House of Assembly.  In fact, the annual over-
expenditure by departments has now become ingrained behavior in 
the conduct of Government officials for which there are no 
consequences. 

  
 For the year ended March 31, 2012, twenty-four ministries and 

departments collectively overspent approximately $36 million on 
current expenditures without prior legislative approval. 

  
 This habitual overspending by Government ministries and 

departments raises questions about the credibility of the budget 
process, expenditure control and the cash management functions 
carried out by the Ministry of Finance. 

  
 Recommendation No. 8: 

Government should renew its commitment to ensure that 
unplanned spending receives the full consideration and prior 
approval of the House of Assembly and the consequences for 
non-compliance should be enforced. 
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 Ministry of Finance Response 
 
The Ministry indicates that all pending supplementary 
estimates are now taken to the House during the budget 
session before the Ministry has overspent their Budget 
appropriation.  Overspends are now based on the Ministry 
total because departments can overspend as long as funds are 
vired to the Department and the Ministry total does not 
exceed the amount appropriated for the Ministry. 

  
2.9 Non-compliance with Financial Instructions and related rules  
  
 It is the responsibility of all public servants to ensure that public 

monies are spent in accordance with the appropriate legislative 
authority and related rules such as Financial Instructions issued by 
the Minister of Finance.   

  
 Many of the capital development transactions selected for testing did 

not comply with Financial Instructions and related rules.  As in the 
past, the issue is not whether controls exist, but, rather, that the 
controls are ignored or overridden, with those responsible seemingly 
immune to the imposition of penalties and sanctions built into 
Financial Instructions. 

  
 Recommendation No. 9: 

Government should enforce the existing penalties for not 
complying with Financial Instructions and related rules.  

  
 Ministry of Finance Response 

 
The Ministry agrees with this recommendation. 
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3. AUDIT OBSERVATIONS & RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
 At the conclusion of the Consolidated Fund audit, we document our 

observations and provide recommendations to address issues identified.  
We discuss these matters with the Accountant General indicating any 
points which should be brought to the attention of specific departments.  
Although we expect our recommendations to be implemented, our 
primary concern is that the Accountant General and departments select 
the best course of action to address the issues identified on a timely basis.  

 
 Included in this section are those matters arising from the audit which are 

significant enough to warrant the attention of the House of Assembly.  
Many of the observations point to a general failure to follow the rules 
(Financial Instructions) established by Government for the safeguarding 
of public assets.

  
 Financial Instructions are rules that govern the custody, handling and 

accounting of public money including the management of capital 
development projects.  Financial Instructions and related rules are 
designed to ensure that public money is managed effectively for the 
intended purpose.  

  
 These instructions specify that the Permanent Secretary of Public Works 

is the Accounting Officer for all capital development projects except 
those delegated by the Minister of Finance to another Ministry.  W&E is 
required to follow Financial Instructions as well as its own internal 
Management Policies and Procedures set out in P.F.A 2000 “Purchasing 
of Goods & Materials” and P.F.A 2002 “Procurement of Contract 
Services”.  

3.1 Failure to comply with Financial Instructions and 
related rules 

  
 Many of the capital development transactions selected for testing during 

2010 did not comply with Financial Instructions, P.F.A 2000 or P.F.A 
2002.   

  
 We requested supporting documentation for an estimated $35.5 million 

spent on capital contracts and purchases and 15% ($5.2 million) did not 
have supporting documentation.   Of the remaining $30.3 million, many 
failed to comply with the applicable purchasing and approval standards.  
The majority lacked the required prior approval of Cabinet, did not have 
agreements or contracts and/or did not follow the basic tendering 
procedure.   
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3.1.1 Millions spent without the prior approval of Cabinet 
  
 Cabinet is tasked with the responsibility of making major policy 

decisions on behalf of the people of Bermuda.  In order for Cabinet 
ministers to make well informed decisions in the interest of the public, 
Cabinet must be provided with accurate, objective information and 
high quality advice.   Financial Instruction 8.3.1 supports this principle 
by requiring all contracts “over $50,000 (including those with multiple 
payments) to be approved by Cabinet before the agreement or contract 
is signed”.   

  
 During 2010, approximately $14 million of expenditures tested did not 

have the required prior Cabinet approval.  Examples of expenditures 
greater than $500,000 without prior Cabinet approval include: 

  
Table 3: 2010 Contracts not approved by Cabinet 

 
 
NATURE OF CONTRACT 

 
VALUE 

 $ 
Commercial courts/Ministry of Finance renovations 1,863,386 

Maintenance and stores building  1,600,000 
Purchase of sand and rock  1,421,400 
Renovations - Department of Human Resources 957,726 
Central Laboratory Building project 902,000 
  
  

3.1.2 Commercial courts/Ministry of Finance renovations 
  
 A contract for the construction of the Commercial courts and 

renovation of the Ministry of Finance Headquarters was awarded to a 
company (“the successful bidder”) without the prior approval of 
Cabinet and the related tender process was compromised.   

  
 When the project was first put out to tender, the successful bidder’s 

bid was determined to be invalid because required sections of the 
Form of Tender were not completed.  Of the remaining 5 tenders 
received, staff in W&E recommended that the lowest bidder be 
awarded the contract. 

  
  



3.  AUDIT OBSERVATIONS & RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 

2010, 2011 & 2012 Consolidated Fund Report – Auditor General of Bermuda 21 
 

  However, in December 2008, the Minister of W&E instructed 
technical officers to request all bidders to re-bid based on a reduced 
scope of work.  The Permanent Secretary (PS) noted that the request 
for the re-bid should be phrased in the context of Government wishing 
to reduce spending given the current economic environment. The PS 
gave instructions to include all bidders and to allow them to make 
corrections to irregularities which may have disqualified their initial 
bids.   

  
 The successful bidder submitted a revised bid of $1.7 million.  A 

review of this second round of bids was not carried out by W&E staff 
nor was a recommendation made by them. 

  
 From the onset, senior W&E staff expressed their concerns about the 

handling of the project.  On January 2, 2009, a senior officer noted 
“…this is not how projects should be run. It should be noted that a 
review of the recent Tender was not carried out by this Department 
nor any recommendation put forward by this Department or Cabinet 
approval given to my knowledge.  The decisions to award any 
contracts were carried out at a higher level.  I am also concerned that 
“additional works” are going to be added and that the final expenditure 
is going to exceed the original Tender amount and that the quality is 
going to be compromised.” 

  
 The Ministry of Finance itself raised concerns about following due 

process in an email from the Financial Secretary to the PS which noted 
“…please advise whether the award complies with Financial 
Instructions in the following respects: 8.2.1(3) the same supplier 
should not be used repeatedly without good reason, 8.2.3(8) 
unsuccessful suppliers should not be allowed to resubmit a lower 
quotation price, 8.3.1 contracts totalling over $50,000 must be 
submitted to Cabinet for approval before acceptance.  In addition, 
please provide information pertaining to the principal(s) of the 
company which has been determined to receive the contract.”  

  
 We requested a copy of W&E’s response to the Ministry of Finance’s 

email and to date have not been provided with one.  However, it is 
apparent that the awarding of this contract did not meet critical 
requirements of Financial Instructions.   

  
 On January 7, 2009, the PS confirmed that the Minister had approved 

the award of the contract to the successful bidder in the amount of $1.7 
million.  Retroactive approval was later obtained from Cabinet on 
February 10, 2009.  The final amount paid to the company subsequent 
to change orders was approximately $1.9 million. 
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3.1.3 Maintenance and stores building 
  
 In 2010, Cabinet’s prior approval for a $1.6 million contract for the

construction of a Maintenance and stores building was not obtained. 
  
 When the original bids were received, W&E staff recommended the 

lowest bidder in their Contract Award Recommendation. They concluded
that the lowest bidder should have been awarded the contract on the basis 
of cost, schedules provided in its submission, the company’s clear
understanding of the requirements to undertake the project and its
collective experience. 

  
 However, when the contract was presented to Cabinet, the Minister of 

W&E voiced concerns about the lowest bidder’s ability to achieve the 
deadline.  No evidence to support these assertions was documented in the 
Cabinet Conclusion.   

  
 Cabinet did not approve the award of contract at that time.  Instead, 

Cabinet recommended that consideration of the contract award should be 
carried over to the next meeting to ensure that the estimate for the works 
was updated.   

  
 We requested confirmation of Cabinet’s subsequent approval.  However, 

neither W&E nor the Cabinet Office provided evidence that this contract 
was in fact returned to Cabinet for approval. 

  
3.1.4 Purchase of sand and rock 
  
 P.F.A. 2000 requires significant purchases to be approved by Cabinet as 

well as documented in a contract or agreement. In 2010, we examined 
payments of $1.4 million for the purchase of sand and rock.  The 
payments were processed without prior Cabinet approval, a documented 
contract, or verification of receipt of goods such as a bill of lading.  

  
 We requested but were not provided with Cabinet approval.  The failure 

to obtain Cabinet approval was corroborated by correspondence in which 
W&E staff questioned why an agreement was made prior to Cabinet 
approval.  

  
 These payments were also not supported by a contract or agreement as

required by P.F.A. 2000.  We requested but were not provided with a
contract nor agreement.  Instead, we were presented with a Government
purchase order and invoices from the vendor as supporting documentation
for the payments. 
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 Further, we requested evidence that the quantity of sand and rock was 
received and verified.  We would have expected to see the appropriate 
sign-off on bills of lading showing actual cargo received but W&E was 
unable to provide such evidence. These documents were later provided 
when W&E obtained them directly from the vendor.   

  
 A review of this documentation provided by the vendor indicated that 

payments for the sand and rock were processed prior to the receipt of 
goods in contravention of Financial Instructions. 

  

3.1.5 Renovations - Department of Human Resources 
  
 In 2010, a contract for renovations to the Department of Human 

Resources did not receive Cabinet’s prior approval nor was it put out to 
tender.   

  
 W&E confirmed that the project was not properly tendered and noted 

that the Head of the Civil Service agreed to proceed with negotiating a 
cost with a contractor.  As such, there was no Cabinet Award 
Recommendation document issued to Cabinet and no Cabinet approval 
was obtained for the award of this contract.  The original contract sum of 
$257,000 was negotiated with the contractor.  However, as a result of 
numerous change orders in the amount of $701,000, the final cost to the 
public was $958,000.   

  

3.1.6 Central Laboratory Building project
  
 The original contract sum for the Central Laboratory Building project 

was approximately $46,000.   In 2010, the contract did not receive prior 
Cabinet approval.  Additionally, W&E noted that the services were not 
tendered but were negotiated with the knowledge of the PS.  Additional 
services of $856,000 resulted in a final contract amount of $902,000.   

  
3.1.7 Departmental expenditures
  
 There were numerous cases (69% or $43 million of expenditures greater 

than $1 million in 2011) which violated the requirement for prior 
Cabinet approval.  In both 2010 and 2011, expenditures tested for the 
following departments did not have prior Cabinet approval.     
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 Table 4: Departmental expenditures not approved by Cabinet
 

 

 
DEPARTMENT 

 
2010 

 
2011 

 $ $ 
Lands, Buildings & Survey   10,596,138 
Airport Operations  3,047,204 
Civil Aviation 2,622,747 2,757,425 
Tourism 1,500,727 2,726,303 
Transport Control   2,068,106 
Information Technology Office  2,019,150 
Telecommunications  2,015,314 
Education 3,890,235 1,828,218 
Health Insurance  1,639,728 
Finance HQ  1,399,966 
Transport HQ  1,373,000 
Corrections 1,108,338 1,363,273 
Operations & Engineering 1,394,113 1,177,203 
Accountant-General  1,027,889 
Police 1,889,161  
Works & Engineering 1,494,311  
   

  
 It is evident that the policies, procedures and rules pertaining to capital 

expenditures are being violated to such an extent that it has now become 
the norm for which there are no consequences. 

  
 Compliance with the required procedures for the procurement of goods 

and services reduces the risk of non-performance, fraud and 
misappropriation.  Persons with signing authority should be held 
accountable for breaches of compliance of the relevant Financial 
Instructions and rules. 

  
 We recommended that W&E should comply with Financial Instructions, 

P.F.A 2000 and P.F.A 2002 and the Accountant-General should take steps 
to reinforce compliance with Financial Instructions and related rules 
across Government.  Where appropriate, the existing penalties for not 
complying with these policies, procedures and rules should be enforced. 

  

3.2 Millions paid without signed contracts or agreements 
  
 Financial Instruction 8.3.4 provides that “if a contract is not provided by 

the supplier, a contract/agreement must be prepared that includes all terms 
and conditions… and must be vetted by the Attorney General prior to 
signing”.   
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 In 2010, the Department of Works & Engineering did not adhere to 
Financial Instructions and related rules. We identified instances where 
expenditures were made without contracts or agreements.  An estimated 
$5 million (17%) of the $30.3 million expenditures tested in 2010 did not 
have a contract or agreement.  Expenditures greater than $300,000 made 
on behalf of the following departments did not have signed contracts or 
agreements: 

  

 Table 5: Expenditures made without signed contracts 

DEPARTMENT 2010 
 $ 
Civil Aviation  2,622,747 
Ministry of Works & Engineering 1,494,311 
Police 1,330,718 
Corrections 1,108,338 
Operations & Engineering 1,019,113 
Lands, Buildings & Surveys 941,453 
Information Technology Office  612,027 
Accountant General 300,000 
  
  

  
 We recommended that payments should not be processed unless there has 

been substantial compliance with Financial Instructions and related rules. 
To facilitate this process, we provided suggestions for revising the 
payment authorization signoff stamp or requiring a checklist to be 
prepared to include key Financial Instructions and P.F.A. requirements.  
We also recommended training for persons with signing authority as well 
as holding responsible persons accountable for any breach of compliance 
of Financial Instructions and related rules.  

  
3.3 Significant contracts not tendered   
  
 Tendering is required for any contract where the value of goods and 

services exceeds $50,000.  
  
 Financial Instruction 8.3.1 requires Ministries and Department to obtain 

quotations from suppliers of goods and services.  The minimum number 
of quotations to be obtained and the rigour of the evaluation and awarding 
process depend on the size of the purchase or contract as well as the 
potential cost/benefit of administering the tendering process.  
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 Despite the requirements of Financial Instructions, the 2010 audit 
revealed that 55% ($16.8 million) of expenditures tested were not 
tendered.  Expenditures greater than $1 million which were not tendered 
relate to the following departments:

  
 Table 6: 2010 Contracts not tendered 

 
 

 

 
DEPARTMENT 

 
2010 

 $ 

Education        4,189,474 
Tourism         3,634,805  
Civil Aviation         2,622,747  
Information Technology Office         2,258,772  
Transport Control         2,081,170  
Police         1,643,562  
Corrections        1,108,338  
Ministry of Works & Engineering        1,033,807  

  
  

  
 In 2011, an estimated $62 million of expenditures tested (76%) were not 

tendered in compliance with Financial Instructions, P.F.A. 2000 and 
P.F.A. 2002.  Expenditures greater than $1 million which were not 
tendered relate to the following departments: 

  
 Table 7: 2011 Contracts not tendered 

  
DEPARTMENT 

 
2011 

 $ 
Tourism 18,116,485 
Lands, Buildings & Surveys  10,749,109 
Marine & Ports 4,346,651 
Airport Operations 3,830,087 
Civil Aviation 2,791,425 
Public Transportation 2,262,459 
Transport Control  2,081,694 
Telecommunications 2,049,993 
Education 1,995,165 
Health Insurance 1,639,728 
Finance HQ 1,563,106 
Financial Assistance 1,492,250 
Corrections 1,418,625 
Operations & Engineering 1,267,642 
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 We recommended that the Accountant-General take steps to ensure that 
Financial Instructions and related rules are followed across Government.   
Contracts should not be entered into and payment certificates should not 
be processed unless all relevant procurement policies have been 
followed.  Where appropriate, the existing consequences for not 
complying with Financial Instructions should be enforced. 

  
3.4 Duplicate Payments  
  
 An underlying premise of Financial Instructions is that payments for the 

same goods and services will not be made twice.  Financial Instruction 
9.4 requires authorized officers to “exercise care and implement proper 
controls to prevent duplicate payments by ensuring that invoices have 
not been previously presented for payment.”  Included in  duplicate 
payments were the following:

  
 Table 8: Duplicate Payments 
  
 

 

 2010 2011 2012 
 $ $ $ 
3rd Quarter grant  5,175,551   
Works & Engineering Payment Certificate 1,179,253   
Cheque issued twice  59,041   
Miscellaneous items  571,421  
Payment to Sandys 360   807,000 
 6,413,845 571,421 807,000 
    

  
 The 3rd quarter grant was recovered but not the cheque which was issued 

twice.  The amount paid to Sandys 360 has not been recovered. 
Explanations for the other duplications have not been provided.  We 
recommended that the Accountant General investigate the circumstances 
giving rise to these duplications, implement more robust controls and 
procedures to prevent duplication of payments and take all steps 
necessary (including legal action) to recover any amounts overpaid.

  
3.5 Overpayments  
  
 A basic element of an effective internal control system is verification of 

the correctness of payments.  Financial Instruction 9.4 is explicit that “it 
is the authorised officer’s responsibility to “ensure payment is made in 
accordance with Financial Instructions and to carefully review 
supporting documentation prior to approval for payment”. 

  



3.  AUDIT OBSERVATIONS & RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 

28 2010, 2011 & 2012 Consolidated Fund Report – Auditor General of Bermuda 
 

 The Department of Airport Operations (DAO) overpaid $256,336 to a 
project contractor in 2009.  This amount remained outstanding at March 
31, 2010.  When the retention of $759,721 was subsequently released to 
the project contractor, this overpayment of $256,336 along with 
outstanding Payroll Tax of $321,277 was not deducted from the 
retention.   This resulted in a loss of Government revenue of $577,613. 

  
 In addition, the retention was paid to the wrong person.  Payment was 

made to the project manager instead of the project contractor.  DAO was 
advised of this error by the project manager who then transferred the 
funds to the project contractor.

  
 We recommended that more robust controls and procedures should be 

implemented to prevent duplication of payments.  We recommended that 
DAO should properly monitor retention amounts and take the necessary 
legal and other steps to recover any amounts overpaid. 

  
3.6 Supplementary Appropriation Bills not tabled 
  
 Section 96(4) of the Bermuda Constitution Order 1968 requires a 

Supplementary Appropriation Bill to be introduced into the House of 
Assembly as soon as practicable after the year end of the financial year 
in which the Supplementary Estimates became necessary. 

  
 During 2010, Supplementary Appropriation Bills were not introduced in 

the House of Assembly for estimates relating to March 31, 2001 and 
subsequent years. In 2011, these Supplementary Estimates were tabled 
and approved.

  
 We recommended that all required Supplementary Estimates be updated 

and related Supplementary Appropriation Bills introduced into the 
House of Assembly in accordance with the Bermuda Constitution Order 
1968. 

  
3.7 Inadequate procedures over bank reconciliations 

 In recent years, we reported significant issues related to the bank 
reconciliation process.  These issues have not been resolved.  Current 
year deficiencies include:

 
 Lack of support for reconciling items; 
 Duplicate payments; 
 Stale dated cheques not cancelled; 
 Unsupported transactions; 
 Unrecorded foreign exchange transactions;
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  Deposits & wire transactions improperly or not 
recorded in the GL; 

 Disbursements not recorded; and  
 Deposits not made on a timely basis.

  
 Given the risks inherent in the reconciliation process, it is imperative 

that the Accountant General exercise a greater degree of control over 
the reconciliation function.  We recommended that the ACG perform 
procedures required under Financial Instructions and develop a robust 
control environment.  In the case of stale-dated cheques for which there 
were no clear guidelines, we recommended that Financial Instructions 
should be amended to explicitly address this matter.   

  
3.8 Completeness and accuracy of accounting for Employee 

Benefits 
  
 Testing of the completeness and accuracy of the liability relating to the 

Public Service Superannuation and the Government Employees Health 
Insurance Funds revealed the following: 

  During 2011, terminated, retired and temporary 
employees as well as summer students were erroneously 
included in the actuarial valuation.  This resulted in a $2.5 
million miscalculation of the accrued benefit obligation 
for PSSF and $10.5 million for GEHI; 

 An inappropriate method of loss calculation was used 
which required a $21.5 million valuation adjustment; and 

 Incorrect Cost of Living Adjustments were included in 
the actuarial valuation resulting in a $15 million 
overstatement. 

 We recommended that the ACG implement a more robust system to 
improve the completeness and accuracy of information provided to the 
actuary. 

  
3.9 Inadequate provisioning 
  
 During 2011, the Office of the Tax Commissioner (“OTC”) set up a $20 

million provision for doubtful accounts for taxes which were more than 
90 days outstanding.  The assumptions underlying this provision were 
not reasonable.  Additionally, a well-founded plan of action for 
collection was not provided given the historical and statistical record of 
collection.  The provision was subsequently increased to $31.7 million.
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 We recommended that the OTC implement a sound methodology for 
estimating the provision and that the appropriate level of review be 
carried out by the ACG.

  
3.10 Inadequate procedures over amounts receivable from or 

payable to other Government agencies 
  
 Our testing of receivable balances continues to indicate weak 

accounting procedures which include: 
  
  Grants of $700,000 and expenses of $612,000 of the 

Confiscated Assets Fund were not appropriately 
reflected in the accounts and 

 Amounts due to/from the Bermuda Hospitals Board 
were not reconciled on a timely basis resulting in $9.4 
million (2011) in unbilled claims not being properly 
reflected. 

  
 We recommended timely and accurate reconciliation of balances due to 

or from other Government agencies.
  
3.11 Lack of ministerial authorization for inter-fund transfers
  
 Inter-fund transfers in the following amounts were not authorized for 

transfer by the Minister of Finance. 
  
 Table 9: Interfund transfers
  
  2010 2011 

 $ $ 
Unauthorized transfers 11 million 12 million 

   
   

  
 We recommended explicit written authorization of inter-fund transfers 

by the Minister. 
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3.12 Millions paid for professional services without prior 
approval  

  
 Payments for consultants during fiscal 2012 amounted to $33 million or 

5% of the operating expenses of the Consolidated Fund.  Financial 
Instruction 10 requires Accounting Officers to obtain the written approval 
of the Secretary to the Cabinet for the retention of consultants.  Financial 
Instruction 10.4.3 further provides than an Accounting Officer may be 
surcharged under Financial Instruction 2.9 if consultants are retained 
without prior approval.   

  
 None of the payments selected for testing ($2 million) pertaining to 

consultants contained the approval of the Secretary to the Cabinet nor 
were we provided with any evidence that surcharges had been levied on 
the relevant Accounting Officers for failure to obtain the necessary 
approvals prior to retaining the consultants. 

  
 We recommended the establishment of robust controls, heightened 

scrutiny, the establishment of an oversight committee for the retention of 
consultants and the application of surcharges. 

  
3.13 Bank limit exceeded by $24 million 
  
 During fiscal 2012, the Temporary Loans Act 1973 limited the borrowing 

from any bank by way of overdraft to 10% of annual budget estimates of 
expenditure approved by the House of Assembly. 

  
 As at March 31, 2012, Government was not in compliance with Section 

2 of the Temporary Loans Act 1973 as the bank overdraft of $121 million 
exceeded the legislated limit by $24 million.  

  
 We recommended enhanced monitoring, controls and procedures to 

ensure compliance with the Temporary Loans Act 1973. 
  
3.14 Inappropriate application of or lack of accounting policies 
  
 Accounting policies are principles or rules selected by Government which 

apply to the underlying transactions in the financial statements.  The 
selection of appropriate accounting policies results in fair and accurate 
presentation. 
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 Appropriate accounting policies were selected but misapplied in the 
following instances: 

  
  Betterments were not added to related capital assets as required by 

accounting standards.  Instead, they were separately capitalized 
resulting in inaccurate amortization charges; and 

 Customs duty was capitalized resulting in an overstatement of the 
cost of capital assets and inventory.

  
 Formal policies have not been established to address: 
  
  the capitalization of computer software resulting in $7.6 million 

being incorrectly recorded; 
 the treatment of interest costs on capital projects; 
 the transfer of capital assets to quangos; and 
 the impairment of capital assets.  As a result, the Assets under 

Construction balance included several items which no longer 
contribute to Government’s ability to provide goods and services. 

 Given the need for consistent application of accounting policies, we 
recommended that: 

  
  Betterments should be recorded and calculated in a manner that is 

consistent with the accounting policy and recommendations 
contained in the CPA Canada’s Public Sector Accounting Standard 
PS 3510; 

  A policy should be developed and applied consistently for the 
treatment of Customs duty; and 

 Formal policies should be developed based on Canadian Public 
Sector Accounting Standards.  These policies should be documented 
in Financial Instructions and communicated to all department and 
ministry comptrollers. 

  
3.15 Presentation issues 

 We highlighted concerns about the timeliness and accuracy of financial 
information being presented for audit in previous years.  This period was 
no exception.  Among the notable matters which impacted the delivery of 
the audit were: 

  Multiple revisions to the financial statements were required as a 
result of hundreds of adjusting journal entries (2012 – 269, 2011 - 
193, 2010 - 84); 
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  Expenses were not reported by function; and 
  Interdepartmental transactions were not eliminated.  
  
 The ACG needs to improve its financial reporting process by evaluating 

present procedures relating to timeliness and accuracy.  We recommended 
that procedures be enhanced to improve the year-end financial processes 
and the review of financial statements. 

  
3.16 Overspending of Supplementary estimate limits  
  
 Spending limits are imposed by the House of Assembly during the annual 

budget debate.  Financial Instruction 5.5 states that “the approval of the 
Legislature must be obtained before committing to an over-expenditure. 
… Except for a catastrophic event (e.g. spending required on an 
emergency basis in the event of a hurricane) approval of the Legislature 
must always be obtained in writing before making any commitment to 
overspend.”   

 For the year ended March 31 2010, the limits imposed by the House of 
Assembly  were exceeded in the following areas: 

  $35.8 million was overspent on current expenditures by twenty-
four departments without prior legislative approval.  Fifteen of the 
departments which overspent in the current year also overspent in 
the previous fiscal year.     

 Nine capital development projects exceeded the Total Authorized 
Figure (TAF) approved in the budget by $400,000. 

 Approximately $9.4 million was overspent on capital projects by 
various Departments without prior Ministerial approvals as the 
required virements (transfers   between estimates within a 
department) were only approved after the year-end. A virement is a 
transfer of a specific budget amount from one or more approved 
estimates to another within the department’s total budget. 

  
 Table 10: Overspending of limits 

 
Overspending of: 2010 2011 2012 
    
 $ millions $ millions $ millions 
    
Current expenditures 35.8 45.7 34.4 
Capital projects 9.4 7.85 10.87 
Total authorized figure 0.4 0.88 8.4 
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 The Ministry of Finance has in the past agreed to enforce Supplementary 
Estimate procedures. This includes requiring formal explanations from 
departments that overspent, and applying sanctions or penalties for non-
compliance as provided for in Financial Instructions.  Since that time, 
however, each fiscal year has seen incidents of overspending with no 
supplementary estimates or sanctions applied. We continue to support the 
recommendation of procedures being enforced.

  
3.17 Information Technology (IT) deficiencies  
  
 The Government depends on information processed through its IT system 

to perform critical functions.  We have in the past years identified IT 
control deficiencies, many of which have not been resolved.   Deficiencies 
in the current years include 

  
  Weaknesses in access rights/privileges; 

 Lack of password policies; 
 Formal change management and problem/incident management 

procedures were not in place; 
 Disaster recovery plans and Business Continuity Plans were not 

finalized and updated; 
 One open-ended contract resulted in significant modification costs 

as well as undue reliance on one individual; 
 Weaknesses in the Virtual Private Network; 
 Security Policy not implemented; 
 Operations and emergency procedures not documented; 
 A Risk Assessment and Risk Assessment Plan have not been 

prepared; and 
 Lack of a policy on disposal of IT devices. 

  
 Given the risks to the delivery of services as well as protection of the 

accuracy, confidentiality and integrity of information collected, it is critical 
that these deficiencies are rectified.  We recommended enhanced 
procedures to improve the management of IT security. 
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4. GOVERNMENT’S FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

 
Financial statements provide a glimpse of Government’s financial affairs 
at a particular point in time as indicated in the graph below:  

 
Graph 1 

 
 

 
 
 
However, such information is not always within the context of where 
Government has been and seldom within the context of where it is 
heading.  To obtain this perspective, information such as financial 
indicators should be provided with the audited financial statements. 

 
Although not mandated, standards generally accepted in Canada and 
Bermuda recommend the annual presentation of financial indicators.  Key 
financial indicators can: 

 
 provide insight into Government’s fiscal stewardship; 
 illustrate Government's financial ability to maintain the current level 

and quality of its services, meet its short and long-term obligations and  
finance new programmes; 

 identify foreseeable risks and trends; 
 provide a level of transparency as they indicate Government’s policy 

and operating decisions and their resulting impacts; and 

 provide a basis for comparison, where appropriate, with other relevant 
jurisdictions. 
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In the absence of Government providing such supplementary 
information, this section includes Sustainability and Flexibility 
indicators for the past 5 years.   

 
4.1 Sustainability Indicators 
  
 Sustainability refers to the degree to which Government can maintain its 

current financial obligations without increasing revenues such as taxes, 
customs duty or debt.  The sustainability indicator is important because 
it describes the impact that the level of debt could have on providing 
future service to the public as well as honouring financial and other 
commitments to lenders, creditors, employees and others.   

  
 As a general rule, where net debt is increasing at a faster rate than the 

gross domestic product (GDP), there is a risk that current services to the 
public cannot be sustained.  

  
 Table 11: Net Debt Increases and GDP decreases 
  
  $millions 

 07/08 08/09 09/10 
(restated)

10/11 
(restated) 

11/12 

Net Debt (Liabilities 
– Financial Assets) 

 
1,131.7 

 
1,390.7 

 
1,748.3 

 
2,068.2 

 
2,415.1 

% Increase  22.9 25.7 18.3 16.8 
GDP decreases      
     ($billions) 6.1 5.8 5.9 5.6 4.5 
      

 

  
 A 17% increase in the net debt is not sustainable in light of the negative 

growth rate of the economy. 
  
 Sustainability can also be assessed by analyzing trends in the: 
  
  Annual Surplus or Deficit; 
  Net Debt to Total Annual Revenue; 
  Assets to Liabilities;  
  Financial Assets to Liabilities; and  
  Revenue as a Percentage of GDP. 
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4.1.1 Annual Surplus or Deficit 
  
 The Annual Surplus indicates the extent to which revenues exceed 

expenses during the year. The Annual Deficit is the amount by which 
Government’s spending exceeded its incoming revenue from customs 
duties, taxes, etc.  It is a measure of how much was overspent in any given 
year.   

  
 In each of the past five years, Government experienced the following 

deficits: 
  
 Table 12: Annual Deficit 
  
  $millions 

 07/08 08/09 
(restated)

09/10 
(restated)

10/11 
(restated) 

11/12 

      
Revenues 928.5 950.8 917.9 996.7 914.2 
Expenses 1,143.7 1,187.0 1,292.9 1,308.5 1,257.4 
      
Annual 
Deficit 

 
215.2 

 
236.2 

 
375.0 

 
311.8 

 
343.2 

      
 

 The deficit for the year ended March 31, 2012 was $343 million up 60% 
from 2008’s deficit of $215 million.   

  
 Accumulated Deficit 
  
 Deficits are either reduced by annual surpluses or they continue to grow.  

Each year, the deficit is added to the prior year’s balance to determine the 
accumulated deficit.  The accumulated deficit, therefore, represents the 
total amount of all annual surpluses and deficits over time (net of 
accounting adjustments).  

  
 Table 13: Accumulated Deficit 
  
  $millions 

 07/08 08/09 
(restated)

09/10 
(restated)

10 /11 
(restated) 

11/12 

Accumulated 
Deficit 

617.5 657.7 1,028.1 1,262.8 1,606.0 

      
% Increase  6.5 56.3 22.8 27.2 
      

 

 For the year ended March 31, 2012, the accumulated deficit stood at $1.6 
billion which was approximately $988 million more than the 2008 
accumulated deficit.  

  



4.  AUDIT OBSERVATIONS & RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 

38 2010, 2011 & 2012 Consolidated Fund Report – Auditor General of Bermuda 
 

4.1.2 Net debt to total annual revenue 
  
 Each successive year of accumulated deficit results in Government 

borrowing with the result that net debt has increased at an average rate of 
22% per year over the past five years.  Net debt is the difference between 
liabilities (what is owed) and financial assets (generally cash and its 
equivalent).  Net debt provides a snapshot of the extent to which future 
revenues will be required to pay for past transactions.    

  
 The net debt to total annual revenue indicator measures Government’s net 

debt as a percentage of total revenues.  At March 31, 2012, net debt stood 
at $2.4 billion or $347 million more than the 2011 debt of $2.1 billion.  

  
 Table 14: Net Debt to Total Annual Revenue 
  
  $ millions 

    
Year Net Debt Total Revenue Net debt/total revenue % 
    
07/08 1,131.7 928.5 121.9 
08/09 1,390.7 950.8 146.3 
09/10 1,748.3 917.9 190.5 
10/11 2,068.2 996.7 207.5 
11/12 2,415.1 914.2 264.2 
    

  
 Over the past 5 years, net debt to total revenue has increased from 122% 

to 264% with the result that Government will need more time to eliminate 
the national debt.  This trend is unfavourable and may not be sustainable.

  
4.1.3 Assets-to-Liabilities 
  
 The assets-to-liabilities indicator measures the ratio of Government’s 

financial and non-financial assets to its liabilities.  It illustrates the extent 
to which Government finances its operations by issuing debt. 
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 Table 15: Assets-to-Liabilities 
  
 

 

  
$ millions 

    
Year Total Assets Liabilities Assets to Liabilities Ratio 
    
07/08 712.8 1,330.3 .54 
08/09 918.6 1,576.2 .58 
09/10 909.8 1,937.9 .47 
10/11 1,008.1 2,270.9 .44 
11/12 1,009.4 2,615.4 .39 
    

  
 A ratio greater than one indicates that Government has accumulated surplus 

and has assets greater than debt. A ratio less than one indicates that debt is 
greater than assets and illustrates the extent to which Government has 
financed its operations by issuing debt. 

  
 In each of the past 5 years, this ratio has been less than one and a trend in 

this direction may not be sustainable.
  
4.1.4 Financial Assets-to-Liabilities 
  
 The extent to which Government’s future revenues will be required to pay 

for past transactions or events is indicated by the Financial Assets to 
Liabilities Ratio.

  
 Table 16: Financial Assets-to-Liabilities 

 
 

 

  
$ millions 

    
Year Financial Assets Liabilities Assets to Liabilities Ratio 
    
07/08 198.6 1,330.3 .15 
08/09 185.5 1,576.2 .12 
09/10 189.5 1,937.9 .10 
10/11 202.6 2,270.9 .09 
11/12 200.2 2,615.4 .08 
    

  
 A ratio less than one indicates that liabilities exceed financial assets and may 

mean a reliance on future revenues or increasing debt to pay for past 
decisions. 
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 In the last five years, liabilities have far outstripped financial assets and 
emphasize the degree to which future customs duty, fees, taxes or debt will 
be required to fund Government services.  This trend is unfavorable and 
negatively impacts the sustainability factor of the Government. Borrowing 
to fund Government services is not always an appropriate financing strategy 
as it shifts the costs to future generations while today’s taxpayers enjoy the 
benefits. 

  
4.1.5 Revenue as a percentage of GDP 
  
 Table 17: Revenue as a percentage of GDP 
 

 

    
Year Total Revenue GDP Revenue/GDP % 
 $ millions $ billions  
    
07/08 928.5 6.1 .15 
08/09 950.8 5.8 .16 
09/10 917.9 5.9 .16 
10/11 996.7 5.6 .18 
11/12 914.2 4.5 .20 
    

  
4.2 Flexibility Indicators 
  
 Flexibility is the degree to which Government can change its tax structure 

or debt to meet its existing commitment to the public to provide services as 
well as its financial commitments to lenders, creditors, employees and 
others. 

  

 Flexibility indicators provide a view of how Government manages its 
finances.  Increasing current borrowing reduces Government’s flexibility to 
respond when adverse economic circumstances develop.  Similarly, 
increasing taxes, customs duty, fees and fines reduce Government’s ability 
to do so in the future as it approaches the limit that the public is willing to 
bear. Key flexibility factors are: 

 
 Public debt-to-revenues 
 Net book value-to-cost of capital assets 
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4.2.1 Public debt-to-revenues 
  
 Public Debt is defined as any debt owed or guaranteed by the Consolidated 

Fund which is due and payable.  It excludes the Sinking Fund which is 
money set aside to repay Government loans.  At March 31, 2012, Public 
Debt stood at $1.2 billion representing a 344% increase in five years: 

  
 Table 18: Public debt
  

    
Year Public Debt Legislated Limit 
 $ $ 
07/08 278,322,792 375,000,000 
08/09 483,262,295 1,000,000,000 
09/10 969,464,859 1,000,000,000 
10/11 1,001,981,762 1,250,000,000 
11/12 1,235,972,933 1,450,000,000 
   

  
 The "public debt-to-revenues" indicator measures public debt charges as a 

percentage of revenues. It illustrates the extent to which past borrowing 
decisions present a constraint on Government's ability to meet its financial 
and service commitments in the current period. Specifically, the more 
Government uses revenues to meet interest cost commitments related to 
past borrowing, the less will be available for spending on current 
programmes. 

  
 Table 19: Public debt-to-revenues 
  
   

Public Debt
 
Revenues

Public debt 
to revenues 

 $ $millions  
07/08 278,322,792 928.5 .30 
08/09 483,262,295 950.8 .51 
09/10 969,464,859 917.9 1.06 
10/11 1,001,981,762 996.7 1.01 
11/12 1,235,972,933 914.1 1.35 
    

  
 In the past five years, Government has more than quadrupled the amount 

of Public debt to revenue.  This is important because when this indicator 
significantly increases for an extended period of time (assuming relatively 
stable interest rates), it means that Government has consistently chosen 
borrowing over increases in taxes, customs duty, fees and fines to meet its 
financial and service commitments. This eventually has an effect on 
Government’s flexibility since higher debt generally impairs the ability to 
borrow money at reasonable interest rates and to roll over existing debt.   
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4.2.2 Net book value-to-cost of capital assets 
  
 The "net book value-to-cost of capital assets" indicator reports the extent 

to which the estimated useful lives of Government's tangible capital assets 
are available to provide its products and services.  

  
 Table 20: Net book value-to-cost of capital assets 
  
   

Capital assets 
  

Net book value 
 

Cost 
Net book value to 
cost of capital assets 

 $ $  
    
07/08 471,937,023 676,212,921 .70 
08/09 599,263,650 836,714,330 .72 
09/10 600,482,069 874,772,391 .69 
10/11 727,752,452 1,044,407,866 .70 
11/12 751,450,187 1,114,598,769 .67 
    

 

  
 If Government's scale, scope and level of services remain unchanged or 

grow, its ageing asset base could eventually impair flexibility because of 
the impending future costs of capital asset repair or replacement. 

  
  
 Conclusion 
  
 Many of the indicators suggest a level of unsustainability and impaired flexibility 

which Government must make every effort to address.   
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11 Victoria Street 
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 Email: auditbda@gov.bm 
Website:  www.oagbermuda.gov.bm 

 
 
 
 

AUDITOR'S REPORT 
 
 
To the House of Assembly, the Governor and the Senate 
 
I have audited the statement of financial position of the Consolidated Fund of the Government of 
Bermuda as at March 31, 2010, and the statements of operations and accumulated deficit, change in 
net debt and cash flow for the year then ended.  These financial statements are the responsibility of 
the Government.  My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on 
my audit. 
 
Except as explained in the following paragraph, I conducted my audit in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in Bermuda and Canada.  Those standards require that I plan and 
perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the Government, as well as evaluating 
the overall financial statement presentation.  
 
I qualified my auditor’s opinion on the financial statements of the Consolidated Fund for the year 
ended March 31, 2009, on the basis of serious deficiencies in internal control over the management 
of various capital development projects.  These deficiencies led me to question the appropriateness 
of certain transactions and the underlying value of assets at March 31, 2009.  As a consequence of 
last year’s qualification, and without the benefit of an independent professional valuation, I am still 
unable to determine whether adjustments might be necessary to tangible capital assets, assets under 
construction and accumulated deficit as at March 31, 2010. 
 
In my opinion, except for the effect of adjustments which I might have determined necessary had I 
been able to satisfy myself with respect to the balances of tangible capital assets, assets under 
construction and accumulated deficit referred to in the preceding paragraph, these financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Consolidated Fund of 
the Government of Bermuda as at March 31, 2010 and the results of its operations and its cash 
flows for the year then ended, in accordance with the stated accounting policies disclosed in Note 3 
to the financial statements, which conform with generally accepted accounting principles in 
Bermuda and Canada.   
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As described in Note 2, these financial statements represent the financial transactions of the 
Consolidated Fund and have been prepared primarily to provide accountability for the financial 
resources appropriated by the Legislature of Bermuda.  These financial statements are not summary 
financial statements of the Government of Bermuda.  Significant financial activities of the 
Government occur outside the Consolidated Fund.  As such, the financial statements of the 
Consolidated Fund for the year ended March 31, 2010 do not represent the financial position of the 
Government of Bermuda as at March 31, 2010, and the results of its operations and its cash flows 
for the year then ended. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Hamilton, Bermuda Heather A. Jacobs Matthews, CA, CFE 
October 15, 2010 Auditor General 

rgilbert
Text Box
Appendix 2


rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text
__________________________________________________________________________________________
48                                                 2010, 2011 and 2012 Consolidated Fund Report - Auditor General of Bermuda 

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text



rgilbert
Text Box
Appendix 2


rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text
__________________________________________________________________________________________
2010, 2011 and 2012 Consolidated Fund Report - Auditor General of Bermuda                                                 49



Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund 
Statement of Financial Position 
As at March 31 2010 2009 

Actual Restated 
(Note 17) 

$ $ 

Liabilities Schedule 

Bank Overdraft (Note 16) 93,409,873 147,250,826 

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 5 132,713,463 149,355,749 

Deferred Revenue 6 30,262,623 29,911,196 

256,385,959 326,517,771 

Interest Bearing Debt - Net of Sinking Fund 7 665,512,519 335,219,239 

Pensions and Other Employee Future Benefits 

-Pensions and Retirement Benefits (Note 9(h)) 939,354,866 834,409,234 

- Compensated Absences (Note 8) 21,336,602 19,586,264 

960,691 ,468 853,995,498 

Other Liabilities 
Due to Government Funds and Agencies 3(a) 51,063,657 60,487,014 

Total liabilities 1,933,653,603 1,576,219,522 

Financial Assets 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 19,531,018 19,432,104 

Accounts Receivable 1 142,586,906 136,826,810 

Due from Government Funds and Agencies 3 25,129,255 22,006,507 

Long-Term Receivables 4 2,231,431 2,255,744 

Investment in Quango (Notes 3(e) & 14(b)) 5,000,000 5,000,000 

Total Financial Assets 194,478,610 185,521 '165 

Net Debt 1 '739, 17 4,993 1,390,698,357 

Non-Financial Assets 
Tangible Capital Assets (Notes 3(f) & 15) 12 600,482,069 599,263,650 

Assets under Construction (Note 3(f)) 12 98,619,361 112,730,687 

Prepaid Supplies 2 16,420,102 14,645,051 

Prepaid Expenses 4,751,754 6,402,004 

Total Non-Financial Assets 720,273,286 733,041,392 

Accumulated Deficit 1,018,901,707 657,656,965 

Contingent Liabilities, Non-Contractual Operational Commitments and Contractual 
Commitments (Notes 10, 11, 12 and Schedule 16) 

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements. 4 
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Government of Bermuda- Consolidated Fund 
Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit 
For the year ended March 31 

Revenue 

Expenses 

Current 

Capital Development 

Capital Acquisition 

Annual Deficit 

8,10 

9,11 

13 

14 

Accumulated Deficit, Beginning of Year 

Recognition of Tangible Capital Assets (Note 15) 

Change in Accounting Principle (Note 17) 

Change in Accounting Principle (Note 17) 

Correction of Error (Note 17) 

Accumulated Deficit, End of Year 

2010 
Original 

Estimates 

$ 

969,621,000 

966,888,000 

2010 

Actual 

$ 

917,268,545 

1 '176,834,962 

97,864,942 

7,825,370 

1,282,525,27 4 

(365,256, 729) 

(657,656,965) 

4,011,987 

(1,018,901,707) 

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements. 

2009 

Restated 
(Note 17) 

$ 

950,804,542 

1,112,193,073 

62,745,702 

12,088,994 

1 '187,027,769 

(236,223,227) 

(617,482,816) 

131,758,926 

57,228,529 

2,061,623 

5,000,000 

(657,656,965) 

5 
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Government of Bermuda· Consolidated Fund 
Statement of Change in Net Debt 
For the year ended March 31 

Annual Deficit 

Change Due to Tangible Capital Assets: 
Net Additions to Tangible Capital Assets 
Net Reductions in (Additions to) Assets under Construction 
Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets 

Total Change Due to Tangible Capital Assets 

Net Additions to Prepaid Supplies 
Net Reductions in (Additions to) Prepaid Expenses 

Total Change Due to Prepaid Supplies and Prepaid Expenses 

Increase in Net Debt 

Net Debt, Beginning of Year 

Change in Accounting Principle (Note 17) 

Change in Accounting Principle (Note 17) 

Correction of Error (Note 17) 

Net Debt, End of Year 

2010 

Actual 

$ 

(365,256, 729) 

(34,537,246) 
14,111,326 
37,330,814 

16,904,894 

(1,775,051) 
1,650,250 

(124,801) 

(348,476,636) 

(1 ,390,698,357) 

(1,739,174,993) 

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements. 

2009 

Restated 
(Note 17) 

$ 

(236,223,227) 

(29,505,668) 
(88,019,450) 
33,937,967 

(83,587,151) 

(1 ,488,057) 
(1,986,327) 

(3,474,384) 

(323,284, 762) 

(1 '131 ,703,747) 

57,228,529 

2,061,623 

5,000,000 

(1 ,390,698,357) 
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund 
Statement of Cash Flow 
For the year ended March 31 2010 2009 

Actual Restated 
(Note 17) 

$ $ 
Operating Activities 

Annual Deficit (365,256, 729) (236,223,227) 

Items not affecting cash: 
Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets 37,330,814 33,937,967 
Increase in Pension and Retirement Benefits Liability 104,945,632 86,278,106 
Increase in Compensated Absences Liability 1,750,338 1,575,555 
~Decrease~ Increase in Non-Cash Workin9 Caeital (34,697,548) 22,544,654 

Cash AEEiied to Oeerating Activities {255,927,493~ ~91,886,945} 

Capital Activities 

Net Additions to Tangible Capital Assets (34,537,246) (29,505,668) 
Net Reductions in (Additions to) Assets under Construction 14,111,326 ~88,019,450} 

Cash Aeelied to Capital Activities ~20,425,920~ ~117,525,118) 

Financing Activities 

Loan Proceeds 315,000,000 70,000,000 
Decrease {Increase~ in Sinking Fund 15,293,280 {11 ,950,649} 

Cash Provided B~ Financing Activities 330,293,280 58,049,351 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 53,939,867 (151,362,712) 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year (127 ,818, 722) 23,543,990 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year (73,878,855) (127,818,722) 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 19,531,018 19,432,104 
Bank Overdraft (93,409,873} {147,250,826} 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year (73,878,855) (127,818, 722) 

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements. 7 
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 

1. Authority 
The Consolidated Fund (the "Fund") operates under the authority of the Bermuda 
Constitution Order 1968 and amendments, and the Public Treasury (Administration and 
Payments) Act 1969 and amendments. 

All public money is paid into the Fund and Legislative authority must be obtained for any 
expenditure out of the Fund. 

The Legislature provides authority to make payments out of the Fund in annual 
Appropriation Acts, Supplementary Estimates and other statutes. Unused spending 
authority for current account appropriations lapses at the end of the fiscal year. Unused 
spending authority for uncompleted capital projects is carried forward to subsequent 
fiscal years, subject to the approval of the Minister of Finance. 

2. Reporting Entity 
The Fund's financial statements report the financial position, results of operations, 
change in net debt and cash flow resulting from the activities of the Fund only, which 
comprise the accounts of the Senate, the House of Assembly, all Government 
departments and offices (including the Public Service Commission) and all courts. The 
Fund is established and defined pursuant to section 94 of the Bermuda Constitution 
Order 1968. 

These financial statements are not summary consolidated financial statements of the 
Bermuda Government. Separate audited financial statements are prepared for all other 
Government organizations. 

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with the legislative requirements 
as outlined in sections 5 and 32A of the Public Treasury (Administration and Payments) 
Act 1969 and amendments. 

The Government adheres to the general practice of using a Consolidated Fund as its 
general operating fund. Schedules 10 to 14 provide information concerning the 
operations, tangible capital assets, capital expenses of individual Government 
departments and funds and agencies comprising the Fund. 

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
The recommendations of the Public Sector Accounting Board and the Accounting 
Standards Board of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (which are 
promoted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Bermuda by signed agreement 
and therefore generally accepted in Bermuda) are the source for the disclosure basis of 
accounting. 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with the disclosed basis of 
accounting requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 
earned and expenses incurred during the year. Actual results could differ from these 
estimates. 
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Government of Bermuda- Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd) 
The significant accounting policies are as follows: 

(a) Method 

The financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. 

(b) Revenue 

Revenues are accounted for in the fiscal year in which the transactions or events 
occurred that gave rise to the revenues. 

Revenues not practicably measurable until cash is received are accounted for upon 
receipt. 

Amounts received or receivable prior to the end of the year, which relate to revenues 
that will be earned in a subsequent fiscal year, are reported as deferred revenue. 

(c) Expenses 

Expenses are accounted for in the fiscal year that goods and services are acquired, a 
liability is incurred or grant payments are due. 

Contributions to Government funds and agencies are expensed in the year the 
expenditure is made. 

Classification of expenses between current account items and capital account items 
follows the classification in the Approved Estimates. 

(d) Interdepartmental Revenues and Expenses 

Interdepartmental revenues and expenses are not eliminated but have been identified as 
explained in Note 14(c). 

(e) Financial Assets 

Financial assets are resources that can be used to discharge existing liabilities or 
finance future operations. They include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, 
amounts due from Government funds and agencies, long-term receivables and 
investment in QUANGO. 

Accounts receivable are recorded at cost. A valuation allowance is recorded when 
collection of the receivable is considered doubtful. 

Long-term receivables are recorded at unamortized cost. 

Investment in QUANGO is recorded at cost. 
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Government of Bermuda -Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 201 0 

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd) 

(f) Non-Financial Assets 

Non-Financial assets are resources that are employed for future services. They include 
tangible capital assets, prepaid supplies and prepaid expenses. The costs of acquiring 
land, buildings, equipment and other capital property are capitalized as tangible capital 
assets and are amortized over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Where original 
acquisition documents were difficult to retrieve, the Book Value Calculator (BVC), 
developed by the Chief Appraiser of Public Works and Government Services Canada 
(as modified by them to address the Bermuda Government situation), was used to 
establish reasonable estimates of the Net Book Values in order to develop opening 
balances. 

Other tangible capital assets that do not meet the minimum threshold requirements for 
their respective asset class have continued to be charged to capital expenses in the year 
of purchase, which is consistent with prior years. These expenses are currently 
classified as capital development and capital acquisition expenses on the Statement of 
Operations and Accumulated Deficit. Included in the capital development and capital 
acquisition are other significant items: capital grants, repairs and maintenance, 
professional fees and other items which are expensed as they are incurred. Tangible 
capital assets that have not yet been disclosed include historical treasures. 

Amortization is recorded on a straight-line basis for all assets, according to the following: 

Buildings 

Betterments 

Building Systems 

Vehicles & Heavy Equipment 
$10,000 to $99,999 
$100,000 and above 

Light Equipment, Boats & Vessels 
$10,000 to $99,999 
$100,000 and above 

Leased Equipment 

Computer Hardware 

Computer Software 

Furniture & Fixtures 

Office Equipment 

40 years 

Remaining life or lease period of the related 
asset 

7 years 

5 years 
7 years 

5 years 
10 years 

3-5 years 

3 years 

10 years 

7 years 

5 years 

10 
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Government of Bermuda- Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd) 

Plant, Machinery & Equipment 10-30 years 

Infrastructure 10-40 years 

The Ministry of Works and Engineering is primarily responsible for Government's 
tangible capital assets. Amortization expense is reported under that Ministry. Since 
amortization is a non-cash expense, it is removed for appropriation reporting purposes. 

Assets under construction relate to the development of buildings, betterments, vehicles 
and vessels. Upon completion, the balance of assets under construction will be 
transferred to tangible capital assets and amortized based on the appropriate useful life. 

Prepaid supplies are comprised of spare parts and supplies that are held for future 
program delivery and are not intended for resale. They are valued at cost. Prepaid 
supplies that no longer have service potential are valued at the lower of cost or net 
realizable value. Items for which the costs are not readily available have been valued 
using management's best estimates of original cost based on available information. 

(g) Liabilities 

Liabilities are recorded for financial obligations to organizations and individuals occurring 
as a result of transactions and events arising on or before the year-end. They occur as a 
result of contracts, agreements and legislation in force at year-end that require the 
Government to repay borrowings or to pay for goods and services acquired or provided 
on or before the year-end. Liabilities also include grant payments due where no direct 
value is received in return. 

(h) Translation of Foreign Currencies 

The financial statements are reported in Bermuda dollars. The Bermuda dollar is valued 
at par with the United States dollar. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the year-end date. 
Revenues and expenses originating in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange 
rate in effect on the date the specific transactions occurred. Translation gains and losses 
are included in the Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit. 

4. Approved Estimates of the Government of Bermuda 

(a) Budget Process 

Annually, the Government presents a Budget ("Estimates") of expected revenues and 
expenditures for the following fiscal year. 

The Government's spending Estimates for the fiscal year commencing April 1 , 2009 
were presented to the Members of the Legislature by the Minister of Finance. 

11 
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Government of Bermuda -Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 

4. Approved Estimates of the Government of Bermuda (cont'd) 

The estimates outline the spending plans of each Ministry/Department submitted for 
approval to the Legislature in the Appropriations Act. 

The Estimates referred to in the financial statement schedules are from the original 
Approved Estimates of Revenue and Expenditure for the fiscal year 2009/10 and do not 
reflect changes arising from the tabling of Supplementary Estimates, except for the 
Adjusted Estimates referred to in Schedule 15 which include the original Approved 
Estimates and any tabled Supplementary Estimates. 

(b) Comparison of Expenses to Estimates for Expenditure 

The Ministry of Finance prepares annual Estimates on the modified cash basis. These 
financial statements are prepared on an accrual basis. Due to the difference in 
accounting, Schedule 15 restates actual expenses to the modified cash basis for 
comparative and analytical purposes against the adjusted estimates. The most 
significant differences are as follows: 

(i) Bad Debts - For financial statement purposes, a prov1s1on is established and 
expensed for accounts receivable where collection is doubtful. For budget purposes, 
no such provision is made. 

(ii) Pension- The financial statement pension-related expense is explained in Note 9. 
For budget purposes, pension expense is equal to its funding requirements. 

(iii) Government Borrowing Sinking Fund (Note 5) - Transfers to the Sinking Fund are 
recorded as cash transfers. For budget purposes, the Sinking Fund contribution is 
considered expenditure. 

(iv) Compensated Absences - Certain Government employees are entitled to pre­
retirement leave benefits, as explained in Note 8. For budget purposes, retirement 
pay is estimated based on anticipated salary spending for the current year. 

5. Government Borrowing Sinking Fund 

Effective March 31 , 1993, the Government Borrowing Sinking Fund (GBSF) was 
established as a separate legal entity for the repayment of government borrowing under 
the provisions of the Government Loans Act 1978, as amended. 

During each financial year, the Fund must pay to the GBSF 2.5% of the public debt 
outstanding in the Fund at the end of the preceding year. Under section 12AA of the 
Government Loans Act 1978 as amended, the Minister may, by Order, suspend the 
annual contribution for a period of twelve months. 
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Government of Bermuda- Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 

5. Government Borrowing Sinking Fund (cont'd) 

The GBSF assets may only be applied to reduce, cancel or pay interest on public debt. 
The assets are invested in accordance with the Public Funds Act 1954 and are shown 
as a reduction of debt issued on the Fund's Statement of Financial Position. 

The following is a schedule of projected contributions to the GBSF by the Fund up to 
March 31 , 2015, based on estimated debt levels to March 31 , 2011 : 

2010 

$ 

2011 28,625,000 

2012 25,750,000 

2013 25,750,000 

2014 25,750,000 

2015 25,750,000 

Under the provisions of Section 12AA of the Government Loans Act 1978, as amended, 
the Government suspended the GBSF contribution for the fiscal year end 2010. The 
contributions for fiscal years 2010 and 2011 are included in the contribution for fiscal 
year 2011 . 

Under the provisions of Section 12A ( 1) ( a.1) of the Government Loans Act 1978, as 
amended, the Government paid the interest on the outstanding public debt for the fiscal 
year end 2010 from the GBSF. 

Separate audited financial statements are prepared for the GBSF which readers should 
refer to for further information. 

6. Contingencies Fund 
On March 14, 1979 the House of Assembly passed a resolution to withdraw $1 million 
from the Fund to set up a Contingencies Fund under the provisions of Section 1 0(1) of 
the Public Treasury (Administration and Payments) Act 1969, as amended. 

The purpose of the Contingencies Fund is to allow the Minister of Finance to authorize 
urgent and unforeseen expenditures up to $1 million prior to the approval of the 
Legislature by supplementary estimate. The Contingencies Fund balance is not 
segregated from general operating cash and cash equivalents and accumulated deficit. 

13 
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Government of Bermuda- Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 

7. Unemployment Insurance Fund 
The Unemploym~nt Insurance Fund (the Insurance Fund) was established March 18, 
2002 by amendment to the Public Treasury (Administration and Payments) Act 1969 
under the provisions of Section 108. The Legislature authorized $1 million to be set 
aside within the Fund to set up the Insurance Fund. 

The Minister of Finance will pay amounts approved by the Legislature as Government's 
contribution to the Insurance Fund. Monies paid into the Insurance Fund will be invested 
in· accordance with the Public Funds Act 1954 and the interest earned on such 
investments will be paid into the Insurance Fund. As of March 31, 2010, no amounts 
have been paid into the Insurance Fund. 

8. Compensated Absences 
Certain Government employees are entitled to paid retirement leave under the various 
union agreements that exist with the Government. Paid retirement leave is available to 
those eligible employees with a minimum of ten years credited service, who are retiring 
on the basis of age. The leave is paid at the salary level immediately preceding the date 
of retirement, to a maximum eligibility of twelve weeks. 

An actuarial valuation of the Government's obligation for retirement leave was 
extrapolated to March 31 , 2010, using similar various long-term assumptions as the 
Public Service Superannuation Fund pension plan (Note 9). The valuation determined 
that the accrued benefit obligation for retirement leave is currently $21 ,336,602 (2009 -
$19,586,264), as defined in the table below. 

Accrued benefit obligation, beginning of year 
Amortization of experience loss 
Current period benefit cost 
Interest accrued 
Less: Benefit payments 

Accrued benefit obligation, end of year 

2010 2009 
$ $ 

19,586,264 
80,974 

1,011,619 
1,341,654 
(683,909) 

21,336,602 

18,010,709 
80,974 

970,378 
1,242,062 
(717,859) 

19,586,264 

14 
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Government of Bermuda- Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 

9. Pensions and Other Retirement Benefits 

(a) Contributory Defined Benefit Pension Plans 

The Government administers contributory defined benefit pension plans for substantially 
all of its employees, quasi~autonomous non-governmental organization (QUANGO) 
employees and all ministers and members of the Legislature. There are two plans 
currently in operation - the Public Service Superannuation Fund (PSSF) and the 
Ministers and Members of the Legislature Pensions Fund (MMLPF). 
For the PSSF, a service pension is available with a minimum of eight years credited 
service. Subject to exceptions as outlined in the Public Service Superannuation Act 
1981, it is based on the number of years of service times 1.5% of the salary payable 
immediately preceding the date of retirement. Additional benefits are provided to special 
groups such as police, prison wardens, fire service and regiment employees. 

For the MMLPF, a service pension is generally available to contributors who have 
reached age 60 and have served for at least 8 years, or to contributors who have 
reached age 55 and have served for at least 20 years. The rate of pension is 3/1 0001

h of 
the monthly salary payable to a minister, member or officer, on the date on which the 
contributor becomes entitled to receive a pension, for each month of service rendered up 
to a maximum of 25 years. Cost of living increases are calculated by reference to the 
Consumer Price Index on a biennial basis. 

Employees contribute 8.0% of their basic salary for PSSF and Ministers and Members 
contribute 12.5% of their salary for MMLPF. The Government matches the participant's 
contribution in each plan. The amount of Government contributions made during the 
year for each plan was as follows: PSSF 2010-$31,576,054 (2009- $30,937,337), 
MMLPF 2010 - $454,038 (2009 - $446,060). The Public Service Superannuation Act 
1981 and the Ministers and Members of the Legislature (Salaries and Pensions) Act 
1981, as amended, provide that, if at any time the funds are insufficient to meet the 
payments chargeable against them, the deficiency shall be made up out of the 
Consolidated Fund. 

(b) Pension Liability 

The pension liability is calculated on an actuarial basis. Actuarial valuations are 
performed triennially using the projected benefit method, pro-rated on services. An 
actuarial valuation was performed on both the PSSF and the MMLPF as at March 31, 
2008, the results were then extrapolated to March 31, 2010, using the same 
assumptions, to produce the estimates included in these financial statements. 

Actuarial valuations are based on a number of assumptions about future events, such as 
inflation rates, interest rates, wage and salary increases, employee turnover and 
mortality. The assumptions used reflect Government's best estimates of expected long­
term rates and short-term forecasts. 
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Government of Bermuda- Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 

9. Pensions and Other Retirement Benefits (cont'd) 

The most significant assumptions are that the average investment return will be greater 
than the average rate of salary increase by approximately 2.25% (prior valuation -
2.25%) and the cost of living increase will average 3.0% (prior valuation - 3.0%) per 
annum. 

The 1994 Group Annuity Mortality Table was used for the mortality assumption. 

For the PSSF, pension fund assets consist primarily of listed stocks and bonds, short­
term investment funds, hedge funds and private equity investments. Market-related 
asset values, which recognize the differences between the actual return on assets and 
the expected return on assets over a period of five years, have been used to determine 
the pension liability and pension- related expenses for the PSSF. 

Due to the fluctuation in the market place, a 15% corridor has been imposed in the 
market-related value by the Government to ensure the market-related value is not 
significantly higher or lower than the market value of the assets. The market-related 
value of assets for the PSSF was $437,542,000 as at March 31, 2010 (2009 -
$360,551,315) compared to a real market value of $424,814,565 (2009- $313,522,883). 

For the MMLPF. there is no difference between the market value of plan assets and the 
market-related value. As at March 31, 2010, the value was $9,390,333 (2009 -
$8,496,421). The actual return on plan assets during the year was 31% (2009- (24.8%)) 
for the PSSF and 7.0% (2009- 7.0%) for the MMLPF. 

As at March 31, 2010, $2,797,004 was due to the PSSF in respect of contributions 
received in excess of benefits paid by the Fund (2009- $5,960,246). 

(c) Non-Contributory Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

The Bermuda Department of Tourism North America Retirement Plan (BDTRP) provides 
retirement, disability and death benefits for Department of Tourism employees residing 
in North America. 

At a meeting of the Bermuda Department of Tourism Overseas Pension Plan Trustees 
on February 19, 2009, the decision was taken to wind down the plan effective March 31, 
2009. The actuarial report treated the plan as if all benefits were paid by March 31, 2009 
and therefore carried a zero fund balance for the year ending in 2009. 

(d) Pension-Related Expenses 

Pension-related expenditure recognized by the Consolidated Fund comprises the cost of 
pension benefits earned by employees during the year, interest on the pension benefit 
liability (net of interest on pension plan assets) and amortization of the Government's 
share of any experience gains or losses, less contributions made by the employees. The 
estimated total cost of the Government's share of plan amendments related to past 
service is expensed in the year the plan is amended. The pension-related expense is 
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Government of Bermuda- Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 201 0 

9. Pensions and Other Retirement Benefits (cont'd) 

disclosed in Note 9(h) and included in Schedule 9 as a component of retirement benefit 
expenditures. 

A net unamortized experience loss of $159,693,000 (2009 - $245,511 ,000) is reported in 
the schedule below. The amount comprises a total unamortized experience loss on the 
pension liability of $140,410,000 (2009 - $168,880,000) and a total unamortized 
experience loss on the asset valuation of $19,283,000 (2009- $76,631 ,000). The period 
of amortization is ten years. 

Aggregate information about the PSSF and MMLPF is in the following tables. 

(e) Funded Status of Plans 

For the year ended March 31 2010 2009 

Actual Actual 

$ $ 

Pension Liability 

Accrued Benefit Obligation 

PSSF 1 ,291 ,640,000 1,221,261,000 

MMLPF 30,815,000 28,933,000 

1,322,455,000 1 ,250, 194,000 

Net Fund Assets 

PSSF (437,542,000) (360,551 ,000) 

MMLPF {9,390,000} {8,496,000} 

(446,932,000} {369,047,000} 

Net Unamortized Experience Loss 

PSSF (159,693,000) (245,511,000) 

Pension Liability 

PSSF 694,405,000 615,199,000 

MMLPF 21,425,000 20,437,000 

Carried Forward to Note 9 (h) 715,830,000 635,636,000 
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Government of Bermuda- Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 

9. Pensions and Other Retirement Benefits (cont'd) 

For the year ended March 31 

Pension-Related Expense 

Cost of Pension Benefits 

Employee Contributions 

Interest on Pension Liability 

Amortization of Experience Gains & Losses 

2001 Experience Gain 

2002 Experience Loss 

2003 Experience Loss 

2004 Experience Loss 

2005 Experience Loss 

2006 Experience Loss 

2007 Experience Gain 

2008 Experience Loss 

2009 Experience Loss 

Carried forward to Note 9 (h) 

(f) Contributory Pension Fund 

2010 

Actual 

$ 

46,674,000 

(32,030,092) 

58,173,117 

573,592 

3,418,847 

21,908,086 

2,048,199 

595,574 

(351,626) 

5,243,035 

7,608,893 

113,861,625 

2009 

Actual 

$ 

43,825,100 

(31,356,381) 

51,385,836 

(2, 196,870) 

573,592 

3,418,847 

21,908,086 

2,048,199 

595,574 

(351 ,626) 

5,243,035 

95,093,392 

The Contributory Pension Fund (CPF) was established under the Contributory Pensions 
Act 1970 and subsequent amendments. 

The purpose of the CPF is to provide old age pension, disability and death benefits for 
persons satisfying certain contribution, citizenship and residency requirements. 

Contributions to the CPF are compulsory for persons employed in Bermuda, the self­
employed and employers. 
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Government of Bermuda -Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 

9. Pensions and Other Retirement Benefits (cont'd) 

There is no legislative provision for the Fund to provide for any shortfall if, at any time, 
the CPF has insufficient funds to meet its current legislated obligations. 

{g) Retirement Benefits Other than Pensions - Employee Health Insurance Plan 

The Government administers a health care plan, the Government Employees Health 
Insurance Fund (GEHI), for substantially all of its employees, quasi-autonomous non­
governmental organization (QUANGO) employees, all ministers and members of the 
Legislature and retirees. The GEHI Fund provides medical insurance for retirees and 
eligible dependents with the Government matching the participant's contribution to the 
plan. In 2002 the Government adopted accrual accounting for the GEHI plan. 

An actuarial calculation of the Government's obligations for retirement benefits other 
than pensions was performed for accounting purposes at March 31 , 2010, using various 
long-term assumptions, based on the valuation performed as at March 31 , 2008. 

The discount rate used in determining the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation 
was 6.5%. The assumed health-care cost trend rate used was 8.5% (2009 - 9.0%). This 
will be reducing by 0.5% per annum to 5.0% (2017) per annum. The 1994 Group 
Annuity Mortality Table was used for the mortality assumption. The value accrues a 
liability in respect of the matching premium paid by government under the insurance 
arrangement in respect of retired employees. The calculation is based on the projected 
benefit method pro-rated on service. 

Aggregate information about the health care plan is in the table below. 

Accrued benefit obligation at beginning of year 

Current period benefit cost 

Interest accrued 

Less: Benefit payments 

Accrued benefit obligation at end of year 

Expected accrued benefit obligation at end of year 

Actual accrued benefit obligation at end of year 

Experience loss 

2010 
$ 

245,996,783 

8,981,428 

16,117,398 

(5,055,046) 

266,040,563 

266,040,563 

266,040,563 

2009 
$ 

227,383,530 

8,433,266 

14,900,590 

(4,720,603) 

245,996,783 

245,996,783 

245,996,783 
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Government of Bermuda- Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 

9. Pensions and Other Retirement Benefits (cont'd) 

Expected average remaining service life 12 years 12 years 

Annual amortization $4,707,852 $4,707,852 

Liability for retirement benefits recorded in the statement of financial position 

Accrued benefit obligation, end of year 
Unamortized experience losses 

Liability for retirement benefits (Note 9(h)) 

2010 2009 
$ $ 

266,040,563 245,996,783 
(42,515,697) (47,223,549) 

223,524,866 198,773,234 

Expenses recorded in statement of operations and accumulated deficit 

Current period benefit cost 
Amortization of experience losses 

Retirement benefit expense 
Retirement benefit interest expense 

Total expenses related to retirement benefits (Note 9(h)) 

2010 
$ 

8,981,428 
4,707,852 

13,689,280 
16,117,398 

29,806,678 

2009 
$ 

8,433,266 
4,707,852 

13,141,118 
14,900,591 

28,041,709 

(h) Accrued Pensions and Retirement Benefits Liability and Expense Summary 

Pensions (Note 9(e)) 
Retirement Benefits other than 

Pensions- Health Insurance Plan (Note 9(g)) 

Total Pensions and Retirement Benefits Liability 

Pensions (Note 9( e)) 
Retirement Benefits other than 

Pensions- Health Insurance Plan (Note 9(g)) 

Total Pensions and Retirement Benefits Expenditure 

2010 
$ 

715,830,000 

223,524,866 

939,354,866 

113,861 ,625 

29,806,678 

143,668,303 

2009 
$ 

635,636,000 

198,773,234 

834,409,234 

95,093,392 

28,041,709 

123,135,101 

20 

rgilbert
Text Box

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text
______________________________________________________________________________________
66                                         2010, 2011 and 2012 Consolidated Fund Report - Auditor General of Bermuda 

rgilbert
Text Box
Appendix 2




Government of Bermuda- Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 

1 0. Contingent Liabilities 

(a) Guarantees 

In August 1994, the Government introduced the National Education Guarantee Scheme 
to provide qualifying students with financial guarantees on bank loans for post­
secondary education. The repayment of principal and accrued interest is guaranteed by 
the Government. In the event of default by the student, the banks will call on the 
guarantee contract. At March 31 , 2010, $542,367 (2009 - $792,230) is outstanding on 
guaranteed student loans with local banks. 

(b) Claims and Potential Claims 

The Government is subject to claims and potential claims related to breach of contract, 
damages to persons and property and like items. The effect of legal claims cannot be 
determined until they are settled or dismissed. No liability has been admitted and no 
provision for claims is included in the financial statements. Any resulting losses will be 
recorded and charged to operations in the year an amount can reasonably be 
determined. 

The total of specific amounts claimed or potential settlements which are under litigation 
or possible litigation as at March 31,2010 is $11,020,168 (2009- $9,543,553). 

(c) Base Lands Clean Up 

The Government recognizes that there will be a cost for restoration of the land at the 
bases formerly occupied by the US military. It is anticipated that such costs would 
include removal of hazardous materials and clean-up. 

A liability of $26,250,000 has been accrued, which is an estimate of the costs of the 
clean-up and remediation at the three former major base land sites. The estimated range 
is $32 million to $40 million, which includes an approximate 20% contingency of the 
total. 

The cost for Southside (estimated at $10.5 million, with a range of $10.5 million to $20 
million; $6.5 million for work already performed has been deducted from the lower end of 
the estimated range) involves demolition of buildings beyond refurbishment and removal 
of asbestos. The cost for clean-up of Tudor Hill (estimated at $1 million with a range of 
$1 million to $2 million) is for removal of asbestos and demolition of buildings on the site. 
Clean-up of Morgan's Point is estimated at $14.75 million (with a range of $15 million to 
$18 million); $3 million of that amount is the estimated amount required to remove 
immediate environmental hazards and the remainder is for fuel storage tanks, removal 
and remediation of asbestos as well as demolition of derelict buildings. 

This estimate was developed in 2003, based on orders of cost which were developed 
from unit rates used for clean-up at Southside and budget estimates from consultants 
hired by potential developers at the Morgan's Point site. In 2008, the Government also 
had a registered professional engineer conduct an independent review and estimate 
which fell within the original range. 
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 

10. Contingent Liabilities (cont'd) 
The Government is considering a land swap for a portion of the Baselands. A request for 
proposal was issued in July 2009 with proposed cleanup standards. The registered 
professional engineer independently estimated that if this proposal was to be contracted, 
it would cost the Government $14 million to $25 million in addition to the amounts 
already accrued. 

As no terms have been agreed on the condition of the land to be swapped and the 
proposal has not been contracted, the accrual has not been adjusted. 

(d) Bank of N.T. Butterfield Guarantee Agreement 

On June 12, 2009, the Government assisted The Bank of N.T. Butterfield & Son Limited 
(BNTB) in raising qualifying Tier 1 capital via a perpetual preference share offering of 
US$200 million. 

Accordingly the Government provided the commitment that if the full $200 million 
Preference Share Offering was not achieved on or prior to June 30, 2009, the 
Government would purchase no later than June 30, 2009 such number of Preference 
Shares as was sufficient to ensure that the Bank realized aggregate proceeds equal to 
and not less than US$200 million. As the offering was fully subscribed, no such 
Government purchase was necessary. 

On June 22, 2009, the Government entered into a Preference Shares Guarantee 
Agreement with the Bank of N.T. Butterfield & Son Limited and others. The Government 
has guaranteed payment of 1 00% of the liquidation value of the outstanding Preferred 
Shares in the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up 
of the affairs of BNTB during the term of the Guarantee. Also, the Government will act 
as a guarantor for the dividend payments relating to the Preferred Shares issuance. 
Should the BNTB fail to declare and pay dividends in any quarterly dividend period 
during the term of the Guarantee, the Government will pay such dividends at 8% per 
annum. 

Pursuant to the Preference Share Offering, the BNTB pays to the Government a fee of 
1% per annum on the liquidation value of then outstanding Preference Shares issued to 
third party investors. The Government was in receipt of 4,279,601 warrants issued by 
the Bank to purchase a number of non-voting common shares of BNTB having an 
aggregate market price equal to US$30 million. The initial exercise price for the 
warrants and the price for determining the number of common shares of BNTB subject 
to the warrants was $7.01 per common share. During this fiscal year there have been 
several corporate events yielding a new quantity of warrants of 4, 150,773.72 and a new 
exercise price of $3.614. Per the valuation model run for March 31 , 2010, the value of 
the warrants is $0.209 per warrant which represents a total value of $867,512. 
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Government of Bermuda- Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 

11. Non-Contractual Operational Commitments 

The Government has ongoing commitments to fund a variety of programs for public 
welfare including health, education, social services, protection of persons and properties, 
and management of natural resources. The following is an analysis of the future, non­
contractual, operational commitments: 

2011 

2012 

2013 

2014 

2015 

2016 and subsequent 

Total Future Operational Commitments 

12. Contractual Commitments 

(a) Capital Leases 

2010 

$ 

9,125,707 

9,156,823 

5,883,086 

5,304,480 

300,000 

1,830,000 

31,600,096 

The average period of capitalized leased office machines is 3 years. Leases are 
capitalized based on the discounted rate of 6.04% and amortized on a straight-line basis 
over the period of the lease. 

The following is an analysis of the leases: 

2010 2009 

$ $ 

Present value of lease cost 4,250,453 2,998,260 

Less: Accumulated amortization {3,098,887} {2,021,419} 

Present value of leases payable 1,151,566 976,841 
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Government of Bermuda- Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 

12. Contractual Commitments (cont'd) 

The following is a schedule of discounted future minimum lease payments under leases 
expiring up to March 31, 2015: 

2011 

2012 

2013 

2014 

2015 

Add: Discounted Amount 

Present value of lease obligation 

(b) Contractual Obligations 

2010 

$ 

488,717 

341,275 

145,311 

103,631 

63,877 

8,755 

1,151,566 

The nature of government activity results in some large multi-year contracts and 
agreements of various sizes and importance. Any financial obligations resulting from 
these are recorded as a liability when the terms· of these contracts and agreements for 
the acquisition of goods and services or the provision of transfer payments are met. 

The following is an analysis of estimated future expenditures related to these contractual 
obligations: 

2011 

2012 

2013 

2014 

2015 

2016 and subsequent 

Total Contractual Obligations 

2010 

$ 

68,555,663 

16,347,261 

5,340,014 

4,066,162 

3,286,207 

7,135,894 

104,731,201 
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 

12. Contractual Commitments (cont'd) 

(c) Operating Leases 

The Government rents premises under operating leases which expire at certain dates. 

The following is an analysis of the future minimum operating lease payments: 

2011 

2012 

2013 

2014 

2015 

2016 and subsequent 

Total Future Minimum Operating Lease Payments 

2010 

$ 

10,752,629 

8,237,798 

6,219,718 

5,430,752 

4,496,412 

13,208,730 

48,346,039 

13. Supplementary Estimates and Virements (Transfers) 
Section 96(3) of the Bermuda Constitution Order 1968 allows for Supplementary 
Estimates in respect of any fiscal year it is found that (a) the amount appropriated by the 
appropriation law for any purpose is insufficient or that a need has arisen for expenditure 
for a purpose for which no amount has been appropriated by that law; or (b) moneys 
have been expended for any purpose in excess of the amount appropriated for that 
purpose by the appropriation law or for a purpose to which no amount has been 
appropriated by that law, a supplementary estimate, showing the sum required or spent, 
shall be laid before the House of Assembly. Section 96(4) of the Bermuda Constitution 
Order 1968 requires that a Supplementary Appropriation Bill be introduced into the 
Legislature as soon as practical after year end of the year that supplementary estimates 
have been necessary. 

The Public Treasury (Administration and Payments) Amendment Act 2004 allows a 
Permanent Secretary or a Head of Department to transfer a part of a Department's 
approved budget to another Department within the same Ministry, subject to the consent 
of the Minister of Finance. Virements do not increase the overall appropriation amount 
but facilitate the redeployment of approved budget resources after the start of a financial 
year. 
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Government of Bermuda- Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 

13. Supplementary Estimates and Virements (Transfers) (cont'd) 

During the year $23,046,550 in Supplementary Estimates were approved and spent 
which consisted of $22,079,950 for current expenditure and $966,600 for capital 
expenditure. 

During the year $50,613,528 in virements were approved and transferred which 
consisted of $15,452,114 for current expenditure and $35,161 ,414 for capital 
expenditure. 

(a) Current Expenditures 

The following outstanding supplementary estimates and virements for current 
expenditures require final approval. 

Supplementary Supplementary 
Estimates before Virements Estimates for 

Virements (Transfers) Appropriation 

$ $ $ 

2010 35,777,923 13,408,617 22,369,306 

2009 43,710,198 20,347,368 23,362,830 

2008 34,787,803 13,639,729 21 ,148,074 

2007 62,450,045 14,910,944 47,539,101 

2006 10,843,929 4,673,594 6,170,335 

2005 67,480,637 7,110,154 60,370,483 

2004 5,095,706 5,095,706 

2003 2,443,551 2,443,551 

2002 935,237 935,237 

263,525,029 74,090,406 189,434,623 

(b) Capital Expenditures 

The following outstanding supplementary estimates for capital expenditures require final 
approval. 
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Government of Bermuda -Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 

13. Supplementary Estimates and Virements (Transfers) (cont'd) 

2010 

2009* 

2008** 

2007 

2006 

2005 

2004 

2003 

2002 

*-Technical supplementary 2009 - $5,651,408 

**-Technical supplementary 2008- $25,428,761 

Supplementary 
Estimates 

$ 

389,116 

10,394,547 

32,470,107 

1,701,029 

1,277,525 

1,285,594 

190,675 

271,974 

20,397 

48,000,964 

A Technical Supplementary applies when total expenditure for a capital development 
project has not exceeded its Total Authorized Figure (TAF) (Schedule 16). 

14. Related Party Transactions 

(a) Funds 

The Fund is related to the Government Employees Health Insurance Fund ("GEHI"), the 
Contributory Pension Fund ("CPF"), the Ministers and Members of the Legislature 
Pensions Fund ("MMLPF"), the Bermuda Department of Tourism North America 
Retirement Plan ("BDTRP"), the Public Service Superannuation Fund ("PSSF"), the 
Confiscated Assets Fund, the Government Borrowing Sinking Fund, the Health 
Insurance Fund, the Mutual Re-insurance Fund and the Government Reserves Fund. 

The financial activities of these funds are reported separately in each fund's financial 
statements. The Fund provides accounting and certain administrative services to these 
funds. These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at 
the appropriate exchange amount. The other activities represent the net position of 
contributions payable to the funds and expenses paid out of the Fund on behalf of the 
funds. Schedules 3 and 3(a) display details of unpaid balances due from and due to the 
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Government of Bermuda- Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 

14. Related Party Transactions (cont'd) 

funds which have arisen from normal operating activities. The rate of interest accruing 
on the balances is 7% per annum. 

(b) QUANGOs and Other Related Organizations 

The Fund is related to certain quasi-autonomous non-governmental organizations 
("QUANGOs") and other controlled organizations. QUANGOs are government 
businesses which have been established under their respective legislative incorporation 
acts. Other government-related organizations are organizations that are controlled by 
government either by the possession of shares or voting rights or by some other means. 

The Fund enters into transactions with the QUANGOs and other related organizations in 
the normal course of business which are measured at the exchange amount, which is 
the amount of consideration established and agreed upon by the related parties. 

Schedules 3 and 3(a) include details of balances due from and due to these entities 
which have arisen from normal operating activities. During the year, no interest was 
charged and/or incurred from or to the Fund and the various QUANGOs and other 
related organizations. 

(i) Bermuda Monetary Authority (BMA) 

In accordance with Section 8 (3) of the Bermuda Monetary Authority Act 1969, 
the BMA pays a portion of its net profit (historically 50%) to the Consolidated 
Fund of the Government. 

On March 19, 2010, the Minister of Finance, at the request of the SMA, granted 
consent to transfer the BMA's net income for the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2009 into its general reserves, in accordance with Section 8 of the Bermuda 
Monetary Act 1969. 

(ii) West End Development Corporation Guarantee (WEDCO) 

On April 1, 2009, the Minister of Finance consented to the borrowing of $10 
million by WEDCO from the Capital G Bank to facilitate the completion of the new 
Sewage Treatment Plant at Dockyard. 

The Minister of Finance further approved the guarantee given by the Ministry of 
Works and Engineering to repay the indebtedness by way of annual payments to 
WEDCO until all indebtedness to the Capital G Bank has been fully discharged. 
The first annual payment of $1 ,870,678 due to the Capital G Bank will be made 
on May 30, 2010. 
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 

14. Related Party Transactions (cont'd) 

(iii) Bermuda Land Development Company Limited (BLOC) 

On November 12, 1996 (date of inception), the Government purchased 
2,500,000 common shares of BLOC. The shares are valued at par $1 each and 
are held in trust by the Minister of Finance. 

On November 12, 1996 (date of inception), the Government purchased 
2,500,000 common shares of BLOC. The shares are valued at par $1 each and 
are held in trust by the Minister of Works and Engineering. 

(c) Interdepartmental Transactions 

Interdepartmental transactions are those transactions in which revenues and expenses 
are generated between Government departments and/or Ministries. These revenues and 
the related expenses should be eliminated from the Fund's figures. As per Note 3(d), 
interdepartmental revenues and expenses are not eliminated. However all 
interdepartmental revenues and expenses have been identified and are shown in 
Schedules 10(a) and 11 (a), respectively. 

(d) Other 

The Government provided a letter of comfort to the Bank of Butterfield (the "Bank") on 
behalf of the Bermuda Housing Corporation ("BHC") dated July 13, 2000 which states, 
"To the extent that the BHC operates programmes which do not break even, the 
Government appropriates annual grants which enable BHC to comply with its 
legislation." 

In 2000, the BHC entered into a facility for which drawdowns of up to $25 million was 
available until December 31 , 2001. As of July 2010, the facility has been fully repaid 
(2009- $2.7 million). 

The BHC has received operating grants of $6,250,000 (2009 - $6,000,000) and capital 
grants of $25,000,000 (2009- $22,500,000) from the Government during the year. 

15. Tangible Capital Asset Recognition 
As disclosed in note 3(f), infrastructure has now been recognized in the financial 
statements as at April 1, 2008. The assets in these classes purchased prior to April 1, 
2008 have been recognized at amortized value. The recognition of the amortized value 
of these capital assets has been offset by an adjustment to the accumulated deficit, as 
disclosed in the Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit, excluded from the 
purchase of assets in the Statement of Cash Flow, and included at gross values in 
Schedule 12. 
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Government of Bermuda- Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 

16. Bank Overdraft 

On October 30, 2009, the Government arranged a new overdraft facility with the Bank of 
N.T. Butterfield & Son Limited ("BNTB") of $10 million which expires on October 31 , 
2010. The facility bears interest at 1% per annum below BNTB's base rate. 

On March 31, 2010 the Government arranged a new overdraft facility with the Bank of 
Bermuda, HSBC ("HSBC") of $100 million. The facility expires on September 30, 2010. 
The daily charges applied to overdrawn balances is 1% above HSBC's base rate. 
Unauthorized overdraft balances are charged at 7.50% over the HSBC's base rate. 

17. Restatement of Prior Periods 

(a) Correction of an Accounting Error 

As disclosed in note 14(b)(iii), the purchase of 5,000,000 common shares of the 
Bermuda Land Development Company Limited ("BLOC") in prior years should have 
been recorded and disclosed in accordance with PS3040 of the Public Sector 
Accounting Board Standards. As a result of this correction, the prior years' portfolio 
investments have been increased by $5,000,000. 

The prior years' portfolio investments and Accumulated Deficit have been restated 
accordingly. 

(b) Change in Accounting Principle 

Section PS 3510 of the Public Sector Accounting Board Standards requires that revenue 
derived from taxes legislated by the Bermuda Government are to be recognized as 
revenue when the taxable event occurs. Annual taxes collected by the Government 
cannot therefore be deferred to subsequent reporting periods. 

The Government changed its accounting policy so as not to defer revenue pertaining to 
taxes and non-refundable fees and licences, as legislated, to subsequent periods. All 
tax, non-refundable fees and licences remitted to the Government will be recorded as 
revenue in the period collected. As a result of this change in accounting principle, the 
prior year's liability has been reduced by $57,228,529 and the revenue has been 
reduced by $2,061,623. 

The prior year's Deferred Revenue and Accumulated Deficit have been restated 
accordingly. 

(a) Portfolio Investments (Correction of Accounting Error) 

As previously stated (March 31, 2009) 
As restated: 

$0 
$5,000,000 
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Government of Bermuda- Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 201 0 

17. Restatement of Prior Periods (cont'd) 

{b) Deferred Revenue (Change in Accounting Principle) 

As previously stated (March 31, 2009) 
As restated: 

(c) Revenue (Change in Accounting Principle) 

As previously stated (March 31, 2009) 
As restated: 

Accumulated Deficit, End of Year 

As previously stated (March 31 , 2009) 
As restated: 

18. Subsequent Events 

(a) Increase in Borrowing Limit 

$87' 139,725 
$29,911 '196 

$952,866,165 
$950,804,542 

$719,885,494 
$657,656,965 

Effective April 1, 2010, the Government increased the legislated borrowing limit from $1 
billion to $1.25 billion. 

(b) Increase in Borrowing 

On June 14, 2010, the Government entered into a Term Loan Agreement with HSBC 
Bank Bermuda Limited for a bridge loan facility of up to $200 million expiring December 
14, 2010. The proceeds of this bridge loan facility were to refinance the existing $200 
million outstanding revolving credit facility dated June 17, 2005 with the Bank of 
America. Interest is calculated using the 1 month LIBOR rate plus a margin of 1% per 
annum for the first three months of the term and 1.5% per annum for the next three 
months of the term. Interest is payable on advances in arrears. 

On July 13, 2010, the Government entered into a public bond offering in the international 
debt capital markets authorizing the issue and sale of $500 million of 1 0-year, fixed rate 
bonds priced at par. The coupon and yield of the bonds are 5.603% per annum. The 
bonds are due in July 2020 and interest is payable semi-annually. The proceeds of these 
bonds will be used to repay the bridge loan facility, the overdraft facilities (Note 16) and 
to fund capital expenditure programs. 

31 

rgilbert
Text Box

rgilbert
Text Box
Appendix 2


rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text
______________________________________________________________________________________
2010, 2011 and 2012 Consolidated Fund Report - Auditor General of Bermuda                                          77



Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 

18. Subsequent Events (cont'd) 

(c) Overdraft Facilities 

On May 26, 2010 the overdraft facility of $10 million (see Note 16) with the Bank of N.T. 
Butterfield & Son Limited ("BNTB") was increased to $50 million to expire on June 30, 
2010 at which time it would revert back to $10 million. 

On June 28, 2010, the facility was increased to $100 million to expire on July 31,2010 at 
which time it would revert back to $10 million with an expiry date of January 31 , 2011. 
The daily charges applied to overdrawn balances remained at 1% above BNTB's base 
rate. 

(d) Purchase of Dockyard Camber (Wharf) from WEDCO 

On May 27, 2010, the Government initiated the procedural and legislative steps required 
to effectively reverse the conveyance of the New Dockyard Camber to WEDCO which 
took place on May 7, 2009. The intention of the Government is to have the necessary 
legislation passed in the Legislature to affect the conveyance of the wharf from WEDCO 
back to the Government for the total consideration of $1 for the fiscal year end March 31, 
2011. 

The value of the wharf of $58 million was expensed during the current year as a capital 
development item. Upon conveyance back to the Government, the wharf will be 
capitalized in the Infrastructure asset class under tangible capital assets at its original 
value. 

19. Comparative Figures 

Certain comparative figures have been restated and reclassified to conform to the 
current year's presentation. 
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 1: Accounts Receivable 
As at March 31 2010 2009 

Actual Actual 

$ $ 
Office of the Tax Commissioner 145,157,452 140,190,885 
Airport Operations 3,706,367 4,091 ,341 
Telecommunications 3,610,284 3,416,149 
Registrar of Companies 3,129,992 2,498,461 
Fire SeNices 2,746,752 654,057 
Post Office 2,629,803 2,722,115 
Customs 2,397,245 1,314,251 
Operations & Engineering 2,319,827 2,271 ,446 
Department of Education 1,663,845 1,632,493 
Judicial Department 1,370,077 1,862,550 
Works & Engineering 1,251,359 1,846,974 
Health Department 1,087,644 831,841 
Accountant General 512,620 (39,771) 
Lands, Buildings & SuNeys 355,607 231 ,858 
Maritime Administration 311,225 414,757 
ConseNation Services 213,366 190,909 
Public Transportation Board 210,122 144,252 
Marine & Ports Services 165,206 206,782 
Police 128,916 145,574 
Tourism 127,013 202,858 
Environmental Protection 116,785 114,839 
Human Resources 102,299 201 ,908 
Transport Control Department 98,318 6,750 
Civil Aviation 75,587 29,879 
Financial Assistance 65,633 
Registry General 60,139 87,311 
Child & Family SeNices 29,576 22,700 
Parks 6,207 13,337 
Attorney General 1,177 
Libraries 997 1,975 
Ministry of Education, Telecom, & E- Com HQ 438 
Cabinet Office 132,273 
Immigration 1,969 
Youth, Sport & Recreation 324 
E-Commerce 196 
Department of Public Prosecutions 
Cultural Affairs 
Ministry of Community and Cultural Affairs (47) 

173,651,878 165,443,196 
Less: Provision for Doubtful Accounts 31,064,972 28,616,386 

142,586,906 136,826,810 
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Government of Bermuda -Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 2: Prepaid Supplies 
As at March 31 

Works & Engineering 
Public Transportation Board 
Marine & Ports Services 
Police 
Defence 
Department of Education 
Corrections 
Health 
Conservations Services 
Immigration 
Transport Control Department 
Post Office 

Less: Provision for Obsolescence 

2010 

Actual 

$ 

7,293,186 
4,601,809 
1,916,174 
1,381,414 

731,516 
699,411 
412,450 
393,905 
115,781 
80,722 
54,003 
39,519 

17,719,890 

1,299,788 

16,420,102 

2009 

Actual 

$ 

5,963,936 
4,469,804 
1,609,780 
1,588,092 

704,159 
484,407 
426,069 
256,146 
110,101 
54,803 

40,644 

15,707,941 

1,062,890 

14,645,051 
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 3: Due From Gov't Funds and Agencies 
As at March 31 

Government Employees Health Insurance Fund 
Government Borrowing Sinking Fund 
Health Insurance Fund 
Bermuda Hospitals Board 
Golf Courses 
Bermuda Monetary Authority 
Government Reserves Fund 
West End Development Corporation 
Bermuda Housing Corporation 
Bermuda College 
Pembroke Parish Council 
Bermuda Land Development Company 
CedarBridge Academy 
Bermuda Small Business Development Corporation 
Financial Intelligence Agency 
Bermuda Health Council 
Pension Commission 
Berkeley Institute 
Parish Councils 
Bermuda Housing Trust 
Whitney Institute 
Sandys Secondary Middle School 
St. George's Preparatory School 
Bermuda Educators Council 
National Sports Centre 
Confiscated Assets Fund 
Tourism North America Retirement Plan 

2010 

Actual 

$ 

8,491,044 
6,520,212 
4,288,644 
2,590,249 

722,984 
662,624 
592,566 
375,801 
292,706 
204,429 
98,570 
93,308 
43,690 
27,299 
24,099 
23,014 
20,775 
20,708 
15,084 
10,762 
4,501 
3,198 
1,456 
1,005 

527 

25,129,255 

Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 3(a): Due to Gov't Funds and Agencies 

As at March 31 

Bermuda Hospitals Board 
Ministers and Members Pensions Fund 
Government Borrowing Sinking Fund 
Contributory Pension Fund 
Health Insurance Fund 
Public Service Superannuation Fund 
Confiscated Assets Fund 
Bermuda Housing Corporation 
Bermuda Small Business Development Corporation 
West End Development Corporation 
Bermuda Land Development Company 
Golf Courses 
Bermuda College 
Pembroke Parish Council 

2010 

Actual 
$ 

11,549,085 
11,030,310 
10,375,000 

6,333,082 
6,174,511 
2,797,004 
2,445,699 

329,916 
13,312 

6,981 
5,142 
1,943 
1,672 

51,063,657 

2009 

Actual 
$ 

10,005,933 

2,053,837 
2,282,266 

834,851 
1,517,470 

501,808 
1,244,086 

368,124 
213,722 

142,592 
104,444 
16,359 

32,000 
12,600 

16,492 
8,700 

171 
2,545,959 

105,093 

22,006,507 

2009 

Actual 
$ 

3,120,185 
8,608,473 

42,429,184 
1,460 

5,960,247 

329,916 
3,800 
6,981 
5,142 
1,943 
1,672 

18,011 

60,487,014 
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Government of Bermuda- Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 4: Long-Term Receivables 
As at March 31 2010 

Actual 

$ 

Customs Duty 1,122,934 

Student Loans and Teacher Training Awards 1,108,497 

2,231,431 

Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 5: Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 
As at March 31 

Department Trade Accounts 
Base Land Clean Up 
Employees' Leave Entitlements 
Deposits Held 
Interest on Debt 
Teachers' Salaries & Leave Entitlements 
Salaries, Wages and Benefits 
Leases Payable 

2010 

Actual 
$ 

47,555,512 
26,250,000 
16,460,750 
12,788,800 
11,752,761 

9,626,176 
7,136,653 
1,142,811 

132,713,463 

2009 

Actual 

$ 

1,129,538 

1,126,206 

2,255,744 

2009 

Actual 
$ 

72,161,984 
26,250,000 
14,963,231 
12,452,488 
4,894,375 
8,723,463 
9,282,576 

627,632 

149,355,749 
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Government of Bermuda -Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 6: Deferred Revenue 
As at March 31 

Transport Control Department 
Civil Aviation 
Immigration 
Marine & Ports Services 
Post Office 
Police 
Lands, Buildings & Surveys 
Environmental Protection 
Health Department 
Tourism 
Parks 
Youth, Sport & Recreation 
Maritime Administration 
Community & Cultural Affairs 

2010 

Actual 

$ 

17,894,750 
6,858,966 
3,776,674 

880,561 
430,091 
120,988 

89,886 
89,407 
36,071 
33,940 
22,286 
17,753 
11,250 

30,262,623 

2009 

Restated 
(Note 17) 

$ 

17,793,025 
6,000,019 
4,718,735 

592,983 
430,571 

56,668 
91,132 
87,067 
40,380 
33,435 
21,627 
24,100 
21,354 

100 

29,911,196 
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 7: Interest Bearing Debt - Net of Sinking Fund 
As at March 31 

Senior Notes Due 2014- US$ 
Issue Date: June 10, 2004 
Interest: 5.39% payable semi-annually 
June 10 and December 10 
Notes Due: June 10, 2014 

Loan Facility - US$ 
Issue Date: June 17, 2005 
Interest: Ll BOR + .11% payable on rollover date 
Facility Fee: .04% per annum payable quarterly 
Notes Due: June 17, 201 0 

Senior Notes Due 2022 -US$ 
Issue Date: December 4, 2007 
Interest: 5.73% payable semi-annually 
June 4 and December 4 
Notes Due: December 4, 2022 

Senior Notes Due 2014 -US$ 
Issue Date: May 21, 2009 
Interest: 6.55% payable semi-annually 
May 21 and November 21 
Notes Due: May 21, 2014 

Senior Notes Due 2016 - US$ 
Issue Date: May 21 , 2009 
Interest: 6.98% payable semi-annually 
May 21 and November 21 
Notes Due: May 21, 2016 

Senior Notes Due 2019 - US$ 
Issue Date: May 21, 2009 
Interest: 7.38% payable semi-annually 
May 21 and November 21 
Notes Due: May 21, 2019 

Senior Notes Due 2016- US$ 
Issue Date: November 10, 2009 
Interest: 5.27% payable semi-annually 
November 1 0 and May 1 0 
Notes Due: November 10,2016 

Senior Notes Due 2019 -US$ 
Issue Date: November 10, 2009 
Interest: 5.93% payable semi-annually 
November 1 0 and May 1 0 
Notes Due: November 1 0, 2019 

Less: Sinking Fund 

2010 

Actual 
$ 

75,000,000 

200,000,000 

140,000,000 

45,000,000 

30,000,000 

100,000,000 

60,000,000 

80,000,000 

730,000,000 

64,487,481 

665,512,519 

2009 

Actual 
$ 

75,000,000 

200,000,000 

140,000,000 

415,000,000 

79,780,761 

335,219,239 
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 8: Revenue By Type 
For the year ended March 31 2010 2010 2009 

Original 
Estimates Actual Restated 

(Note 17) 

$ $ $ 

Taxes & Duties 
Payroll Tax 350,000,000 349,034,583 356,525,572 
Customs Duty 242,565,000 219,037,073 224,160,285 
Land Tax 50,000,000 48,510,988 45,810,432 
Stamp Duty 49,710,000 31,646,611 46,194,035 
Passenger Tax 30,570,000 29,261,780 29,750,110 
Non-Bermudian Land Acquisition Tax 13,000,000 13,794,308 15,813,424 
Foreign Currency Purchase Tax 16,000,000 13,791,576 14,464,731 
Hotel Occupancy Tax 11,500,000 7,320,672 11 ,102,667 
Corporate Services Tax 3,500,000 3,294,048 3,717,881 
Betting Tax 1,400,000 2,176,419 956,789 
Timesharin9 Tax 230,000 265,711 233,268 

768,475,000 718,133,769 748,729,194 

Fees, Permits & Licences 
International Companies 56,045,000 59,384,743 62,392,852 
Vehicle Licences & Registration 25,963,000 26,870,299 27,172,435 
Registration of Aircraft 16,175,000 15,844,222 13,069,058 
Telecommunications 12,500,000 12,813,345 13,793,437 
Air Terminal & Aviation 11 ,681,000 11,244,879 11,121,680 
Immigration 14,141 ,000 10,853,886 11,767,828 
Bus Transportation 7,728,000 8,256,401 8,010,617 
Postal Services 7,127,000 5,617,250 6,064,975 
Local Companies 3,000,000 5,319,720 3,233,331 
Registration of Shipping 2,950,000 3,466,451 3,658,811 
Water 4,105,000 3,415,590 3,211,873 
Services to Seaborne Shipping 2,895,000 2,621,171 2,447,348 
Solid Waste Services 2,900,000 2,474,513 2,715,535 
Other Customs Fees & Charges 2,435,000 2,382,636 809,130 
Rentals 2,492,000 2,070,903 2,614,941 
Trade and Service Mark 1,511,000 1,577,084 1,545,007 
Wharfage 1,535,000 1,389,682 1,817,057 
Ferry Services 1,989,000 1,297,594 1,929,933 
Planning Fees and Searches 2,200,000 1,084,627 1,654,626 
Companies Licences 352,000 461,380 562,286 
Liquor Licences 320,000 317,745 344,455 
Plant Production and Marketing Centre 425,000 179,071 442,825 
Insurance Fees 53,125 27,447 

180,469,000 178,996,317 180,407,487 

Other Revenue 
Other 12,192,000 13,902,186 13,792,959 
Fines & Forfeitures 5,285,000 3,549,132 3,575,187 
Investment Income 3,200,000 2,687,141 3,481,966 
Bermuda Moneta~ Authorit~ 817,749 

20,677,000 20,138,459 21 ,667,861 

TOTAL REVENUE 969,621 ,000 917,268,545 950,804,542 
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Government of Bermuda- Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 9: Current Expense By Type 
For the year ended March 31 2010 2010 2009 

Original 
Estimates Actual Actual 

$ $ $ 

Employees 
Salaries 343,857,000 316,355,323 310,817,003 
Retirement Benefit Expenses 143,668,303 123,135,101 
Wages 78,056,000 99,711,253 101,258,816 
Employer Overhead 64,382,000 28,121,604 29,820,088 
Other Personnel Costs 9,074,000 11,060,107 5,155,334 
Training 9,828,000 7,274,332 7,956,002 
Comeensated Absences 1,750,338 1,575,555 

505,197,000 607,941 ,260 579,717,899 

Operations 
Grants & Contributions 244,659,000 261,142,697 234,920,291 
Professional Services 96,871,000 111 ,959,586 95,455,877 
Amortization 37,330,814 33,937,967 
Interest on Debt 490,000 34,778,977 21,827,266 
Materials & Supplies 33,491,000 34,081,682 37,042,547 
Repairs & Maintenance 19,873,000 22,440,910 23,384,615 
Energy 20,819,000 19,057,460 23,785,687 
Rentals 17,007,000 17,037,476 16,644,439 
Advertising & Promotion 17,346,000 14,114,207 16,850,147 
Insurance 11,189,000 11,958,754 11,571,448 
Communications 9,775,000 10,147,572 9,608,650 
Transport 7,353,000 6,667,107 6,587,995 
Other 3,895,000 6,064,195 4,698,891 
Travel 6,321,000 5,033,659 6,439,319 
Clothing & Uniforms 2,642,000 2,648,179 2,566,236 
Bad Debts 2,174,394 7,973,426 
Equipment 1,422,000 1,945,989 2,066,408 
Bank Charges & Commissions 828,054 637,843 
Capital Recharges 55,104 
Receipts Credited to Programmes {31,462,000~ (30,518,010) {23,578,982) 

461,691,000 568,893,702 532,475,174 

TOTAL CURRENT EXPENSE 966,888,000 1,176,834,962 1' 112,193,073 
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 10: Revenue By Ministry I Department 
For the year ended March 31 2010 2010 2009 

Original 
Estimates Actual Restated 

Note 17) 
$ $ $ 

Non-Ministry Departments 
01 Governor & Staff 1,479 
05 Office of the Auditor General 716,000 511,998 724,400 
63 Parliamenta!Y Re9istrar 134,000 119,985 138,508 

850,000 631,983 864,387 

Cabinet Office Departments 
09 Cabinet Office 7,653 3,956 
14 Department of Statistics 25 5,109 
15 Department of Management Services 15 
19 Department of Archives 9,000 4,092 4,304 
26 Department of Human Resources 7,773 270 
30 Marine & Ports Services 5,675,000 4,721,051 5,171,435 
31 Airport Operations 12,839,000 12,039,565 12,798,878 
33 Tourism 37,988 58,346 
34 Transport Control Department 25,965,000 26,869,546 27,180,148 
35 Public Transportation Board 7,726,000 8,312,232 8,048,521 
57 Civil Aviation 16,200,000 15,892,081 13,096,598 
73 Maritime Administration 2,950,000 3,457,021 3,658,313 

71 ,364,000 71,349,027 70,025,893 

Ministry of Justice 
02 Legislature 2,000 1,267 1,126 
03 Judicial Department 8,717,000 6,811,419 8,955,597 
04 Attorney-General's Chambers 1,799 5,784 
75 Deeartment of Public Prosecutions 1,790 

8,719,000 6,814,485 8,964,297 

Ministry of Finance 
10 Ministry of Finance HQ 1,383,467 784 
11 Accountant-General 3,260,000 2,820,129 5,410,247 
12 Customs 246,605,000 223,358,477 227,250,063 
28 Department of Social Insurance 42,360 
38 Office of the Tax Commissioner 509,775,000 482,540,955 503,841,115 
39 Re9istrar of Comeanies 60,305,000 66!102,733 66,905,341 

819,945,000 776,205,761 803,449,910 

Ministry of Education 
17 Deeartment of Education 220,000 193,455 208,177 

220,000 193,455 208,1 77 

Ministry of Health 
21 Ministry of Health HQ 144,382 
22 Health Department 1,993,000 1,598,153 2,565,158 
91 Health Insurance 3,000 

1,993,000 1,601,153 2,709,540 
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 10: Revenue By Ministry I Department (cont'd) 
For the year ended March 31 2010 2010 2009 

Original 

Estimates Actual Restated 
(Note 17) 

$ $ $ 
Ministry of Environment & Sport 
20 Youth, Sport & Recreation 947,000 835,317 771,010 
32 Department of Planning 2,385,000 1,184,094 1,762,874 
49 Land Valuation 1,063 
50 Ministry of the Environment & Sports 18,000 25,275 28,130 
68 Parks 277,000 217,060 166,400 
69 Conservations Services 935,000 634,261 992,771 
72 Environmental Protection 475,000 532,075 523,387 

5,037,000 3,428,082 4,245,635 
Ministry of Culture & Social Rehabilitation 
18 Libraries 22,000 11,619 15,079 
23 Child & Family Services 197,000 4,394 224,711 
52 Community and Cultural Affairs 257,000 216,714 253,848 
55 Financial Assistance 53,278 60,852 
56 Human Affairs 1,219 2,223 
71 Ministry of Culture and Social Rehabilitation HQ 500 3,589 
74 Court Services (192) 199 
88 National Dru9 Control 36,000 36,113 18,766 

512,000 323,645 579,267 
Ministry of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing 
06 Defence 36,380 66,066 
07 Police 465,000 549,541 632,950 
27 Immigration 27,141,000 24,659,274 27,586,082 
45 Fire Services 1,140,000 2,134,924 849,097 
60 Labour & Training 113,000 138,200 2,604 
83 Minist~ of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing HQ 256 78 

28,859,000 27,518,575 29,136,877 
Ministry of Energy, Telecommunications & E-Commerce 
13 Post Office 7,188,000 5,587,330 6,105,397 
29 Registry General 1,718,000 1,770,318 1,766,658 
42 Rent Commissioner 1,000 270 1,199 
43 Information Technology Office 2,783 2,499 
46 Telecommunications 12,500,000 12,760,859 13,794,276 

21,407,000 20,121,560 21,670,029 

Ministry of Works & Engineering 
36 Works & Engineering HQ 110,000 163,758 143,863 
81 Lands, Buildings & Surveys 2,000,000 1,568,251 2,115,922 
82 Oeerations & Engineering 8,605,000 7,348,810 6,690,745 

10,715,000 9,080,819 8,950,530 

TOTAL REVENUE 969,621 ,000 917,268,545 950,804,542 
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Government of Bermuda -Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 1 O(a): Interdepartmental Revenue By Ministry I Department 
For the year ended March 31 2010 2010 2010 

Interdepartmental Gross Revenue Net 
Revenue Actual Revenue 

$ $ $ 

Non-Ministry Departments 
05 Office of the Auditor General 11,382 511,998 500,616 
63 Parliamenta~ Registrar 887 119,985 119,098 

12,269 631,983 619,714 

Cabinet Office Departments 
09 Cabinet Office 7,653 7,653 
14 Department of Statistics 3,055 25 (3,030) 
19 Archives 4,092 4,092 
26 Human Resources 7,773 7,773 
30 Marine & Ports Services 444 4,721,051 4,720,607 
31 Airport Operations 52,115 12,039,565 11,987,450 
33 Tourism 60,219 37,988 (22,231) 
34 Transport Control Department 19,962 26,869,546 26,849,584 
35 Public Transportation Board 134,544 8,312,232 8,177,688 
57 Civil Aviation 15,892,081 15,892,081 
73 Maritime Administration 190 3,457,021 3,456,831 

270,529 71,349,027 71,078,498 

Ministry of Justice 
02 Legislature 1,267 1,267 
03 Judicial Department 21,278 6,811,419 6,790,141 
04 Attorne~-General's Chambers 1,799 1,799 

21,278 6,814,485 6,793,207 

Ministry of Finance 
10 Ministry of Finance HQ 1,383,467 1,383,467 
11 Accountant-General 33 2,820,129 2,820,096 
12 Customs 2,238,591 223,358,477 221,119,886 
28 Social Insurance 1,000 {1,000) 
38 Office of the Tax Commissioner 72,075 482,540,955 482,468,880 
39 Registrar of Comeanies 66,102,733 66,102,733 

2,311,699 776,205,761 773,894,062 

Ministry of Education 
17 Deeartment of Education 1,487 193,455 191,968 

1,487 193,455 191,968 

Ministry of Health 
22 Health Department 61,259 1,598,153 1,536,894 
91 Health Insurance 756 3,000 2,244 

62,015 1,601 '153 1,539,138 
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Government of Bermuda -Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 10(a): Interdepartmental Revenue By Ministry I Dept (cont'd) 
For the year ended March 31 2010 2010 2010 

Interdepartmental Gross Revenue Net 
Revenue Actual Revenue 

$ $ $ 

Ministry of Environment & Sport 
20 Youth, Sport & Recreation 16,385 835,317 818,932 
32 Department of Planning 1,184,094 1,184,094 
50 Ministry of the Environment 25,275 25,275 
68 Parks 1,283 217,060 215,777 
69 Conservation Services 634,261 634,261 
72 Environmental Protection 1,902 532,075 530,173 

19,570 3,428,082 3,408,512 

Ministry of Culture & Social Rehabilitation 

18 Libraries 11,619 11,619 
23 Child & Family Services 5,964 4,394 (1 ,570) 
52 Community and Cultural Affairs 705 216,714 216,009 
55 Financial Assistance 53,278 53,278 
56 Human Affairs 500 1,219 719 
71 Ministry of Culture and Social Rehab HQ 500 500 
7 4 Department of Court Services 266 (192) (458) 
88 National Drug Control 4,168 36,113 31,945 

11,603 323,645 312,042 

Ministry of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing 
06 Defence 36,380 36,380 
07 Police 549,541 549,541 
25 Corrections 603 (603) 
27 Immigration 6,360 24,659,274 24,652,914 
45 Fire Services 2,690 2,134,924 2,132,234 
60 Labour & Training 138,200 138,200 
83 Minist!}: of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing HQ 256 256 

9,653 27,518,575 27,508,922 

Ministry of Telecommunications & E-Commerce 
13 Post Office 31,680 5,587,330 5,555,650 
29 Registry General 1,496 1,770,318 1,768,822 
42 Rent Commissioner 270 270 
43 Information Technology Office 2,783 2,783 
46 Telecommunications 800 12,760,859 12,760,059 

33,976 20,121,560 20,087,584 

Ministry of Works & Engineering 
36 Works & Engineering 221,771 163,758 (58,013) 
81 Lands, Buildings & Surveys 48,000 1,568,251 1,520,251 
82 O~erations & Engineering 573,318 7,348,810 6,775,492 

843,089 9,080,819 8,237,730 

TOTAL REVENUE 3,597,168 917,268,545 913,671,377 

44 

rgilbert
Text Box

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text
__________________________________________________________________________________________
90                                                  2010, 2011 and 2012 Consolidated Fund Report - Auditor General of Bermuda 

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Text Box
Appendix 2


rgilbert
Typewritten Text



Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 11: Current Expense By Ministry I Department 
For the year ended March 31 2010 2010 2009 

Original 
Estimates Actual Actual 

$ $ $ 

Non-Ministry Departments 
01 Governor & Staff 1,695,000 1,976,550 2,117,102 
05 Office of the Auditor General 2,973,000 2,894,881 2,922,352 
08 Public Service Commission 81,000 76,963 71,993 
63 Parliamentary Registrar 739,000 784,492 586,263 
85 Ombudsman's Office 698,000 706,854 683,513 
92 Internal Audit 

6,186,000 6 439,740 6,381,223 

Cabinet Office Departments 
09 Cabinet Office 6,479,000 9,192,349 8,422,706 
14 Department of Statistics 3,571,000 3,050,427 2,577,742 
15 Department of Management Services 776,600 
19 Department of Archives 1,745,000 1,506,166 1,574,682 
26 Department of Human Resources 6,431,000 4,948,137 3,789,124 
30 Marine & Ports Services 22,357,000 21,405,714 22,739,219 
31 Airport Operations 20,861,000 24,029,902 22,729,114 
33 Tourism 32,148,000 31,851,942 35,802,291 
34 Transport Control Department 7,860,000 6,644,214 4,929,404 
35 Public Transportation Board 19,454,000 22,977,183 23,112,257 
48 Transport Headquarters 1,284,000 1,324,832 1,274,588 
51 Department of Communication & Information 2,618,000 2,613,016 2,469,680 
57 Civil Aviation 4,998,000 6,952,887 5,387,392 
73 Maritime Administration 1,733,000 1,643,061 1,594,042 

131,539,000 138139,830 137,178,841 
Ministry of Justice 
02 Legislature 4,780,000 5,041,314 4,616,168 
03 Judicial Department 8,452,000 8,212,012 8,146,699 
04 Attorney-General's Chambers 4,964,000 4,313,791 4,267,699 
75 Department of Public Prosecutions 2,927,000 2,186,258 2,330,275 
87 Minist~ of Justice HQ 3,349,000 4,430,723 3,871,852 

24,472,000 24,184,098 23,232,693 
Ministry of Finance 
10 Ministry of Finance HQ 12,963,000 11,982,769 12,386,670 
11 Accountant-General 75,060,000 83,671,136 82,000,905 

Retirement Benefit Expenses 106,695,970 87,763,661 
12 Customs 21,740,000 18,648,270 17,863,714 
28 Department of Social Insurance 4,424,000 8,046,591 15,322,980 
38 Office of the Tax Commissioner 3,607,000 5,009,071 3,606,714 
39 Registrar of Companies 3,964,000 4,076,891 2,857,043 
58 Interest on Debt 29,978,210 18,186,394 

121,758,000 268,108,908 239,988,081 
Ministry of Education 
17 Department of Education 128,436,000 133,919,495 129,231,983 
41 Bermuda College 20,702,000 20,702,204 20,289,671 

149,138,000 154,621 ,699 149,521,654 

Ministry of Health 
21 Ministry of Health HQ 16,834,000 18,473,155 8,505,980 
22 Health Department 32,558,000 29,134,608 28,023,696 
24 Hospitals 122,954,000 132,239,483 119,242,771 
91 Health Insurance 5,457,000 10,263,994 

177,803,000 190,111,240 155,772,447 
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Government of Bermuda- Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 11: Current Expense By Ministry I Department (cont'd) 
For the year ended March 31 2010 2010 2009 

Original 
Estimates Actual Actual 

$ $ $ 

Ministry of Environment & Sports 
20 Youth, Sport & Recreation 13,476,000 12,390,391 15,467,811 
32 Department of Planning 4,337,000 3,788,824 3,835,120 
49 Land Valuation 857,000 621,702 652,127 
50 Ministry of the Environment & Sports 863,000 1,133,689 1,296,226 
68 Parks 11 '146,000 10,804,712 11,493,137 
69 Conservations Services 5,538,000 5,064,698 5,484,041 
72 Environmental Protection 3,845,000 3,730,335 3,733,058 

40,062,000 37 534,351 41,961,520 

Ministry of Culture & Social Rehabilitation 
18 Libraries 2,436,000 2,659,614 2,451,199 
23 Child & Family Services 17,832,000 19,495,400 17,714,911 
52 Community & Cultural Affairs 6,515,000 4,950,232 4,373,513 
55 Financial Assistance 28,374,000 33,079,127 24,428,616 
56 Human Affairs 4,377,000 3,125,995 3,619,718 
71 Ministry of Culture and Social Rehabilitation HQ 4,459,000 3,659,957 3,807,857 
74 Department of Court Services 5,280,000 4,233,937 4,486,575 
86 Ministry of Community & Cultural Affairs (8,699) 
88 National Drue Control 4,734,000 3,789!847 5,174,818 

74,007,000 74,994,109 66,048,508 

Ministry of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing 
06 Defence 8,601,000 8,917,032 8,844,684 
07 Police 60,541,000 70,563,276 71,604,334 
25 Corrections 29,472,000 29,492,975 28,867,590 
27 Immigration 5,959,000 5,447,535 5,873,734 
45 Fire Services 15,794,000 12,970,241 11,964,141 
53 Bermuda Housing Corporation 7,250,000 7,250,000 6,000,000 
54 Security Services & Delegated Affairs 491,000 412,185 296,732 
60 Labour & Training 7,220,000 7,131,510 7,430,816 
83 Minist[X of Labour, Home Affairs & Housin9 HQ 2,213,000 1,993,517 3,979,986 

137,541,000 144,178,271 144,862,017 

Ministry of Energy Telecommunications & E-Commerce 

13 Post Office 14,861,000 14,967,726 14,749,496 
29 Registry General 2,139,000 1,696,455 1,810,287 
42 Rent Commissioner 657,000 567,539 562,483 
43 Information Technology Office 8,359,000 8,276,712 7,570,126 
46 Telecommunications 2,170,000 2,885,534 2,758,410 
67 E-Commerce 1,263,000 1,083,406 895,747 
84 E-Government 1,380,000 1,190,941 995,653 
89 Energy 1,508,000 588,621 555,278 
90 Minist[X of Energ:l, Telecommunications and E-Commerce 553,000 611,353 395,307 

32,890,000 31,868,287 30,292,787 
Ministry of Works & Engineering 

36 Works & Engineering 7,023,000 6,224,949 12,483,447 
80 Architectural Design & Construction 1,513,000 1,052,947 879,780 
81 Lands, Buildings & Surveys 26,415,000 24,401,224 27,331,549 
82 Operations & Engineering 36,541,000 37,644,495 42,320,559 

Amortization 37,330,814 33,937,967 

71,492,000 106,654,429 116,953,302 

TOTAL CURRENT EXPENSE 966,888,000 1,176,834,962 1 '112, 193,073 
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 11 (a): Interdepartmental Current Expense By Ministry/Department 
For the year ended March 31 2010 2010 2010 

Interdepartmental Actual Gross Net 
Expense Expense Expense 

$ $ $ 

Non-Ministry Departments 
01 Governor & Staff 7,540 1,976,550 1,969,010 
05 Office of the Auditor General 17,506 2,894,881 2,877,375 
08 Public Service Commission 76,963 76,963 
63 Parliamentary Registrar 784,492 784,492 
85 Ombudsman's Office 914 706,854 705,940 

25,960 6,439,740 6,413,780 
Cabinet Office Departments 
09 Cabinet Office 5,187 9,192,349 9,187,162 
14 Department of Statistics 16,547 3,050,427 3,033,880 
19 Department of Archives 2,562 1,506,166 1,503,604 
26 Department of Human Resources 2,425 4,948,137 4,945,712 
30 Marine & Ports 27,425 21 ,405,714 21,378,289 
31 Airport Operations 31,009 24,029,902 23,998,893 
33 Department of Tourism 82,303 31,851 ,942 31,769,639 
34 Transport Control Department 26,643 6,644,214 6,617,571 
35 Public Transportation Board 1,304,426 22,977,183 21 ,672,757 
48 Ministry of Transport HQ 1,324,832 1,324,832 
51 Dept. of Communication & Information 1,803 2,613,016 2,611 ,213 
57 Civil Aviation 4,238 6,952,887 6,948,649 
73 Maritime Administration 800 1,643,061 1,642,261 

1,505,368 138,139,830 136,634,462 

Ministry of Justice 
02 Legislature 20,782 5,041,314 5,020,532 
03 Judicial Department 2,431 8,212,012 8,209,581 
04 Attorney-General's Chambers 4,313,791 4,313,791 
75 Department of Public Prosecutions 262 2,186,258 2,185,996 
87 Minist!:X of Justice HQ 4,430,723 4,430,723 

23,475 24,184,098 24,160,623 

Ministry of Finance 
10 Ministry of Finance HQ 310 11,982,769 11,982,459 
11 Accountant-General 5,642 83,671,136 83,665,494 

Retirement Benefit Expenses 106,695,970 106,695,970 
12 Customs 41,225 18,648,270 18,607,045 
28 Department of Social Insurance 1,279 8,046,591 8,045,312 
38 Office of the Tax Commissioner 2,957 5,009,071 5,006,114 
39 Registrar of Companies 1,668 4,076,891 4,075,223 
58 Interest on Debt 29,978,210 29,978,210 

53,081 268,108,908 268,055,827 

Ministry of Education 
17 Department of Education 122,557 133,919,495 133,796,938 
41 Bermuda College 20,702,204 20,702,204 

122,557 154,621,699 154,499,142 
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Government of Bermuda -Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 11(a): Interdepartmental Current Expense By Ministry/Department (cont'd) 
For the year ended March 31 2010 2010 2010 

Interdepartmental Actual Gross Net 
Expense Expense Expense 

$ $ $ 
Ministry of Health 
21 Ministry of Health HQ 1,363 18,473,155 18.471,792 
22 Health Department 188,483 29,134,608 28,946,125 
24 Hospitals 132,239,483 132,239,483 
91 Health Insurance 10,263,994 10,263,994 

189,846 190,111,240 189,921,394 
Ministry of Environment & Sports 
20. Youth, Sport & Recreation 128,640 12,390,391 12,261,751 
32 Department of Planning 461 3,788,824 3,788,363 
49 Land Valuation 621,702 621,702 
50 Ministry of the Environment HQ 7,531 1,133,689 1,126,158 
68 Parks 129,380 10,804,712 10,675,332 
69 Conservations Services 18,058 5,064,698 5,046,640 
72 Environmental Protection 2!872 3,730,335 3,727,463 

286,942 37,534,351 37,247,409 
Ministry of Culture & Social Rehabilitation 
18 Libraries 2,254 2,659,614 2,657,360 
23 Child & Family Services 41,669 19,495,400 19,453,731 
52 Community & Cultural Affairs 3,446 4,950,232 4,946,786 
55 Financial Assistance 41,480 33,079,127 33,037,647 
56 Human Affairs 3,413 3,125,995 3,122,582 
86 Ministry of Community & Cultural Affairs HQ 3,659,957 3,659,957 
71 Ministry of Social Rehabilitation HQ 4,341 4,233,937 4,229,596 
7 4 Court Services 12,603 (12,603) 
88 National Drug Control 2,370 3,789,847 3,787,477 

111,576 74,994,109 74,882,533 
Ministry of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing 
06 Defence 7,599 8,917,032 8,909,433 
07 Police 220,145 70,563,276 70,343,131 
25 Corrections 120,588 29,492,975 29,372,387 
27 Immigration 5,124 5,447,535 5,442,411 
45 Fire Services 2,735 12,970,241 12,967,506 
53 Bermuda Housing Corporation 7,250,000 7,250,000 
54 Security Services & Delegated Affairs 412,185 412,185 
60 Labour & Training 526 7,131,510 7,130,984 
83 Minist!Y of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing HQ 20 1,993,517 1,993,497 

356,737 144,178,271 143,821,534 
Ministry of Energy, Telecommunications & E-Commerce 
13 Post Office 9,261 14,967,726 14,958,465 
29 Registry General 1,115 1,696,455 1,695,340 
42 Rent Commissioner 750 567,539 566,789 
43 Information Technology Office 657 8,276,712 8,276,055 
46 Telecommunications 255 2,885,534 2,885,279 
67 E-Commerce 1,326 1,083,406 1,082,080 
84 E-Government 1,190,941 1 '190,941 
89 Energy 588,621 588,621 
90 Minisi!Y of Energy:, Telecommunications & E-Commerce HQ 611,353 611,353 

13,364 31 ,868,287 31,854,923 
Ministry of Works & Engineering 
36 Works & Engineering 902,G92 6,224,949 5,322,857 
80 Architectural Design & Construction 1,052,947 1,052,947 
81 Lands, Buildings & Surveys 3,055 24,401,224 24,398,169 
82 Operations & Engineering 3,115 37,644,495 37,641,380 

Amortization 37 330,814 37,330,814 
908 262 106,654,429 105,746,167 

TOTAL CURRENT EXPENSE 3,597,168 1 '176,834,962 1 '173,237,794 
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Government of Bermuda • Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 12: Schedule of Tangible Capital Assets and Assets under Construction 

As at March 31, 2010 COST ACCUMULATI:D AMORTIZATION 
31-Mar-10 31-Mar-09 

Estimatod Opening Additions Disposals& Closing Opening Amortization Disposals& Closing Net Book Net Book 
Useful Life Balance A<ljustments Balance Balan co Exeense Adjustments Balance Value Value 

Tangible Capital Assets 

Land lndefinlle 45,636,776 45,636.778 45,636,778 45,636.778 

Oulfdings &: Oetterrnente: 40 ye~r~ 462,791,663 5,203.639 G9,2GO 466,064,60?. (106,664,466) (13,176,593) (3,62S) (121,764,704) 366,299,696 374.167,197 

tnfrast.ructure Varied 114,012,282 7,517,343 3,894.700 125,424,325 (7,937,397) (6, 100,363) (687,083) (14,724,843) 110,699,462 106,074,685 

Vehicles & Heavy Equipment Varied 77,157,553 10,022,329 (3,244,817) 83,935,065 (54, 147,373) (6,904,603) 3,177,285 (57,874,691) 26,060,374 23,010,180 

Vessels Varied 41,943,000 29,800 (360,000) 41,612,800 (25,777,432) {2,617,424) 360,000 (28,034,856) 13,577,944 16,165,568 

Computer Software 10 years 10,401,589 7,992,580 18,394,169 (1,626,910) (1,112,256) (2.739,166) 15,655,003 8,774.679 

Office Equipment 5years 8,035,972 1,606.138 (65.801) 9,576,309 (3,260,847) (1,626,893) 21,641 (4,866,099) 4,710,210 4,775,125 

Computer Hardware 3years 6,355,575 892,642 7,248,217 (4,457,807) (1.420,700) (5,878,507) 1,369,710 1,897,768 

Capital Leases 3· Syears 2.998,260 1,281.184 (28,990) 4,250,454 (2,021.419) (700.421) {377.046) (3,098,866) 1,151,566 976,841 

Furniture & Fixtures 7 years 3,130,845 739,193 (21,617) 3,848,421 (1,042,521) (488,558) (1,531,079) 2,317,342 2,088,324 

Plant, Machinery & Equipment Varied 46,250,793 510,458 46,761,251 (30,574,488) (3, 183,003) (33,757.491) 13,003,760 15,676,305 

Total Tangible Cap~al Assots 838,714,330 35,795,306 262,755 874,772,391 {239,450,680) (37,330,814) 2,491,172 (274,~96,322) 600,462,069 599,26~1~50 

Assets under Constnucllon 112,7301687 70,044!256 !841155,582! 98,619,361 98,619,361 112,730,687 
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 13: Capital Development Expense By Ministry I Department 
For the year ended March 31 

Cabinet Office Departments 
31 Airport Operations 
33 Tourism 
34 Transport Control Department 
35 Public Transportation Board 
48 Transport Headquarters 
51 Department of Communication & Information 

Ministry of Justice 
02 Legislature 
03 Judicial Department 

Ministry of Finance 
1 0 Ministry of Finance HQ 
11 Accountant-General 

Ministry of Education 
17 Department of Education 

Ministry of Environment & Sport 
20 Youth, Sport & Recreation 
50 Ministry of the Environment & Sports 
68 Parks 
69 Conservations Services 
72 Environmental Protection 

Ministry of Health 
22 Health Department 
24 Hospitals 

Ministry of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing 
06 Defence 
07 Police 
25 Corrections 
45 Fire Services 
54 Security Services & Delegated Affairs 
83 Ministry of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing HQ 

Ministry of Energy, Telecommunications & E-Commerce 
46 Telecommunications 

Ministry of Works & Engineering 
36 Works & Engineering 
80 Architectural Design & Construction 
81 Lands, Buildings & Surveys 
82 Operations & Engineering 

TOTAL CAPITAL DEVELOPMENT 

2010 

Actual 

$ 

897,898 
3,000,000 

58,014,803 

61,912,701 

112,604 
2,975 

115,579 

906 

906 

633,762 

633,762 

17,642 
46,527 

239,968 
204,601 
26,533 

535,271 

1,032,120 
120,000 

1,152,120 

63,053 
148,698 
154,378 

69,585 
28,738 

25,326,236 

25,790,688 

350,870 

350,870 

7,235,904 

137,141 

7,373,045 

97,864,942 

2009 

Actual 

$ 

3,873,937 
2,065,656 
(697,606) 

2,537 
96,095 
22,470 

5,363,089 

95,969 
235 

96,204 

72,896 

72,896 

9,207,157 

9,207,157 

15,372 
267,026 
637,358 
176,081 
60,420 

1 '156,257 

8,076,795 
3,129,659 

11,206,454 

730,258 
375,630 
49,526 

171,372 
29,491 

23,776,084 

25,132,361 

1,388,834 

1,388,834 

8,566,480 
17,914 
30,752 

507,304 

9,122,450 

62,745,702 
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 14: Capital Acquisition Expense By Ministry I Department 
For the year ended March 31 

Non-Ministry Departments 
05 Office of the Auditor General 
63 Parliamentary Registrar 
85 Ombudsman's Office 

Cabinet Office Departments 
09 Cabinet Office 
14 Department of Statistics 
15 Department of Management Services 
19 Department of Archives 
26 Department of Human Resources 
30 Marine & Ports Services 
31 Airport Operations 
34 Transport Control Department 
35 Public Transportation Board 
51 Department of Communication & Information 
57 Civil Aviation 

Ministry of Justice 
02 Legislature 
03 Judicial Department 
04 Attorney-General's Chambers 
87 Ministry of Justice HQ 

Ministry of Finance 
10 Ministry of Finance HQ 
11 Accountant-General 
12 Customs 
38 Office of the Tax Commissioner 
39 Registrar of Companies 

Ministry of Education, Sports & Recreation 
17 Department of Education 

Ministry of Health 
21 .Ministry of Health HQ 
22 Health Department 

2010 2009 

Actual Actual 

$ $ 

14,418 8,670 
11,837 

9,000 

35,255 8,670 

182,191 
20,581 105,255 

636 
10,199 22,347 
49,861 
45,829 61 ,724 

542,398 599,646 
16,660 141,209 

274,331 682,605 

72,010 132,842 

1,214,060 1,746,264 

37,097 
178,098 6,147 
40,809 

73,321 

256,004 79,468 

29,713 29,322 
446,010 

62,753 51,037 
22,705 62,138 
4,124 24,494 

119,295 613,001 

1,682,934 2,065,104 

1,682,934 2,065,104 

65,456 
(450,039) 740,942 

(450,039) 806,398 

51 

rgilbert
Text Box

rgilbert
Text Box
Appendix 2


rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text
__________________________________________________________________________________________
2010, 2011 and 2012 Consolidated Fund Report - Auditor General of Bermuda                                                  97



Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 14: Capital Acquisition Expense By Ministry I Department 
(cont'd) 
For the year ended March 31 

Ministry of Environment & Sport 
20 Youth, Sport & Recreation 
32 Department of Planning 
49 Land Valuation 
50 Ministry of Environment & Sports 
68 Parks 
69 Conservations Services 
72 Environmental Protection 

Ministry of Culture & Social Rehabilitation 
18 Libraries 
23 Child & Family Services 
52 Community & Cultural Affairs 
55 Financial Assistance 
56 Human Affairs 
74 Court Services 
88 National Drug Control 

Ministry of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing 
06 Defence 
07 Police 
25 Department of Corrections 
27 Immigration 
45 Fire Services 
60 Labour & Training 

Ministry of Energy, Telecommunications & E-Commerce 
13 Post Office 
43 Information Technology Office 
46 Telecommunications 
67 E-Commerce 
84 E~Government 

Ministry of Works & Engineering 
36 Works & Engineering 
81 Lands, Buildings & Surveys 

TOTAL CAPITAL ACQUISITION 

2010 2009 

Actual Actual 

$ $ 

5,759 4,530 
9,310 

9,375 (9, 125) 
2,679 

16,199 74,807 
3,875 36,259 
8,000 

45,887 115,781 

16,936 49,343 
10,400 17,225 

57,005 
29,141 56,868 

2,300 108,917 
1,302 

45,038 81,087 

103,815 371,747 

140,931 70,556 
439,666 1,478,069 

(4,900) 41,215 
4,018 150,604 

508,108 442,695 

1,087,823 2,183,139 

61,097 130,836 
3,409,859 3,208,003 

2,815 
30,000 

188,070 601,668 

3,659,026 3,973,322 

41,467 81,300 
29,843 44,800 

71,310 126,100 

7,825,370 12,088,994 
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Government of Bermuda- Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 15: Current Expenditure- Estimates Compared to Expenses 
For the year ended March 31, 2010 

Adjusted Under (Over) 
Exeenses Exeenditure • Estimates •• seent 

$ $ $ $ 

Non-Ministry Departments 
01 Governor & Staff 1,976,550 1,976,550 1,695,280 (281,270) 
05 Office of the Auditor General 2,894,881 2,894,881 2,948,518 53,637 
08 Public Service Commission 76,963 76,963 81,077 4,114 
63 Parliamentary Registrar 784,492 784,492 739,331 (45,161) 
85 Ombudsman's Office 706,854 706,854 697,835 {9,019} 

6,439,740 6,439,740 6,162,041 {277,699} 

Cabinet Office Departments 
09 Cabinet Office 9,192,349 9,192,349 7,824,265 (1,368,084) 
14 Department of Statistics 3,050,427 3,050,427 3,221 ,353 170,926 
15 Department of Management Services 
19 Department of Archives 1,506,166 1,506,166 1,570,275 64,109 
26 Department of Human Resources 4,948,137 4,948,137 5,610,543 662,406 
30 Marine & Ports 21,405,714 21,550,995 21,757,313 206,318 
31 Airport Operations 24,029,902 23,875,289 20,860,663 (3,014,626) 
33 Department of Tourism 31,851,942 31,851,942 31,723,067 (128,875) 
34 Transport Control Department 6,644,214 6,644,214 6,885,329 241,115 
35 Public Transportation Board 22,977,183 22,968,387 19,453,586 (3,514,801) 
48 Ministry of Transport HQ 1,324,832 1,324,832 1,334,003 9,171 
51 Dept. of Communication & Information 2,613,016 2,613,016 2,618,416 5,400 
57 Civil Aviation 6,952,887 6,953,372 6,997,590 44,218 
73 Maritime Administration 1,643,061 1,613,728 1,682,626 68,898 

138,139,830 138,092,854 131,539,029 (6,553,825} 

Ministry of Justice 
02 Legislature 5,041,314 5,041,314 5,129,873 88,559 
03 Judicial Department 8,212,012 8,216,368 8,451,669 235,301 
04 Attorney-General's Chambers 4,313,791 4,313,791 4,589,193 275,402 
75 Department of Public Prosecutions 2,186,258 2,186,258 2,627,138 440,880 
87 Minist!Y of Justice HQ 4,430,723 4,430,723 3,673,755 {756,968} 

24 184 098 24 188 454 24 471 628 283174 

Ministry of Finance 
10 Ministry of Finance HQ 11,982,769 11,982,769 12,087,980 105,211 
11 Accountant-General 83,671,136 83,687,314 80,377,885 (3,309,429) 

Retirement Benefit Expenses 106,695,970 
12 Customs 18,648,270 18,600,357 19,569,099 968,742 
28 Social Insurance 8,046,591 8,046,591 7,034,230 (1,012,361) 
38 Office of the Tax Commissioner 5,009,071 3,146,132 3,607,258 461,126 
39 Registrar of Companies 4,076,891 3,760,909 3,624,455 (136,454) 
58 Interest on Debt 29,978,210 1,694,715 1,700,000 5,285 
59 Sinking Fund Contribution 

268,108,908 130,918,787 128,000,907 (2,917,879} 

Ministry of Education 
17 Department of Education 133,919,495 132,830,956 128,436,239 (4,394,717) 
41 Bermuda College 20,702,204 20,702,204 20,702,204 

154,621,699 153,533,160 149,138,443 {4,394,717) 

Ministry of Health 
21 Ministry of Health HQ 18,473,155 18,473,155 18,935,651 462,496 
22 Health Department 29,134,608 29,002,111 31,129,801 2,127,690 
24 Hospitals 132,239,483 132,239,483 137,953,924 5,714,441 
91 Health Insurance 10,263,994 10,263,994 5,456,724 (4,807,270l 

190111 240 189 978 743 193 476100 3 497 357 

* Adjusted for Non-Budgeted, Non-Cash Items 

** Includes all Approved Supplementary amounts during the year 
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Government of Bermuda • Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 15: Current Ex~enditure- Estimates Com~ared to Ex~enses ~cont'd) 
For the year ended March 31, 2010 

Adjusted Under (Over) 
Exeenses Exeenditure* Estimates •• seen! 

$ $ $ $ 
Ministry of the Environment & Sports 

20 Youth, Sport & Recreation 12,390,391 12,390,391 13,475,464 1,085,073 
32 Department of Planning 3,788,824 3,788,824 4,117,972 329,148 
49 Land Valuation 621,702 621,702 707,328 85,626 
50 Ministry of the Environment HQ 1,133,689 1,133,689 1,231,246 97,557 
68 Parks 10,804,712 10,804,712 11,146,203 341,491 
69 Conservations Services 5,064,698 4,896,433 5,538,401 641,968 
72 Environmental Protection 3 730 335 3 748 913 3 845 045 96132 

37 534 351 37 384 664 40 061 659 2 676 995 
Ministry of Culture & Social Rehabilitation 
18 Ubraries 2,659,614 2,659,007 2,436,297 (222,710) 
23 Child & Family Services 19,495,400 19,495,400 18,311,405 (1 , 183,995) 
52 Community & Cultural Affairs 4,950,232 4,950,232 4,839,843 (110,389) 
55 Financial Assistance 33,079,127 33,013,494 32,054,722 (958,772) 
56 Human Affairs 3,125,995 3,125,995 3,079,994 (46,001) 
71 Ministry of Social Rehabilitation 3,659,957 3,659,957 3,743,447 83,490 
74 Court Services 4,233,937 4,233,937 4,415,373 181,436 
86 Ministry of Community & Cultural Affairs HQ 
88 National Drug Control 3,789,847 3,789,847 4,452,301 662,454 

74,994,109 74,927,869 
Ministry of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing 

73,333,382 (1 ,594,487) 

06 Defence 8,917,032 8,917,032 8,696,308 (220,724) 
07 Police 70,563,276 70,556,649 60,540,624 (10,016,025) 
25 Corrections 29,492,975 29,492,975 29,471,837 (21, 138) 
27 Immigration 5,447,535 5,447,535 5,959,342 511,807 
45 Fire Services 12,970,241 12,970,241 15,793,937 2,823,696 
53 Bermuda Housing Corporation 7,250,000 7,250,000 7,250,000 
54 Security Services & Delegated Affairs 412,185 412,185 490,696 78,511 
60 Labour & Training 7,131,510 7,131,510 7,219,781 88,271 
83 Minis~ of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing HQ 1,993,517 1,993,517 2,118,421 124,904 

144,178,271 144,171,644 137,540,946 (6,630,698) 
Ministry of Energy, Telecommunications & E·Commerce 
13 PostOffice 14,967,726 14,967,726 14,860,582 (107,144) 
29 Registry General 1,696,455 1,696,455 2,139,113 442,656 
42 Rent Commissioner 567,539 567,539 637,218 69,679 
43 Information Technology Office 8,276,712 8,276,712 8,449,499 172,787 
46 Telecommunications 2,885,534 2,892,359 2,979,718 87,359 
67 E-Commerce 1,083,406 1,083,406 1,188,264 104,858 
84 E-Government 1 '190,941 1,190,941 1,380,263 189,322 
89 Energy 588,621 588,621 657,804 69,183 
90 Minis!~ of Energ;t, Telecommunications and E-Commerce 611,353 611,353 597,816 (13,537) 

31 868 287 31 875 112 32 890 277 1 015 165 
Ministry of Works & Engineering 
36 Works & Engineering 6,224,949 6,341,905 7,022,559 680,654 
80 Architectural Design & Construction 1,052,947 1,052,947 1,213,221 160,274 
81 Lands, Buildings & Surveys 24,401,224 24,395,774 25,715,370 1,319,596 
82 Operations & Engineering 37,644,495 37,639,568 37,541,115 (98,453) 

Amortization 37 330 814 
106,654 429 69 430 194 71 492 265 2 062 071 

TOTAL CURRENT EXPENDITURE 1 '176,834,962 1,000,941,221 988,106,677 (12,834,543) 
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 16: Commitments - Legislated 
For the year ended March 31 

Unspent Capital Appropriations 

2010 

Actual 

$ 

In accordance with Section 6 of the Appropriations Act 2009, unspent capital 
appropriations for incomplete capital projects to be carried forward to future years 
are as follows: 

Capital Development 

Capital Acquisition 

Total Authorized Funding 

12,928,068 

5,265,875 

18,193,943 

Total Authorized Funding represents the estimated total cost of capital development 
projects and is subject to the voting of supply by the Legislature. Estimated future 
expenditure for continuing capital development projects is as follows: 

Total Authorized Funding 1 '113,698,911 

Projects Completed during the year (225,744,688) 

Approved Supplementary Estimate 966,600 

Revised Total Authorized Funding 888,920,823 

Appropriated Capital Development (446, 756,520) 

Unappropriated Capital Development Commitments 442,164,303 

2009 

Actual 

$ 

12,825,532 

4,963,805 

17,789,337 

960,616,583 

(35,046,200) 

26,187,200 

951 ,757,583 

(548,305,964) 

403,451,619 
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund 
Schedule 17: Public Debt - Legislated Limit 
As at March 31 2010 

Actual 

$ 

2009 

Actual 

$ 

The Government Loans Act 1978, as amended, defines public debt as debt owed or 
guaranteed by the Consolidated Fund. 

Section 2A(1) of the Act limits public debt (net of sinking fund assets) to $1 billion. 

Debt (Schedule 7) 730,000,000 415,000,000 

Bank of NT Butterfield Guarantee 200,000,000 

Overdraft Facility Drawdown (Note 16) 93,409,873 147,250,826 

WEDCO Loan Guarantee (Note 14 (b)(ii)) 10,000,000 

National Education Guarantees (Note 1 0( a}) 542,367 792,230 

1,033,952,240 563,043,056 

Less: 

Sinking Fund (Schedule 7) 64,487,481 79,780,761 

Public Debt 969,464,759 483,262,295 

Legislated Limit 1 ,000,000,000 1,000,000,000 

Available Limit 30,535,241 516,737,705 
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The Cabinet Office 
__________________________________________________________________________ 

Department of Communication and Information 

 

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
 

4 February ~2.00 pm   
 

CONTACT 
Beverle Lottimore 

Ph: 297-7868 
Email: balottimore@gov.bm  

 

~ Consolidated Fund Financial Statements 2010 ~ 

 
In accordance with Government’s commitment to effect ongoing improvements in its 
Public Accounts and in reporting to Parliament, Premier and Minister of Finance, the 
Hon. Paula A. Cox, JP, MP today tabled audited financial statements relating to the 
Consolidated Fund for the year-ended March 31, 2010. 

The Consolidated Fund is the general operating fund of the Bermuda Government 
through which Government conducts the majority of its financial transactions.  
 
The Consolidated Fund financial statements report the operations, financial position and 
changes in financial position that result from the activities of the Government. This 
includes the accounts of the Senate, the House of Assembly, all Government departments 
and offices and all courts. 
  
For the third consecutive year, the annual accounts of the Consolidated Fund of the 
Government of Bermuda were given a qualified audit opinion. The qualification in this 
and the prior year was based on the Auditor General’s opinion that there were serious 
deficiencies in internal controls in the management of certain capital development 
projects. She stated that these deficiencies led her to question the appropriateness of 
certain transactions and the underlying value of the assets at March 31, 2010. She went 
on to say that without the benefit of an independent professional valuation she was still 
unable to determine whether adjustments might be necessary. 
 
Premier Cox informed Parliament that the detailed reasons for the qualification on the 
accounts will be included in the Auditor-General’s Annual report when it is tabled. 
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Subsequent to the tabling of this document, normal Parliamentary procedures would be 
followed: 

 The reports referred to the Public Accounts Committee for review. 

 The Committee tabling its report with recommendations 

 The Minister of Finance issuing a formal response, in writing, on behalf of the 
Government. 

 
Should any Ministries finances be queried, the process will also allow for separate 
Ministerial Statements to be given by relevant Ministers on any financial shortcomings 
noted in the Report.  
 
Premier Cox said, “The Government fully understands, respects and values the Office of 
the Auditor General.  The Government will work with the Auditor General and take the 
required steps to ensure that this qualification is removed in the future, in the same 
manner they did when actions were taken on  qualified accounts in 2000 and on other 
previous occasions.”  
 
It must be noted that the 2009-2010 budget estimates, made in February 2009, were 
against the background of an array of very challenging economic and financial 
circumstances.  
 
The global economy was in recession and there was sustained turmoil in world capital 
and financial markets. There was also a lack of confidence within the banking and 
financial sectors despite the most determined efforts of G8 leaders and policy-makers. 
Governments around the world were acting decisively and aggressively to implement 
monetary and fiscal policies aimed at preventing a free fall in the economy. 
 
These circumstances must be considered when scrutinizing the Consolidated Fund 
Financial Statements for 2010. 
  
Highlights of the Consolidated Fund Financial Statements 2010 are as follows: 
  
The total revenue raised by the Consolidated Fund for fiscal 2009/10 was approximately 
$917.3 million, representing a decrease of $33.5 million (3.53%) from fiscal 2008/09 for 
which balances have been restated. This was lower than original budget estimates by 
approximately $52.4 million (5.40%). The most significant generators of revenues for 
fiscal 2009/10 were Payroll Taxes accounting for $349 million or 38.1% (2009 - $356.5 
million or 37.4%) and Customs Duty accounting for $219.0 million or 23.9% (2009 - 
$224.2 million or 23.5%). Revenues were below budget in 2009-2010 mainly due to 
shortfalls in Customs Duty ($23.6 million below), Stamp Duty ($18.1 million below), 
Hotel Occupancy Tax ($4.2 million below), and Immigration Receipts ($3.3 million 
below). 
  
Current expenses for fiscal 2009/10 were $1.177 billion (2009 - $1.112 billion). The three 
largest components of current expenses were: employee costs; grants and contributions; 
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and professional services. Total employee costs were $607.9 million or 51.7% (2009 - 
$579.7 million or 52.1%) of total expenses. Included in this amount is $143.7 million 
(2009 - $123.1. million) of non-cash retirement benefit expenses. Grants and 
contributions were $261.1 million or 22.2% (2009 - $234.9 million or 21.1%) and 
professional services were $111.9 million or 9.5% (2009 - $95.5 million or 8.6%).  
 
Premier Cox stated that financial payments for professional services are often confused 
with payments to overseas consultants.  For clarity, she explained this expenditure of 
$111.9 covered all government contracts including cleaning, security, legal aid, Works 
and Engineering maintenance, contracted services for the Department of Airport 
Operations, health insurance portability claims, war pensioner medical claims and other 
‘locally’ contracted services. 
 
The total current expenditure on a modified cash basis for fiscal year 2009-2010, was 
$1.0 billion, which was $31.3 million higher than original budget estimates. Expenditures 
increased due to the following:   

 unanticipated increases in police salaries from arbitrated awards and overtime; 
 above budget expenditure on substitute and para-professional’s salaries; 
 increased expenditure on Government’s health subsidy programme for the 

youth, aged and indigent 
 

Total capital account cash expenditure was $125.5 million; $25 million lower than the 
original budget estimates. Capital development expenditure was $10 million below 
original budget estimates while capital acquisitions were $15 million below the original 
budget.  
 
A further look reveals the closing Net Book Value of Tangible Capital Assets for the year 
was $600 million (2009 - $599.3 million). Included in the net additions of $36 million 
(2009 - $163 million) was a net transfer of $14.1 million from Assets under Construction 
(2009 - $88.0 million) to completed projects.  
 
Net Public Debt, which excludes guarantees and is net of the Sinking Fund, increased by 
$276.4 million (2009 - $205.3 million) during fiscal 2009/10 standing at $758.9 million 
at the end of the year. The escalation was mainly due to the Government issuing $315 
million in various Senior Notes, whose proceeds were used to fund Government’s capital 
expenditure programme and repay overdraft facilities with local financial institutions.  
 
As noted previously the Government raised $315 million in long-term debt this fiscal 
year. The Notes were issued in different tranches in order to maintain a balanced maturity 
structure and to allow for earlier repayment of some of the Notes using funds in the 
Sinking Fund when they fall due.  
 
When raising funds in the capital markets, the most important objective is to provide the 
government with stable financing at minimal cost under the prevailing market conditions.  
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The credit market turmoil in the fall of 2008 increased the cost of credit to all time highs, 
surpassing previous highs by 50%. Coupon levels on debt climbed to levels not seen 
since the mid 1990. The dramatic increase was primarily due to investor caution; 
however these costs have now lowered to pre-crisis levels, and should lower the cost of 
future Government borrowing.  
 
It is important to note that in all cases the debt issued in 2009 was priced in line with 
comparable sovereign issues. 
 
When including guarantees, net public debt was $969.5 million (2009 – 483.3). As at 
March 31, 2010 Government guarantees total $210.5 million, which includes the 
Butterfield preference share offering ($200 million), a loan guarantee to WEDCO ($10 
million) and student loans which are guaranteed by the Government. These amounts are 
contingent liabilities to the Government and are not included on the Government’s 
balance sheet; rather they are note-disclosed in the Financial Statements of the 
Consolidated Fund.  
 
The actual net debt to GDP ratio at March 31, 2010 was about 13.6 %.   
 
Bermuda’s debt, despite recent increases in public debt as a percentage of GDP, is still 
moderate when compared to other countries and remains one of the lowest, debt policy 
ratios amongst developed modern economies. For example Bermuda’s debt ratios are 
more than 40% below the median for the Fitch rated ‘AA’ category median, which 
includes sovereigns rated ‘AA-’, ‘AA’ and ‘AA+’.” Bermuda’s 13.6% debt to GDP ratio 
is also 52% below the median debt to GDP ratios of similarly rated advanced industrial 
countries which is about 66.0%. 
 
The statements of the Consolidated Fund provide valuable information on the financial 
position of the Government and the public is encouraged to examine them. 
 
There is no doubt that the global recession is having a negative impact on Government 
finances worldwide and Bermuda is not unique in facing the economic challenges that are 
being faced globally.  
 
To clearly illustrate the severity of the financial crisis on government finances 
worldwide, one should examine the sharp increases in budget deficits of OECD countries 
from 2008 to 2009. In 2008 the average budget deficit of OECD countries was 3.5 per 
cent of GDP. In 2009 this increased to 8.2 per cent of GDP, a staggering 134 per cent 
increase. In the eurozone over the same period, this statistic increased from 2 per cent, to 
6.1 per cent of GDP, an increase of 205 per cent.  
 
“I wish to assure the public that the Government is sensitive to the challenges which may 
arise when deficits reach short term peaks, however the Government is moving ahead 
with a credible plan for long-term fiscal consolidation in order to reduce public debt and 
to keep the country on a sustainable fiscal path,” Premier Cox concluded.  
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31 2011 2010

  Actual Restated
(Note 17)

  $   $

Liabilities Schedule

 Bank Overdraft (Note 16) 57,490,260 93,409,873          

 Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 5 146,366,433         137,606,507        

 Deferred Revenue 6 34,142,751           30,262,623          

237,999,444         261,279,003        

 Interest Bearing Debt - Net of Sinking Fund 7 944,491,502         665,512,519        

 Pensions and Other Employee Future Benefits
  - Pensions and Retirement Benefits (Note 9(g))Pensions and Retirement Benefits Note 9(g)) 1,049,575,594      939,354,866        
  - Compensated Absences (Note 8) 21,995,987           21,336,602          

1,071,571,581      960,691,468        
 Other Liabilities
 Due to Government Funds and Agencies 3(a) 49,787,833           50,391,478          

2,303,850,360      1,937,874,468     

Financial Assets

 Cash and Cash Equivalents 10,993,022           19,531,018          
 Accounts Receivable 1 166,636,860         142,586,906        
 Due from Government Funds and Agencies 3 18,113,855           20,190,549          
 Long-Term Receivables 4 1,904,335             2,231,431            
 Investment in Quango (Notes 3(e) & 14(b)) 5,000,000             5,000,000            

202,648,072         189,539,904        

 Net Debt 2,101,202,288      1,748,334,564     

 Non-Financial Assets
 Tangible Capital Assets (Notes 3(f) & 15) 12 727,752,452 600,482,069        
 Assets under Construction (Note 3(f)) 12 59,272,927           98,619,361          
 Inventories for Consumption 2 14,976,960           16,420,102          
 Prepaid Expenses 3,473,625 4,751,754            

805,475,964         720,273,286        

Accumulated Deficit 1,295,726,324      1,028,061,278     

Contingent Liabilities, Non-Contractual Operational Commitments and Contractual 
Commitments (Notes 10, 11, 12 and Schedule 16)

 Total Financial Assets

 Total Liabilities

 Total Non-Financial Assets

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.  4
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit
For the year ended March 31 2011 2011 2010

Original
Estimates Actual Restated

(Note 17)
$ $ $

Schedule

Revenue 8,10 1,058,812,000   996,728,405       917,940,724       

Expenses

Current 9,11 1,058,317,000   1,272,650,610    1,177,203,384    

Capital Development (Note 17) 13 31,647,283         107,864,942       

Capital Acquisition 14  4,215,873           7,825,370           

 1,308,513,766    1,292,893,696    

Annual Deficit (311,785,361)      (374,952,972)      

Accumulated Deficit, Beginning of Year (1,028,061,278)   (657,656,965)      

Recognition of Tangible Capital Assets  (Note 15) 44,120,315         4,011,987           

Correction of Error (Note 17) -                          536,672              

Accumulated Deficit, End of Year (1,295,726,324)   (1,028,061,278)   

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.  5
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Statement of Change in Net Debt 
For the year ended March 31 2011 2010

Actual Restated
(Note 17)

  $   $

Annual Deficit (311,785,361)      (374,952,972)      

Change Due to Tangible Capital Assets:
Net Additions to Tangible Capital Assets (126,306,791)      (34,537,246)        
Net Reductions in Assets under Construction 39,346,434         14,111,326         
Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets 43,156,723         37,330,814         

Total Change Due to Tangible Capital Assets (43,803,634)        16,904,894         

Net Reductions in (Additions to) Inventories for Consumption 1,443,142           (1,775,051)          
Net Reductions in Prepaid Expenses 1,278,129           1,650,250           

Total Change Due to Inventories for Consumption 
and Prepaid Expenses 2,721,271           (124,801)             

Increase in Net Debt (352,867,724)      (358,172,879)      

Net Debt, Beginning of Year (1,748,334,564)   (1,390,698,357)   

Correction of Error (Note 17) -                          536,672              

Net Debt, End of Year (2,101,202,288)   (1,748,334,564)   

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.  6
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Statement of Cash Flow
For the year ended March 31 2011 2010

Actual Restated
(Note 17)

  $   $
Operating Activities

Annual Deficit (311,785,361)   (374,952,972)   

Items not affecting cash:
Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets 43,156,723      37,330,814      
Increase in Pension and Retirement Benefits Liability 110,220,728    104,945,632    
Increase in Compensated Absences Liability 659,385           1,750,338        
Decrease in Non-Cash Working Capital (6,888,484)       (25,001,305)     

Cash Applied to Operating Activities (164,637,009)   (255,927,493)   

Capital Activities

Net Additions to Tangible Capital Assets (126,306,791)   (34,537,246)     
Net Reductions in Assets under Construction 39,346,434      14,111,326      

Cash Applied to Capital Activities (86,960,357)     (20,425,920)     

Financing Activities

Debt issues 500,000,000    315,000,000    
Debt retirement (200,000,000)   -                      
(Increase) Decrease in Sinking Fund (21,021,017)     15,293,280      

Cash Provided By Financing Activities 278,978,983    330,293,280    

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 27,381,617      53,939,867      

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year (73,878,855)     (127,818,722)   

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year (46,497,238)     (73,878,855)     

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year

  Cash and Cash Equivalents 10,993,022      19,531,018      
  Bank Overdraft (57,490,260)     (93,409,873)     

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year (46,497,238)     (73,878,855)     

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.  7
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1. Authority 
The Consolidated Fund (the “Fund”) operates under the authority of the Bermuda 
Constitution Order 1968 and amendments, and the Public Treasury (Administration and 
Payments) Act 1969 and amendments. 

All public money is paid into the Fund and legislative authority must be obtained for any 
expenditure out of the Fund. 

The Legislature provides authority to make payments out of the Fund in annual 
Appropriation Acts, Supplementary Estimates and other statutes. Unused spending 
authority for current account appropriations lapses at the end of the fiscal year.  Unused 
spending authority for uncompleted capital projects is carried forward to subsequent 
fiscal years, subject to the approval of the Minister of Finance. 

2. Reporting Entity 
The Fund’s financial statements report the financial position, results of operations, 
change in net debt and cash flow resulting from the activities of the Fund only, which 
comprise the accounts of the Senate, the House of Assembly, all Government 
departments and offices (including the Public Service Commission) and all courts. The 
Fund is established and defined pursuant to section 94 of the Bermuda Constitution 
Order 1968. 

These financial statements are not summary consolidated financial statements of the 
Bermuda Government. Separate audited financial statements are prepared for all other 
Government organizations. 

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with the legislative requirements 
as outlined in sections 5 and 32A of the Public Treasury (Administration and Payments) 
Act 1969 and amendments. 

The Government adheres to the general practice of using a Consolidated Fund as its 
general operating fund. Schedules 10 to 14 provide information concerning the 
operations, tangible capital assets and capital expenses of individual Government 
departments and funds and agencies comprising the Fund. 

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
The recommendations of the Public Sector Accounting Board and the Accounting 
Standards Board of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (which are 
promoted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Bermuda by signed agreement 
and therefore generally accepted in Bermuda) are the source for the disclosure basis of 
accounting. 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with the disclosed basis of 
accounting requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 
earned and expenses incurred during the year. Actual results could differ from these 
estimates. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
The significant accounting policies are as follows: 

(a) Method 
The financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. 

(b) Revenue 
Revenues are accounted for in the fiscal year in which the transactions or events 
occurred that gave rise to the revenues. 

Revenues not practicably measurable until cash is received are accounted for upon 
receipt. 

Amounts received or receivable prior to the end of the year, which relate to revenues 
that will be earned in a subsequent fiscal year, are reported as deferred revenue. 

(c) Expenses 
Expenses are accounted for in the fiscal year that goods and services are acquired, a 
liability is incurred or grant payments are due. 

Contributions to Government funds and agencies are expensed in the year the 
expenditure is made. 

Classification of expenses between current account items and capital account items 
follows the classification in the Approved Estimates. 

(d) Interdepartmental Revenues and Expenses 
Interdepartmental revenues and expenses are not eliminated but have been identified as 
explained in Note 14(c). 

(e) Financial Assets 
Financial assets are resources that can be used to discharge existing liabilities or 
finance future operations. They include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, 
amounts due from Government funds and agencies, long-term receivables and 
investment in QUANGO. 

Accounts receivable are recorded at cost. A valuation allowance is recorded when 
collection of the receivable is considered doubtful. 

Long-term receivables are recorded at unamortized cost. 

Investment in QUANGO is recorded at cost.  
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3.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
(f)  Non-Financial Assets  
Non-Financial assets are resources that are employed for future services. They include 
tangible capital assets, assets under construction, inventories for consumption and 
prepaid expenses. The costs of acquiring land, buildings, equipment and other capital 
property are capitalized as tangible capital assets and are amortized over the estimated 
useful lives of the assets. Where original acquisition documents were difficult to retrieve, 
the Book Value Calculator (“BVC”), developed by the Chief Appraiser of Public Works 
and Government Services Canada (as modified by them to address the Bermuda 
Government situation), was used to establish reasonable estimates of the Net Book 
Values in order to develop opening balances. 
 
Other tangible capital assets that do not meet the minimum threshold requirements for 
their respective asset class have continued to be charged to capital expenses in the year 
of purchase, which is consistent with prior years. These expenses are currently 
classified as capital development and capital acquisition expenses on the Statement of 
Operations and Accumulated Deficit. Included in the capital development and capital 
acquisition expenses are other significant items: capital grants, repairs and 
maintenance, professional fees and other items which are expensed as they are 
incurred. Tangible capital assets that have not yet been disclosed include historical 
treasures.   
        
Amortization is recorded on a straight-line basis for all assets, according to the following:  
 
 Buildings      2- 40 years 
 

Leasehold Improvements Remaining life or lease period of the related 
asset  

 
 

Betterments Remaining life or lease period of the related 
asset  

     
Vehicles & Heavy Equipment 

  $3,000 to $99,999  5 years  
  $100,000 and above  7 years 
 

Boats & Vessels   
  $10,000 to $99,999   5 years  
  $100,000 and above  10 years     
  

Leased Equipment   3 years  
     

 Computer Hardware    
                       $3,000 to $99,999  3 years  
            $100,000 and above  7 years 
 
             All laptops and desktop computers are capitalized                
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    3.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
      

Computer Software    
        $20,000 and above                         10 years 

    
Furniture & Fixtures    
       $3,000 and above                             7 years 
 
Office Equipment    
       $3,000 and above                             5 years 
 
Plant, Machinery & Equipment 
      $50,000 and above                            10 – 30 years 
 

Infrastructure     
     $50,000 to $199,999                           10 years 
     $200,000 and above                           40 years 

 
*  Dollar threshold are based on per unit values with the exception of Furniture and 
Fixtures. 
 
The Ministry of Public Works is primarily responsible for Government’s tangible capital 
assets. Amortization expense is reported under that Ministry.  Since amortization is a 
non-cash expense, it is removed for appropriation reporting purposes. 
 
Assets under construction relate to the development of buildings, betterments, vehicles, 
computer hardware, computer software, infrastructure, office equipment and vessels.  
Upon completion, the balance of assets under construction will be transferred to tangible 
capital assets and amortized based on the appropriate useful life. 
 
Inventories for consumption are comprised of spare parts and supplies that are held for 
future program delivery and are not intended for resale. They are valued at cost. 
Inventories for consumption that no longer have service potential are valued at the lower 
of cost or net realizable value. Items for which the costs are not readily available have 
been valued using management’s best estimates of original cost based on available 
information. 
 
 
(g)  Liabilities 
Liabilities are recorded for financial obligations to organizations and individuals occurring 
as a result of transactions and events arising on or before the year-end. They occur as a 
result of contracts, agreements and legislation in force at year-end that require the 
Government to repay borrowings or to pay for goods and services acquired or provided 
on or before the year-end. Liabilities also include grant payments due where no direct 
value is received in return. 
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3.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
(h) Translation of Foreign Currencies 
The financial statements are reported in Bermuda dollars. The Bermuda dollar is valued 
at par with the United States dollar. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the year-end date.  
Revenues and expenses originating in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange 
rate in effect on the date the specific transactions occurred. Translation gains and losses 
are included in the Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit. 
 
(i) Measurement Uncertainty 
 
Estimates are used to accrue revenues and expenses in circumstances where the actual 
accrued revenues and expenses are unknown at the time the financial statements are 
prepared. Uncertainty in the determination of the amount at which an item is recognized 
in the financial statements is known as measurement uncertainty. Such uncertainty 
exists when there is a variance between the recognized amount and another reasonable 
amount, as there is whenever estimates are used. 
 
Measurement uncertainty in these financial statements exists in the accrual of individual 
and corporate payroll and land taxes, accruals for pension obligations, accruals for 
environmental obligations, allowances for doubtful receivables and accruals for liabilities 
through actuarial valuations. 
 
The nature of the uncertainty related to the accruals for pension obligations arise 
because actual results may differ significantly from the Government’s best estimates of 
expected results based on variables such as earnings on the pension investments, 
salary increases and the life expectancy of the participants. The uncertainty related to 
the accrual of environmental obligations is based upon the identification of all sites 
where environmental damages have occurred that are the Government’s responsibilities 
to mitigate and the quantification of what the actual liability will be based upon impact 
studies. Uncertainty concerning the allowance for doubtful revenue is based upon actual 
collectability and changes in economic conditions. 
 
While management’s best estimates have been used for reporting items subject to 
measurement uncertainty, it is possible that changes in future condition in the near term 
could require a material change in the valuation of the reported amounts. Near term is 
defined as a period of time not to exceed one year from the date of the financial 
statements. 
 
 
4. Approved Estimates of the Government of Bermuda 
 
(a) Budget Process 
 
Annually, the Government presents a Budget (“Estimates”) of expected revenues and 
expenditures for the following fiscal year. 
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4. Approved Estimates of the Government of Bermuda (cont’d) 
 
The Government’s spending Estimates for the fiscal year commencing April 1, 2010 
were presented to the Members of the Legislature by the Minister of Finance.  
 
The Estimates outline the spending plans of each Ministry/Department submitted for 
approval to the Legislature in the Appropriations Act. 
 
The Estimates referred to in the financial statement schedules are from the original 
Approved Estimates of Revenue and Expenditure for the fiscal year 2010/11 and do not 
reflect changes arising from the tabling of Supplementary Estimates, except for the 
Adjusted Estimates referred to in Schedule 15 which include the original Approved 
Estimates and any tabled Supplementary Estimates. 
 
(b)  Comparison of Expenses to Estimates for Expenditure 
 
The Ministry of Finance prepares annual Estimates on the modified cash basis. These 
financial statements are prepared on an accrual basis. Due to the difference in 
accounting, Schedule 15 restates actual expenses to the modified cash basis for 
comparative and analytical purposes against the adjusted estimates. The most 
significant differences are as follows: 
 
(i)   Bad Debts – For financial statements purposes, a provision is established and 

expensed for accounts receivable where collection is doubtful. For budget purposes, 
no such provision is made. 

 
(ii) Pension – The financial statement pension-related expense is explained in Note 9. 

For budget purposes, pension expense is equal to its funding requirements. 
 
(iii) Government Borrowing Sinking Fund (Note 5) – Transfers to the Sinking Fund are 

recorded as cash transfers. For budget purposes, the Sinking Fund contribution is 
considered expenditure. 

 
(iv)  Compensated Absences – Certain Government employees are entitled to paid 

retirement leave, as explained in Note 8. For budget purposes, retirement pay is 
estimated based on anticipated salary spending for the current year. 

 
 
5. Government Borrowing Sinking Fund 
 
Effective March 31, 1993, the Government Borrowing Sinking Fund (“GBSF”) was 
established as a separate legal entity for the repayment of government borrowing under 
the provisions of the Government Loans Act 1978, as amended. 
 
During each financial year, the Fund must pay to the GBSF 2.5% of the public debt 
outstanding in the Fund at the end of the preceding year. Under section 12AA of the 
Government Loans Act 1978 as amended, the Minister may, by Order, suspend the 
annual contribution for a period of twelve months. 
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5. Government Borrowing Sinking Fund (cont’d) 
 
The GBSF assets may only be applied to reduce, cancel or pay interest on public debt. 
The assets are invested in accordance with the Public Funds Act 1954 and are shown 
as a reduction of debt issued on the Fund’s Statement of Financial Position. 
 
The following is a schedule of projected contributions to the GBSF by the Fund up to 
March 31, 2016, based on estimated debt levels to March 31, 2012: 
 
 

 2011  
 $  

2012 25,750,000  

2013 30,750,000  

2014 30,750,000  

2015 30,750,000  

2016 30,750,000  
 
 
Separate audited financial statements are prepared for the GBSF to which readers 
should refer for further information. 
 

6. Contingencies Fund  
 
On March 14, 1979 the House of Assembly passed a resolution to withdraw $1 million 
from the Fund to set up a Contingencies Fund under the provisions of Section 10(1) of 
the Public Treasury (Administration and Payments) Act 1969, as amended. 
 
The purpose of the Contingencies Fund is to allow the Minister of Finance to authorize 
urgent and unforeseen expenditures up to $1 million prior to the approval of the 
Legislature by supplementary estimate. The Contingencies Fund balance is not 
segregated from general operating cash and cash equivalents and accumulated deficit. 
 
 
7. Unemployment Insurance Fund  
 
The Unemployment Insurance Fund (“Insurance Fund”) was established March 18, 2002 
by amendment to the Public Treasury (Administration and Payments) Act 1969 under 
the provisions of Section 10B. The Legislature authorized $1 million to be set aside 
within the Fund to set up the Insurance Fund. 
 
 

rgilbert
Text Box
Appendix 4

rgilbert
Text Box

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text
______________________________________________________________________________________
120                                        2010, 2011 and 2012 Consolidated Fund Report - Auditor General of Bermuda 

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text



 
 
Government of Bermuda – Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2011 
  

 

 
 

15 

7. Unemployment Insurance Fund (cont’d) 
 
The Minister of Finance will pay amounts approved by the Legislature as Government’s 
contribution to the Insurance Fund. Monies paid into the Insurance Fund will be invested 
in accordance with the Public Funds Act 1954 and the interest earned on such 
investments will be paid into the Insurance Fund. At the time it was anticipated that an 
unemployment insurance scheme would be established to make periodic payments to 
unemployed persons. 
 
 
8. Compensated Absences  
 
Certain Government employees are entitled to paid retirement leave under the various 
union agreements that exist with the Government.  Paid retirement leave is available to 
those eligible employees with a minimum of ten years credited service, who are retiring 
on the basis of age.  The leave is paid at the salary level immediately preceding the date 
of retirement, to a maximum eligibility of twelve weeks. 

An actuarial valuation of the Government’s obligation for retirement leave was 
extrapolated to March 31, 2011, using similar various long-term assumptions as the 
Public Service Superannuation Fund pension plan (Note 9).  The valuation determined 
that the accrued benefit obligation for retirement leave is currently $21,995,987 (2010- 
$21,336,602), as defined in the table below. 

 

 2011 2010 
 $ $ 
   
Accrued benefit obligation, beginning of year 21,336,602 19,586,264 
Amortization of experience loss 60,754 80,974 
Current period benefit cost 1,148,450 1,011,619 
Interest accrued 1,397,769 1,341,654 
Benefit payments (1,947,588) (683,909) 
   
Accrued benefit obligation, end of year 21,995,987 21,336,602 
   
 

9.  Pensions and Other Retirement Benefits  

(a) Contributory Defined Benefit Pension Plans 
The Government administers contributory defined benefit pension plans for substantially 
all of its employees, quasi-autonomous non-governmental organization (“QUANGO”) 
employees and all ministers and members of the Legislature. There are two plans 
currently in operation – the Public Service Superannuation Fund (“PSSF”) and the 
Ministers and Members of the Legislature Pensions Fund (“MMLPF”).  
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9.  Pensions and Other Retirement Benefits (cont’d) 
For the PSSF, a service pension is available with a minimum of eight years credited 
service. Subject to exceptions as outlined in the Public Service Superannuation Act 
1981, it is based on the number of years of service times 1.5% of the salary payable 
immediately preceding the date of retirement. Additional benefits are provided to special 
groups such as police, prison wardens, fire service and regiment employees.   
 
For the MMLPF, a service pension is generally available to contributors who have 
reached age 60 and have served for at least 8 years, or to contributors who have 
reached age 55 and have served for at least 20 years. The rate of pension is 3/1000th of 
the monthly salary payable to a minister, member or officer, on the date on which the 
contributor becomes entitled to receive a pension, for each month of service rendered up 
to a maximum of 25 years.  Cost of living increases are calculated by reference to the 
Consumer Price Index on a biennial basis. 
 
Employees contribute 8.0% of their basic salary for PSSF and Ministers and Members 
contribute 12.5% of their salary for MMLPF. The Government matches the participant’s 
contribution in each plan. The amount of Government contributions made during the  
year for each plan was as follows: PSSF - $32,588,714 (2010 - $31,576,054), MMLPF  - 
$485,071 (2010 - $454,038). The Public Service Superannuation Act 1981 and the 
Ministers and Members of the Legislature (Salaries and Pensions) Act 1981, as 
amended, provide that, if at any time the funds are insufficient to meet the payments 
chargeable against them, the deficiency shall be made up out of the Consolidated Fund. 

 

 (b) Pension Liability 
Normally, the pension liability is calculated on an actuarial basis. Actuarial valuations are 
performed triennially using the projected benefit method, pro-rated on services. For the 
prior fiscal year end March 31, 2010, an actuarial valuation was performed on both the 
PSSF and the MMLPF as at March 31, 2008. The results were then extrapolated to 
March 31, 2010 using the same assumptions, to produce the estimates included in the 
financial statements. For the fiscal year end March 31, 2011, an actuarial valuation was 
performed on both the PSSF and the MMLPF as at March 31, 2010, the results were 
then extrapolated to March 31, 2011, using the same assumptions, to produce estimates 
in these financial statements. The difference between the extrapolation as at March 31, 
2010 and the actuarial valuation as at March 31, 2010 has resulted in a valuation 
adjustment in the Accrued Benefit Obligation as at March 31, 2010 (Note 9(g)). This      
adjustment reflects a change in accounting estimate which will be reflected in the current 
year as per Public Sector Accounting Standard PS 2120.28. 

Actuarial valuations are based on a number of assumptions about future events, such as 
inflation rates, interest rates, wage and salary increases, employee turnover and 
mortality. The assumptions used reflect Government’s best estimates of expected long- 
term rates and short-term forecasts.  

The most significant assumptions are that the average investment return will be greater 
than the average rate of salary increase by approximately 2.25% (prior valuation – 
2.25%) and the cost of living increase will average 3.0% (prior valuation - 3.0%) per 
annum.   
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9.  Pensions and Other Retirement Benefits (cont’d) 
The 1994 Group Annuity Mortality Table was used for the mortality assumption. 

For the PSSF, pension fund assets consist primarily of listed stocks and bonds, short-
term investment funds, hedge funds and private equity investments. Market-related 
asset values, which recognize the differences between the actual return on assets and 
the expected return on assets over a period of five years, have been used to determine 
the pension liability and pension-related expenses for the PSSF.  

The market-related value of assets for the PSSF was $468,985,435 as at March 31, 
2011 (2010 - $437,542,000) compared to a real market value of $486,693,676 (2010 - 
$424,814,565). 

For the MMLPF, there is no difference between the market value of plan assets and the 
market-related value. As at March 31, 2011, the value was $10,200,192 (2010 – 
$9,332,612). The actual return on plan assets during the year was 14.67% (2010 – 31%) 
for the PSSF and 7.25% (2010 - 7.0%) for the MMLPF. 

As at March 31, 2011, $4,366,587 was due to the PSSF in respect of contributions 
received in excess of benefits paid by the Fund (2010 – $ 2,797,004).   

 

 (c) Pension-Related Expenses 

Pension-related expenses recognized by the Consolidated Fund comprise the cost of 
pension benefits earned by employees during the year, interest on the pension benefit 
liability (net of interest on pension plan assets) and amortization of the Government’s 
share of any experience gains or losses, less contributions made by the employees. The 
estimated total cost of the Government’s share of plan amendments related to past 
service is expensed in the year the plan is amended.  The pension-related expense is 
disclosed in Note 9(g) and included in Schedule 9 as a component of retirement benefit 
expenses. 

A net unamortized experience loss of $146,266,000 (2010 - $159,693,000) is reported in 
the schedule below. The amount comprises a total unamortized experience loss on the 
pension liability of $130,183,000 (2010 - $140,410,000) and a total unamortized  
experience loss on the asset valuation of $16,083,000 (2010 - $19,283,000). The period 
of amortization is ten years.  
 

Aggregate information about the PSSF and MMLPF is in the following tables. 
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9.  Pensions and Other Retirement Benefits (cont’d) 
 
(d) Funded Status of Plans 

 
For the year ended March 31 2011 2010 
    Actual Actual 

   $  $ 
Pension Liability   
Accrued Benefit Obligation   
 PSSF 1,393,994,000  1,291,640,000 
 MMLPF 31,526,000      30,815,000 

    1,425,520,000 1,322,455,000 

Net Fund Assets   
 PSSF (468,985,000) (437,542,000) 
 MMLPF (10,298,000)     (9,390,000) 

    (479,283,000) (446,932,000) 
 
Net Unamortized Experience Loss   
 PSSF (146,266,000) (159,693,000) 
 
Pension Liability   
 PSSF 778,743,000 694,405,000 
 MMLPF 21,228,000   21,425,000 

 Carried Forward to Note 9 (g) 799,971,000 715,830,000 
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9. Pensions and Other Retirement Benefits (cont’d) 
 
For the year ended March 31  2011 

 
 2010 

  Actual   Actual 
  $   $ 

Cost of Pension Benefits 54,379,221 
 
 46,674,000 

Employee Contributions (33,073,785) 
 
 (32,030,092) 

Interest on Pension Liability 59,570,564 
 
 58,173,117 

  
 
  

 
 
Amortization of Experience Gains & Losses  

2002 Experience Loss  - 
 
 573,592 

 
2003 Experience Loss  3,418,847 

 
 3,418,847 

2004 Experience Loss  21,908,086 
 
 21,908,086 

2005 Experience Loss  2,048,199 
 
 2,048,199 

2006 Experience Loss  595,574 
 
 595,574 

2007 Experience Gain  (351,626) 
 
 (351,626) 

 
2008 Experience Loss  5,243,035   5,243,035 
 
2009 Experience Loss  7,608,893   7,608,893 

2010 Experience Gain  (2,547,908)  - 
 
Carried forward to Note 9 (g)  118,799,100  113,861,625 
 
 

 (e) Contributory Pension Fund 
The Contributory Pension Fund (“CPF”) was established under the Contributory 
Pensions Act 1970 and subsequent amendments. 

The purpose of the CPF is to provide old age pension, disability and death benefits for 
persons satisfying certain contribution, citizenship and residency requirements.  

Contributions to the CPF are compulsory for persons employed in Bermuda, the self-
employed and employers. 

There is no legislative provision for the Fund to provide for any shortfall if, at any time, 
the CPF has insufficient funds to meet its current legislated obligations. 
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9.  Pensions and Other Retirement Benefits (cont’d) 
(f) Retirement Benefits Other than Pensions – Employee Health Insurance 

Plan 
An actuarial calculation of the Government’s obligations for retirement benefits other 
than pensions was performed for accounting purposes at March 31, 2011, using various 
long-term assumptions, based on the valuation performed as at March 31, 2010. The 
previous valuation was performed as at March 31, 2008. 

The Government administers a health care plan, the Government Employees Health 
Insurance Fund (“GEHI”), for substantially all of its employees, QUANGO employees, all 
ministers and members of the Legislature and retirees. The GEHI Fund provides medical 
insurance for retirees and eligible dependents with the Government matching the 
participant’s contribution to the plan.  In 2002 the Government adopted accrual 
accounting for the GEHI plan. 

The discount rate used in determining the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation 
was 6.5%. The assumed health-care cost trend rate used was 9.0% (2010 - 8.5%). This 
will be reducing by 0.5% per annum to 5.0% (2019) per annum.  The 1994 Group 
Annuity Mortality Table was used for the mortality assumption. The value accrues a 
liability in respect of the matching premium paid by government under the insurance 
arrangement in respect of retired employees. The calculation is based on the projected 
benefit method pro-rated on service. 

Aggregate information about the health care plan is in the table below. 

 2011 2010 
 $ $ 
   
Accrued benefit obligation at beginning of year 266,040,563 245,996,783 
Valuation adjustment (Note 9(b)) 7,840,911 - 

Adjusted accrued benefit obligation at beginning of year 273,881,474 245,996,783 
Current period benefit cost 9,545,153 8,981,428 
Interest accrued 17,894,088 16,117,398 
Benefit payments (6,720,775) (5,055,046) 
   
Accrued benefit obligation at end of year 294,599,940 266,040,563 
 
 
Expected accrued benefit obligation at end of year 294,599,940 266,040,563 
Actual accrued benefit obligation at end of year 294,599,940 266,040,563 
   
Experience loss -        - 
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9.  Pensions and Other Retirement Benefits (cont’d) 
   
Expected average remaining service life 12 years 12 years 
   
Annual amortization $5,361,262 $4,707,852 
 

Liability for retirement benefits recorded in the statement of financial position 
   
 2011 2010 
 $ $ 
  
Accrued benefit obligation, end of year 294,599,940 266,040,563 
Unamortized experience losses (44,995,346) (42,515,697) 
   
Liability for retirement benefits (Note 9(g)) 249,604,594 223,524,866 
   
 
Expenses recorded in statement of operations and accumulated deficit 
 
 2011 2010 
 $ $ 
Current period benefit cost 9,545,143 8,981,428 
Amortization of experience losses 5,361,262 4,707,852 
   
Retirement benefit expense 14,906,405 13,689,280 
Retirement benefit interest expense  17,894,088 16,117,398 
   
Total expenses related to retirement benefits  (Note 9(g)) 32,800,493 29,806,678 
 
(g) Accrued Pensions and Retirement Benefits Liability and Expense Summary 
 
 2011 2010 
 $ $ 

Pensions (Note 9(d)) 799,971,000 715,830,000 
Retirement Benefits other than  
      Pensions – Health Insurance Plan (Note 9(f)) 249,604,594 223,524,866 

Total Pensions and Retirement Benefits Liability   1,049,575,594 939,354,866 
   

Pensions (Note 9(d)) 118,799,100 113,861,625 
Retirement Benefits other than  
      Pensions – Health Insurance Plan (Note 9(f)) 32,800,493 29,806,678 

Total Pensions and Retirement Benefits Expense  151,599,593 143,668,303 
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10.  Contingent Liabilities 
 
(a) Guarantees 

(i) National Education Guarantee Scheme  

In August 1994, the Government introduced the National Education Guarantee 
Scheme to provide qualifying students with financial guarantees on bank loans 
for post-secondary education. The repayment of principal and accrued interest is 
guaranteed by the Government. In the event of default by the student, the banks 
will call on the guarantee contract.  At March 31, 2011, $356,895 (2010 - 
$542,367) is outstanding on guaranteed student loans with local banks. 

(ii) West End Development Corporation Guarantee (“WEDCO”) 
 
On April 1, 2009, the Minister of Finance consented to the borrowing of $10 
million by WEDCO from the Capital G Bank to facilitate the completion of the new 
Sewage Treatment Plant at Dockyard.  

 
The Minister of Finance further approved the guarantee given by the Ministry of 
Public Works to repay the indebtedness by way of annual payments to WEDCO 
until all indebtedness to the Capital G Bank has been fully discharged.  
 
The Ministry of Public Works further guarantees and will make good any default 
on the part of WEDCO in the payment of the loan to Capital G Bank and all 
related interest fees and charges due as a result of default by WEDCO until all 
indebtedness to the Capital G Bank has been fully discharged. 
 
(iii) Bank of N.T. Butterfield Guarantee Agreement 
On June 12, 2009, the Government assisted The Bank of N.T. Butterfield & Son 
Limited (“BNTB”) in raising qualifying Tier 1 capital via a perpetual preference 
share offering of US$200 million. 
 
Accordingly the Government provided the commitment that if the full $200 million 
Preference Share Offering was not achieved on or prior to June 30, 2009, the 
Government would purchase no later than June 30, 2009 such number of 
Preference Shares as was sufficient to ensure that the Bank realized aggregate 
proceeds equal to and not less than US$200 million.  As the offering was fully 
subscribed, no such Government purchase was necessary. 
 
On June 22, 2009, the Government entered into a Preference Shares Guarantee 
Agreement with the BNTB and others. The Government has guaranteed payment 
of 100% of the liquidation value of the outstanding Preferred Shares in the event 
of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs 
of BNTB during the term of the Guarantee.  Also, the Government will act as a 
guarantor for the dividend payments relating to the Preferred Shares issuance. 
Should the BNTB fail to declare and pay dividends in any quarterly dividend  
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10.  Contingent Liabilities (cont’d) 
 
period during the term of the Guarantee, the Government will pay such dividends 
at 8% per annum.  
 
Pursuant to the Preference Share Offering, the BNTB pays to the Government a 
fee of 1% per annum on the liquidation value of then outstanding Preference 
Shares issued to third party investors.  The Government was in receipt of 
4,279,601 warrants issued by the Bank to purchase a number of non-voting 
common shares of BNTB having an aggregate market price equal to US$30 
million.  The initial exercise price for the warrants and the price for determining 
the number of common shares of BNTB subject to the warrants was $7.01 per 
common share. The quantity of warrants remained at 4,150,773.72 with an 
exercise price of $3.614.  Per the valuation model run for March 31, 2011, the 
value of the warrants is $0.157 (2010 - $0.209) per warrant which represents a 
total value of $651,671 (2010 - $867,512). 

 
(iv) Bermuda Hospitals Board Guarantee (“BHB”) 
 
On December 1, 2010, the Minister of Finance provided an irrevocable 
Guarantee Agreement to Paget Health Services Limited on behalf of the BHB to 
facilitate the completion of the New Hospital Project (“NHP”) of the King Edward 
VII Memorial Hospital in Paget. 
 
The design and construction related costs of the new facility are approximately 
$247 million. Once construction is completed in 2014, annual service payments 
will commence for a period of thirty years, consisting of principal, interest, 
construction, lifecycle and hard facilities maintenance. A portion of the annual 
service payment is indexed over the thirty year period to allow for changes in the 
cost of living and other related facility costs. 
 
The Guarantee Agreement guarantees the payment obligations of the BHB to 
Paget Health Services Limited by the Government as required by the lenders. 

 

(b) Claims and Potential Claims 

The Government is subject to claims and potential claims related to breach of contract, 
damages to persons and property and like items. The effect of legal claims cannot be 
determined until they are settled or dismissed. No liability has been admitted and no 
provision for claims is included in the financial statements. Any resulting losses will be 
recorded and charged to operations in the year an amount can reasonably be 
determined. 

The total of specific amounts claimed or potential settlements which are under litigation 
or possible litigation as at March 31, 2011 is $12,502,395 (2010 - $11,020,168).  
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10.  Contingent Liabilities (cont’d) 
 
(c) Base Lands Clean Up  
The Government recognizes that there will be a cost for restoration of the land at the 
bases formerly occupied by the US military.  It is anticipated that such costs would 
include removal of hazardous materials and clean-up.  

A liability of $26,250,000 has been accrued, which is an estimate of the costs of the 
clean-up and remediation at the three former major base land sites. The estimated range 
is $32 million to $40 million, which includes an approximate 20% contingency of the 
total. 

The cost for Southside (estimated at $10.5 million, with a range of $10.5 million to $20 
million; $6.5 million for work already performed has been deducted from the lower end of 
the estimated range) involves demolition of buildings beyond refurbishment and removal 
of asbestos. The cost for clean-up of Tudor Hill (estimated at $1 million with a range of 
$1 million to $2 million) is for removal of asbestos and demolition of buildings on the site.  

Clean-up of Morgan’s Point is estimated at $14.75 million (with a range of $15 million to 
$18 million); $3 million of that amount is the estimated amount required to remove 
immediate environmental hazards and the remainder is for removal of fuel storage tanks, 
removal and remediation of asbestos as well as demolition of derelict buildings.    
This estimate was developed in 2003, based on orders of cost which were developed 
from unit rates used for clean-up at Southside and budget estimates from consultants 
hired by potential developers at the Morgan’s Point site.  In 2008, the Government also 
hired a registered professional engineer to conduct an independent review and provide 
an estimate to compare to the prior estimate which fell within the original range. 

A request for proposal was issued in July 2009 with proposed cleanup standards. The 
registered professional engineer independently estimated that if this proposal was to be 
contracted, it would cost the Government $14 million to $25 million in addition to the 
amounts already accrued. 

In September 2010, the Government signed the Morgan’s Point Exchange Agreement 
with Southlands Limited and Morgan’s Point Limited.  The agreement calls for the 
exchange of 12.454 hectares of land owned by Southlands Ltd. located in Warwick for 
66.82 acres of freehold land at Morgan’s Point in Southampton. Furthermore, the 
agreement provides Morgan’s Point Limited, as the Developer, to develop an additional 
128.46 acres of Leasehold property at Morgan’s Point as further detailed in the Morgan’s 
Point Land Development Agreement also signed in September 2010 amongst the same 
parties. 
 
Article 6 of the Morgan’s Point Exchange Agreement states the Bermuda Government is 
still responsible for the remediation of the Morgan’s Point property to a standard deemed 
reasonably acceptable to the Developer. 
 
As no terms have been agreed on the remediation of the land and the proposal has not 
been contracted, the accrual has not been adjusted. 
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10.  Contingent Liabilities (cont’d) 
 
(d) Hotel Payroll Tax Relief  
On February 21, 2009, the Government entered into a Memorandum of Understanding 
(“MoU”) with the Bermuda Hotel Association to provide exemptions for applicable hotels 
from the payment of payroll tax. The assessment of the exemption was to be done 
quarterly and, if applicable, would allow for the full exemption of the quarterly payroll tax. 

The Hotel Concessions Act 2000 allows for the deferral of payroll tax for hotels which 
undergo development deemed to be in the national interest of Bermuda as if it is 
determinable that the development will, among other considerations: 

 benefit the tourism industry and the economy; 

 create employment and entrepreneurial opportunities for Bermudians; 

 encourage local development, or; 

 employ and train Bermudians. 

The concessions are granted at the discretion of the Minister of Finance for those hotels 
that apply for the concessions. The Hotel Concessions Act 2000 permits an exemption, 
either in part or in full, of the payroll tax not exceeding five years from the hotel’s opening 
date. 

The concession afforded to the Hotels is non-refundable and in instances where the 
payroll tax is deemed null and void due to the MoU, the concession remains as a contra-
revenue amount to be applied against any future payroll tax incurred by those hotels.  

The Government is obligated to recognize the effect of the concessions when payroll tax 
is actually incurred unless they are dismissed by the Minister of Finance. No liability has 
been admitted and no provision for collectibility is included in the financial statements. 
Any resulting losses of payroll tax will be recorded and charged to operations in the year 
the payroll tax is effective. 

The total of the concessions that could be applied against any future payroll tax incurred 
by the applicable hotels as at March 31, 2011 is $1,201,500.  

 

(e)  Air Service Agreements 
(i) WestJet 

 
On June 1, 2010, the Government (“Guarantor”) entered into a Revenue 
Guaranty Agreement with WestJet. In consideration of the revenue guaranty 
provided by the Guarantor, WestJet agrees to operate three (3) times weekly 
service between Toronto and Bermuda for the period November 1, 2010 to April 
30, 2011 (“Guaranty Period”). 
 
The Government has guaranteed that WestJet will receive the minimum 10% 
operating margin for the scheduled service during the Guaranty Period. Upon the 
completion of the Guaranty Period, WestJet shall calculate the fully allocated  
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10.  Contingent Liabilities (cont’d) 

profit margin consistent with the reporting process historically utilized by WestJet 
in determining route profitability (the “Profit Margin”). Additionally, WestJet shall 
deliver an operational report summarizing route specific traffic statistics, 
revenues, fully operating costs, profit margins, and funds required to achieve 
10% profit margin to Guarantor (the “Report”). If the Profit Margin exceeds 10% 
during the Guaranty Period, no payment is due to WestJet. If the Profit Margin 
fails to reach 10% in the Guaranty Period, the Government shall pay to WestJet 
the difference between the actual Profit Margin and the amount of additional 
earnings that would hence result in a 10% Profit Margin within thirty (30) days of 
receipt of the Report to a maximum of $1,450,000 USD. 

The Government has established and delivered to WestJet an irrevocable Letter 
of Credit (“LOC”) which came into effect April 14, 2010 issued by Bank of 
Bermuda, HSBC (“HSBC”) in the amount of US$500,000.  

 
 

(ii) American Airlines Inc. 
 

On November 18, 2010, the Government (“Guarantor”) entered into an Air 
Service Agreement with American Airlines Inc. In consideration of the Air Service 
Agreement provided by the Government, American Airlines shall provide regular 
scheduled passenger Air Service between Miami International Airport and 
Bermuda International Airport in both directions effective November 18, 2010 
through November 17, 2011. The Government has guaranteed payment to 
American of any revenue shortfall during the Air Service Period, if the Total 
Revenue as defined in the contract, from the provision of the Air Service is less 
than the Minimum Revenue Requirement as set forth in the contract.  
 
In consideration of the Air Service provided by American Airlines, the 
Government has established and delivered an irrevocable LOC issued by HSBC 
in the amount of US$1,500,000 which came into effect February 25, 2010. 
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11.  Non-Contractual Operational Commitments 
 
The Government has ongoing commitments to fund a variety of programs for public 
welfare including health, education, social services, protection of persons and properties, 
and management of natural resources. The following is an analysis of the future, non-
contractual, operational commitments: 

 

 2011  

 $  

2012 117,358,918  

2013 5,895,216  

2014 5,313,146  

2015 300,000  

2016  1,830,000  

2017 and subsequent -    

Total Future Operational Commitments 130,697,280  
 
 
12.  Contractual Commitments 
 
(a) Capital Leases 
 
The average period of capitalized leased office machines is 3 years.  Leases are 
capitalized based on the discounted rate of 6.04% and amortized on a straight-line basis 
over the period of the lease.  
 
The following is an analysis of the leases: 
 
 

 2011         2010  

 $ $ 
 
Present value of lease cost       4,351,940 4,250,453 

Less: Accumulated amortization (3,560,100) (3,098,887) 

Present value of leases payable          791,840 1,151,566 
 

rgilbert
Text Box
Appendix 4

rgilbert
Text Box

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text
_____________________________________________________________________________________
2010, 2011 and 2012 Consolidated Fund Report - Auditor General of Bermuda                                      133



 
 
Government of Bermuda – Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2011 
  

 

 
 

28 

12.  Contractual Commitments (cont’d) 
 
The following is a schedule of discounted future minimum lease payments under leases 
expiring up to March 31, 2015: 
 

 2011  

 $  

2012 356,170  

2013 195,836  

2014 115,130  

2015 63,877  

Add: Discounted Amount 60,827  

Present value of lease obligation 791,840  
 

(b) Contractual Obligations  

The nature of government activity results in some large multi-year contracts and 
agreements of various sizes and importance. Any financial obligations resulting from 
these are recorded as a liability when the terms of these contracts and agreements for 
the acquisition of goods and services or the provision of transfer payments are met.  

The following is an analysis of estimated future expenditures related to these contractual 
obligations: 
 2011  
 $  

2012 40,862,033  
2013 7,169,407  
2014 4,352,977  
2015 3,622,559  
2016  5,009,082  
2017 and subsequent -   
   

Total Contractual Obligations 61,016,058  
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12.  Contractual Commitments (cont’d)  
 
(c) Operating Leases 
 
The Government rents premises under operating leases which expire at certain dates. 
 
The following is an analysis of the future minimum operating lease payments: 

 

 2011  
 $  

2012 8,883,736  
2013 6,083,146  
2014 4,789,630  
2015 4,058,841  
2016 3,703,717  
2017 and subsequent  23,497,034  
   

Total Future Minimum Operating Lease Payments 51,016,104  
 
 
 

13.  Supplementary Estimates and Virements (Transfers)   
Section 96(3) of the Bermuda Constitution Order 1968 allows for Supplementary 
Estimates in respect of any fiscal year it is found that (a) the amount appropriated by the 
appropriation law for any purpose is insufficient or that a need has arisen for expenditure 
for a purpose for which no amount has been appropriated by that law; or (b) moneys 
have been expended for any purpose in excess of the amount appropriated for that 
purpose by the appropriation law or for a purpose to which no amount has been 
appropriated by that law, a supplementary estimate, showing the sum required or spent, 
shall be laid before the House of Assembly. Section 96(4) of the Bermuda Constitution 
Order 1968 requires that a Supplementary Appropriation Bill be introduced into the 
Legislature as soon as practical after year end of the year that supplementary estimates 
have been necessary. 
 
The Public Treasury (Administration and Payments) Amendment Act 2004 allows a 
Permanent Secretary or a Head of Department to transfer a part of a Department’s 
approved budget to another Department within the same Ministry, subject to the consent 
of the Minister of Finance. Virements do not increase the overall appropriation amount 
but facilitate the redeployment of approved budget resources after the start of a financial 
year.   
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13.  Supplementary Estimates and Virements (Transfers) (cont’d) 
 
Final Supplementary Estimates for the periods 2003-2010 were approved in the House 
of Assembly on March 28, 2011. 
 
During the year $49,969,000 (2010 - $23,046,550) in Supplementary Estimates were 
approved and spent which consisted of $49,969,000 (2010 - $22,079,950) for current 
expenditure and $0 (2010 - $966,600) for capital expenditure.  
 
During the year $12,352,977 (2010 - $50,613,528) in virements were approved and 
transferred which consisted of $8,570,017 (2010 - $15,452,114) for current expenditure 
and $3,782,960 (2010 - $35,161,414) for capital expenditure.  
 
Additional expenditures of $23,517,956 (2010 - $22,758,422) were incurred in excess of 
amounts appropriated by the Ministry and will require final approval, which consisted of 
$22,634,452 (2010 - $22,369,306) for current expenditure and $883,504 (2010 - 
$389,116) for capital expenditure. 
 
Additional virements of $30,086,119 (2010 - $22,587,344) require final approval and 
transfer, which consisted of $23,111,814 (2010 - $13,408,617) for current expenditure 
and $6,974,305 (2010 - $9,178,727) for capital expenditure. 
 
 

14.  Related Party Transactions 

(a) Funds 
 
The Fund is related to the GEHI Fund, the Contributory Pension Fund (“CPF”), the 
MMLPF, the Bermuda Department of Tourism North America Retirement Plan 
(“BDTRP”), the PSSF, the Confiscated Assets Fund, the Government Borrowing Sinking 
Fund, the Health Insurance Fund, the Mutual Re-insurance Fund and the Government 
Reserves Fund.  
 
The financial activities of these funds are reported separately in each fund's financial 
statements. The Fund provides accounting and certain administrative services to these 
funds. These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at 
the appropriate exchange amount. The other activities represent the net position of 
contributions payable to the funds and expenses paid out of the Fund on behalf of the 
funds. Schedules 3 and 3(a) display details of unpaid balances due from and due to the   
funds which have arisen from normal operating activities. The rate of interest accruing 
on the balances is 7% per annum.  
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14.  Related Party Transactions (cont’d) 

 (b) QUANGOs and Other Related Organizations  
 
The Fund is related to certain quasi-autonomous non-governmental organizations 
(“QUANGOs”) and other government controlled organizations. QUANGOs are 
government businesses which have been established under their respective legislative 
incorporation acts. Other government-related organizations are organizations that are 
controlled by government either by the possession of shares or voting rights or by some 
other means. 
 
The Fund enters into transactions with the QUANGOs and other related organizations in 
the normal course of business which are measured at the exchange amount, which is 
the amount of consideration established and agreed upon by the related parties. 
 
Schedules 3 and 3(a) include details of balances due from and due to these entities 
which have arisen from normal operating activities. During the year, no interest was 
charged and/or incurred from or to the Fund and the various QUANGOs and other 
related organizations. 
 
 

(i) Bermuda Monetary Authority (“BMA”) 
 

In accordance with Section 8 (3) of the Bermuda Monetary Authority Act 1969, 
the BMA pays a portion of its net profit (historically 50%) to the Consolidated 
Fund of the Government.  
 
The BMA did not report a net profit for the year ended December 31, 2010 thus 
no transfer was required to be made to the Consolidated Fund. 
 
 
 (ii) Bermuda Land Development Company Limited (“BLDC”) 

 
On November 12, 1996 (date of inception), the Government purchased 
2,500,000 common shares of BLDC. The shares are valued at par $1 each and 
are held in trust by the Minister of Finance. 
 
On November 12, 1996 (date of inception), the Government purchased 
2,500,000 common shares of BLDC. The shares are valued at par $1 each and 
are held in trust by the Minister of Public Works. 
 

 
 (c) Interdepartmental Transactions 
 
Interdepartmental transactions are those transactions in which revenues and expenses 
are generated between Government departments and/or Ministries. These revenues and  
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14.  Related Party Transactions (cont’d) 
 
the related expenses should be eliminated from the Fund’s figures. As per Note 3(d), 
interdepartmental revenues and expenses are not eliminated. However all 
interdepartmental revenues and expenses have been identified and are shown in 
Schedules 10(a) and 11(a), respectively. 
 
 

15. Tangible Capital Asset Recognition 
 
As disclosed in note 3(f), infrastructure has now been recognized in the financial 
statements as at April 1, 2008. The assets in these classes purchased prior to April 1, 
2008 have been recognized at amortized value. The recognition of the amortized value 
of these capital assets has been offset by an adjustment to the accumulated deficit, as 
disclosed in the Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit, excluded from the 
purchase of assets in the Statement of Cash Flow, and included at gross values in 
Schedule 12. 
 
 

16. Bank Overdraft  
 
As at March 31, 2011 the Government has an overdraft facility agreement at the Bank of 
NT Butterfield (“BNTB”) of $40 million which expires on January 31, 2012.  
 
As at March 31, 2011, the Government has an overdraft facility agreement at the Bank 
of Bermuda, HSBC (“HSBC”) of $20 million which expires on January 18, 2012. The 
daily charges applied to overdrawn balances is 1% above HSBC’s base rate. 
Unauthorized overdraft balances are charged at 7.50% over the bank’s base rate.  
 

17.  Restatement of Prior Period 

(a) Correction of an Error 

Section PS 3410 of the Public Sector Accounting Board Standards requires that a 
government transfer with stipulations should be recognized by a Government recipient 
as revenue in the period the transfer is authorized. 

During the period October 2009 to March 2010, the Government transferred $672,179 
from the Confiscated Assets Fund to the Consolidated Fund in order to finance the 
ongoing assembly of the X-Ray equipment located at H.M. Customs.  The transaction 
was recorded as an obligation to refund the Confiscated Assets Fund instead of as grant 
revenue.  As a result of this correction, the prior year’s obligation to the Confiscated 
Assets Fund has been decreased by $672,179. 
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17.  Restatement of Prior Period (cont’d) 
The prior year’s Due to Confiscated Assets Fund, Revenue, and Accumulated Deficit 
have been restated accordingly. 
 
 
 Due to Confiscated Assets Fund (Correction of an Error) 
 

As previously stated (March 31, 2010) $2,445,699 
As restated $1,773,520 

 
 Revenue (Correction of an Error) 
 

As previously stated (March 31, 2010) $917,268,545 
As restated  $917,940,724 

(b) Correction of an Error 
In January 2006, the Government paid $536,572 towards the acquisition and 
construction of ten Manufactured Homes from Clayton Waycross Homes in Georgia in 
the United States to assist the less fortunate in Bermuda. The cost of the homes was 
authorized to be reimbursed to the Consolidated Fund by the Government Reserves 
Fund in that year. The reimbursement was never recorded. As a result of this correction, 
the prior year’s receivable from the Government Reserves Fund has been increased by 
$536,672. 
 
The prior year’s Due from Government Reserves Fund and Accumulated Deficit have 
been restated accordingly. 
 
 Due from Government Reserve Fund (Correction of an Error) 
 

As previously stated (March 31, 2010) $592,566 
As restated  $1,129,238 

(c) Change in Accounting Principle 
 
Section PS 3310 of the Public Sector Accounting Board Standards requires that the 
amount of a guaranteed loan that is expected to be repaid from future government 
assistance should be accounted for as a liability and an expense in the statement of 
operations in the period when a direct relationship can be established between the 
repayment of the loan and the government's funding to the borrower 
 
The Government changed its accounting policy so as to accrue the liability of the loan 
guarantee for the loan for WEDCO (see Note 10 (a) (ii)) in the prior year end when the 
loan and the guarantee agreement were signed. As a result of this correction, the prior 
year’s liabilities and expenses have been increased by $10,368,422. 
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17.  Restatement of Prior Period (cont’d) 
 
The prior year’s Liabilities, Expenses, Capital Development Expenses, and Accumulated 
Deficit have been restated accordingly. 
 
 Accounts Payable (Change in Accounting Principle) 
 

As previously stated (March 31, 2010) $132,713,463 
As restated  $143,081,885 
       

 Current Expenses (Change in Accounting Principle) 
 

As previously stated (March 31, 2010) $1,176,834,962 
As restated $1,177,203,384 
       
 

 Capital Development Expenses (Change in Accounting Principle) 
 

As previously stated (March 31, 2010) $97,864,942 
As restated  $107,864,942 
       

 
 Accumulated Deficit, End of Year 
 

As previously stated (March 31, 2010)               $1,018,901,707 
As restated  $1,028,061,278 

 

18.  Increase in Borrowing Limit 
 
Effective April 1, 2010, the Government increased the legislated borrowing limit from $1 
billion to $1.25 billion. 
 

19.  Increase in Borrowing 

On July 13, 2010, the Government entered into a public bond offering in the international 
debt capital markets authorizing the issue and sale of $500 million of 10-year, fixed rate 
bonds priced at par. The coupon and yield of the bonds are 5.603% per annum.  

The bonds are due in July 2020 and interest is payable semi-annually. The proceeds of 
these bonds were used to repay the $200 million bridge loan facility with HSBC and to 
fund capital expenditure programs. 
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20.  Subsequent Events  
 
(a) Unemployment Insurance Fund 
 
In July 2011 the Government amended the Public Treasury (Administration and 
Payments) Act 1969 in order to make further provision for the Unemployment Insurance  
Fund. The Act has been amended to provide for payments out of the Fund to be made at 
the direction of the Minister of Finance for the purpose of assisting unemployed persons. 
 
 
(b) Increase in Borrowing 
 
On May 18, 2011, the Government entered into a Term Loan Agreement with BNTB loan 
facility of $200 million. The purpose of the loan facility was to replace the existing 
overdraft facility and for financing capital projects.  Interest charged on each loan was 
4.95% per annum. The facility has been fully utilized as a result of the following draw 
downs:  
 
 

Tranche Date Amount 
   

A May 27, 2011 $70,000,000 
B June 27, 2011 $50,000,000 
C August 16, 2011 $50,000,000 
D September 26, 2011 $30,000,000 

   
 Total $200,000,000 

 
 
(c) Overdraft Facilities 
 
On December 29, 2011 the overdraft facility of $20 million (see Note 16) with the HSBC  
was increased to $50 million to expire on March 31, 2012 at which time it would revert 
back to $20 million. The daily charges applied to overdrawn balances remained at 1% 
above HSBC’s base rate.    
 
On November 16, 2011 the Government signed a $50 million overdraft facility with the 
BNTB which expires on March 31, 2012.  The daily charge is 1.2% per annum above the 
Bank’s Bermuda Dollar Base Rate. 
 
 

21.  Comparative Figures  
 
Certain comparative figures have been restated and reclassified to conform to the 
current year’s presentation. 
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 1: Accounts Receivable
As at March 31 2011 2010

  Actual   Actual
  $   $

Office of theTax Commissioner 182,218,897          145,157,452        
Registrar of Companies 3,761,285              3,129,992            
Operations & Engineering 3,642,490              2,319,827            
Airport Operations 3,556,516              3,706,367            
Judicial Department 3,176,345              1,370,077            
Telecommunications 2,975,324              3,610,284            
Customs 2,681,816              2,397,245            
Post Office 2,456,497              2,629,803            
Fire Services 2,437,573              2,746,752            
Department of Education 1,478,712              1,663,845            
Health Department 1,191,239              1,087,644            
Works & Engineering 1,063,450              1,251,359            
Lands, Buildings & Surveys 640,979                 355,607               
Accountant General 631,573 512,620
Conservation Services 280,056                 213,366               
Maritime Administration 224,288                 311,225               
Environmental Protection 207,900                 116,785               
Public Transportation Board 191,751                 210,122               
Human Resources 183,852                 102,299               
Marine & Ports Services 179,724                 165,206               
Civil Aviation 167,456                 75,587                 
Police 119,776                 128,916               
Registry General 61,720                   60,139                 
Financial Assistance 59,810                   65,633                 
Transport Control Department 49,282                   98,318                 
Child & Family Services 22,403                   29,576                 
Ministry of Environment & Sports 16,500                   -                           
Parks 6,027                     6,207                   
Libraries 1,723                     997                      
Tourism 1,404                     127,013               
Attorney General 1,177                     1,177                   
Youth, Sport & Recreation 330                        -                           
Parliamentary Registrar 50                          -                           
Ministry of Energy, Telecom, & E- Com HQ -                             438                      

213,687,925          173,651,878        
Less: Provision for Doubtful Accounts 47,051,065 31,064,972

166,636,860          142,586,906        

 36
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 2: Inventories for Consumption
As at March 31 2011 2010

   Actual    Actual
$ $

Works & Engineering 5,814,378        7,293,186        
Public Transportation Board 4,105,916        4,601,809        
Marine & Ports Services 2,491,369        1,916,174        
Police 1,434,700        1,381,414        
Department of Education 903,481           699,411           
Defence 751,113           731,516           
Health 473,097           393,905           
Corrections 408,590           412,450           
Immigration 141,422           80,722             
Conservations Services 84,512             115,781           
Transport Control Department 53,409             54,003             
Post Office 28,195             39,519             

16,690,182      17,719,890      

Less: Provision for Obsolescence 1,713,222        1,299,788        

14,976,960      16,420,102      

 37
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 3: Due From Gov't Funds and Agencies
As at March 31 2011 2010

Restated
Actual (Note 17)

$ $

Health Insurance Fund 7,236,525              4,288,644               
Government Borrowing Sinking Fund 6,575,219              6,520,212               
Confiscated Assets Fund 4,476,320              -                             
Bermuda Hospitals Board 3,649,982              2,590,249               
Bermuda Monetary Authority 1,119,846              662,624                  
Golf Courses 824,711                 722,984                  
West End Development Corporation 382,019                 375,801                  
Bermuda College 307,128                 204,429                  
Bermuda Housing Corporation 288,724                 292,706                  
Pembroke  Parish Council 96,899                   98,570                    
CedarBridge Academy 92,836                   43,690                    
Bermuda Land Development Company 91,508                   93,308                    
Pension Commission 40,137                   20,775                    
Financial Intelligence Agency 32,186                   24,099                    
Bermuda Small Business Development Corporation 30,199                   27,299                    
Berkeley Institute 23,490                   20,708                    
Parish Councils 18,846                   15,084                    
National Sports Centre 14,445                   527                         
Bermuda Housing Trust 11,423                   10,762                    
Tourism North America Retirement Plan 10,000                   -                             
Bermuda Health Council 9,959                     23,014                    
Sandy Secondary Middle School 8,238                     3,198                      
Whitney Institute 6,270                     4,501                      
St. George's Preparatory School 2,032                     1,456                      
Bermuda Educators Council 1,438                     1,005                      
Government Employees Health Insurance Fund -                             3,015,666               
Government Reserves Fund -                             1,129,238               

25,350,380            20,190,549             

Less: Provision for Doubtful Accounts 7,236,525              -                             

18,113,855            20,190,549             

Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 3(a): Due to Gov't Funds and Agencies
As at March 31 2011 2010

Actual Restated
(Note 17)

$ $

Bermuda Hospitals Board 22,121,357            11,549,085             
Ministers and Members Pensions Fund 10,472,058            11,030,310             
Contributory Pension Fund 9,359,040              6,333,082               
Public Service Superannuation Fund 4,366,587              2,797,004               
Government Reserves Fund 1,144,857              -
Government Employees Health Insurance Fund 961,770                 -                             
Bermuda Tourism Overseas Pension Plan 701,256                 -                             
Health Insurance Fund 640,970                 6,174,511               
West End Development Corporation 6,981                     6,981                      
Bermuda Land Development Company 5,142                     5,142                      
Bermuda Small Business Development Corporation 3,800                     13,312                    
Golf Courses 1,943                     1,943                      
Bermuda College 1,672                     1,672                      
Bermuda Housing Corporation 400                        329,916                  
Government Borrowing Sinking Fund -                             10,375,000             
Confiscated Assets Fund - 1,773,520               

49,787,833            50,391,478              38
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund

As at March 31 2011 2010

Actual Actual
$ $

Student Loans and Teacher Training Awards 1,060,508           1,108,497        

Customs Duty 843,827              1,122,934        

1,904,335           2,231,431        

Schedule 5: Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
As at March 31 2011 2010

Restated
Actual (Note 17)

$ $

Department Trade Accounts 43,720,679         42,080,134      
Base Lands Clean Up 26,250,000         26,250,000      
Employees' Leave Entitlements 18,788,777         16,460,750      
Interest on Debt 17,174,018         12,121,183      
Deposits Held 15,564,893         12,788,800      
Teachers' Salaries & Leave Entitlements 9,089,152           9,626,176        
Guarantee Payable to WEDCO (Note 10(a)) 8,571,429           10,000,000      
Salaries, Wages and Benefits 6,476,471           7,136,653        
Leases Payable 731,014              1,142,811        

146,366,433       137,606,507    

Schedule 4: Long-Term Receivables

Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
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Schedule 6: Deferred Revenue
As at March 31 2011 2010

Actual Actual

$ $

Transport Control Department 17,706,189        17,894,750        
Civil Aviation 10,681,720        6,858,966          
Immigration 3,904,163          3,776,674          
Marine & Ports Services 942,532             880,561             
Post Office 423,994             430,091             
Police 145,727             120,988             
Environmental Protection 109,836             89,407               
Lands, Buildings & Surveys 90,812               89,886               
Parks 46,278               22,286               
Health Department 44,818               36,071               
Youth, Sport & Recreation 27,837               17,753               
Tourism 18,845               33,940               
Maritime Administration -                         11,250               

34,142,751        30,262,623        

Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 7: Interest Bearing Debt - Net of Sinking Fund
As at March 31

2011 2010

Actual Actual
$ $

Senior Notes Due 2014 - US$
Issue Date: June 10, 2004
Interest: 5.39% payable semi-annually
June 10 and December 10
Notes Due: June 10, 2014 75,000,000            75,000,000          

Senior Notes Due 2022 - US$
Issue Date: December 4, 2007
Interest: 5.73% payable semi-annually
June 4  and December 4
Notes Due: December 4, 2022 140,000,000          140,000,000        

Senior Notes Due 2014 - US$
Issue Date: May 21, 2009
Interest:  6.55% payable semi-annually
May 21 and November 21
Notes Due:   May 21, 2014 45,000,000            45,000,000          

Senior Notes Due 2016 - US$
Issue Date:  May 21, 2009
Interest:  6.98% payable semi-annually
May 21 and November 21
Notes Due:  May 21, 2016 30,000,000            30,000,000          

Senior Notes Due 2019 - US$
Issue Date:  May 21, 2009
Interest:  7.38% payable semi-annually
May 21 and November 21
Notes Due:  May 21, 2019 100,000,000          100,000,000        

Senior Notes Due 2016- US$
Issue Date:  November 10, 2009
Interest:  5.27% payable semi-annually
November 10 and May 10
Notes Due:  November 10, 2016 60,000,000            60,000,000          

Senior Notes Due 2019 - US$
Issue Date:  November 10, 2009
Interest:  5.93% payable semi-annually
November 10 and May 10
Notes Due:  November 10, 2019 80,000,000            80,000,000          

Senior Notes Due 2020 - US$
Issue Date:  July 13, 2010
Interest:  5.60% payable semi-annually
January 20 and July 20
Notes Due:  July 20, 2020 500,000,000          -                          

Loan Facility - US$
Issue Date: June 17, 2005
Interest: LIBOR + .11% payable on rollover date
Facility Fee: .04% per annum payable quarterly
Notes Due: June 17, 2010 -                             200,000,000        

1,030,000,000       730,000,000        

Less: Sinking Fund 85,508,498            64,487,481          

944,491,502          665,512,519        

 41
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For the year ended March 31 2011 2011 2010
Original

Estimates Actual Restated
(Note 17)

$ $ $

Taxes & Duties
Payroll Tax 427,145,000      423,049,799   349,034,583   
Customs Duty 232,560,000      195,807,157   219,037,073   
Land Tax 50,000,000        49,131,169     48,510,988     
Stamp Duty 45,561,000        35,362,265     31,646,611     
Passenger Tax 26,070,000        32,345,082     29,261,780     
Foreign Currency Purchase Tax 29,000,000        24,712,350     13,791,576     
Non-Bermudian Land Acquisition Tax 11,000,000        15,397,432     13,794,308     
Hotel Occupancy Tax 9,500,000          7,028,453       7,320,672       
Corporate Services Tax 3,600,000          3,298,216       3,294,048       
Betting Tax 1,400,000          1,365,234       2,176,419       
Timesharing Tax 200,000             56,903            265,711          

836,036,000      787,554,060   718,133,769   

Fees, Permits & Licences
International Companies 67,833,000        61,455,783     59,384,743     
Vehicle Licences & Registration 28,006,000        26,582,795     26,870,299     
Registration of Aircraft 19,860,000        17,393,790     15,844,222     
Telecommunications 12,700,000        12,498,062     12,813,345     
Immigration 16,956,000        10,212,606     10,853,886     
Air Terminal & Aviation 11,505,000        9,985,287       11,244,879     
Bus Transportation 8,016,000          8,345,834       8,256,401       
Postal Services 7,255,000          5,455,532       5,617,250       
Water 4,738,000          5,081,512       3,415,590       
Registration of Shipping 3,000,000          3,545,808       3,466,451       
Solid Waste Services 3,520,000          3,481,115       2,474,513       
Local Companies 3,117,000          3,320,615       5,319,720       
Services to Seaborne Shipping 2,678,000          2,708,111       2,621,171       
Rentals 2,498,000          2,014,078       2,070,903       
Other Customs Fees & Charges 2,060,000          1,911,627       2,382,636       
Trade and Service Mark 1,383,000          1,689,651       1,577,084       
Wharfage 1,535,000          1,637,275       1,389,682       
Planning Fees and Searches 1,194,000          1,355,786       1,084,627       
Ferry Services 1,930,000          1,123,546       1,297,594       
Companies Licences 471,000             347,487          461,380          
Liquor Licences 350,000             319,125          317,745          
Plant Production and Marketing Centre 425,000             126,441          179,071          
Insurance Fees -                        121,600          53,125            

201,030,000      180,713,466   178,996,317   

Other Revenue
Other 13,919,000        21,599,480     14,574,365     
Fines & Forfeitures 4,327,000          4,151,439       3,549,132       
Investment Income 3,500,000          2,709,960       2,687,141       

21,746,000        28,460,879     20,810,638     

TOTAL REVENUE 1,058,812,000   996,728,405   917,940,724   

Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 8: Revenue By Type
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 9: Current Expense By Type
For the year ended March 31 2011 2011 2010

Original
Estimates Actual Restated

(Note 17)
$ $ $

Employees
Salaries 343,168,000      302,299,743        285,837,313        
Retirement Benefit Expenses -                         151,599,593        143,668,303        
Wages 81,519,000        99,274,093          99,711,253          
Employer Overhead 71,707,000        29,539,151          28,121,604          
Other Personnel Costs 10,247,000        10,707,145          11,060,107          
Training 11,210,000        5,665,893            7,274,332            
Compensated Absences -                         659,385               1,750,338            

517,851,000      599,745,003        577,423,250        

Operations
Grants & Contributions 243,504,000      277,155,948        261,142,697        
Professional Services 99,845,000        119,069,697        111,959,586        
Interest on Debt 39,100,000        58,728,649          35,147,399          
Amortization -                         43,156,723 37,330,814
Materials & Supplies 30,218,000        32,857,391          34,081,682          
Repairs & Maintenance 21,203,000        21,886,848          22,440,910          
Energy 21,608,000        20,120,149          19,057,460          
Bad Debts -                         19,614,898          2,174,394            
Advertising & Promotion 19,737,000        19,224,464          14,114,207          
Rentals 18,526,000        18,125,043          17,037,476          
Insurance 11,557,000        12,977,250          11,958,754          
Communications 9,129,000          10,636,735          10,147,572          
Transport 2,298,000          6,829,739            6,667,107            
Travel 6,287,000          5,016,775            5,033,659            
Other 3,576,000          2,940,435            6,064,195            
Clothing & Uniforms 2,617,000          2,165,129            2,648,179            
Equipment 1,442,000          1,431,226            1,945,989            
Bank Charges & Commissions -                         968,508               828,054               
Transfer to Other Funds 28,625,000        -                           -                           
Receipts Credited to Programmes (18,806,000)       -                           -                           

540,466,000      672,905,607        599,780,134        

TOTAL CURRENT EXPENSE 1,058,317,000   1,272,650,610     1,177,203,384     

 43

rgilbert
Text Box
Appendix 4

rgilbert
Text Box

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text
___________________________________________________________________________________________________
2010, 2011 and 2012 Consolidated Fund Report - Auditor General of Bermuda                                                                  149

rgilbert
Typewritten Text



Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 10: Revenue By Ministry / Department
For the year ended March 31 2011 2011 2010

    Original
  Estimates   Actual Restated

(Note 17)
  $   $   $

Non-Ministry Departments
05 Office of the Auditor General 790,000          577,061          511,998          
63 Parliamentary Registrar 250,000          262,740          119,985          
01 Governor & Staff -                      9,526              -                     
92 Internal Audit -                      1,456              -                     
02 Legislature 2,000              -                     1,267              

1,042,000       850,783          633,250          
Cabinet Office Departments
19 Department of Archives 5,000              4,546              4,092              
09 Cabinet Office -                      2,520              7,653              
14 Department of Statistics -                      -                     25                   
26 Department of Human Resources -                      -                     7,773              

5,000              7,066              19,543            

Ministry of Tourism & Transport
34 Transport Control Department 28,007,000     26,574,443     26,869,546     
57 Civil Aviation 19,885,000     17,434,950     15,892,081     
31 Airport Operations 12,555,000     11,127,278     12,039,565     
35 Public Transportation 8,016,000       8,360,301       8,312,232       
30 Marine & Ports Services 5,785,000       4,977,227       4,721,051       
73 Maritime Administration 3,000,000       3,561,986       3,457,021       
33 Tourism 38,000            315,119          37,988            

77,286,000     72,351,304     71,329,484     
Ministry of Justice
03 Judicial Department 8,929,000       12,009,231     6,811,419       
87 Ministry of Justice HQ -                      2,643,590       -                     
75 Department of Public Prosecutions -                      95,974            -                     
04 Attorney-General's Chambers -                      1,065              1,799              

8,929,000       14,749,860     6,813,218       

Ministry of Finance
38 Office of the Tax Commissioner 588,226,000   568,719,993   482,540,955   
12 Customs 236,225,000   202,640,880   224,030,656   
39 Registrar of Companies 72,010,000     65,834,010     66,102,733     
11 Accountant-General 3,560,000       3,956,259       2,820,129       
10 Ministry of Finance HQ 2,000,000       2,002,267       1,383,467       

902,021,000   843,153,409   776,877,940   

Ministry of Education    
17 Department of Education 220,000          189,689          193,455          

220,000          189,689          193,455          

Ministry of Health 
22 Health Department 2,043,000       2,445,376       1,598,153       
91 Health Insurance -                      137,717          3,000              

2,043,000       2,583,093       1,601,153       
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 10: Revenue By Ministry / Department (cont'd)
For the year ended March 31 2011 2011 2010

Original
 Estimates   Actual Restated

(Note 17)

  $  $  $
Ministry of the Environment & Sports
32 Department  of Planning 1,316,000          1,460,863       1,184,094       
20 Youth, Sport & Recreation 664,000             876,053          835,317          
72 Environmental Protection 765,000             782,179          532,075          
69 Conservations Services 935,000             591,201          634,261          
68 Parks 253,000             210,301          217,060          
50 Ministry of the Environment & Sports HQ 18,000               17,513            25,275            
49 Land Valuation -                         15                   -                      

3,951,000          3,938,125       3,428,082       
Ministry of Culture & Social Rehabilitation
88 National Drug Control 36,000               699,712          36,113            
52 Community and Cultural Affairs 249,000             211,073          216,714          
55 Financial Assistance -                         139,135          53,278            
23 Child & Family Services 82,000               93,371            4,394              
18 Libraries 22,000               16,330            11,619            
56 Human Affairs -                         5,616              1,219              
71 Ministry of Culture and Social Rehabilitation HQ -                         720                 500                 
74 Court Services -                         (2,564)             (192)                

389,000             1,163,393       323,645          
Ministry of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing
27 Immigration 27,956,000        25,606,754     24,659,274     
07 Police 465,000             470,554          549,541          
06 Defence -                         90,748            36,380            
60 Labour & Training 113,000             24,994            138,200          
83 Ministry of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing HQ -                         -                      256                 
45 Fire Services 711,000             (280,281)        2,134,924       

29,245,000        25,912,769     27,518,575     
Ministry of Energy, Telecommunications & E-Commerce
46 Telecommunications 12,700,000        12,450,556     12,760,859     
13 Post Office 7,315,000          5,608,905       5,587,330       
29 Registry General 1,587,000          1,942,960       1,770,318       
43 Information Technology Office -                         2,706              2,783              
42 Rent Commissioner 1,000                 170                 270                 

21,603,000        20,005,297     20,121,560     

Ministry of Works & Engineering 
82 Operations & Engineering 9,968,000          10,137,810     7,348,810       
81 Lands, Buildings & Surveys 2,000,000          1,589,582       1,568,251       
36 Works & Engineering HQ 110,000             96,225            163,758          

12,078,000        11,823,617     9,080,819       

TOTAL REVENUE 1,058,812,000   996,728,405   917,940,724   
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 10(a): Interdepartmental Revenue By Ministry / Department 
For the year ended March 31 2011 2011 2011

Interdepartmental Gross Revenue Net
Revenue   Actual Revenue

  $   $   $
Non-Ministry Departments
05 Office of the Auditor General 48,000                   577,061              529,061          
63 Parliamentary Registrar -                             262,740              262,740          
01 Governor & Staff 7,240                     9,526                  2,286              
92 Internal Audit -                             1,456                  1,456              

55,240                   850,783              795,543          
Cabinet Office Departments
19 Department of Archives 32                          4,546                  4,514              
09 Cabinet Office -                             2,520                  2,520              
26 Department of Human Resources 155                        -                          (155)               

187                        7,066                  6,879              

Ministry of Tourism & Transport
34 Transport Control Department 15,507                   26,574,443         26,558,936     
57 Civil Aviation -                             17,434,950         17,434,950     
31 Airport Operations 52,000                   11,127,278         11,075,278     
35 Public Transportation 120,827                 8,360,301           8,239,474       
30 Marine & Ports Services 1,985                     4,977,227           4,975,242       
73 Maritime Administration -                             3,561,986           3,561,986       
33 Tourism 34,736                   315,119              280,383          

225,055                 72,351,304         72,126,249     
Ministry of Justice
03 Judicial Department 20,259                   12,009,231         11,988,972     
87 Ministry of Justice HQ -                             2,643,590           2,643,590       
75 Department of Public Prosecutions -                             95,974                95,974            
04 Attorney-General's Chambers -                             1,065                  1,065              

20,259                   14,749,860         14,729,601     

Ministry of Finance
38 Office of the Tax Commissioner 100,603                 568,719,993       568,619,390   
12 Customs 1,307,902              202,640,880       201,332,978   
39 Registrar of Companies -                             65,834,010         65,834,010     
11 Accountant-General 6,959                     3,956,259           3,949,300       
10 Ministry of Finance HQ -                             2,002,267           2,002,267       

1,415,464              843,153,409       841,737,945   

Ministry of Education    
17 Department of Education 657                        189,689              189,032          

657                        189,689              189,032          

Ministry of Health 
22 Health Department 1,755                     2,445,376           2,443,621       
91 Health Insurance -                             137,717              137,717          

1,755                     2,583,093           2,581,338       
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 10(a): Interdepartmental Revenue By Ministry / Department 
For the year ended March 31 2011 2011 2011

Interdepartmental Gross Revenue Net
Revenue   Actual Revenue

Ministry of the Environment & Sports
32 Department  of Planning 1,391                      1,460,863           1,459,472      
20 Youth, Sport & Recreation 9,442                      876,053              866,611         
72 Environmental Protection 128                         782,179              782,051         
69 Conservations Services 1,066                      591,201              590,135         
68 Parks -                             210,301              210,301         
50 Ministry of the Environment & Sports HQ 569                         17,513                16,944           
49 Land Valuation -                             15                       15                  

12,596                    3,938,125           3,925,529      
Ministry of Culture & Social Rehabilitation
88 National Drug Control -                             699,712              699,712         
52 Community and Cultural Affairs 1,603                      211,073              209,470         
55 Financial Assistance 18,017                    139,135              121,118         
23 Child & Family Services 1,376                      93,371                91,995           
18 Libraries -                             16,330                16,330           
56 Human Affairs 130                         5,616                  5,486             
71 Ministry of Culture and Social Rehabilitation HQ -                             720                     720                
74 Court Services 150                         (2,564)                 (2,714)            

21,276                    1,163,393           1,142,117      
Ministry of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing
27 Immigration 5,193                      25,606,754         25,601,561    
07 Police 3,193                      470,554              467,361         
06 Defence -                             90,748                90,748           
60 Labour & Training 464                         24,994                24,530           
45 Fire Services 16,337                    (280,281)             (296,618)        

25,187                    25,912,769         25,887,582    
Ministry of Energy, Telecommunications & E-Commerce
46 Telecommunications -                             12,450,556         12,450,556    
13 Post Office 5,063                      5,608,905           5,603,842      
29 Registry General 1,785                      1,942,960           1,941,175      
43 Information Technology Office 6,609                      2,706                  (3,903)            
42 Rent Commissioner -                             170                     170                

13,457                    20,005,297         19,991,840    

Ministry of Works & Engineering 
82 Operations & Engineering 771,070                  10,137,810         9,366,740      
81 Lands, Buildings & Surveys 65,100                    1,589,582           1,524,482      
36 Works & Engineering HQ 13,472                    96,225                82,753           

849,642                  11,823,617         10,973,975    

TOTAL REVENUE 2,640,775               996,728,405       994,087,630  
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 11: Current Expense By Ministry / Department
For the year ended March 31 2011 2011 2010

Original
Estimates Actual Restated

(Note 17)
$  $  $

Non-Ministry Departments
02 Legislature 4,904,000             5,010,289          5,041,314          
05 Office of the Auditor General 3,305,000             3,275,930          2,894,881          
92 Internal Audit 1,734,000             1,426,496          1,993                 
01 Governor & Staff 1,705,000             1,625,140          1,976,550          
63 Parliamentary Registrar 1,151,000             820,028             784,492             
85 Ombudsman's Office 713,000                703,911             706,854             
08 Public Service Commission 81,000                  84,918               76,963               

13,593,000           12,946,712        11,483,047        

Cabinet Office Departments
09 Cabinet Office 6,848,000             8,425,922          9,190,356          
14 Department of Statistics 6,120,000             4,876,199          3,050,427          
26 Department of Human Resources 6,196,000             4,713,009          4,948,137          
51 Department of Communication & Information 2,678,000             2,440,610          2,613,016          
19 Department of Archives 1,729,000             1,589,385          1,506,166          

23,571,000           22,045,125        21,308,102        

Ministry of Tourism & Transport
33 Tourism 38,149,000           34,785,263        31,851,942        
31 Airport Operations 20,833,000           23,851,661        24,029,902        
35 Public Transportation 19,775,000           23,266,513        22,977,183        
30 Marine & Ports Services 22,510,000           22,393,151        21,405,714        
57 Civil Aviation 7,901,000             7,682,316          6,952,887          
34 Transport Control Department 7,548,000             6,533,528          6,644,214          
48 Ministry of Tourism & Transport HQ 2,657,000             2,589,954          1,324,832          
73 Maritime Administration 1,732,000             1,605,678          1,643,061          

121,105,000         122,708,064      116,829,735      

Ministry of Justice
03 Judicial Department 8,452,000             9,111,153          8,212,012          
87 Ministry of Justice HQ 3,399,000             8,310,563          4,430,723          
04 Attorney-General's Chambers 4,924,000             4,081,156          4,313,791          
75 Department of Public Prosecutions 2,917,000             2,374,099          2,186,258          

19,692,000           23,876,971        19,142,784        

Ministry of Finance
Retirement Benefit Expenses -                            110,880,113      106,695,970      

11 Accountant-General 82,455,000           86,436,679        84,039,558        
58 Interest on Debt 38,400,000           55,297,892        29,978,210        
12 Customs 21,740,000           20,000,981        18,648,270        
38 Office of the Tax Commissioner 3,680,000             13,334,160        5,009,071          
10 Ministry of Finance HQ 12,983,000           12,634,572        11,982,769        
28 Department of Social Insurance 4,424,000             9,695,046          8,046,591          
39 Registrar of Companies 3,875,000             3,020,548          4,076,891          
59 Sinking Fund Contribution 28,625,000           -                         -                         

196,182,000         311,299,991      268,477,330      

Ministry of Education
17 Department of Education 120,138,000         125,978,285      133,919,495      
41 Bermuda College 19,869,000           19,869,313        20,702,204        
16 Ministry of Education HQ 3,127,000             2,575,119          -                         

143,134,000         148,422,717      154,621,699      

Ministry of Health
24 Hospitals 125,199,000         150,184,153      132,239,483      
22 Health Department 32,460,000           30,507,599        29,134,608        
91 Health Insurance 5,489,000             20,273,623        10,263,994        
21 Ministry of Health HQ 18,098,000           15,291,715        18,473,155        

181,246,000         216,257,090      190,111,240      
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 11: Current Expense By Ministry / Department (cont'd)
For the year ended March 31 2011 2011 2010

Original
Estimates Actual Restated

(Note 17)
$ $ $

Ministry of the Environment & Sports
20 Youth, Sport & Recreation 12,475,000        11,800,910        12,390,391        
68 Parks 11,146,000        11,067,157        10,804,712        
69 Conservations Services 5,538,000          5,113,670          5,064,698          
32 Department of Planning 4,336,000          3,909,764          3,788,824          
72 Environmental Protection 3,845,000          3,827,780          3,730,335          
50 Ministry of the Environment & Sports HQ 908,000             782,056             1,133,689          
49 Land Valuation 812,000             641,902             621,702             

39,060,000        37,143,239        37,534,351        

Ministry of Culture & Social Rehabilitation
55 Financial Assistance 28,662,000        37,375,262        33,079,127        
23 Child & Family Services 17,680,000        19,697,021        19,495,400        
88 National Drug Control 6,109,000          5,955,074          3,789,847          
52 Community & Cultural Affairs 4,599,000          4,532,386          4,950,232          
74 Court Services 5,293,000          4,481,303          4,233,937          
71 Ministry of Culture and Social Rehabilitation HQ 4,871,000          4,289,232          3,659,957          
56 Human Affairs 3,231,000          2,947,721          3,125,995          
18 Libraries 2,369,000          2,351,345          2,659,614          

72,814,000        81,629,344        74,994,109        

Ministry of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing
07 Police 65,705,000        71,816,859        70,563,276        
25 Corrections 30,163,000        30,482,512        29,492,975        
45 Fire Services 15,497,000        13,977,270        12,970,241        
06 Defence 8,310,000          7,997,556          8,917,032          
60 Labour & Training 8,613,000          7,047,234          7,131,510          
53 Bermuda Housing Corporation 7,750,000          7,000,000          7,250,000          
27 Immigration 5,659,000          5,746,988          5,447,535          
83 Ministry of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing HQ 1,738,000          1,848,098          1,993,517          
54 Security Services & Delegated Affairs 74,000               15,529               412,185             

143,509,000      145,932,046      144,178,271      

Ministry of Energy, Telecommunications & E-Commerce
13 Post Office 15,142,000        14,921,680        14,967,726        
43 Information Technology Office 8,593,000          8,467,015          8,276,712          
46 Telecommunications 2,170,000          3,236,371          2,885,534          
29 Registry General 2,179,000          1,789,691          1,696,455          
84 E-Government 1,380,000          1,042,179          1,190,941          
67 E-Commerce 1,263,000          998,673             1,083,406          
89 Energy 888,000             696,945             588,621             
90 Ministry of Energy, Telecommunications and E-Commerce HQ 618,000             531,907             611,353             
42 Rent Commissioner 657,000             525,360             567,539             

32,890,000        32,209,821        31,868,287        

Ministry of Works & Engineering
82 Operations & Engineering 36,541,000        41,970,884        37,644,495        
81 Lands, Buildings & Surveys 26,415,000        24,639,914        24,401,224        
36 Works & Engineering HQ 7,052,000          7,255,901          6,224,949          
80 Architectural Design & Construction 1,513,000          1,156,068          1,052,947          

Amortization -                         43,156,723        37,330,814        
71,521,000        118,179,490      106,654,429      

TOTAL CURRENT EXPENSE 1,058,317,000   1,272,650,610   1,177,203,384   
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 11(a): Interdepartmental Current Expense By Ministry/Department 
For the year ended March 31 2011 2011 2011

Interdepartmental Actual Gross Net 
Expense Expense Expense

$  $  $

Non-Ministry Departments
02 Legislature 20,026                      5,010,289                4,990,263                
05 Office of the Auditor General 26,325                      3,275,930                3,249,605                
01 Governor & Staff 165                           1,625,140                1,624,975                
92 Internal Audit 12,075                      1,426,496                1,414,421                
63 Parliamentary Registrar -                               820,028                   820,028                   
85 Ombudsman's Office 1,644                        703,911                   702,267                   
08 Public Service Commission -                               84,918                     84,918                     

60,235                      12,946,712              12,886,477              

Cabinet Office Departments
09 Cabinet Office 25,133                      8,425,922                8,400,789                
14 Department of Statistics 38,517                      4,876,199                4,837,682                
26 Department of Human Resources 19,343                      4,713,009                4,693,666                
51 Department of Communication & Information 2,874                        2,440,610                2,437,736                
19 Department of Archives 496                           1,589,385                1,588,889                

86,363                      22,045,125              21,958,762              

Ministry of Tourism & Transport
33 Tourism 32,620                      34,785,263              34,752,643              
31 Airport Operations 1,141                        23,851,661              23,850,520              
35 Public Transportation 191,874                    23,266,513              23,074,639              
30 Marine & Ports Services 41,059                      22,393,151              22,352,092              
57 Civil Aviation 90                             7,682,316                7,682,226                
34 Transport Control Department 4,106                        6,533,528                6,529,422                
48 Ministry of Tourism & Transport HQ 791                           2,589,954                2,589,163                
73 Maritime Administration 15,895                      1,605,678                1,589,783                

287,576                    122,708,064            122,420,488            
Ministry of Justice

03 Judicial Department -                               9,111,153                9,111,153                
87 Ministry of Justice HQ 24,057                      8,310,563                8,286,506                
04 Attorney-General's Chambers -                               4,081,156                4,081,156                
75 Department of Public Prosecutions 330                           2,374,099                2,373,769                

24,387                      23,876,971              23,852,584              
Ministry of Finance
11 Accountant-General 8,024                        86,436,679              86,428,655              
58 Interest on Debt -                               55,297,892              55,297,892              
12 Customs 79,585                      20,000,981              19,921,396              
38 Office of the Tax Commissioner 7,680                        13,334,160              13,326,480              
10 Ministry of Finance HQ -                               12,634,572              12,634,572              
28 Department of Social Insurance 51,047                      9,695,046                9,643,999                
39 Registrar of Companies 50                             3,020,548                3,020,498                

Retirement Benefit Expenses -                               110,880,113            110,880,113            

146,386                    311,299,991            311,153,605            
Ministry of Education
17 Department of Education 93,171                      125,978,285            125,885,114            
41 Bermuda College -                               19,869,313              19,869,313              
16 Ministry of Education HQ -                               2,575,119                2,575,119                

93,171                      148,422,717            148,329,546            

Ministry of Health
24 Hospitals -                               150,184,153            150,184,153            
22 Health Department 155,601                    30,507,599              30,351,998              
91 Health Insurance 96                             20,273,623              20,273,527              
21 Ministry of Health HQ 30,898                      15,291,715              15,260,817              

186,595                    216,257,090            216,070,495            
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 11(a): Interdepartmental Current Expense By Ministry/Department 
For the year ended March 31 2011 2011 2011

Interdepartmental Actual Gross Net 
Expense Expense Expense

$ $ $

Ministry of the Environment & Sports
20 Youth, Sport & Recreation 149,178             11,800,910          11,651,732          
68 Parks 193,654             11,067,157          10,873,503          
69 Conservations Services 8,659                 5,113,670            5,105,011            
32 Department of Planning -                         3,909,764            3,909,764            
72 Environmental Protection 1,950                 3,827,780            3,825,830            
50 Ministry of the Environment & Sports 3,015                 782,056               779,041               
49 Land Valuation 90                      641,902               641,812               

356,546             37,143,239          36,786,693          

Ministry of Culture & Social Rehabilitation
55 Financial Assistance 13,704               37,375,262          37,361,558          
23 Child & Family Services 25,368               19,697,021          19,671,653          
88 National Drug Control 616                    5,955,074            5,954,458            
52 Community & Cultural Affairs 11,148               4,532,386            4,521,238            
74 Department of Court Services 6,098                 4,481,303            4,475,205            
71 Ministry of Culture and Social Rehabilitation HQ 4,520                 4,289,232            4,284,712            
56 Human Affairs 1,627                 2,947,721            2,946,094            
18 Libraries 467                    2,351,345            2,350,878            

63,548               81,629,344          81,565,796          

Ministry of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing
07 Police 296,113             71,816,859          71,520,746          
25 Corrections 227,472             30,482,512          30,255,040          
45 Fire Services 34,530               13,977,270          13,942,740          
06 Defence 14,926               7,997,556            7,982,630            
60 Labour & Training 29,804               7,047,234            7,017,430            
53 Bermuda Housing Corporation -                         7,000,000            7,000,000            
27 Immigration 1,181                 5,746,988            5,745,807            
83 Ministry of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing HQ -                         1,848,098            1,848,098            
54 Security Services & Delegated Affairs -                         15,529                 15,529                 

604,026             145,932,046        145,328,020        

Ministry of Energy Telecommunications & E-Commerce
13 Post Office 10,338               14,921,680          14,911,342          
43 Information Technology Office 249                    8,467,015            8,466,766            
46 Telecommunications 6,822                 3,236,371            3,229,549            
29 Registry General -                         1,789,691            1,789,691            
84 E-Government 29                      1,042,179            1,042,150            
67 E-Commerce 29                      998,673               998,644               
89 Energy 58                      696,945               696,887               
90 Ministry of Energy, Telecommunications and E-Commerce -                         531,907               531,907               
42 Rent Commissioner -                         525,360               525,360               

17,525               32,209,821          32,192,296          

Ministry of Works & Engineering

82 Operations & Engineering 29                      41,970,884          41,970,855          
81 Lands, Buildings & Surveys 1,433                 24,639,914          24,638,481          
36 Works & Engineering 712,955             7,255,901            6,542,946            
80 Architectural Design & Construction -                         1,156,068            1,156,068            

Amortization -                         43,156,723          43,156,723          
714,417             118,179,490        117,465,073        

TOTAL CURRENT EXPENSE 2,640,775          1,272,650,610     1,270,009,835     
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 13: Capital Development Expense By Ministry / Department
For the year ended March 31 2011 2010

Actual Restated
(Note 17)

$ $
Non Ministry Departments
02 Legislature 8,914                    112,604                

8,914                    112,604                

Cabinet Office Departments   
51 Department of Communication & Information (2,654)                   -                        

(2,654)                   -                        

Ministry of Justice   
03 Judicial Department -                        2,975                    

-                        2,975                    

Ministry of Finance
10 Ministry of Finance HQ -                        906                       

-                        906                       
Ministry of Education    
17 Department of Education 1,002,271             633,762                

1,002,271             633,762                

Ministry of the Environment & Sports
68 Parks 279,656                239,968                
69 Conservations Services 151,623                204,601                
72 Environmental Protection 94,684                  26,533                  
50 Ministry of the Environment & Sports 14,153                  46,527                  
20 Youth, Sport & Recreation 1,281                    17,642                  

541,397                535,271                

Ministry of Tourism  & Transport
33 Tourism 4,502,930             3,000,000             
48 Ministry of Tourism & Transport HQ 1,559,911             58,014,803           
31 Airport Operations 839,925                897,898                

6,902,766             61,912,701           

Ministry of Health
24 Hospitals 10,743,129           120,000                
22 Health Department 149,294                1,032,120             

10,892,423           1,152,120             
Ministry of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing
83 Ministry of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing HQ 3,846,277             25,326,236           
25 Corrections 137,139                154,378                
07 Police 82,018                  148,698                
45 Fire Services 58,585                  69,585                  
54 Security Services & Delegated Affairs 180                       28,738                  
06 Defence -                        63,053                  

4,124,199             25,790,688           
Ministry of Energy, Telecommunications & E-Commerce
46 Telecommunications 183,615                350,870                

183,615                350,870                
Ministry of Works & Engineering   
82 Operations & Engineering 4,655,396             10,137,141           
81 Lands, Buildings & Surveys 3,060,198             -                        
80 Architectural Design & Construction 141,540                -                        
36 Works & Engineering 137,218                7,235,904             

7,994,352             17,373,045           

TOTAL CAPITAL DEVELOPMENT 31,647,283           107,864,942         
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 14: Capital Acquisition Expense By Ministry / Department
For the year ended March 31 2011 2010

  Actual   Actual
  $  $

Non-Ministry Departments
92 Internal Audit 2,670                -                         
63 Parliamentary Registrar -                        11,837               
85 Ombudsman's Office -                        9,000                 
05 Office of the Auditor General (4,285)              14,418               
02 Legislature (44,488)            37,097               

(46,103)            72,352               
Cabinet Office Departments
26 Department of Human Resources 10,488              49,861               
51 Department of Communication & Information 8,028                -                         
14 Department of Statistics 7,308                20,581               
19 Department of Archives 6,110                10,199               
09 Cabinet Office 1,603                182,191             

33,537              262,832             
Ministry of Justice
04 Attorney-General's Chambers 116,169            40,809               
03 Judicial Department 21,715              178,098             
87 Ministry of Justice HQ 6,198                -                         

144,082            218,907             
Ministry of Finance
12 Customs 63,275              62,753               
39 Registrar of Companies 47,993              4,124                 
10 Ministry of Finance HQ 25,163              29,713               
11 Accountant-General 20,571              -                         
38 Office of the Tax Commissioner 13,700              22,705               

170,702            119,295             
Ministry of Education, Sports & Recreation   
17 Department of  Education 686,936            1,682,934          

686,936            1,682,934          

Ministry of Health
22 Health Department 226,714            (450,039)            

226,714            (450,039)            

Ministry of Tourism & Transport
30 Marine & Ports Services 111,451            45,829               
57 Civil Aviation 40,282              72,010               
34 Transport Control Department 13,588              16,660               
31 Airport Operations 3,263                542,398             
35 Public Transportation -                        274,331             

168,584            951,228             
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 14: Capital Acquisition Expense By Ministry / Department
(cont'd)
For the year ended March 31 2011 2010

Actual Actual
   $ $

Ministry of the Environment & Sports
69 Conservations Services 12,194                  3,875                
72 Environmental Protection 5,750                    8,000                
68 Parks 819                        16,199              
20 Youth, Sport & Recreation 424                        5,759                
49 Land Valuation -                            9,375                
50 Ministry of the Environment & Sports HQ -                            2,679                

19,187                  45,887              

Ministry of Culture & Social Rehabilitation
55 Financial Assistance 26,969                  29,141              
18 Libraries 4,556                    16,936              
56 Human Affairs 262                        2,300                
23 Child & Family Services -                            10,400              
88 National Drug Control -                            45,038              

31,787                  103,815            

Ministry of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing
07 Police 744,193                439,666            
27 Immigration 86,515                  4,018                
45 Fire Services 44,014                  508,108            
25 Department of Corrections 21,311                  (4,900)              
06 Defence 9,923                    140,931            

905,956                1,087,823         

Ministry of Energy, Telecommunications & E-Commerce
43 Information Technology Office 1,329,296             3,409,859         
13 Post Office 203,010                61,097              
84 E-Government 193,615                188,070            

1,725,921             3,659,026         

Ministry of Works & Engineering 
36 Works & Engineering 142,987                41,467              
81 Lands, Buildings & Surveys 5,583                    29,843              

148,570                71,310              

TOTAL CAPITAL ACQUISITION 4,215,873             7,825,370         
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 15: Current Expenditure - Estimates Compared to Expenses
For the year ended March 31, 2011

Adjusted Under (Over)
Expenses Expenditure * Estimates ** Spent

$ $ $ $

Non-Ministry Departments
02 Legislature 5,010,289         5,010,289         4,923,756         (86,533)              
05 Office of the Auditor General 3,275,930         3,275,930         3,184,518         (91,412)              
01 Govenor & Staff 1,625,140         1,625,140         1,704,617         79,477                
92 Internal Audit 1,426,496         1,426,496         1,390,533         (35,963)              
63 Parliamentary Registrar 820,028            820,028            1,074,067         254,039              
85 Ombudsman's Office 703,911            703,911            712,692            8,781                 
08 Public Service Commission 84,918              84,918              81,077              (3,841)                

12,946,712       12,946,712       13,071,260       124,548              

Cabinet Office Departments
09 Cabinet Office 8,425,922         8,425,922         7,695,143         (730,779)            
14 Department of Statistics 4,876,199         4,876,199         5,348,454         472,255              
26 Department of Human Resources 4,713,009         4,713,009         5,151,698         438,689              
51 Dept. of Communication & Information 2,440,610         2,440,610         2,486,874         46,264                
19 Department of Archives 1,589,385         1,589,385         1,679,498         90,113                

22,045,125       22,045,125       22,361,667       316,542              

Ministry of Tourism & Transport
33 Tourism 34,785,263       34,785,263       35,488,800       703,537              
31 Airport Operations 23,851,661       23,833,980       22,785,233       (1,048,747)         
35 Public Transportation 23,266,513       23,114,070       20,325,000       (2,789,070)         
30 Marine & Ports 22,393,151       22,333,631       23,855,313       1,521,682           
57 Civil Aviation 7,682,316         7,657,649         7,663,827         6,178                 
34 Transport Control Department 6,533,528         6,533,528         6,598,032         64,504                
48 Ministry of Tourism & Transport HQ 2,589,954         2,589,954         2,657,148         67,194                
73 Maritime Administration 1,605,678         1,606,053         1,732,100         126,047              

122,708,064     122,454,128     121,105,453     (1,348,675)         

Ministry of Justice
03 Judicial Department 9,111,153         8,285,859         8,261,598         (24,261)              
87 Ministry of Justice HQ 8,310,563         5,864,690         4,268,775         (1,595,915)         
04 Attorney-General's Chambers 4,081,156         4,081,156         4,324,246         243,090              
75 Department of Public Prosecutions 2,374,099         2,374,099         2,836,591         462,492              

23,876,971       20,605,804       19,691,210       (914,594)            

Ministry of Finance
Retirement Benefit Expenses 110,880,113     -                        -                        -                         

11 Accountant-General 86,436,679       86,422,236       82,454,767       (3,967,469)         
58 Interest on Debt 55,297,892       55,297,892       56,300,000       1,002,108           
12 Customs 20,000,981       20,000,981       21,738,494       1,737,513           
38 Office of the Tax Commissioner 13,334,160       3,315,234         3,679,922         364,688              
10 Ministry of Finance HQ 12,634,572       12,634,572       13,382,747       748,175              
28 Department of Social Insurance 9,695,046         9,695,046         9,220,031         (475,015)            
39 Registrar of Companies 3,020,548         2,704,553         3,429,553         725,000              
59 Sinking Fund Contribution -                        28,760,000       28,625,000       (135,000)            

311,299,991     218,830,514     218,830,514     -                         

Ministry of Education
17 Department of Education 125,978,285     125,840,820     120,138,383     (5,702,437)         
41 Bermuda College 19,869,313       19,869,313       19,869,313       -                         
16 Ministry of Education HQ 2,575,119         2,575,119         3,127,123         552,004              

148,422,717     148,285,252     143,134,819     (5,150,433)         

Ministry of Health
24 Hospitals 150,184,153     150,184,153     140,221,645     (9,962,508)         
22 Health Department 30,507,599       30,507,599       32,685,430       2,177,831           
91 Health Insurance 20,273,623       13,037,099       7,743,925         (5,293,174)         
21 Ministry of Health HQ 15,291,715       15,291,715       17,872,962       2,581,247           

216,257,090     209,020,566     198,523,962     (10,496,604)        

* Adjusted for Non-Budgeted, Non-Cash Items

**  Includes all Approved Supplementary amounts during the year  56
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 15: Current Expenditure - Estimates Compared to Expenses (cont'd)
For the year ended March 31, 2011

Adjusted Under (Over)
Expenses Expenditure* Estimates ** Spent

$ $ $ $
Ministry of the Environment & Sports
20 Youth, Sport & Recreation 11,800,910          11,800,910          12,280,948          480,038                
68 Parks 11,067,157          11,067,157          10,826,738          (240,419)               
69 Conservations Services 5,113,670            5,113,670            5,255,343            141,673                
32 Department of Planning 3,909,764            3,909,764            4,082,855            173,091                
72 Environmental Protection 3,827,780            3,699,541            3,728,117            28,576                  
50 Ministry of the Environment HQ 782,056               782,056               813,758               31,702                  
49 Land Valuation 641,902               641,902               712,691               70,789                  

37,143,239          37,015,000          37,700,450          685,450                
Ministry of Culture & Social Rehabilitation
55 Financial Assistance 37,375,262          37,375,262          38,656,610          1,281,348             
23 Child & Family Services 19,697,021          19,697,021          18,014,231          (1,682,790)            
88 National Drug Control 5,955,074            5,330,074            5,953,513            623,439                
52 Community & Cultural Affairs 4,532,386            4,532,386            4,599,011            66,625                  
74 Court Services 4,481,303            4,481,303            5,293,210            811,907                
71 Ministry of Social Rehabilitation 4,289,232            4,289,232            4,690,923            401,691                
56 Human Affairs 2,947,721            2,947,721            3,205,801            258,080                
18 Libraries 2,351,345            2,351,179            2,393,981            42,802                  

81,629,344          81,004,178          82,807,280          1,803,102             
Ministry of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing
07 Police 71,816,859          71,738,797          65,704,834          (6,033,963)            
25 Corrections 30,482,512          30,482,512          31,362,790          880,278                
45 Fire Services 13,977,270          13,977,270          15,126,997          1,149,727             
06 Defence 7,997,556            7,997,556            8,310,364            312,808                
60 Labour & Training 7,047,234            7,047,234            7,412,910            365,676                
53 Bermuda Housing Corporation 7,000,000            7,000,000            7,750,000            750,000                
27 Immigration 5,746,988            5,746,988            5,784,742            37,754                  
83 Ministry of Labour, Home Affairs & Housing HQ 1,848,098            1,848,098            1,982,872            134,774                
54 Security Services & Delegated Affairs 15,529                 15,529                 73,880                 58,351                  

145,932,046       145,853,984       143,509,389       (2,344,595)            
Ministry of Energy, Telecommunications & E-Commerce
13 Post Office 14,921,680          14,921,680          15,142,209          220,529                
43 Information Technology Office 8,467,015            8,467,015            8,762,796            295,781                
46 Telecommunications 3,236,371            3,236,371            2,299,718            (936,653)               
29 Registry General 1,789,691            1,789,691            2,129,114            339,423                
84 E-Government 1,042,179            1,042,179            1,260,263            218,084                
67 E-Commerce 998,673               998,673               1,203,174            204,501                
89 Ministry of Energy, Telecommunications and E-Commerce HQ 696,945               696,945               818,213               121,268                
90 Ministry of Energy, Telecommunications and E-Commerce 531,907               531,907               617,574               85,667                  
42 Rent Commissioner 525,360               525,360               657,218               131,858                

32,209,821          32,209,821          32,890,279          680,458                
Ministry of Works & Engineering
82 Operations & Engineering 41,970,884          41,451,434          36,541,118          (4,910,316)            
81 Lands, Buildings & Surveys 24,639,914          24,524,711          26,415,369          1,890,658             
36 Works & Engineering 7,255,901            6,769,134            7,052,090            282,956                
80 Architectural Design & Construction 1,156,068            1,156,068            1,513,221            357,153                

Amortization 43,156,723          -                           -                           -                            
118,179,490       73,901,347          71,521,798          (2,379,549)            

TOTAL CURRENT EXPENDITURE 1,272,650,610    1,124,172,431    1,105,148,081    (19,024,350)          

* Adjusted for Non-Budgeted, Non-Cash Items

**  Includes all Approved Supplementary amounts during the year
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 16: Commitments - Legislated
For the year ended March 31 2011 2010

Actual Actual
$ $

Unspent Capital Appropriations

Capital Development 9,402,418             12,928,068        
Capital Acquisition 8,210,178             5,265,875          

17,612,596           18,193,943        

Total Authorized Funding

Total Authorized Funding 1,029,096,754      1,113,698,911   
Projects Completed during the year (58,750,601)          (225,744,688)     
Approved Supplementary Estimate -                        966,600             

Revised Total Authorized Funding 970,346,153         888,920,823      
Appropriated Capital Development (529,369,862)        (446,756,520)     

Unappropriated Capital Development Commitments 440,976,291         442,164,303      

projects and is subject to the voting of supply by the Legislature. Estimated future
expenditure for continuing capital development projects is as follows:

In accordance  with Section 6 of the Appropriations Act 2010, unspent capital 
appropriations for incomplete capital projects to be carried forward to future years 
are as follows:

Total Authorized Funding represents the estimated total cost of capital development
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 17: Public Debt - Legislated Limit
As at March 31 2011 2010

Actual Actual

$ $

The Government Loans Act 1978, as amended (2011), defines public debt as debt owed or 
guaranteed by the Consolidated Fund but only if and when, and to the extent that, the
guarantee obligation becomes due and payable by the Government.

Section 2A(1) of the Act limits public debt (net of sinking fund assets) to $1.25 billion 
(2010 - $1 billion) as amended as at April 1, 2010.

Debt (Schedule 7) 1,030,000,000    730,000,000         
Overdraft Facility Drawdown (Note 16) 57,490,260         93,409,973           
Bank of NT Butterfield Guarantee * -                          200,000,000         
WEDCO Loan Guarantee * -                          10,000,000           
National Education Guarantee * -                          542,367                

1,087,490,260    1,033,952,340      
Less:
Sinking Fund (Schedule 7) 85,508,498         64,487,481           

Public Debt 1,001,981,762    969,464,859         
Legislated Limit 1,250,000,000    1,000,000,000      

Available  Limit 248,018,238       30,535,141           

* Removed from Public Debt as a result of the change in legislation definition in 2011. They are no longer
considered Public Debt but are disclosed as Contingent Liabilities in Note 10(a).
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The Cabinet Office 
__________________________________________________________________________ 

Department of Communication and Information 

 

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
 

17 February ~2.00 pm   
 

CONTACT 

 

~ Consolidated Fund Financial Statements 2011 ~ 

 
Premier and Minister of Finance, the Hon. Paula A. Cox, JP, MP today tabled audited 
financial statements relating to the Consolidated Fund for the year-ended March 31, 
2011. 

The Consolidated Fund is the general operating fund of the Bermuda Government 
through which Government conducts the majority of its financial transactions.  
 
The Consolidated Fund financial statements report the operations, financial position and 
changes in financial position that result from the activities of the Government. This 
includes the accounts of the Senate, the House of Assembly, all Government departments 
and offices and all courts. 
 
For the fourth consecutive year, the annual accounts of the Consolidated Fund of the 
Government of Bermuda were given a qualified audit opinion. The qualification in this 
and the prior year was based on the Auditor General’s opinion that there were serious 
deficiencies in internal controls in the management of certain capital development 
projects.  
 
The general public should note that the detailed reasons for the qualification on the 
accounts will be included in the Auditor-General’s Annual Report for 2011 when it is 
tabled. 
 
Subsequent to the tabling of the Auditor-General’s Annual Report for 2011 normal 
Parliamentary procedures would be followed: 

 The report referred to the Public Accounts Committee for review; 

 The Committee tabling its report with recommendations; 

 The Minister of Finance issuing a formal response, in writing, on behalf of the 
Government. 
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- 2 -  

 
Where individual Ministry practices are queried, the relevant Ministers will separately 
provide information by way of Ministerial Statements and other documentation. 
  
Premier Cox said, “The Government recognizes that the Auditor General’s 
recommendations provide the opportunity to refine and enhance Government processes. 
The Government will work with the Auditor General and take the required steps to ensure 
that this qualification is removed in the future, in the same manner we did when actions 
were taken on qualified accounts in 2000 and on other previous occasions”.  
 
The Auditor General has, for the first time, included an explanatory paragraph as an 
‘other matter’ which discusses the increased incidents of non-compliance with the 
Government of Bermuda’s Financial Instructions. This ‘other matter’ does not form the 
basis of the qualification of the Auditor General’s opinion.  
 

Premier Cox stated “That as Minister of Finance, I have spent a considerable amount of 
my time fighting for Bermuda's credibility around the world, and we have made good 
progress. The introduction of the Good Governance Bill in July 2111 underscores our 
commitment to enact measures geared to strengthen financial accountability in 
Government and to enhance our governance framework. We wish to communicate a 
strong and clear message to the public that Government has zero tolerance for behavior 
and practices that do not accord with the highest standards of good governance. Also the 
establishment of the Office of Project Management and Procurement will facilitate the 
adoption of consistent practice for the procurement of goods and services, and the 
management of major projects for all areas of the Government of Bermuda.  The benefits 
include developing consistent policies and processes and obtaining the best value for 
money for the Government of Bermuda.”  
 
The Government understands the importance of timely financial information. As the 
Minister of Finance I consider it essential that all Government entities have their annual 
financial statements prepared and audited within six months of year-end. The delay in 
issuing the Consolidated Fund Financial Statements for 2011 is not an ideal situation and 
the Accountant General and her staff will work intensely with the Office of the Auditor 
General to provide the audited Accounts of the Consolidated Fund in a timelier basis.  
 

It is important to note that when the 2010/11 budget estimates were made in February 
2010, it was against the background of an array of very challenging economic and 
financial circumstances. Following the financial crisis that swept the world beginning in 
2008, the broad consensus of economists and policymakers was that the global economy 
was again expanding. However at this juncture, the National Economy of Bermuda was 
still struggling to overcome the adverse effects of the recession. 

 

In 2010, the Bermuda economy contracted by 0.7 per cent measured in current market 
prices, when adjusted for inflation, the level of economic activity or real GDP decreased 
by 1.9 per cent. Employment fell by 3.6 per cent and the official unemployment rate was 
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6.0 per cent in accordance with the 2010 Census. Total employment continued to shrink 
at a decelerating pace in 2011. Several of the major economic indicators such as air 
visitor arrivals, construction activity and retail sales declined in 2010. 
 
Going into fiscal year 2010_11 the Government’s fiscal position had been significantly 
weaken by the ongoing recession. 
 

 The revenue out-turn for 2010 was projected to be below 2009 and without tax 
increases the revenue for 2010-11 was expected to contract further.  

 Additional current account expenditures had to be absorbed by  the Consolidated 
Fund in 2010-11 which represented - interest on long-term debt (which was paid 
from the Sinking Fund in 2009_10) and additional expenses for drug treatment 
(which had been paid from the Confiscated Assets Fund) 

 
In the Government’s view, with the fundamentally weak fiscal position, it was important 
to support public sector spending in support of the long-term health of the economy and 
in order to pay for the increased public services desired by the public; accordingly the 
Government strengthened its tax base by increasing various taxes.   
 
The Government increased payroll tax, foreign currency purchase tax, stamp duty on 
estates, vehicle licensing fees and the biennial review of government fees.  The result of 
these actions was a $78.6 million increase in revenues when compared to 2010. But 
equally important is that the tax increases helped Government maintain critical services 
for the poor and vulnerable of our society whose reliance on the Government increases in 
times of crisis. The welfare of our people must never be neglected. 
 
When scrutinizing the Consolidated Fund Financial Statements for 2011 it is important 
that the above-mentioned circumstances be considered. 
 
Financial highlights of the Consolidated Fund Financial Statements 2011 are as follows: 
 
The total revenue raised by the Consolidated Fund for fiscal 2010/11 was approximately 
$996.7 million, representing an increase of $78.7 million (8.6%) from fiscal 2009/10 for 
which balances have been restated. The primary reason for the increase was due to 
increases in rates for payroll tax, foreign currency purchase tax, stamp duty on estates, 
vehicle licensing fees and the biennial review of government fees.  This was lower than 
original budget estimates by approximately $62.1 million (5.9%). The most significant 
generators of revenues for fiscal 2010/11 were Payroll Taxes accounting for $423.0 
million or 42.4% (2010 - $349.0 million or 38.1%) and Customs Duty accounting for 
$195.8 million or 18.5% (2010 - $219.0 million or 19.6%). Revenues were below budget 
in 2010-2011 mainly due to shortfalls in Customs Duty ($36.7 million below), Stamp 
Duty ($10.0 million below), Immigration Receipts ($6.7 million below), International 
Companies Fees ($6.4 million below) and Payroll Tax and Foreign Currency Purchase 
tax that were both ($4 million below).   
 

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Text Box
Appendix 5

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Text Box

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text
__________________________________________________________________________________________
2010, 2011 and 2012 Consolidated Fund Report - Auditor General of Bermuda                                                169



- 4 -  

Current expenses for fiscal 2010/11 were $1.273 billion (2009 - $1.177 billion). The three 
largest components of current expenses were: employee costs; grants and contributions; 
and professional services. Total employee costs were $599.7 million or 47.1% of total 
expenses (2010 - $577.4 million or 49.0%). Included in this amount is $151.6 million 
(2010 - $143.7 million) of non-cash retirement benefit expenses. Grants and contributions 
were $277.1 million or 21.8% (2010 - $261.1 million or 22.2%) and professional services 
were $119.1 million or 9.4% (2010 - $111.9 million or 9.5%). Interest on long term debt 
was $58.7 million or 4.6% (2010 - $35.1 or 3.0%). Total current expenditure on a 
modified cash basis, which are shown on Schedule 15, were $1.124 billion, which was 
$65.8 (6.2%) million higher than original budget estimates of $1.058 million.  
 
Expenditures were above budget in 2010-2011 primarily due to the following items:  
  

 above budget expenditure on substitute and para-professional’s salaries - $5 
million; 

 increased expenditure on Government’s health subsidy programme for the 
youth, aged and indigent - $35 million; 

 Interest on long-term debt - $18; 
 Increase expenditure for Financial Assistance and Child Day Care Allowance 

- $9 million; 
 Additional expenditure on the War Veterans Programme - $5 million. 

 
 Premier Cox stated that financial payments for professional services are often confused 
with payments to overseas consultants.  For clarity, she explained this expenditure of 
$119.1 covered all government contracts including cleaning, security, legal aid, Works 
and Engineering maintenance, contracted services for the Department of Airport 
Operations, health insurance portability claims, war pensioner medical claims and other 
‘locally’ contracted services. 
 
Total capital account cash expenditure was $120.5 million, which was $23 million lower 
than the original budget estimates. Capital development expenditure was $17 million 
below original budget while capital acquisitions were $7 million below original budget.  
 
A further look reveals the closing closing Net Book Value of Tangible Capital Assets for 
the year was $727.7 million, an increase of $127 million over the 2010 value of $600.4 
million. Included in the net additions of $169.6 million (2010 - $36 million) was a net 
transfer of $113.9 million from Assets under Construction for 2010/11. This was 
primarily due to the completion of the Magistrates Court Building.  
 
Net Public Debt, which excludes guarantees and is net of the Sinking Fund, increased by 
$243.0 million (2010 - $276.8 million) during fiscal 2010/11 standing at $1.0 billion at 
the end of the year. This represents a 32% increase from fiscal 2009/2010.The escalation 
was mainly due to the Government issuing a public bond offering in the international 
debt capital markets authorizing the issue and sale of a very successful $500 million 10-
year, fixed rate bonds priced at par. The coupon and yield of the bonds are 5.60% per 
annum. The proceeds of this issue was used to repay the amounts outstanding a maturing 
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$200 million credit facility, repay short-term indebtedness with local banks which totaled 
approximately $140 million and to fund capital expenditure programs and for other 
budgeted governmental purposes. 
 

While many countries saw their ability to raise funds curtailed in 2010, Bermuda had the 
opposite experience, finding a receptive audience for its first offering in the public bond 
market.   

 
The actual net debt to GDP ratio at March 31, 2010 was about 17.4 %.   
 
It is relevant to note that despite recent increases in debt levels the level of public debt as 
a percentage of GDP is still moderate when compared to other countries and remains one 
of the lowest, debt policy ratios amongst developed modern economies.  
 
During 2010/11 $25,750,000 was contributed to the Sinking Fund. 
 
The fiscal 2010/11 actuarial valuations resulted in a net liability for pensions and 
retirement benefits of $1.05 billion, representing a 11.7% increase from fiscal 2009/10. 
The majority of this liability relates to the Public Service Superannuation Fund (PSSF).  
 
The public may be aware that the Government has already started to address the inherited 
problems associated with the PSSF. Based on actuarial advice, commencing in 2006, 
PSSF contribution rates were increased from 5% to 8% and 9.5% for regular members 
and uniformed officers respectively. This was part of a funding strategy to place the 
PSSF on a more stable financial footing and to attend to some longstanding PSSF specific 
issues that have had a significant impact on the financial position of the PSSF.  

 
The increase in pension contributions was only the first step in fixing this inherited 
problem and Government must still address the unfunded liability incurred from prior 
non-contributory service and prior inadequate contributions. This Government’s policy 
has been to reduce the inherited unfunded liability through a series of special 
contributions and a sound investment strategy that best meets the PSSF’s financial 
objectives. Going forward we will continue this policy in a manner which is responsible, 
transparent and fair. 
 
I wish to assure current and future pensioners and the general Bermuda population that 
the Government is sensitive to the challenges facing pension plans of this nature and will 
continue to monitor the financial position of the Fund to ensure that the Fund remains 
viable in the long-term. 
 
The statements of the Consolidated Fund provide valuable information on the financial 
position of the Government and the public is encouraged to examine them. 
 
There is no doubt that the global recession is having a negative impact on Government 
finances worldwide and Bermuda is not unique in facing the economic challenges that are 
being faced globally.  
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“I wish to assure the public that the Government is sensitive to the challenges which may 
arise when deficits reach short term peaks, however the Government is moving ahead 
with a credible plan for medium-term fiscal consolidation in order to reduce public debt 
and to keep the country on a sustainable fiscal path,” Premier Cox concluded.  
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31 2012 2011

  Actual Restated
(Note 20)

  $   $

Liabilities Schedule

 Bank Overdraft (Note 16) 120,720,014         57,490,260          

 Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 5 154,068,571         146,366,433        

 Deferred Revenue 6 34,045,465           34,142,751          

308,834,050         237,999,444        

 Interest Bearing Debt - Net of Sinking Fund 7 1,115,252,919      944,491,502        

 Pensions and Other Employee Future Benefits
  - Pensions and Retirement Benefits (Note 9(g))Pensions and Retirement Benefits (Note 9(g)) 1,126,225,368      1,015,453,966     
  - Compensated Absences (Note 8) 24,321,023           21,995,987          

1,150,546,391      1,037,449,953     
 Other Liabilities
 Due to Government Funds and Agencies 3(a) 40,751,629           50,942,015          

2,615,384,989      2,270,882,914     

Financial Assets

 Cash and Cash Equivalents 24,018,677           10,993,022          
 Accounts Receivable 1 138,971,513         166,636,860        
 Due from Government Funds and Agencies 3 30,722,901           18,113,855          
 Long-Term Receivables 4 1,522,619             1,904,335            
 Investment in Quango (Notes 3(e) & 14(b)) 5,000,000             5,000,000            

200,235,710         202,648,072        

 Net Debt 2,415,149,279      2,068,234,842     

 Non-Financial Assets
 Tangible Capital Assets (Notes 3(f) & 15) 11 751,450,187         727,752,452        
 Assets under Construction (Note 3(f)) 11 40,101,565           59,272,927          
 Inventories for Consumption 2 13,573,803           14,976,960          
 Prepaid Expenses 4,035,002             3,473,625            

809,160,557         805,475,964        

Accumulated Deficit 1,605,988,722      1,262,758,878     

Contingent Liabilities, Non-Contractual Operational Commitments and Contractual 
Commitments (Notes 10, 11, 12 and Schedule 13)

 Total Financial Assets

 Total Liabilities

 Total Non-Financial Assets

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.  4
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit 
For the year ended March 31 2012 2011

Actual* Restated
(Note 20)

$ $
Schedule

Revenue 8, 9

Taxes & Duties
Payroll Tax 344,702,370         423,049,799          
Customs Duties 180,696,578         195,807,157          
Other Taxes and Duties 76,557,477           87,220,853            
Land Tax 52,312,877           49,131,169            
Passenger Tax 35,068,899           32,345,082            

Total Taxes & Duties 689,338,201         787,554,060          
Fees, Permits & Licenses 195,733,293         180,713,466          
Other Revenue 25,644,452           25,750,919            
Investment Income 3,465,694             2,709,960              

Total Revenue 914,181,640         996,728,405          

Expenses 10

Economic Development 414,270,904         433,116,776          

Health 207,131,607         237,071,273          

National Security 168,963,434         165,417,323          

Education 149,415,777         157,159,158          

Pensions and Retirement Benefits Expenses 113,096,438         110,880,113          

Social Services & Assistance 72,662,704           79,401,304            

Interest on Debt 67,592,428           55,297,892            

Other General Government Services 64,278,192           70,169,927            

Total Expenses 1,257,411,484      1,308,513,766       

Annual Deficit (343,229,844)        (311,785,361)        

Accumulated Deficit, Beginning of Year (1,262,758,878)     (1,028,061,278)     

Recognition of Tangible Capital Assets (Note 15) -                            44,120,315            

Correction of Estimate (Note 20) -                            34,121,628            

Correction of Error (Note 20) -                            (1,154,182)            

Accumulated Deficit, End of Year (1,605,988,722)     (1,262,758,878)     

* Estimates against these actuals are provided for revenue in Schedules 8 and 9 and for
current expenses in Schedules 10(a) and 10(b) for appropriation purposes.

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.  5
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Statement of Change in Net Debt 
For the year ended March 31 2012 2011

Actual Restated
(Note 20)

  $   $

Annual Deficit (343,229,844)      (311,785,361)      

Change Due to Tangible Capital Assets:
Net Additions to Tangible Capital Assets (70,242,398)        (126,306,791)      
Net Reductions in Assets under Construction 19,171,362         39,346,434         
Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets 46,544,662         43,156,723         

Total Change Due to Tangible Capital Assets (4,526,374)          (43,803,634)        

Net Reductions in Inventories for Consumption 1,403,157           1,443,142           
Net (Additions to) Reductions in Prepaid Expenses (561,376)             1,278,129           

Total Change Due to Inventories for Consumption 
and Prepaid Expenses 841,781              2,721,271           

Increase in Net Debt (346,914,437)      (352,867,724)      

Net Debt, Beginning of Year (2,068,234,842)   (1,748,334,564)   

Correction of Estimate (Note 20) -                          34,121,628         

Correction of Error (Note 20) -                          (1,154,182)          

Net Debt, End of Year (2,415,149,279)   (2,068,234,842)   

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.  6
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Statement of Cash Flow 
For the year ended March 31 2012 2011

Actual Restated
(Note 20)

  $   $
Operating Activities

Annual Deficit (343,229,844)   (311,785,361)   

Items not affecting cash:
Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets 46,544,662      43,156,723      
Increase in Pension and Retirement Benefits Liability (Note 20(b)) 110,771,402    110,220,728    
Increase in Compensated Absences Liability 2,325,036        659,385           
Increase (Decrease) in Non-Cash Working Capital 13,694,264      (6,888,484)       

Cash Applied to Operating Activities (169,894,480)   (164,637,009)   

Capital Activities

Net Additions to Tangible Capital Assets (70,242,398)     (126,306,791)   
Net Reductions in Assets under Construction 19,171,362      39,346,434      

Cash Applied to Capital Activities (51,071,036)     (86,960,357)     

Financing Activities

Debt issues 200,000,000    500,000,000    
Increase in Sinking Fund (29,238,583)     (21,021,017)     
Debt retirement -                       (200,000,000)   

Cash Provided By Financing Activities 170,761,417    278,978,983    

Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (50,204,099)     27,381,617      

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year (46,497,238)     (73,878,855)     

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year (96,701,337)     (46,497,238)     

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year

  Cash and Cash Equivalents 24,018,677      10,993,022      
  Bank Overdraft (120,720,014)   (57,490,260)     

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year (96,701,337)     (46,497,238)     

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.  7
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Government of Bermuda – Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2012 
  

 

 
 

8 

1. Authority 
The Consolidated Fund (the “Fund”) operates under the authority of the Bermuda 
Constitution Order 1968 and amendments, and the Public Treasury (Administration and 
Payments) Act 1969 and amendments. 

All public money is paid into the Fund and legislative authority must be obtained for any 
expenditure out of the Fund. 

The Legislature provides authority to make payments out of the Fund in annual 
Appropriation Acts, Supplementary Estimates and other statutes. Unused spending 
authority for current account appropriations lapses at the end of the fiscal year.  Unused 
spending authority for uncompleted capital projects is carried forward to subsequent 
fiscal years, subject to the approval of the Minister of Finance. 

 

2. Reporting Entity 
The Fund’s financial statements report the financial position, results of operations, 
change in net debt and cash flow resulting from the activities of the Fund only, which 
comprise the accounts of the Senate, the House of Assembly, all Government 
departments and offices (including the Public Service Commission) and all courts. The 
Fund is established and defined pursuant to section 94 of the Bermuda Constitution 
Order 1968. 

These financial statements are not summary consolidated financial statements of the 
Bermuda Government. Separate audited financial statements are prepared for all other 
Government organizations. 

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with the legislative requirements 
as outlined in sections 5 and 32A of the Public Treasury (Administration and Payments) 
Act 1969 and amendments. 

The Government adheres to the general practice of using a Consolidated Fund as its 
general operating fund. Schedules 8 to 11 provide information concerning the 
operations, tangible capital assets and capital expenses of individual Government 
departments and funds and agencies comprising the Fund. 

 

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
The recommendations of the Public Sector Accounting Board and the Accounting 
Standards Board of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (which are 
promoted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Bermuda by signed agreement 
and therefore generally accepted in Bermuda) are the source for the disclosure basis of 
accounting. 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with the disclosed basis of 
accounting requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 
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Government of Bermuda – Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2012 
  

 

 
 

9 

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
and expenses during the year. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

The significant accounting policies are as follows: 

(a) Method 
The financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. 

(b) Revenue 
Revenues are accounted for in the fiscal year in which the transactions or events 
occurred that gave rise to the revenues. 

Revenues not practicably measurable until cash is received are accounted for upon 
receipt. 

Amounts received or receivable prior to the end of the year, which relate to revenues 
that will be earned in a subsequent fiscal year, are reported as deferred revenue. 

(c) Expenses 
Expenses are accounted for in the fiscal year that goods and services are acquired, a 
liability is incurred or grant payments are due. 

Contributions to Government funds and agencies are expensed in the year the 
expenditure is made. 

Classification of expenses between current account items and capital account items 
follows the classification in the Approved Estimates. 

(d) Interdepartmental Revenues and Expenses 
Interdepartmental revenues and expenses are not eliminated but have been identified as 
explained in Note 14(c). 

(e) Financial Assets 
Financial assets are resources that can be used to discharge existing liabilities or 
finance future operations. They include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, 
amounts due from Government funds and agencies, long-term receivables and 
investment in QUANGO. 

Accounts receivable are recorded at cost. A valuation allowance is recorded when 
collection of the receivable is considered doubtful. 

Long-term receivables are recorded at unamortized cost. 

Investment in QUANGO is recorded at cost.  
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Government of Bermuda – Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2012 
  

 

 
 

10 

3.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
(f)  Non-Financial Assets  
 
Non-Financial assets are resources that are employed for future services. They include 
tangible capital assets, assets under construction, inventories for consumption and 
prepaid expenses. The costs of acquiring land, buildings, equipment and other capital 
property are capitalized as tangible capital assets and are amortized over the estimated 
useful lives of the assets. Where original acquisition documents were difficult to retrieve, 
the Book Value Calculator (“BVC”), developed by the Chief Appraiser of Public Works 
and Government Services Canada (as modified by them to address the Bermuda 
Government situation), was used to establish reasonable estimates of the Net Book 
Values in order to develop opening balances. 
 
Other tangible capital assets that do not meet the minimum threshold requirements for 
their respective asset class have continued to be charged to capital expenses in the year 
of purchase, which is consistent with prior years. These expenses are currently 
classified as capital development and capital acquisition expenses on Schedule 10, 
Expenses by Program. Included in the capital development and capital acquisition 
expenses are other significant items: capital grants, repairs and maintenance, 
professional fees and other items which are expensed as they are incurred. Tangible 
capital assets that have not yet been disclosed include historical treasures.   
        
Amortization is recorded on a straight-line basis for all assets, according to the following:  
 
 Buildings      40 years 
 

Leasehold Improvements Remaining life or lease period of the related 
asset  

 
 

Betterments Remaining life or lease period of the related 
asset  

     
Heavy Equipment 

  $10,000 to $99,999  5 years  
  $100,000 and above  7 years 
 

Vehicles 
2 – 3 Wheeled Vehicles 
$3,000    5 years 
 
4 or More Wheeled Vehicles 
$0 - 99,999   5 years 
$100,000 and above  7 years 
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Government of Bermuda – Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2012 
  

 

 
 

11 

    3.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
Boats & Vessels   

  $10,000 to $99,999   5 years  
  $100,000 and above   10 years    
   

Leased Equipment  
$3,000 and above   3 years  

     
Computer Hardware    

              $3,000 to $99,999   3 years  
     $100,000 and above   7 years 
 

All laptops and desktop computers are capitalized                
      

Computer Software    
$20,000 and above                         10 years 

    
Furniture & Fixtures    
  $3,000 and above                              7 years 
 
Office Equipment    
        $3,000 and above                              5 years 
 
Plant, Machinery & Equipment 
      $50,000 and above                    10 – 30 years 

 
Infrastructure     
     $50,000 to $199,999               10 years 
     $200,000 and above                   40 years 

 
 
The Ministry of Government Estates and Information Services is primarily responsible for 
Government’s tangible capital assets. In prior years, amortization was reported as a 
single expense item of this Ministry. Amortization expense is now reported under the 
respective Ministries.  Since amortization is a non-cash expense, it is removed for 
appropriation reporting purposes. 
 
Assets under construction relate to the development of buildings, betterments, vehicles, 
computer hardware, computer software, infrastructure, office equipment and vessels.  
Upon completion, the balance of assets under construction will be transferred to tangible 
capital assets and amortized based on the appropriate useful life. 
 
Tangible capital assets that have historical or cultural value, including works of art, 
historical documents, and historical and cultural artifacts, are not recognised as tangible 
capital assets in these financial statements because a reasonable estimate of the future 
benefits associated with such property cannot be made. 
 
Inventories for consumption are comprised of spare parts and supplies that are held for 
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Government of Bermuda – Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2012 
  

 

 
 

12 

3.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
future program delivery and are not intended for resale. They are valued at cost. 
Inventories for consumption that no longer have service potential are valued at the lower 
of cost or net realizable value. Items for which the costs are not readily available have 
been valued using management’s best estimates of original cost based on available 
information. 
 
(g)  Liabilities 
Liabilities are recorded for financial obligations to organizations and individuals occurring 
as a result of transactions and events arising on or before the year-end. They occur as a 
result of contracts, agreements and legislation in force at year-end that require the 
Government to repay borrowings or to pay for goods and services acquired or provided 
on or before the year-end. Liabilities also include grant payments due where no direct 
value is received in return. 

 (h) Translation of Foreign Currencies 
The financial statements are reported in Bermuda dollars. The Bermuda dollar is valued 
at par with the United States dollar. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the year-end date.  
Revenues and expenses originating in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange 
rate in effect on the date the specific transactions occurred. Translation gains and losses 
are included in the Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit. 
 
(i) Measurement Uncertainty 
 
Estimates are used to accrue revenues and expenses in circumstances where the actual 
accrued revenues and expenses are unknown at the time the financial statements are 
prepared. Uncertainty in the determination of the amount at which an item is recognized 
in the financial statements is known as measurement uncertainty. Such uncertainty 
exists when there is a variance between the recognized amount and another reasonable 
amount, as there is whenever estimates are used. 
 
Measurement uncertainty in these financial statements exists in the accrual of individual 
and corporate payroll and land taxes, accruals for pension obligations, accruals for 
environmental obligations, allowances for doubtful receivables and accruals for liabilities 
through actuarial valuations. 
 
The nature of the uncertainty related to the accruals for pension obligations arise 
because actual results may differ significantly from the Government’s best estimates of 
expected results based on variables such as earnings on the pension investments, 
salary increases and the life expectancy of the participants. The uncertainty related to 
the accrual of environmental obligations is based upon the identification of all sites 
where environmental damages have occurred that are the Government’s responsibilities 
to mitigate and the quantification of what the actual liability will be based upon impact 
studies. Uncertainty concerning the allowance for doubtful revenue is based upon actual 
collectability and changes in economic conditions. 
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Government of Bermuda – Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2012 
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3.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
While management’s best estimates have been used for reporting items subject to 
measurement uncertainty, it is possible that changes in future condition in the near term 
could require a material change in the valuation of the reported amounts. Near term is 
defined as a period of time not to exceed one year from the date of the financial 
statements. 
 
(j) Risk Management of Public Debt 
 
Funds are borrowed in both domestic and foreign capital markets by issuing Bermuda 
Government senior notes and using bank loans and other credit facilities. This borrowing 
activity is used to fund government capital expenditure programs and other budgeted 
governmental operations. These transactions result in exposure to four types of risk: 
interest rate risk, foreign exchange rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that debt servicing costs will increase due to changes in 
interest rates. This risk is managed by issuing debt securities as predominately fixed 
rates of interest rather than floating rates of interest for fixed terms. 
 
Foreign exchange rate risk is the risk that debt servicing costs will increase due to a 
decline of the Bermuda dollar relative to other currencies. This risk is managed by 
maintaining a preference for debt that is issued predominately in United States (“US”) 
dollars. The Bermuda dollar is pegged to the US dollar to eliminate the impact of any 
fluctuations in the exchange rates between the two. 
 
Credit risk is the risk that a loss might occur from the failure of another party to meet its 
obligations under a derivative financial instrument contract. The risk is managed by 
issuing debt securities that have no derivatives as the underlying securities. The debt 
instruments are senior notes of the Bermuda Government and loan facilities with a 
domestic lender. 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that financial commitments will not be met over the short term. 
This risk is managed through the establishment of the Government Borrowing Sinking 
Fund as a separate legal entity for the repayment of government debt and to pay interest 
charged on long-term public debt under the provisions of the Government Loans Act 
1978. 
 
 
4. Approved Estimates of the Government of Bermuda 
 
(a) Budget Process 
 
Annually, the Government presents a Budget (“Estimates”) of expected revenues and 
expenditures for the following fiscal year. 
 
The Government’s spending Estimates for the fiscal year commencing April 1, 2011 
were presented to the Members of the Legislature by the Minister of Finance.  
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Government of Bermuda – Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2012 
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4. Approved Estimates of the Government of Bermuda (cont’d) 
 
The Estimates outline the spending plans of each Ministry/Department submitted for 
approval to the Legislature in the Appropriations Act. 
 
The Estimates referred to in the financial statement schedules are from the original 
Approved Estimates of Revenue and Expenditure for the fiscal year 2011/12 and do not 
reflect changes arising from the tabling of Supplementary Estimates, except for the 
Adjusted Estimates referred to in Schedule 12 which include the original Approved 
Estimates and any tabled Supplementary Estimates. 
 
(b)  Comparison of Expenses to Estimates for Expenditure 
 
The Ministry of Finance prepares annual Estimates on the modified cash basis. These 
financial statements are prepared on an accrual basis. Due to the difference in 
accounting, Schedule 12 restates actual expenses to the modified cash basis for 
comparative and analytical purposes against the adjusted estimates. The most 
significant differences are as follows: 
 
(i)   Bad Debts – For financial statement purposes, a provision is established and 

expensed for accounts receivable where collection is doubtful. For budget purposes, 
no such provision is made. 

 
(ii) Pension – The financial statement pension-related expense is explained in Note 9. 

For budget purposes, pension expense is equal to its funding requirements. 
 
(iii) Government Borrowing Sinking Fund (Note 5) – Transfers to the Sinking Fund are 

recorded as cash transfers against long-term debt. For budget purposes, the Sinking 
Fund contribution is considered expenditure.  

 
(iv) Compensated Absences – Certain Government employees are entitled to paid 

retirement leave, as explained in Note 8. For budget purposes, retirement pay is 
estimated based on anticipated salary spending for the current year. 

 
(v) Amortization – For financial statement purposes, annual amortization of tangible 

capital assets is expensed based on the respective assets as explained in Note 3(f). 
For budget purposes, amortization is not considered expenditure.  

 
(vi) Environment Liability – As explained in Note 10(c), the Government has recognized 

a cost of restoration of land. For budget purposes, the liability established is not 
considered expenditure. 

 
 
5. Government Borrowing Sinking Fund 
 
Effective March 31, 1993, the Government Borrowing Sinking Fund (“GBSF”) was 
established as a separate legal entity for the repayment of government borrowing under 
the provisions of the Government Loans Act 1978, as amended. 
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5. Government Borrowing Sinking Fund (cont’d) 
 
During each financial year, the Fund must pay to the GBSF 2.5% of the public debt 
outstanding in the Fund at the end of the preceding year. Under section 12AA of the 
Government Loans Act 1978 as amended, the Minister may, by Order, suspend the 
annual contribution for a period of twelve months. 
 
 

2011 2012 
$  $  
    

Sinking Fund Contributions Earnings Sinking Fund 
    

85,508,499 25,781,041 3,457,541 114,747,081 
 
 
The GBSF assets may only be applied to reduce, cancel or pay interest on public debt. 
The assets are invested in accordance with the Public Funds Act 1954 and are shown 
as a reduction of debt issued on the Fund’s Statement of Financial Position. 
 
The assets of the GBSF are comprised of the following: 
 
 
  2012 2011 
  $ $ 
    
Fixed Term Deposits  121,267,293 92,083,718 
    
 
 
The following is a schedule of projected contributions to the GBSF by the Fund up to 
March 31, 2017, based on estimated debt levels to March 31, 2013: 
 
 

 2012  
 $  

2013 30,750,000  

2014 37,625,000  

2015 37,625,000  

2016 37,625,000  

2017 37,625,000  
 
 
Separate audited financial statements are prepared for the GBSF to which readers 
should refer for further information. 
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6. Contingencies Fund  
On March 14, 1979 the House of Assembly passed a resolution to withdraw $1 million 
from the Fund to set up a Contingencies Fund under the provisions of Section 10(1) of 
the Public Treasury (Administration and Payments) Act 1969, as amended. 
 
The purpose of the Contingencies Fund is to allow the Minister of Finance to authorize 
urgent and unforeseen expenditures up to $1 million prior to the approval of the 
Legislature by supplementary estimate. The Contingencies Fund balance is not 
segregated from general operating cash and cash equivalents and accumulated deficit. 
 
 
7. Unemployment Insurance Fund  
The Unemployment Insurance Fund (“Insurance Fund”) was established March 18, 2002 
by amendment to the Public Treasury (Administration and Payments) Act 1969 under 
the provisions of Section 10B. The Legislature authorized $1 million to be set aside 
within the Fund to set up the Insurance Fund. 
 
The Minister of Finance will pay amounts approved by the Legislature as Government’s 
contribution to the Insurance Fund. Monies paid into the Insurance Fund will be invested 
in accordance with the Public Funds Act 1954 and the interest earned on such 
investments will be paid into the Insurance Fund.  
 
On August 10, 2011 the Government amended the Public Treasury (Administration and 
Payments) Act 1969 in order to make further provision about the Unemployment 
Insurance Fund. The Act has been amended to provide for payments out of the Fund to 
be made at the direction of the Minister of Finance for the purpose of assisting 
unemployed persons. 
 
 
8. Compensated Absences  
 
Certain Government employees are entitled to paid retirement leave under the various 
union agreements that exist with the Government.  Paid retirement leave is available to 
those eligible employees with a minimum of ten years credited service, who are retiring 
on the basis of age.  The leave is paid at the salary level immediately preceding the date 
of retirement, to a maximum eligibility of twelve weeks. 

An actuarial valuation of the Government’s obligation for retirement leave was performed 
to March 31, 2012, using similar various long-term assumptions as the Public Service 
Superannuation Fund pension plan (Note 9).  The valuation determined that the accrued 
benefit obligation for retirement leave is currently $24,321,023 (2011- $21,995,987), as 
defined in the table below. 
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8. Compensated Absences (cont’d) 
 

 2012 2011 
 $ $ 
   
Accrued benefit obligation, beginning of year 21,995,987 21,336,602 
Amortization of experience loss 60,754 60,754 
Current period benefit cost 1,197,259 1,148,450 
Interest accrued 1,487,885 1,397,769 
Benefit payments (420,862) (1,947,588) 
   
Accrued benefit obligation, end of year 24,321,023 21,995,987 
   
 

9.  Pensions and Other Retirement Benefits  

(a) Contributory Defined Benefit Pension Plans 
The Government administers contributory defined benefit pension plans for substantially 
all of its employees, quasi-autonomous non-governmental organization (“QUANGO”) 
employees and all ministers and members of the Legislature. There are two plans 
currently in operation – the Public Service Superannuation Fund (“PSSF”) and the 
Ministers and Members of the Legislature Pensions Fund (“MMLPF”).  
 
For the PSSF, a service pension is available with a minimum of eight years credited 
service. Subject to exceptions as outlined in the Public Service Superannuation Act 
1981, it is based on the number of years of service times 1.5% of the salary payable 
immediately preceding the date of retirement. Additional benefits are provided to special 
groups such as police, prison wardens, fire service and regiment employees.   
 
For the MMLPF, a service pension is generally available to contributors who have 
reached age 60 and have served for at least 8 years, or to contributors who have 
reached age 55 and have served for at least 20 years. The rate of pension is 3/1000th of 
the monthly salary payable to a minister, member or officer, on the date on which the 
contributor becomes entitled to receive a pension, for each month of service rendered up 
to a maximum of 25 years.  Cost of living increases are calculated by reference to the 
Consumer Price Index on a biennial basis. 
 
Employees contribute 8.0% of their basic salary for PSSF and Ministers and Members 
contribute 12.5% of their salary for MMLPF. The Government matches the participant’s 
contribution in each plan. The amount of Government contributions made during the  
year for each plan was as follows: PSSF - $33,338,006 (2011 - $32,588,714), MMLPF  - 
$526,528 (2011 - $485,071). The Public Service Superannuation Act 1981 and the 
Ministers and Members of the Legislature (Salaries and Pensions) Act 1981, as 
amended, provide that, if at any time the funds are insufficient to meet the payments 
chargeable against them, the deficiency shall be made up out of the Consolidated Fund. 
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9.  Pensions and Other Retirement Benefits (cont’d) 
 

 (b) Pension Liability 
Normally, the pension liability is calculated on an actuarial basis. Actuarial valuations are 
performed triennially using the projected benefit method, pro-rated on services. An 
actuarial valuation was performed on both the PSSF and the MMLPF as at March 31, 
2012 using the same assumptions, to produce the estimates included in the financial 
statements.  

Actuarial valuations are based on a number of assumptions about future events, such as 
inflation rates, interest rates, wage and salary increases, employee turnover and 
mortality. The assumptions used reflect Government’s best estimates of expected long- 
term rates and short-term forecasts.  

The most significant assumptions are that the average investment return will be greater 
than the average rate of salary increase by approximately 2.25% (prior valuation – 
2.25%) and the cost of living increase will average 3.0% (prior valuation - 3.0%) per 
annum.   

The 1994 Group Annuity Mortality Table was used for the mortality assumption. 

For the PSSF, pension fund assets consist primarily of listed stocks and bonds, short-
term investment funds, hedge funds and private equity investments. Market-related 
asset values, which recognize the differences between the actual return on assets and 
the expected return on assets over a period of five years, have been used to determine 
the pension liability and pension-related expenses for the PSSF.  

The market-related value of assets for the PSSF was $492,045,167 as at March 31, 
2012 (2011 - $468,985,435) compared to a real market value of $502,261,171 (2011 - 
$486,693,676). 

For the MMLPF, there is no difference between the market value of plan assets and the 
market-related value. As at March 31, 2012, the value was $10,990,884 (2011 – 
$10,242,303). The actual return on plan assets during the year was 3.65% (2011 – 
14.67%) for the PSSF and 7.17% (2011 - 7.25%) for the MMLPF. 

As at March 31, 2012, $2,563,962 (2011 – $4,366,587) was due to the PSSF in respect 
of contributions received in excess of benefits paid by the Fund (Schedule 3(a)).  As at 
March 31, 2012, $10,789,460 (2011 – $10,472,058) was due to the MMLPF in respect of 
contributions received in excess of benefits paid by the Fund (Schedule 3(a)).   

 (c) Pension-Related Expenses 

Pension-related expenses recognized by the Consolidated Fund comprise the cost of 
pension benefits earned by employees during the year, interest on the pension benefit 
liability (net of interest on pension plan assets) and amortization of the Government’s 
share of any experience gains or losses, less contributions made by the employees. The  
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9.  Pensions and Other Retirement Benefits (cont’d) 
 
estimated total cost of the Government’s share of plan amendments related to past 
service is expensed in the year the plan is amended.  The pension-related expense is 
disclosed in Note 9(g) and included in Schedule 10(a) as a component of retirement 
benefit expenses. 

A net unamortized experience loss of $119,885,000 (2011 - $146,266,000) is reported in 
the schedule below. The amount comprises a total unamortized experience loss on the 
pension liability of $100,356,000 (2011 - $130,183,000) and a total unamortized  
experience loss on the asset valuation of $19,529,000 (2011 - $16,083,000). The period 
of amortization is ten years.  
Aggregate information about the PSSF and MMLPF is in the following tables. 

 
(d) Funded Status of Plans 

 
For the year ended March 31 2012 2011 
    Actual Actual 

   $  $ 
Pension Liability   
Accrued Benefit Obligation   
 PSSF 1,475,141,000 1,393,994,000  
 MMLPF 33,539,000      31,526,000 

    1,508,680,000 1,425,520,000 

Net Fund Assets   
 PSSF (492,045,000) (468,985,000) 
 MMLPF (10,991,000) (10,298,000) 

    (503,036,000) (479,283,000) 
 
Net Unamortized Experience Loss   
 PSSF (119,885,000) (146,266,000) 
 
Pension Liability   
 PSSF 863,211,000 778,743,000 
 MMLPF 22,548,000 21,228,000 

 Carried Forward to Note 9 (g) 885,759,000 799,971,000 
 
 
 

rgilbert
Text Box

rgilbert
Text Box
Appendix 6

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text
__________________________________________________________________________________________
2010, 2011 and 2012 Consolidated Fund Report - Auditor General of Bermuda                                                191



 
 
Government of Bermuda – Consolidated Fund 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2012 
  

 

 
 

20 

9. Pensions and Other Retirement Benefits (cont’d) 
 
 
For the year ended March 31  2012 

 
 2011 

  Actual   Actual 
  $   $ 

Cost of Pension Benefits 56,588,100 
 
 54,379,221 

Employee Contributions (33,864,500) 
 
 (33,073,785) 

Interest on Pension Liability 62,950,921 
 
 59,570,564 

  
 
  

 
 
Amortization of Experience Gains & Losses  
 
2003 Experience Loss              - 

 
 3,418,847 

2004 Experience Loss  21,908,086 
 
 21,908,086 

2005 Experience Loss  2,048,199 
 
 2,048,199 

2006 Experience Loss  595,574 
 
 595,574 

2007 Experience Gain  (351,626) 
 
 (351,626) 

 
2008 Experience Loss  5,243,035   5,243,035 
 
2009 Experience Loss  7,608,893   7,608,893 

2010 Experience Gain  (2,547,908)  (2,547,908) 

2011 Experience Loss  442,686            - 
 
Carried forward to Note 9 (g)  120,621,460  118,799,100 
 
 
Value of Obligations Relating to Benefits for the Pension Plans 
The value of obligations relating to benefits for the pensions plan at a given date is 
determined using the actuarial projections prorated on service, taking into account, 
among other things, the most probable long-term economic assumption made by the 
Government. 
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9. Pensions and Other Retirement Benefits (cont’d) 
 

Main economic assumptions used: 

 PSSF MMLPF 
 (%) (%) 
   
Inflation Rate 3.00 3.00 
Discount Rate for Obligations 6.50 6.50 
Salary Escalation Rate 4.25 3.50 
   
 

Changes in these assumptions may lead to a material increase or decrease in the value 
of the obligations relating to vested benefits. The following tables, which take the main 
assumptions into account, show the potential impact of a difference of 1.00% in the 
value of the obligations for the two pension plans, PSSF and MMLPF. The tables also 
show the impact of a one-year difference in life expectancy, considering that, according 
to current assumptions, the life expectancy of beneficiaries aged 60 is 21.8 years for 
men and 25.6 years for women. 

Impact of changes on the main assumptions on the value of obligations relating to PSSF 
benefits as at March 31, 2012: 

 

Assumption Change Impact on ABO 
($) 

Impact on ABO 
(%) 

    

Discount rate 1.0% increase  (172,563,100) (11.7) 

 1.0% decrease  216,032,000  14.6 

Salary increase rate 1.0% increase  58,753,100  4.0 

 1.0% decrease  (52,745,900) (3.6) 

Inflation 1.0% increase  143,768,700  9.7 

 1.0% decrease  (122,630,200) (8.3) 

Life expectancy 1 year increase  38,146,600  2.6 

 1 year decrease  (35,856,800) (2.4) 
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9. Pensions and Other Retirement Benefits (cont’d) 
 
Impact of changes on the main assumptions on the value of obligations relating to 
MMLPF benefits as at March 31, 2012: 
 

Assumption Change Impact on ABO 
($) 

Impact on ABO 
(%) 

    

Discount rate 1.0% increase  (3,544,600) (10.6) 

 1.0% decrease  4,281,300  12.8 

Salary increase rate 1.0% increase  932,700  2.8 

 1.0% decrease  (877,900) (2.6) 

Inflation 1.0% increase  3,346,400  10.0 

 1.0% decrease  (2,888,500) (8.6) 

Life expectancy 1 year increase  1,397,500  4.2 

 1 year decrease  (1,231,100) (3.7) 

 

 (e) Contributory Pension Fund 
The Contributory Pension Fund (“CPF”) was established under the Contributory 
Pensions Act 1970 and subsequent amendments. 

The purpose of the CPF is to provide old age pension, disability and death benefits for 
persons satisfying certain contribution, citizenship and residency requirements.  

Contributions to the CPF are compulsory for persons employed in Bermuda, the self-
employed and employers. 

There is no legislative provision for the Fund to provide for any shortfall if, at any time, 
the CPF has insufficient funds to meet its current legislated obligations. 

 

(f) Retirement Benefits Other than Pensions – Employee Health Insurance 
Plan 

The Government administers a health care plan, the Government Employees Health 
Insurance Fund (“GEHI”), for substantially all of its employees, QUANGO employees, all 
ministers and members of the Legislature and retirees. The GEHI Fund provides medical 
insurance for retirees and eligible dependents with the Government matching the 
participants’ contribution to the plan.  In 2002 the Government adopted accrual 
accounting for the GEHI plan. 

An actuarial calculation of the Government’s obligations for retirement benefits other 
than pensions was performed for accounting purposes at March 31, 2012, using various 
long-term assumptions.  
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9. Pensions and Other Retirement Benefits (cont’d) 
 

The discount rate used in determining the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation 
was 6.5%. The assumed health-care cost trend rate used was 9.0% (2011 - 9.0%). This 
will be reducing by 0.5% per annum (from 2014) to 5.0% per annum (to 2022).  The 
1994 Group Annuity Mortality Table was used for the mortality assumption. The value 
accrues a liability in respect of the matching premium paid by government under the 
insurance arrangement in respect of retired employees. The calculation is based on the 
projected benefit method pro-rated on service. 

Aggregate information about the health care plan is in the table below. 

 

 2012 2011 
 $ $ 
   

Accrued benefit obligation at beginning of year 254,254,613 266,040,563 

Curtailment of Pension Benefit (Note 20(b)) - (37,882,936) 

Valuation adjustment  - 7,840,911 
   

Adjusted accrued benefit obligation at beginning of year 254,254,613 235,998,538 

Current period benefit cost 10,165,588 9,545,153 

Interest accrued 16,647,332 15,431,697 

Benefit payments (6,449,217) (6,720,775) 
   
Accrued benefit obligation at end of year 274,618,316 254,254,613 
 
 
Expected accrued benefit obligation at end of year 274,618,316 254,254,613 

Actual accrued benefit obligation at end of year 249,883,817 254,254,613 
   
Experience gain 24,734,499        - 
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9.  Pensions and Other Retirement Benefits (cont’d) 
 2012 2011 
   
Expected average remaining service life 12 years 12 years 
   
Annual amortization 4,619,699 $4,619,699 
 

Liability for retirement benefits recorded in the statement of financial position 
   
 2012 2011 
 $ $ 
  

Accrued benefit obligation, end of year 249,883,817 254,254,613 
Unamortized experience losses (9,417,449) (38,771,647) 
   
Liability for retirement benefits (Note 9(g)) 240,466,368 215,482,966 
   
 
Expenses recorded in statement of operations and accumulated deficit 
 
 2012 2011 
 $ $ 
Current period benefit cost 10,165,588 9,545,143 
Amortization of experience losses 4,619,699 4,619,699 
   
Retirement benefit expense 14,785,287 14,164,842 
Retirement benefit interest expense  16,647,332 15,431,697 
   
Total expenses related to retirement benefits (Note 9(g)) 31,432,619 29,596,539 
 
(g) Accrued Pensions and Retirement Benefits Liability and Expense Summary 
 
 2012 2011 
 $ $ 
Pensions (Note 9(d)) 885,759,000 799,971,000 
Retirement Benefits other than  
      Pensions – Health Insurance Plan (Note 9(f)) 240,466,368 215,482,966 

Total Pensions and Retirement Benefits Liability   1,126,225,368 1,015,453,966 
   

Pensions (Note 9(d)) 120,621,460 118,799,100 
Retirement Benefits other than  
      Pensions – Health Insurance Plan (Note 9(f)) 31,432,619 29,596,539 

Total Pensions and Retirement Benefits Expense  152,054,079 148,395,639 
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10.  Contingent Liabilities 
 
(a) Guarantees 

(i) National Education Guarantee Scheme  

In August 1994, the Government introduced the National Education Guarantee 
Scheme to provide qualifying students with financial guarantees on bank loans 
for post-secondary education. The repayment of principal and accrued interest is 
guaranteed by the Government. In the event of default by the student, the banks 
will call on the guarantee contract.  At March 31, 2012, $179,760 (2011 - 
$356,895) is outstanding on guaranteed student loans with local banks. 

(ii) West End Development Corporation (“WEDCO”) Guarantee  
 
On April 1, 2009, the Minister of Finance consented to the borrowing of $10 
million by WEDCO from the Capital G Bank to facilitate the completion of the new 
Sewage Treatment Plant at Dockyard.  

 
The Minister of Finance further approved the guarantee given by the Ministry of 
Public Works to repay the indebtedness by way of annual payments to WEDCO 
until all indebtedness to the Capital G Bank has been fully discharged.  
 
The Ministry of Public Works further guarantees and will make good any default 
on the part of WEDCO in the payment of the loan to Capital G Bank and all 
related interest fees and charges due as a result of default by WEDCO until all 
indebtedness to the Capital G Bank has been fully discharged. At March 31, 
2012, $7,142,858 (2011 - $8,571,429) is outstanding on WEDCO’s indebtedness 
to Capital G (Schedule 5). 
 
(iii) Bank of N.T. Butterfield Guarantee Agreement 
On June 12, 2009, the Government assisted The Bank of N.T. Butterfield & Son 
Limited (“BNTB”) in raising qualifying Tier 1 capital via a perpetual preference 
share offering of US$200 million. 
 
Accordingly the Government provided the commitment that if the full $200 million 
Preference Share Offering was not achieved on or prior to June 30, 2009, the 
Government would purchase no later than June 30, 2009 such number of 
Preference Shares as was sufficient to ensure that the Bank realized aggregate 
proceeds equal to and not less than US$200 million.  As the offering was fully 
subscribed, no such Government purchase was necessary. 
 
On June 22, 2009, the Government entered into a Preference Shares Guarantee 
Agreement with the BNTB and others. The Government has guaranteed payment 
of 100% of the liquidation value of the outstanding Preferred Shares in the event 
of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs 
of BNTB during the term of the Guarantee.  Also, the Government will act as a 
guarantor for the dividend payments relating to the Preferred Shares issuance. 
Should the BNTB fail to declare and pay dividends in any quarterly dividend  
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10.  Contingent Liabilities (cont’d) 
 
period during the term of the Guarantee, the Government will pay such dividends 
at 8% per annum.  
 
Pursuant to the Preference Share Offering, the BNTB pays to the Government a 
fee of 1% per annum on the liquidation value of then outstanding Preference 
Shares issued to third party investors.  The Government was in receipt of 
4,279,601 warrants issued by the Bank to purchase a number of non-voting 
common shares of BNTB having an aggregate market price equal to US$30 
million.  The initial exercise price for the warrants and the price for determining 
the number of common shares of BNTB subject to the warrants was $7.01 per 
common share. The quantity of warrants remained at 4,150,773.72 with an 
exercise price of $3.614.  Per the valuation model run for March 31, 2012, the 
value of the warrants is $0.08 (2011 - $0.157) per warrant which represents a 
total value of $332,062 (2011 - $651,671). 

 
(iv) Bermuda Hospitals Board (“BHB”) Guarantee  
 
On December 1, 2010, the Minister of Finance provided an irrevocable 
Guarantee Agreement to Paget Health Services Limited on behalf of the BHB to 
facilitate the completion of the New Hospital Project of the King Edward VII 
Memorial Hospital in Paget. 
 
The design and construction related costs of the new facility are approximately 
$247 million. Once construction is completed in 2014, annual service payments 
will commence for a period of thirty years, consisting of principal, interest, 
construction, lifecycle and hard facilities maintenance. A portion of the annual 
service payment is indexed over the thirty year period to allow for changes in the 
cost of living and other related facility costs. 
 
The Guarantee Agreement guarantees the payment obligations of the BHB to 
Paget Health Services Limited by the Government as required by the lenders. 

 

(b) Claims and Potential Claims 

The Government is subject to claims and potential claims related to breach of contract, 
damages to persons and property and like items. The effect of legal claims cannot be 
determined until they are settled or dismissed. No liability has been admitted and no 
provision for claims is included in the financial statements. Any resulting losses will be 
recorded and charged to operations in the year an amount can reasonably be 
determined. 

The total of specific amounts claimed or potential settlements which are under litigation 
or possible litigation as at March 31, 2012 is $11,703,246 (2011 - $12,502,395).  
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10.  Contingent Liabilities (cont’d) 
 
(c) Base Lands Clean Up  
The Government recognizes that there will be a cost for restoration of the land at the 
bases formerly occupied by the US military.  It is anticipated that such costs would 
include removal of hazardous materials and clean-up.  

A liability of $40,250,000 (2011 - $26,250,000) has been accrued, which is an estimate 
of the costs of the clean-up and remediation at the three former major base land sites. 
The estimated range is $37.5 million to $56.5 million. 

The cost for Southside (estimated at $10.5 million, with a range of $10.5 million to $20 
million; $6.5 million for work already performed has been deducted from the lower end of 
the estimated range) involves demolition of buildings beyond refurbishment and removal 
of asbestos. 

The cost for clean-up of Tudor Hill (estimated at $1 million with a range of $1 million to 
$2 million) is for removal of asbestos and demolition of buildings on the site.  

Clean-up of Morgan’s Point is estimated at $28.75 million (with a range of $26 million to 
$34.5 million) to remove environmental hazards and fuel storage tanks, removal and 
remediation of asbestos, as well as demolition of derelict buildings.  This accrual was 
increased by $14 million in the current year.  

The prior year’s estimate was originally developed in 2003, based on orders of cost 
which were developed from unit rates used for clean-up at Southside and budget 
estimates from consultants hired by potential developers at the Morgan’s Point site.  The 
Government had a registered professional engineer conduct an independent review of 
the estimates in 2008, 2010 and 2012. 

A request for proposal was issued by the Government in July 2009 with proposed 
cleanup standards for Morgan’s Point. The registered professional engineer 
independently estimated in 2010 that if this proposal was to be contracted, it would cost 
the Government $14 million to $25 million in addition to the amounts already accrued. 

The Government signed the Morgan’s Point Exchange Agreement with Southlands 
Limited and Morgan’s Point Limited.  The agreement exchanged 12.454 hectares of land 
owned by Southlands Ltd., located in Warwick, for 66.82 acres of freehold land at 
Morgan’s Point in Southampton. Furthermore, the agreement provides Morgan’s Point 
Limited, as the Developer, the ability to develop an additional 128.46 acres of Leasehold 
property at Morgan’s Point, as further detailed in the Morgan’s Point Land Development 
Agreement, also signed and dated April 8, 2011, amongst the same parties. 
 
Article 6 of the Morgan’s Point Land Development Agreement, states the Bermuda 
Government is still responsible for the remediation of the Morgan’s Point property to 
international standards deemed reasonably acceptable to the Developer.  These 
standards are met in the RFP issued in 2009.  Therefore, an additional $14 million has 
been accrued in the current year to ensure the liability is within the range of the 
estimates developed.  The registered professional engineer independently currently 
estimates that if this proposal was to be contracted, it would cost the Government $34.5 
million, which is the maximum of the range disclosed above. 
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10.  Contingent Liabilities (cont’d) 
 
(d) Hotels Concession Act 2000 and the Memorandum of Understanding 

between the Minister of Finance and the Bermuda Hotel Association  
On February 21, 2009, the Government entered into a Memorandum of Understanding 
(“MoU”) with the Bermuda Hotel Association to provide exemptions for applicable hotels 
from the payment of payroll tax. The assessment of the exemption was to be done 
quarterly and, if applicable, would allow for the full exemption of the quarterly payroll tax. 
This MoU has been extended to March 31, 2013. 

The Hotels Concession Act 2000 allows for the full or partial exemption from or deferral 
of payroll tax, land tax and hotel occupancy tax for hotels which undergo development 
deemed to be in the national economic interest of Bermuda as if it is determinable that 
the development will, among other considerations: 

 benefit the tourism industry and the economy; 

 create employment and entrepreneurial opportunities for Bermudians; 

 encourage local development, or; 

 employ and train Bermudians. 

The concessions are granted at the discretion of the Minister of Tourism with the written 
agreement of the Minister of Finance for those hotels that apply for the concessions. The 
Hotels Concession Act 2000 permits an exemption from, either in part or in full, or 
deferral of the payroll tax, land tax and hotel occupancy tax for a period not exceeding 
five years from the hotel’s opening date. 

The concession afforded to the hotels is non-refundable and in instances where the 
payroll tax is deemed null and void due to the MoU, the concession remains as a contra-
revenue amount to be applied against any future payroll tax incurred by those hotels.  

The Government is obligated to recognize the effect of the concessions when payroll tax 
is actually incurred unless they are dismissed by the Minister of Finance. No liability has 
been admitted and no provision for collectibility is included in the financial statements. 
Any resulting losses of payroll tax will be recorded and charged to operations in the year 
the payroll tax is effective. 

The total of the hotel concessions as at March 31, 2012 is $3,069,262 (2011 - 
$1,201,500) which may be applied against any future payroll tax incurred ($2,252,510) 
and future hotel occupancy tax incurred ($816,752) by the applicable hotels.  

 

(e)  Air Service Agreements 
(i) WestJet 

 
On November 1, 2011, the Government renewed a Revenue Guaranty 
Agreement with WestJet. In consideration of the revenue guaranty provided by 
the Guarantor, WestJet agrees to operate scheduled daily service between 
Toronto and Bermuda for the period November 1, 2011 to April 30, 2012 
(“Guaranty Period”). 
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10.  Contingent Liabilities (cont’d) 
 

The Government has guaranteed that WestJet will receive the minimum 10% 
operating margin for the scheduled service during the Guaranty Period. Upon the 
completion of the Guaranty Period, WestJet shall calculate the fully allocated 
profit margin consistent with the reporting process historically utilized by WestJet 
in determining route profitability (the “Profit Margin”). Additionally, WestJet shall 
deliver an operational report summarizing route specific traffic statistics, 
revenues, fully operating costs, profit margins, and funds required to achieve 
10% profit margin to Guarantor (the “Report”). If the Profit Margin exceeds 10% 
during the Guaranty Period, no payment is due to WestJet. If the Profit Margin 
fails to reach 10% in the Guaranty Period, the Government shall pay to WestJet 
the difference between the actual Profit Margin and the amount of additional 
earnings that would hence result in a 10% Profit Margin within thirty (30) days of 
receipt of the Report to a maximum of $1,450,000 USD. 

The Government has established and delivered to WestJet an irrevocable Letter 
of Credit (“LOC”) which came into effect April 14, 2010 issued by Bank of 
Bermuda, HSBC (“HSBC”) in the amount of US$500,000.  

On August 28, 2011, the Government paid $1,266,559 to WestJet for the 
revenue guarantee period of November 1, 2010 to April 30, 2011. On February 
15, 2012, the Government paid $1,000,000 to WestJet for the revenue guarantee 
period of May 1, 2011 to October 31, 2011. 

 
 

(ii) American Airlines Inc. 
 

On November 18, 2011, the Government entered into an Air Service Agreement 
with American Airlines Inc. In consideration of the Air Service Agreement 
provided by the Government, American Airlines shall provide regular scheduled 
passenger Air Service between Miami International Airport and Bermuda 
International Airport in both directions effective November 18, 2011 through 
November 17, 2012. The Government has guaranteed payment to American of 
any revenue shortfall during the Air Service Period, if the Total Revenue as 
defined in the contract, from the provision of the Air Service is less than the 
Minimum Revenue Requirement as set forth in the contract.  
 
In consideration of the Air Service provided by American Airlines the Government 
has established and delivered an irrevocable LOC issued by HSBC in the 
amount of US$1,500,000 which came into effect February 25, 2011. 
 
On February 15, 2012, the Government paid $361,536 to American Airlines for 
the fiscal year end November 2011 revenue shortfall. 
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10.  Contingent Liabilities (cont’d) 
 
(f) Operating Agreement – Pembroke Hamilton Club 
On September 18, 2008, the Government entered into an operating agreement with the 
Pembroke Hamilton Club for the use of its planned multi-purpose community complex. 
The Government agrees to pay a minimum of $391,000 per year, for a twenty year 
period, for the use of the facilities. However, this agreement is only operational upon the 
issuance of the Completion Certificate issued by the Department of Planning. We are 
unable to determine when, or if, the Completion Certificate will be issued. 
 
 
11.  Non-Contractual Operational Commitments 
 
The Government has ongoing commitments to fund a variety of programs for public 
welfare including health, education, social services, protection of persons and properties, 
and management of natural resources. The following is an analysis of the future, non-
contractual, operational commitments: 

 

 2012  

 $  

2013 5,354,805  

2014 16,608,666  

2015 300,000  

2016 300,000  

2017  300,000  

2018 and subsequent 1,230,000  

Total Future Operational Commitments 24,093,471  
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12.  Contractual Commitments 
 
(a) Capital Leases 
 
The average period of capitalized leased office machines is 3 years.  Leases are 
capitalized based on the discounted rate of 6.04% and amortized on a straight-line basis 
over the period of the lease.  
 
The following is an analysis of the leases: 
 
 

 2012         2011  

 $ $ 
 
Present value of lease cost 4,602,292       4,351,940 

Less: Accumulated amortization (3,903,506) (3,560,100) 

Present value of leases payable 698,786          791,840 
 
 
The following is a schedule of discounted future minimum lease payments under leases 
expiring up to March 31, 2016: 
 

 2012  

 $  

2013 283,395  

2014 202,573  

2015 81,772  

2016             -     

Add: Discounted Amount 131,046  

Present value of lease obligation 698,786  
 
 
(b) Contractual Obligation 
 
The nature of government activity results in some large multi-year contracts and 
agreements of various sizes and importance. Any financial obligations resulting from 
these are recorded as a liability when the terms of these contracts and agreements for 
the acquisition of goods and services or the provision of transfer payments are met.  
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12.  Contractual Commitments (cont’d) 

The following is an analysis of estimated future expenditures related to these contractual 
obligations: 
 2012  
 $  

2013 26,602,369  
2014 3,682,879  
2015 2,855,847  
2016 1,657,860  
2017  758,240  
2018 and subsequent 2,217,270  

   

Total Contractual Obligations 37,774,465  
 
 
(c) Operating Leases 
 
The Government rents premises under operating leases which expire at certain dates. 
 
The following is an analysis of the future minimum operating lease payments: 

 

 2012  
 $  

2013 12,741,533  
2014 11,956,448  
2015 10,152,280  
2016 7,507,632  
2017 4,748,934  
2018 and subsequent  20,731,298  
   

Total Future Minimum Operating Lease Payments 67,838,125  
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13.  Supplementary Estimates and Virements (Transfers)   
Section 96(3) of the Bermuda Constitution Order 1968 allows for Supplementary 
Estimates in respect of any fiscal year it is found that (a) the amount appropriated by the 
appropriation law for any purpose is insufficient or that a need has arisen for expenditure 
for a purpose for which no amount has been appropriated by that law; or (b) moneys 
have been expended for any purpose in excess of the amount appropriated for that 
purpose by the appropriation law or for a purpose to which no amount has been 
appropriated by that law, a supplementary estimate, showing the sum required or spent, 
shall be laid before the House of Assembly. Section 96(4) of the Bermuda Constitution 
Order 1968 requires that a Supplementary Appropriation Bill be introduced into the 
Legislature as soon as practical after year end of the year that supplementary estimates 
have been necessary. 
 
The Public Treasury (Administration and Payments) Amendment Act 2004 allows a 
Permanent Secretary or a Head of Department to transfer a part of a Department’s 
approved budget to another Department within the same Ministry, subject to the consent 
of the Minister of Finance. Virements do not increase the overall appropriation amount 
but facilitate the redeployment of approved budget resources after the start of a financial 
year.   
 
During the year $70,376,000 (2011 - $49,969,000) in Supplementary Estimates were 
approved and spent which consisted of $70,376,000 (2011 - $49,969,000) for current 
expenditure and $0 (2011 - $0) for capital expenditure.  
 
During the year $18,668,147 (2011 - $12,352,977) in virements were approved and 
transferred which consisted of $5,867,896 (2011 - $8,570,017) for current expenditure 
and $12,800,251 (2011 - $3,782,960) for capital expenditure.  
 
Additional expenditures of $33,774,412 (2011 - $23,517,956) were incurred in excess of 
amounts appropriated by the Ministry and will require final approval, which consisted of 
$25,330,112 (2011 - $22,634,452) for current expenditure and $8,444,300 (2011 - 
$883,504) for capital expenditure. 
 
Additional virements of $11,484,831 (2011 - $30,086,119) require final approval and 
transfer, which consisted of $9,056,035 (2011 - $23,111,814) for current expenditure 
and $2,428,796 (2011 - $6,974,305) for capital expenditure. 
 
 

14.  Related Party Transactions 

(a) Funds 
 
The Fund is related to the GEHI Fund, the CPF, the MMLPF, the Bermuda Department 
of Tourism North America Retirement Plan (“BDTRP”), the PSSF, the Confiscated 
Assets Fund, the GBSF, the Health Insurance Fund, the Mutual Re-insurance Fund, the 
FutureCare Fund and the Government Reserves Fund.  
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14.  Related Party Transactions (cont’d) 
 
The financial activities of these funds are reported separately in each fund's financial 
statements. The Fund provides accounting and certain administrative services to these 
funds. These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at 
the appropriate exchange amount. The other activities represent the net position of 
contributions payable to the funds and expenses paid out of the Fund on behalf of the 
funds. Schedules 3 and 3(a) display details of unpaid balances due from and due to the  
funds which have arisen from normal operating activities. The rate of interest accruing 
on the balances is 7% per annum.  
 

(b) QUANGOs and Other Related Organizations  
 
The Fund is related to certain quasi-autonomous non-governmental organizations 
(“QUANGOs”) and other government controlled organizations. QUANGOs are 
government businesses which have been established under their respective legislative 
incorporation acts. Other government-related organizations are organizations that are 
controlled by government either by the possession of shares or voting rights or by some 
other means. 
 
The Fund enters into transactions with the QUANGOs and other related organizations in 
the normal course of business which are measured at the exchange amount, which is 
the amount of consideration established and agreed upon by the related parties. 
 
Schedules 3 and 3(a) include details of balances due from and due to these entities 
which have arisen from normal operating activities. During the year, no interest was 
charged and/or incurred from or to the Fund and the various QUANGOs and other 
related organizations. 
 
 

(i) Bermuda Monetary Authority (“BMA”) 
 

In accordance with Section 8 (3) of the Bermuda Monetary Authority Act 1969, 
the BMA pays a portion of its net profit (historically 50%) to the Consolidated 
Fund of the Government.  
 
The BMA did not report a net profit for the year ended December 31, 2011, thus 
no transfer was required to be made to the Consolidated Fund. 
 
 
 (ii) Bermuda Land Development Company Limited (“BLDC”) 

 
On November 12, 1996 (date of inception), the Government purchased 
2,500,000 common shares of BLDC. The shares are valued at par $1 each and 
are held in trust by the Minister of Finance. 
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14.  Related Party Transactions (cont’d) 
 
On November 12, 1996 (date of inception), the Government purchased 
2,500,000 common shares of BLDC. The shares are valued at par $1 each and 
are held in trust by the Minister of Public Works. 
 
(iii) Bermuda Housing Corporation (“BHC”) 

 
On July 12, 2011, the Government provided a letter of comfort to the Bank of NT 
Butterfield (“BNTB”) on behalf of the Bermuda Housing Corporation (“BHC”) 
which states, “To the extent that the BHC operates programmes which do not 
break even, the Government appropriates annual grants which enable BHC to 
comply with its legislation.” 
 

 
 (c) Interdepartmental Transactions 
 
Interdepartmental transactions are those transactions in which revenues and expenses 
are generated between Government departments and/or Ministries. These revenues and  
the related expenses should be eliminated from the Fund’s figures. As per Note 3(d), 
interdepartmental revenues and expenses are not eliminated. However, all 
interdepartmental revenues and expenses have been identified and are shown in 
Schedules 9(a) and 10(c), respectively. 
 
 

15. Tangible Capital Asset Recognition 
 
As disclosed in the Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit as a restatement 
of the 2011 financial statements, sidewalks have now been recognized as a part of 
infrastructure in the financial statements as at April 1, 2010. The assets in these classes 
purchased prior to April 1, 2010 have been recognized at amortized value. The 
recognition of the amortized value of these capital assets has been offset by an 
adjustment to the accumulated deficit, as disclosed in the Statement of Operations and 
Accumulated Deficit, excluded from the purchase of assets in the Statement of Cash 
Flow, and included at gross values in Schedule 11. 
 
 

16. Bank Overdraft  
 
As at March 28, 2012 the Government has an overdraft facility agreement at the Bank of 
NT Butterfield (“BNTB”) of $50 million which expires on June 30, 2012. The facility bears 
interest at 1.20% per annum above the BNTB’s Bermuda Dollar base rate. 
 
As at March 27, 2012, the Government has an overdraft facility agreement at the Bank 
of Bermuda, HSBC (“HSBC”) of $90 million which expires on September 30, 2012. The  
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16. Bank Overdraft  (cont’d) 
 
daily charges applied to overdrawn balances is 1% above HSBC’s base rate. 
Unauthorized overdraft balances are charged at 7.50% over the bank’s base rate.  
 

17. Temporary Loans Act (1973) 
 
During the current fiscal year the Government had to meet some of its borrowing 
requirements by increasing overdraft facilities with local financial institutions. These 
amounts were raised under the Government Loans Act 1978 which provides the Minister 
of Finance with the authority to borrow in such manner and on such terms and 
conditions as may be agreed with the lenders; provided overall borrowing does not 
exceed $1.45 billion. 
 
This provision is in conflict with the Temporary Loans Act 1973 which restricts the 
Minister of Finance to certain forms of borrowing classified as temporary loans. The 
definition of a temporary loan is one in which principal and interest is to be repaid to the 
lender not later than fifteen months after the funds are raised. The limit for temporary 
loans established under this Act is 10% of annual budget estimates of expenditure 
approved by the House of Assembly for the financial year in which the borrowing takes 
place. 
 
As the overdraft facilities described in Note 16 were for terms of less than fifteen months, 
these facilities could be classified as temporary loans, in which case the Government 
would not be in compliance with Section 2 of the Temporary Loans Act 1973.  
 
The overdraft facilities were paid off on July 3, 2012. 
 

18.  Increase in Borrowing Limit 
 
Effective March 27, 2012, the Government increased the legislated borrowing limit from 
$1.25 billion to $1.45 billion. 
 

19.  Increase in Borrowing 
On May 20 2011, the Government entered into a Term Loan Facility Agreement with 
Butterfield Bank of BDA$ 200 million. The purpose of the loan facility was to replace 
existing overdraft facilities, with the balance used to fund capital expenditure programs 
and for other budgeted governmental purposes. Interest charged on the loan is 4.95% 
per annum. The facility has been fully utilized. 
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20.  Restatement of Prior Period 
 
(a) Correction of Error 
 
As disclosed in note 7, the establishment of the Unemployment Insurance Fund (the 
“Fund”) in March 2002 should have been recorded and disclosed as a grant from the 
Government. Additionally, all ancillary transactions (bank deposits, interest and bank 
charges) relating to the Fund since its inception should be recorded as grants to the 
Fund from the Government increasing the offsetting liability account of the Fund. As a 
result of this correction, the prior years’ Unemployment Insurance Fund liability account 
has been increased by $1,154,180. 
 
The prior years’ Unemployment Insurance Fund liability and Accumulated Deficit have 
been restated accordingly. 
 
Due To Unemployment Insurance Fund (Correction of Error) 
 

As previously stated (March 31, 2011) $0 
As restated:  $1,154,180 

 
 
(b) Correction of Estimate 
 
Prior to the commencement of the fiscal year, April 1, 2010, Government employees, 
who had vested in the PSSF, but had left Government employment prior to being eligible 
to receive the pension earned ("deferred pensioners"), were allowed, when they became 
eligible to receive their pension, to receive the benefit of GEHI coverage. 
 
However, after review, it was determined that under the law, deferred pensioners are not 
eligible for the benefit of GEHI coverage when they reach pension eligibility. 
 
Therefore, commencing in the fiscal year April 1, 2010, the policy was adopted that 
deferred pensioners would no longer automatically be entitled to GEHI coverage and this 
benefit would be curtailed.  All pensioners receiving this benefit, after previously being a 
deferred pensioner, will continue to receive this benefit. This policy will not be applied 
retroactively. 
 
As a result of this curtailment, all deferred pensioners have been removed from the prior 
year’s estimate of the Retirement Benefits Other than Pensions, (note 9(f)), and the 
obligation has been decreased by $34,121,628. 
 
The prior years’ Pensions and Retirement Benefits and Accumulated Deficit have been 
restated accordingly. 
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20.  Restatement of Prior Period (cont’d) 
 
Pensions and Retirement Benefits (Correction of Estimate) 
 

As previously stated (March 31, 2011) $1,049,575,594 
As restated  $1,015,453,966 

 
 
Accumulated Deficit (Correction of Error and Estimate) 
 

As previously stated (March 31, 2011) $1,295,726,324 
As restated  $1,262,758,878 

 

21. Subsequent Events  
 
(a) WEDCO Guarantee 
 
On April 24, 2012, the Minister of Finance consented to the borrowing of $36 million by 
WEDCO from BNTB to facilitate the completion of the Infrastructure and Housing Project 
in Dockyard. 
 
The Ministry of Finance further guarantees and will make good any default on the part of 
WEDCO in the payment of the loan to BNTB and all related interest fees and charges 
due as a result of default by WEDCO until all indebtedness to BNTB has been fully 
discharged. 
 
(b) Air Service Agreement – WestJet  
 
On June 22, 2012, the Government paid $1,450,000 to WestJet for the winter 2011 
revenue guarantee. 
 
(c) Increase in Borrowing 
 
On June 26, 2012, the Government entered into a public bond offering in the 
international debt capital markets authorizing the issue and sale of $475 million of 10-
year, fixed rate bonds priced at par. The coupon and yield of the bonds are 4.138% per 
annum. The bonds are due in January 2023 and interest is payable semi-annually.  The 
proceeds of these bonds were used to repay all of our outstanding short-term 
indebtedness with local banks and a BD$200 million credit facility with a local bank that 
would have matured in 2014, with the balance to be used to fund capital expenditure 
programs and for other budgeted governmental purposes.   
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21. Subsequent Events (cont’d) 
 
(d) Overdraft Facilities 
 
On June 26, 2012 the overdraft facility of $90 million (see Note 16) with HSBC was 
increased to $170 million. On July 6, 2012 it reverted back to $25 million, to expire on 
September 30, 2012. The daily charges applied to overdrawn balances remained at 1% 
above HSBC’s base rate.    
 
(e) Bermuda Housing Corporation (“BHC”) Guarantee 
 
On October 30, 2012, the Minister of Finance granted approval to the borrowing of $36 
million by BHC from BNTB to finance the purchase of the units of phase three of the 
Grand Atlantic Housing Development (“Grand Atlantic”) and to repay the loans advanced 
by the bank for Grand Atlantic phases one and two.  This loan facility is for a two year 
duration. 
 
The Ministry of Finance further guaranteed to make good any default on the part of BHC 
in the payment of the loan to BNTB and all related interest fees and charges due as a 
result of default by BHC until all indebtedness to BNTB has been fully discharged. 
 

22.  Comparative Figures  
 
Certain comparative figures have been restated and reclassified to conform to the 
current year’s presentation. 
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 1: Accounts Receivable
As at March 31 2012 2011

  Actual   Actual
  $   $

Office of the Tax Commissioner 164,879,657         182,218,897    
Works & Engineering 5,220,326             3,642,490        
Airport Operations 4,507,169             3,556,516        
Registrar of Companies 3,996,988             3,761,285        
Judicial Department 3,711,821             3,176,345        
Telecommunications 3,290,392             2,975,324        
Fire Services 2,993,334             2,437,573        
Accountant General 2,888,778             631,573
Post Office 2,307,912             2,456,497        
Customs 2,176,578             2,681,816        
Department of Education 1,490,174             1,478,712        
Department of Health 1,389,906             1,191,239        
Ministry of Public Works HQ 967,680                1,063,450        
Civil Aviation 829,928                167,456           
Public Lands & Buildings 809,149                640,979           
Public Transportation 639,581                191,751           
Conservation Services 341,422                280,056           
Maritime Administration 319,264                224,288           
Office of the Auditor General 233,000                -                       
Marine & Ports Services 210,671                179,724           
Human Resources 165,657                183,852           
Police 165,060                119,776           
Ministry of National Security HQ 154,092                -                       
Environmental Protection 97,627                  207,900           
Financial Assistance 58,410                  59,810             
Registry General 56,954                  61,720             
Information Technology Office 44,527                  -                       
Planning 38,711                  -                       
Transport Control Department 35,187                  49,282             
Ministry of Health HQ 31,708                  -                       
Project Management & Procurement 13,773                  -                       
Ministry of Environment, Planning & Infrastructure Str. HQ 10,500                  16,500             
Tourism 8,996                    1,404               
Parks 6,027                    6,027               
Child & Family Services 3,425                    22,403             
Land, Surveys and  Registration 3,360                    -                       
Libraries 979                       1,723               
Ministry of Government Estates & Information Services HQ 964                       -                       
Attorney General's Chambers 877                       1,177               
Parlimentary Registrar 50                        50                    
Youth, Sport & Recreation -                           330                  

204,100,614         213,687,925    

Less: Provision for Doubtful Accounts 65,129,101           47,051,065      

138,971,513         166,636,860    
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 2: Inventories for Consumption
As at March 31 2012 2011

   Actual    Actual
$ $

Public Transportation 3,832,110        4,105,916        
Ministry of Public Works HQ 3,332,232        5,814,378        
Marine & Ports Services 2,350,197        2,491,369        
Works & Engineering 2,097,020        -                       
Police 1,424,446        1,434,700        
Department of Education 1,013,486        903,481           
Department of Corrections 415,396           408,590           
Health 307,525           473,097           
Defence 249,457           751,113           
Public Lands & Buildings 173,337           -                       
Conservation Services 75,818             84,512             
Post Office 29,373             28,195             
Border Control -                   141,422           
Transport Control Department -                   53,409             

15,300,397      16,690,182      

Less: Provision for Obsolescence 1,726,594        1,713,222        

13,573,803      14,976,960      
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 3: Due From Gov't Funds and Agencies
As at March 31 2012 2011

Actual Actual
$ $

Contributory Pension Fund 13,616,130            -                             
Health Insurance Fund 8,969,970              7,236,525               
Government Borrowing Sinking Fund 6,520,212              6,575,219               
Bermuda Hospitals Board 3,013,277              3,649,982               
Confiscated Assets Fund 2,783,446              4,476,320               
Government Reserves Fund 1,129,106              -                         
Bermuda Monetary Authority 1,063,479              1,119,846               
Golf Courses 897,379                 824,711                  
CedarBridge Academy 374,976                 92,836                    
West End Development Corporation 299,994                 382,019                  
Bermuda Housing Corporation 279,499                 288,724                  
Bermuda College 274,679                 307,128                  
Bermuda Land Development Company 183,417                 91,508                    
Pembroke  Parish Council 98,408                   96,899                    
Bermuda Health Council 55,434                   9,959                      
Bermuda Economic Development Corporation 30,193                   30,199                    
Financial Intelligence Agency 28,274                   32,186                    
Pension Commission 21,145                   40,137                    
Parish Councils 20,865                   18,846                    
Berkeley Institute 14,397                   23,490                    
Bermuda Housing Trust 11,368                   11,423                    
Whitney Institute 5,111                     6,270                      
National Sports Centre 1,298                     14,445                    
St. George's Preparatory School 814                        2,032                      
Department of Tourism North American Retirement Plan -                             10,000                    
Sandys Secondary Middle School -                             8,238                      
Bermuda Educators Council -                             1,438                      

39,692,871            25,350,380             
Less: Provision for Doubtful Accounts 8,969,970              7,236,525               

30,722,901            18,113,855             

Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 3(a): Due to Gov't Funds and Agencies
As at March 31 2012 2011

Actual Restated
(Note 20)

$ $

Bermuda Hospitals Board 24,984,362            22,121,357             
Ministers and Members Pensions Fund 10,789,460            10,472,058             
Public Service Superannuation Fund 2,563,962              4,366,587               
Health Insurance Fund 1,476,397              640,970                  
Department of Tourism North American Retirement Plan 701,256                 701,256                  
Bermuda Health  Council 100,000                 -                             
Sandys Secondary Middle School 65,841                   -                             
West End Development Corporation 57,394                   6,981                      
Bermuda Land Development Company 5,142                     5,142                      
Bermuda Economic Development Corporation 3,800                     3,800                      
Golf Courses 1,943                     1,943                      
Bermuda College 1,672                     1,672                      
Bermuda Housing Corporation 400                        400                         
Contributory Pension Fund -                             9,359,040               
Unemployment Insurance Fund -                             1,154,182               
Government Reserves Fund -                             1,144,857               
Government Employees Health Insurance Fund -                             961,770                  

40,751,629            50,942,015             
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund

As at March 31 2012 2011

Actual Actual
$ $

Student Loans and Teacher Training Awards 1,090,461        1,060,508        

Customs Duty 432,158           843,827           

1,522,619        1,904,335        

Schedule 5: Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
As at March 31 2012 2011

Actual Actual
$ $

Base Lands Clean Up 40,250,000      26,250,000      
Department Trade Accounts 39,705,206      43,720,679      
Deposits Held 18,224,385      15,564,893      
Employees' Leave Entitlements 17,879,671      18,788,777      
Interest on Debt 17,320,437      17,174,018      
Teachers' Salaries & Leave Entitlements 9,749,741        9,089,152        
Guarantee Payable to WEDCO (Note 10(a)) 7,142,858        8,571,429        
Salaries, Wages and Benefits 3,228,533        6,476,471        
Leases Payable 567,740           731,014           

154,068,571    146,366,433    

Schedule 4: Long-Term Receivables

Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
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Schedule 6: Deferred Revenue
As at March 31 2012 2011

Actual Actual

$ $

Transport Control Department 17,076,161        17,706,189        
Civil Aviation 11,534,493        10,681,720        
Economy, Trade & Industry HQ 4,507,641          -                         
Post Office 419,367             423,994             
Police 160,030             145,727             
Environmental Protection 109,836             109,836             
Public Lands & Buildings 90,812               90,812               
Health Department 62,874               44,818               
Parks 27,927               46,278               
Youth, Sport & Recreation 27,688               27,837               
Tourism 24,661               18,845               
Marine & Ports Services 3,975                 942,532             
Border Control -                     3,904,163          

34,045,465        34,142,751        

Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 7: Interest Bearing Debt - Net of Sinking Fund
As at March 31

2012 2011

Actual Actual
$ $

Loan Facility - US$
Issue Date: May 18, 2011
Interest: 4.95% payable annually
Facility Fee: 0.5% per annum payable quarterly
Loan Due: April 30, 2014 200,000,000          -                          

Senior Notes Due 2020 - US$
Issue Date:  July 13, 2010
Interest:  5.60% payable semi-annually
January 20 and July 20
Notes Due:  July 20, 2020 500,000,000          500,000,000       

Senior Notes Due 2019 - US$
Issue Date:  November 10, 2009
Interest:  5.93% payable semi-annually
November 10 and May 10
Notes Due:  November 10, 2019 80,000,000            80,000,000         

Senior Notes Due 2016- US$
Issue Date:  November 10, 2009
Interest:  5.27% payable semi-annually
November 10 and May 10
Notes Due:  November 10, 2016 60,000,000            60,000,000         

Senior Notes Due 2019 - US$
Issue Date:  May 21, 2009
Interest:  7.38% payable semi-annually
May 21 and November 21
Notes Due:  May 21, 2019 100,000,000          100,000,000       

Senior Notes Due 2016 - US$
Issue Date:  May 21, 2009
Interest:  6.98% payable semi-annually
May 21 and November 21
Notes Due:  May 21, 2016 30,000,000            30,000,000         

Senior Notes Due 2014 - US$
Issue Date: May 21, 2009
Interest:  6.55% payable semi-annually
May 21 and November 21
Notes Due:   May 21, 2014 45,000,000            45,000,000         

Senior Notes Due 2022 - US$
Issue Date: December 4, 2007
Interest: 5.73% payable semi-annually
June 4  and December 4
Notes Due: December 4, 2022 140,000,000          140,000,000       

Senior Notes Due 2014 - US$
Issue Date: June 10, 2004
Interest: 5.39% payable semi-annually
June 10 and December 10
Notes Due: June 10, 2014 75,000,000            75,000,000         

1,230,000,000       1,030,000,000    

Less: Sinking Fund (Note 5) 114,747,081          85,508,498         

1,115,252,919       944,491,502        45
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For the year ended March 31 2012 2012 2011
Original

Estimates Actual Actual

$ $ $

Taxes & Duties
Payroll Tax 350,000,000      344,702,370     423,049,799   
Customs Duty 200,000,000      180,696,578     195,807,157   
Land Tax 52,000,000        52,312,877       49,131,169     
Passenger Tax 34,370,000        35,068,899       32,345,082     

636,370,000      612,780,724     700,333,207   
Other Taxes & Duties

Stamp Duty 26,292,000        25,112,718       35,362,265     
Foreign Currency Purchase Tax 27,000,000        23,106,834       24,712,350     
Non-Bermudian Land Acquisition Tax 11,351,000        12,121,040       15,397,432     
Hotel Occupancy Tax 9,500,000          10,906,607       7,028,453       
Corporate Services Tax 3,600,000          3,244,309        3,298,216       
Betting Tax 850,000             1,487,450        1,365,234       
Timesharing Tax 200,000             578,519           56,903            

78,793,000        76,557,477       87,220,853     
Total Taxes & Duties 715,163,000      689,338,201     787,554,060   

Fees, Permits & Licences
International Companies 68,515,000        60,479,284       61,455,783     
Vehicle Licences & Registration 25,207,000        26,671,933       26,582,795     
Registration of Aircraft 20,634,000        23,196,885       17,393,790     
Telecommunications 15,300,000        13,661,343       12,498,062     
Air Terminal & Aviation 10,748,000        10,809,825       9,985,287       
Wharfage 7,750,000          8,968,804        1,637,275       
Immigration 16,605,000        8,730,480        10,212,606     
Bus Transportation 7,900,000          7,989,490        8,345,834       
Postal Services 5,424,000          5,369,529        5,455,532       
Water 4,738,000          5,180,296        5,081,512       
Registration of Shipping 3,126,000          4,208,866        3,545,808       
Solid Waste Services 3,520,000          4,111,317        3,481,115       
Services to Seaborne Shipping 2,547,000          3,036,162        2,708,111       
Local Companies 3,149,000          2,778,498        3,320,615       
Rentals 2,261,000          2,493,836        2,014,078       
Other Customs Fees & Charges 745,000             2,265,187        1,911,627       
Ferry Services 1,314,000          1,854,422        1,123,546       
Trade and Service Mark 1,381,000          1,788,790        1,689,651       
Planning Fees and Searches 937,000             828,304           1,355,786       
Companies Licences 475,000             595,049           347,487          
Liquor Licences 351,000             326,345           319,125          
Plant Production and Marketing Centre 425,000             280,906           126,441          
Insurance Fees -                        107,742           121,600          

203,052,000      195,733,293     180,713,466   

Other Revenue
Other 14,343,000        22,821,646       21,599,480     
Fines & Forfeitures 3,983,000          2,822,806        4,151,439       

18,326,000        25,644,452       25,750,919     
Investment Income 3,500,000          3,465,694        2,709,960       

21,826,000        29,110,146       28,460,879     

TOTAL REVENUE 940,041,000      914,181,640     996,728,405   

Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 8: Revenue By Type

 46

rgilbert
Text Box

rgilbert
Text Box
Appendix 6

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text
_____________________________________________________________________________________________
218                                                      2010, 2011 and 2012 Consolidated Fund Report - Auditor General of Bermuda 

rgilbert
Typewritten Text



Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 9: Revenue By Ministry / Department
For the year ended March 31 2012 2012 2011

    Original
  Estimates   Actual   Actual

  $   $   $
Non-Ministry Departments
05 Office of the Auditor General 807,000          798,777          577,061          
63 Parliamentary Registrar 252,000          177,278          262,740          
01 Governor & Staff -                      7,260              9,526              
92 Internal Audit -                      1,493              1,456              
02 Legislature 2,000              -                  -                      
85 Ombudsman's Office -                      (486)                -                      

1,061,000       984,322          850,783          
Cabinet Office Departments
09 Cabinet Office -                      9,298              2,520              
26 Department of Human Resources -                      60                   -                      
14 Department of Statistics -                      (9,471)             -                      

-                      (113)                2,520              
Ministry of Transport
34 Transport Control Department 25,208,000     27,029,093     26,574,443     
57 Civil Aviation 20,664,000     23,305,390     17,434,950     
31 Airport Operations 11,798,000     11,971,054     11,127,278     
35 Public Transportation 7,900,000       8,008,415       8,360,301       
30 Marine & Ports Services 4,552,000       6,172,528       4,977,227       
73 Maritime Administration 3,125,000       4,230,376       3,561,986       
48 Ministry of Transport HQ -                      33,098            -                      

73,247,000     80,749,954     72,036,185     
Ministry of Justice
03 Judicial Department 8,567,000       6,932,883       12,009,231     
88 National Drug Control 64,000            48,203            699,712          
87 Ministry of Justice HQ -                      32,074            2,643,590       
74 Court Services -                      2,949              (2,564)             
25 Department of Corrections -                      1,954              -                      
75 Department of Public Prosecutions -                      838                 95,974            
04 Attorney General's Chambers -                      113                 1,065              

8,631,000       7,019,014       15,447,008     

Ministry of Finance
38 Office of the Tax Commissioner 499,560,000   492,874,678   568,719,993   
12 Customs 209,264,000   196,995,020   202,640,880   
11 Accountant General 3,500,000       3,987,122       3,956,259       
10 Ministry of Finance HQ 2,000,000       2,022,465       2,002,267       
28 Department of Social Insurance -                      9,225              -                      

714,324,000   695,888,510   777,319,399   

Ministry of Education    
17 Department of Education 220,000          195,366          189,689          

220,000          195,366          189,689          

Ministry of Health 
22 Health Department 2,246,000       2,997,293       2,445,376       
91 Health Insurance -                      4,500              137,717          
21 Ministry of Health HQ -                      348                 -                      

2,246,000       3,002,141       2,583,093       
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 9: Revenue By Ministry / Department (cont'd)
For the year ended March 31 2012 2012 2011

Original
 Estimates   Actual   Actual

  $  $  $
Ministry of the Environment, Planning & Infrastructure Strategy
46 Telecommunications 15,299,000        13,661,343     12,450,556     
32 Department  of Planning 1,047,000          1,002,073       1,460,863       
72 Environmental Protection 737,000             596,664          782,179          
50 Ministry of the Environment, Planning & Infr. Str. HQ 18,000               17,551            17,513            
49 Land Valuation -                        530                 15                   
97 Land, Surveys & Registration -                    455                 -                      
42 Rent Commissioner 1,000                 245                 170                 

17,102,000        15,278,861     14,711,296     
Ministry of Youth, Families, Sports & Community Development
20 Youth, Sport & Recreation 779,000             902,794          876,053          
52 Community and Cultural Affairs 210,000             155,384          211,073          
23 Child & Family Services 90,000               109,981          93,371            
71 Ministry of Youth, Families, Sports & Comm. Dev. HQ -                        7,093              720                 
56 Human Affairs -                        26                   5,616              
55 Financial Assistance -                        -                  139,135          

1,079,000          1,175,278       1,325,968       
Ministry of National Security
27 Border Control 12,406,000        12,895,181     25,606,754     
45 Fire Services 712,000             559,197          (280,281)         
07 Police 477,000             501,517          470,554          
06 Defence -                        23,515            90,748            
83 Ministry of National Security HQ -                        12,144            -                      

13,595,000        13,991,554     25,887,775     
Ministry of Economy, Trade & Industry
94 Ministry Economy, Trade & Industry HQ 15,550,000        7,953,214       -                      
13 Post Office 5,453,000          5,399,814       5,608,905       
60 Labour & Training 242,000             4,640              24,994            

21,245,000        13,357,668     5,633,899       
Ministry of Public Works
82 Works & Engineering 9,968,000          11,468,254     10,137,810     
69 Conservation Services 825,000             900,512          591,201          
36 Min. of Public Works HQ 122,000             750,040          96,225            
68 Parks 254,000             258,456          210,301          

11,169,000        13,377,262     11,035,537     
Ministry of Government Estates &  Information Services
81 Public Lands & Buildings 1,750,000          2,086,073       1,589,582       
29 Registry General 852,000             1,115,207       1,942,960       
18 Libraries 14,000               17,879            16,330            
19 Department of Archives 4,000                 2,902              4,546              
43 Information Technology Office -                        -                  2,706              

2,620,000          3,222,061       3,556,124       
Ministry of Business Development & Tourism
39 Registrar of Companies 72,738,000        64,935,135     65,834,010     
95 Min. of Business Dev. & Tourism HQ 732,000             956,898          -                      
33 Tourism 32,000               35,929            315,119          
67 E- Commerce -                        11,800            -                      

73,502,000        65,939,762     66,149,129     

TOTAL REVENUE 940,041,000      914,181,640   996,728,405   
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 9(a): Interdepartmental Revenue By Ministry / Department 
For the year ended March 31 2012 2012 2012

Interdepartmental Gross Revenue Net
Revenue   Actual Revenue

  $   $   $
Non-Ministry Departments
05 Office of the Auditor General -                              798,777              798,777          
63 Parliamentary Registrar 50                           177,278              177,228          
01 Governor & Staff -                              7,260                  7,260              
92 Internal Audit -                              1,493                  1,493              
02 Legislature -                              -                          -                      
85 Ombudsman's Office -                              (486)                    (486)                

50                           984,322              984,272          
Cabinet Office Departments
09 Cabinet Office -                              9,298                  9,298              
26 Department of Human Resources 144                         60                        (84)                  
14 Department of Statistics -                              (9,471)                 (9,471)             

144                         (113)                    (257)                
Ministry of Transport
34 Transport Control Department -                              27,029,093         27,029,093     
57 Civil Aviation -                              23,305,390         23,305,390     
31 Airport Operations 43,498                    11,971,054         11,927,556     
35 Public Transportation 22,714                    8,008,415           7,985,701       
30 Marine & Ports Services 84                           6,172,528           6,172,444       
73 Maritime Administration 16,200                    4,230,376           4,214,176       
48 Ministry of Transport HQ -                              33,098                33,098            

82,496                    80,749,954         80,667,458     
Ministry of Justice
03 Judicial Department 10,643                    6,932,883           6,922,240       
88 National Drug Control -                              48,203                48,203            
87 Ministry of Justice HQ -                              32,074                32,074            
74 Court Services -                              2,949                  2,949              
25 Department of Corrections 5,288                      1,954                  (3,334)             
75 Department of Public Prosecutions -                              838                     838                 
04 Attorney General's Chambers 113                     113                 

15,931                    7,019,014           7,003,083       
Ministry of Finance
38 Office of the Tax Commissioner 35,559                    492,874,678       492,839,119   
12 Customs 586,876                  196,995,020       196,408,144   
11 Accountant General 275                         3,987,122           3,986,847       
10 Ministry of Finance HQ -                              2,022,465           2,022,465       
28 Department of Social Insurance 85                           9,225                  9,140              

622,795                  695,888,510       695,265,715   
Ministry of Education    
17 Department of Education 240                         195,366              195,126          

240                         195,366              195,126          
Ministry of Health 
22 Health Department 65                           2,997,293           2,997,228       
91 Health Insurance -                              4,500                  4,500              
21 Ministry of Health HQ -                              348                     348                 

65                           3,002,141           3,002,076       
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 9(a): Interdepartmental Revenue By Ministry / Department 
For the year ended March 31 2012 2012 2012

Interdepartmental Gross Revenue Net
Revenue   Actual Revenue

  $  $  $
Ministry of the Environment, Planning & Infrastructure Strategy
46 Telecommunications 1,330                      13,661,343         13,660,013     
32 Department of Planning 4,070                      1,002,073           998,003          
72 Environmental Protection 1,351                      596,664              595,313          
50 Ministry of the Environment, Planning & Infr. Str. HQ 500                         17,551                17,051            
49 Land Valuation -                             530                     530                 
97 Land, Surveys & Registration 65                           455                     390                 
42 Rent Commissioner -                             245                     245                 

7,316                      15,278,861         15,271,545     
Ministry of Youth, Families, Sports & Community Development
20 Youth, Sport & Recreation 78,198                    902,794              824,596          
52 Community and Cultural Affairs 130                         155,384              155,254          
23 Child & Family Services -                             109,981              109,981          
71 Ministry of Youth, Families, Sports & Comm. Dev. HQ -                             7,093                  7,093              
56 Human Affairs -                             26                       26                   
55 Financial Assistance -                             -                          -                      

78,328                    1,175,278           1,096,950       
Ministry of National Security
27 Border Control 4,438                      12,895,181         12,890,743     
45 Fire Services 3,282                      559,197              555,915          
07 Police 970                         501,517              500,547          
06 Defence -                             23,515                23,515            
83 Ministry of National Security HQ -                             12,144                12,144            

8,690                      13,991,554         13,982,864     
Ministry of Economy, Trade & Industry
94 Ministry Economy, Trade & Industry HQ -                             7,953,214           7,953,214       
13 Post Office 9,201                      5,399,814           5,390,613       
60 Labour & Training -                             4,640                  4,640              

9,201                      13,357,668         13,348,467     
Ministry of Public Works
82 Works & Engineering 706,897                  11,468,254         10,761,357     
69 Conservation Services 156                         900,512              900,356          
36 Min. of Public Works HQ 618                         750,040              749,422          
68 Parks -                             258,456              258,456          

707,671                  13,377,262         12,669,591     
Ministry of Government Estates & Information Services
81 Public Lands & Buildings 3,500                      2,086,073           2,082,573       
29 Registry General 1,170                      1,115,207           1,114,037       
18 Libraries -                             17,879                17,879            
19 Department of Archives -                             2,902                  2,902              
43 Information Technology Office 94                           -                          (94)                  

4,764                      3,222,061           3,217,297       
Ministry of Business Development & Tourism
39 Registrar of Companies -                             64,935,135         64,935,135     
95 Min. of Business Dev. & Tourism HQ -                             956,898              956,898          
33 Tourism -                             35,929                35,929            
67 E- Commerce -                             11,800                11,800            

-                             65,939,762         65,939,762     

TOTAL REVENUE 1,537,691               914,181,640       912,643,949   
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 10:  Expenses By Program
For the year ended March 31 2012 2012 2012 2012 2011

Capital Capital Current Total Total
Development Acquisition Expenses Actual Actual

$  $  $  $  $
Economic Development
11 Accountant General -                  26,799         85,189,099        85,215,898     86,457,250     
82 Works & Engineering 3,423,050       -               52,244,936        55,667,986     46,626,280     
81 Public Lands & Buildings 1,739,736       -               41,096,293        42,836,029     27,705,695     
33 Tourism -                  -               30,207,319        30,207,319     39,288,193     
31 Airport Operations 397,581          4,037           25,194,093        25,595,711     24,694,849     
36 Ministry of Public Works HQ 763,149          177,844       24,270,491        25,211,484     7,536,106       
35 Public Transportation 1,754              24,450         23,598,008        23,624,212     23,266,513     
30 Marine & Ports Services -                  19,705         23,094,307        23,114,012     22,504,602     
13 Post Office 48                   124,836       14,181,396        14,306,280     15,124,690     
38 Office of the Tax Commissioner -                  -               12,436,940        12,436,940     13,347,860     
10 Ministry of Finance HQ -                  30,000         10,955,162        10,985,162     12,659,735     
43 Information Technology Office -                  1,439,454    9,292,626          10,732,080     9,796,311       
57 Civil Aviation -                  75,730         8,413,697          8,489,427       7,722,598       
12 Customs -                  (88,791)        8,092,349          8,003,558       20,064,256     
34 Transport Control Department -                  -               6,698,711          6,698,711       6,547,116       
95 Ministry of Business Development & Tourism HQ -                  -               4,667,279          4,667,279       -                  
05 Office of the Auditor General -                  57,522         3,863,399          3,920,921       3,271,645       
32 Department of Planning -                  -               3,634,469          3,634,469       3,909,764       
39 Registrar of Companies -                  2,421           3,129,882          3,132,303       3,068,541       
94 Ministry of Economy, Trade & Industry HQ -                  486              2,334,111          2,334,597       -                  
73 Maritime Administration -                  4,100           2,053,489          2,057,589       1,605,678       
80 Project Management & Procurement 308,753          -               1,477,815          1,786,568       1,297,608       
46 Telecommunications 98,200            -               1,620,102          1,718,302       3,419,986       
97 Land, Surveys & Registration -                  8,535           1,343,314          1,351,849       -                  
29 Registry General -                  -               1,331,958          1,331,958       1,789,691       
49 Land Valuation -                  11,900         1,081,219          1,093,119       641,902          
48 Ministry of Transport HQ 23,838            -               1,037,046          1,060,884       4,149,865       
84 E-Government -                  65,059         990,488             1,055,547       1,235,794       
67 E-Commerce -                  -               548,186             548,186          998,673          
96 Sustainable Development -                  -               517,396             517,396          -                  
93 Ministry of Government Estates & Inform. Services HQ -                  -               515,946             515,946          -                  
89 Energy -                  -               436,728             436,728          696,945          
90 Energy, Telecommunications and E-Commerce HQ -                  -               (17,546)              (17,546)           531,907          

Amortization (Note 3(f)) -               -                     -                  43,156,723     
6,756,109       1,984,087    405,530,708      414,270,904   433,116,776   

Health
24 Hospitals -                  120,000       142,698,074      142,818,074   160,927,282   
22 Health Department 56,086            112,184       30,325,520        30,493,790     30,883,607     
91 Health Insurance -                  -               13,600,483        13,600,483     20,273,623     
21 Ministry of Health HQ -                  -               11,915,339        11,915,339     15,291,715     
28 Department of Social Insurance -                  -               8,303,921          8,303,921       9,695,046       

56,086            232,184       206,843,337      207,131,607   237,071,273   
National Security
07 Police 108,343          268,167       69,451,897        69,828,407     72,643,070     
25 Corrections 80,260            3,814           29,272,748        29,356,822     30,640,962     
45 Fire Services 36,088            56,057         17,542,550        17,634,695     14,079,869     
27 Border Control -                  31,195         17,379,601        17,410,796     5,833,503       
03 Judicial Department -                  27,629         8,924,865          8,952,494       9,132,868       
06 Defence 25,324            1,776           7,442,831          7,469,931       8,007,479       
87 Ministry of Justice HQ -                  (370)             6,998,254          6,997,884       8,316,761       
04 Attorney General's Chambers -                  -               3,875,574          3,875,574       4,197,325       
74 Court Services -                  8,905           3,540,614          3,549,519       4,481,303       
75 Department of Public Prosecutions -                  -               2,550,290          2,550,290       2,374,099       
83 Ministry of National Security HQ -                  -               1,345,028          1,345,028       5,709,904       
54 Security Services & Delegated Affairs -                  -               (8,006)                (8,006)             180                 

250,015          397,173       168,316,246      168,963,434   165,417,323   
Education
17 Department of Education 794,856          350,291       120,855,654      122,000,801   127,667,492   
41 Bermuda College -                  -               18,119,000        18,119,000     19,869,313     
60 Labour & Training -                  -               5,485,283          5,485,283       7,047,234       
16 Ministry of Education HQ -                  -               3,810,693          3,810,693       2,575,119       

794,856          350,291       148,270,630      149,415,777   157,159,158   
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 10:  Expenses By Program (cont'd)
For the year ended March 31 2012 2012 2012 2012 2011

Capital Capital Current Total Total
Development Acquisition Expenses Actual Actual

$  $  $  $  $
Social Services & Assistance
55 Financial Assistance -                  -               38,674,696        38,674,696        37,402,231        
23 Child & Family Services -                  28,899         16,017,687        16,046,586        19,697,021        
53 Bermuda Housing Corporation -                  -               6,587,000          6,587,000          7,000,000          
88 National Drug Control -                  -               4,132,149          4,132,149          5,955,074          
52 Community & Cultural Affairs -                  -               3,817,738          3,817,738          4,532,386          
71 Ministry of Youth, Families, Sports & Comm. Dev. HQ -                  215              2,849,528          2,849,743          4,289,232          
42 Rent Commissioner -                  -               554,792             554,792             525,360             

-                  29,114         72,633,590        72,662,704        79,401,304        
Other General Government Services
20 Youth, Sport & Recreation -                  37,869         10,865,421        10,903,290        11,802,615        
68 Parks 327,707          (8,209)          10,484,198        10,803,696        11,347,632        
09 Cabinet Office -                  19,124         6,891,178          6,910,302          8,427,525          
02 Legislature 6,544              82,772         5,520,620          5,609,936          4,974,715          
69 Conservation Services 189,498          8,307           5,235,580          5,433,385          5,277,487          
26 Department of Human Resources -                  (14,764)        4,013,108          3,998,344          4,723,497          
72 Environmental Protection 24,589            -               3,233,074          3,257,663          3,928,214          
14 Department of Statistics -                  9,865           2,765,598          2,775,463          4,883,507          
51 Department of Communication & Information -                  56,904         2,661,882          2,718,786          2,445,984          
18 Libraries -                  2,394           2,390,042          2,392,436          2,355,901          
56 Human Affairs -                  -               2,251,731          2,251,731          2,947,983          
01 Governor & Staff -                  -               1,782,323          1,782,323          1,625,140          
19 Department of Archives -                  2,871           1,399,631          1,402,502          1,595,495          
92 Internal Audit -                  -               1,372,206          1,372,206          1,429,166          
63 Parliamentary Registrar -                  58,745         920,191             978,936             820,028             
50 Ministry of the Environment, Planning & Infra. Strategy HQ 9,140              -               871,818             880,958             796,209             
85 Ombudsman's Office -                  7,207           802,883             810,090             703,911             
08 Public Service Commission -                  -               (45)                     (45)                     84,918               
15 Department of Management Services -                  -               (3,810)                (3,810)                -                     

557,478          263,085       63,457,629        64,278,192        70,169,927        
Interest on Debt
58 Interest on Debt -                  -               67,592,428        67,592,428        55,297,892        

-                  -               67,592,428        67,592,428        55,297,892        
Pensions and Other Employee Future Benefits

Retirement Benefit Expenses -                       -               113,096,438      113,096,438      110,880,113      
-                  -               113,096,438      113,096,438      110,880,113      

TOTAL EXPENSES 8,414,544       3,255,934    1,245,741,006   1,257,411,484   1,308,513,766   
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 10(a): Current Expenses By Type
For the year ended March 31 2012 2012 2011

Original
Estimates Actual Actual

$ $ $

Employees
Salaries 301,276,000      306,594,789           302,299,743        
Retirement Benefit Expenses (Note 4(b)(ii)) 31,531,815        152,054,080           148,395,639        
Wages 70,593,000        85,288,493             99,274,093          
Employer Overhead 36,129,185        31,976,564             32,743,105          
Training 6,520,000          3,824,956              5,665,893            
Compensated Absences -                         2,325,036              659,385               
Other Personnel Costs 9,250,000          1,552,274              10,707,145          

455,300,000      583,616,192           599,745,003        

Operations
Grants & Contributions 227,387,000      274,257,810           277,155,948        
Professional Services 79,376,000        99,198,233             119,069,697        
Interest on Debt 70,700,000        71,067,016             58,728,649          
Amortization (Note 3(f)) -                         46,544,663             43,156,723          
Materials & Supplies 27,692,000        27,167,645             32,857,391          
Energy 20,050,000        20,656,630             20,120,149          
Bad Debts -                         18,852,186             19,614,898          
Repairs & Maintenance 20,796,000        18,343,514             21,886,848          
Rentals 18,383,000        17,766,475             18,125,043          
Other 3,675,000          16,014,812             2,940,435            
Advertising & Promotion 16,146,000        15,663,553             19,224,464          
Insurance 12,895,000        13,028,695             12,977,250          
Communications 9,074,000          10,038,866             10,636,735          
Transport 6,576,000          5,610,817              6,829,739            
Travel 5,360,000          3,618,687              5,016,775            
Clothing & Uniforms 2,161,000          2,001,481              2,165,129            
Bank Charges & Commissions -                         1,513,402              968,508               
Equipment 1,128,000          780,329                 1,431,226            
Transfer to Other Funds (Note 4(b)(iii)) 25,750,000        -                             -                           

547,149,000      662,124,814           672,905,607        

TOTAL CURRENT EXPENSES 1,002,449,000   1,245,741,006        1,272,650,610      
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 10(b): Current Expenses By Ministry / Department
For the year ended March 31 2012 2012 2011

Original
Estimates Actual Actual

$  $  $
Non-Ministry Departments
02 Legislature 5,367,000            5,520,620          5,010,289          
05 Office of the Auditor General 4,049,000            3,863,399          3,275,930          
01 Governor & Staff 1,685,000            1,782,323          1,625,140          
92 Internal Audit 1,703,000            1,372,206          1,426,496          
63 Parliamentary Registrar 1,035,000            920,191             820,028             
85 Ombudsman's Office 826,000               802,883             703,911             
08 Public Service Commission -                           -                     84,918               

14,665,000          14,261,622        12,946,712        
Cabinet Office Departments
09 Cabinet Office 6,774,000            6,891,178          8,425,922          
26 Department of Human Resources 5,577,000            4,009,253          4,713,009          
14 Department of Statistics 3,243,000            2,765,598          4,876,199          
51 Department of Communication & Information 2,600,000            2,661,882          2,440,610          

18,194,000          16,327,911        20,455,740        
Ministry of Transport
31 Airport Operations 20,501,000          25,194,093        23,851,661        
35 Public Transportation 18,388,000          23,598,008        23,266,513        
30 Marine & Ports Services 18,897,000          23,094,307        22,393,151        
57 Civil Aviation 9,141,000            8,413,697          7,682,316          
34 Transport Control Department 6,659,000            6,698,711          6,533,528          
73 Maritime Administration 1,640,000            2,053,489          1,605,678          
48 Ministry of Transport HQ 1,000,000            1,037,046          2,589,954          

76,226,000          90,089,351        87,922,801        
Ministry of Justice
25 Corrections 27,389,000          29,272,748        30,482,512        
03 Judicial Department 8,049,000            8,924,865          9,111,153          
87 Ministry of Justice HQ 2,956,000            6,998,254          8,310,563          
88 National Drug Control 3,946,000            4,132,149          5,955,074          
04 Attorney General's Chambers 4,358,000            3,875,574          4,081,156          
74 Court Services 4,511,000            3,540,614          4,481,303          
75 Department of Public Prosecutions 2,992,000            2,550,290          2,374,099          

54,201,000          59,294,494        64,795,860        
Ministry of Finance

Retirement Benefit Expenses -                           113,096,438      110,880,113      
11 Accountant General 78,087,000          85,189,099        86,436,679        
58 Interest on Debt 70,000,000          67,592,428        55,297,892        
38 Office of the Tax Commissioner 3,515,000            12,436,940        13,334,160        
10 Ministry of Finance HQ 10,581,000          10,955,162        12,634,572        
28 Department of Social Insurance 5,150,000            8,303,921          9,695,046          
12 Customs 7,650,000            8,092,349          20,000,981        
80 Project Management & Procurement 1,300,000            1,477,815          1,156,068          
59 Sinking Fund Contribution 25,750,000          -                     -                         

202,033,000        307,144,152      309,435,511      
Ministry of Education
17 Department of Education 105,544,000        120,855,654      125,978,285      
41 Bermuda College 18,119,000          18,119,000        19,869,313        
16 Ministry of Education HQ 4,495,000            3,810,693          2,575,119          

128,158,000        142,785,347      148,422,717      
Ministry of Health
24 Hospitals 123,198,000        142,698,074      150,184,153      
22 Health Department 31,396,000          30,325,520        30,507,599        
91 Health Insurance 4,989,000            13,600,483        20,273,623        
21 Ministry of Health HQ 12,598,000          11,915,339        15,291,715        

172,181,000        198,539,416      216,257,090      
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 10(b): Current Expenses By Ministry / Department (cont'd)
For the year ended March 31 2012 2012 2011

Original
Estimates Actual Actual

$ $ $

Ministry of the Environment Planning & Infrastructure Strategy
32 Department of Planning 3,933,000           3,634,469           3,909,764           
72 Environmental Protection 3,515,000           3,233,074           3,827,780           
46 Telecommunications 1,529,000           1,620,102           3,236,371           
97 Land, Surveys & Registration 1,802,000           1,343,314           -                          
49 Land Valuation 787,000              1,081,219           641,902              
50 Ministry of the Environment, Planning & Infra. Strategy HQ 822,000              871,818              782,056              
42 Rent Commissioner 588,000              554,792              525,360              
96 Sustainable Development 515,000              517,396              -                          
89 Energy 754,000              436,728              696,945              

14,245,000         13,292,912         13,620,178         

Ministry of Youth, Families, Sports & Community Development
55 Financial Assistance 27,467,000         38,674,696         37,375,262         
23 Child & Family Services 17,413,000         16,017,687         19,697,021         
20 Youth, Sport & Recreation 11,517,000         10,865,421         11,800,910         
52 Community & Cultural Affairs 3,877,000           3,817,738           4,532,386           
71 Ministry of Youth, Families, Sports & Comm. Dev. HQ 3,703,000           2,849,528           4,289,232           
56 Human Affairs 2,230,000           2,251,731           2,947,721           

66,207,000         74,476,801         80,642,532         

Ministry of National Security
07 Police 58,203,000         69,451,897         71,816,859         
45 Fire Services 12,897,000         17,542,550         13,977,270         
27 Border Control 14,797,000         17,379,601         5,746,988           
06 Defence 6,913,000           7,442,831           7,997,556           
53 Bermuda Housing Corporation 6,587,000           6,587,000           7,000,000           
83 Ministry of National Security HQ 1,445,000           1,337,022           1,863,627           

100,842,000       119,740,901       108,402,300       

Ministry of Economy, Trade & Industry
13 Post Office 14,953,000         14,181,396         14,921,680         
60 Labour & Training 6,235,000           5,485,283           7,047,234           
94 Ministry of Economy, Trade & Industry HQ 2,425,000           2,334,111           -                          

23,613,000         22,000,790         21,968,914         
Ministry of Public Works
82 Works & Engineering 33,658,000         52,244,936         41,970,884         
36 Ministry of Public Works HQ 5,688,000           24,270,491         7,255,901           
68 Parks 10,955,000         10,484,198         11,067,157         
69 Conservation Services 5,698,000           5,235,580           5,113,670           

Amortization (Note 3(f)) -                          -                      43,156,723         
55,999,000         92,235,205         108,564,335       

Ministry of Government Estates & Information Services
81 Public Lands & Buildings 20,620,000         41,096,293         24,639,914         
43 Information Technology Office 7,885,000           9,292,626           8,467,015           
18 Libraries 2,348,000           2,390,042           2,351,345           
19 Department of Archives 1,529,000           1,399,631           1,589,385           
29 Registry General 1,464,000           1,331,958           1,789,691           
84 E-Government 1,097,000           990,488              1,042,179           
93 Ministry of Govt Estates & Information Services HQ 600,000              515,946              -                          
90 Energy, Telecommunications and E-Commerce HQ -                          (17,546)               531,907              

35,543,000         56,999,438         40,411,436         
Ministry of Business Development & Tourism
33 Tourism 30,245,000         30,207,319         34,785,263         
95 Ministry of Business Dev. & Tourism HQ 5,383,000           4,667,279           -                          
39 Registrar of Companies 3,634,000           3,129,882           3,020,548           
67 E-Commerce 1,080,000           548,186              998,673              

40,342,000         38,552,666         38,804,484         

TOTAL CURRENT EXPENSES 1,002,449,000   1,245,741,006   1,272,650,610   

 55

rgilbert
Text Box

rgilbert
Text Box
Appendix 6

rgilbert
Typewritten Text
___________________________________________________________________________________________________
2010, 2011 and 2012 Consolidated Fund Report - Auditor General of Bermuda                                                                 227

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text



Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 10(c): Interdepartmental Current Expenses By Ministry/Department 
For the year ended March 31 2012 2012 2012

Interdepartmental Actual Gross Net 
Expense Expense Expense

$  $  $
Non-Ministry Departments
02 Legislature -                            5,520,620                5,520,620                
05 Office of the Auditor General 3,245                    3,863,399                3,860,154                
01 Governor & Staff 9,674                    1,782,323                1,772,649                
92 Internal Audit -                            1,372,206                1,372,206                
63 Parliamentary Registrar 694                       920,191                   919,497                   
85 Ombudsman's Office -                            802,883                   802,883                   

13,613                  14,261,622              14,248,009              
Cabinet Office Departments
09 Cabinet Office 135                       6,891,178                6,891,043                
26 Department of Human Resources 1,412                    4,009,253                4,007,841                
14 Department of Statistics 260                       2,765,598                2,765,338                
51 Department of Communication & Information 8,526                    2,661,882                2,653,356                

10,333                  16,327,911              16,317,578              
Ministry of Transport
31 Airport Operations 1,545                    25,194,093              25,192,548              
35 Public Transportation 120,143                23,598,008              23,477,865              
30 Marine & Ports Services 14,762                  23,094,307              23,079,545              
57 Civil Aviation 16,200                  8,413,697                8,397,497                
34 Transport Control Department 1,422                    6,698,711                6,697,289                
73 Maritime Administration 1,888                    2,053,489                2,051,601                
48 Ministry of Transport HQ 618                       1,037,046                1,036,428                

156,578                90,089,351              89,932,773              
Ministry of Justice
25 Corrections 196,344                29,272,748              29,076,404              
03 Judicial Department 1,899                    8,924,865                8,922,966                
87 Ministry of Justice HQ -                            6,998,254                6,998,254                
88 National Drug Control 4,800                    4,132,149                4,127,349                
04 Attorney General's Chambers -                            3,875,574                3,875,574                
74 Court Services 8,695                    3,540,614                3,531,919                
75 Department of Public Prosecutions 102                       2,550,290                2,550,188                

211,840                59,294,494              59,082,654              
Ministry of Finance

Retirement Benefit Expenses -                            113,096,438            113,096,438            
11 Accountant General 2,911                    85,189,099              85,186,188              
58 Interest on Debt -                            67,592,428              67,592,428              
38 Office of the Tax Commissioner -                            12,436,940              12,436,940              
10 Ministry of Finance HQ 631                       10,955,162              10,954,531              
28 Department of Social Insurance 547                       8,303,921                8,303,374                
12 Customs 2,405                    8,092,349                8,089,944                
80 Project Management & Procurement 45                         1,477,815                1,477,770                

6,539                    307,144,152            307,137,613            
Ministry of Education
17 Department of Education 99,825                  120,855,654            120,755,829            
41 Bermuda College -                            18,119,000              18,119,000              
16 Ministry of Education HQ -                            3,810,693                3,810,693                

99,825                  142,785,347            142,685,522            
Ministry of Health
24 Hospitals -                            142,698,074            142,698,074            
22 Health Department 112,628                30,325,520              30,212,892              
91 Health Insurance -                            13,600,483              13,600,483              
21 Ministry of Health HQ 1,609                    11,915,339              11,913,730              

114,237                198,539,416            198,425,179            
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 10(c): Interdepartmental Current Expenses By Ministry/Department 
For the year ended March 31 2012 2012 2012

Interdepartmental Actual Gross Net 
Expense Expense Expense

$ $ $

Ministry of the Environment Planning & Infrastructure Strategy
32 Department of Planning 675                    3,634,469            3,633,794            
72 Environmental Protection 2,124                 3,233,074            3,230,950            
46 Telecommunications 871                    1,620,102            1,619,231            
97 Land, Surveys & Registration 130                    1,343,314            1,343,184            
49 Land Valuation -                         1,081,219            1,081,219            
50 Ministry of the Environment, Planning & Infra. Strategy HQ 1,057                 871,818               870,761               
42 Rent Commissioner -                         554,792               554,792               
96 Sustainable Development -                         517,396               517,396               
89 Energy -                         436,728               436,728               

4,857                 13,292,912          13,288,055          
Ministry of Youth, Families, Sports & Community Development
55 Financial Assistance 3,265                 38,674,696          38,671,431          
23 Child & Family Services 7,944                 16,017,687          16,009,743          
20 Youth, Sport & Recreation 142,834             10,865,421          10,722,587          
52 Community & Cultural Affairs 1,533                 3,817,738            3,816,205            
71 Ministry of Youth, Families, Sports & Comm. Dev. HQ 185                    2,849,528            2,849,343            
56 Human Affairs 139                    2,251,731            2,251,592            

155,900             74,476,801          74,320,901          
Ministry of National Security
07 Police 122,020             69,451,897          69,329,877          
45 Fire Services 217                    17,542,550          17,542,333          
27 Border Control 140                    17,379,601          17,379,461          
06 Defence 1,695                 7,442,831            7,441,136            
53 Bermuda Housing Corporation -                         6,587,000            6,587,000            
83 Ministry of National Security HQ 53                      1,337,022            1,336,969            

124,125             119,740,901        119,616,776        
Ministry of Economy, Trade & Industry
13 Post Office 4,257                 14,181,396          14,177,139          
60 Labour & Training -                         5,485,283            5,485,283            
94 Min. of Economy, Trade & Industry HQ 185                    2,334,111            2,333,926            

4,442                 22,000,790          21,996,348          
Ministry of Public Works
82 Works & Engineering 1,437                 52,244,936          52,243,499          
36 Min. of Public Works HQ 485,916             24,270,491          23,784,575          
68 Parks 115,465             10,484,198          10,368,733          
69 Conservation Services 20,741               5,235,580            5,214,839            

623,559             92,235,205          91,611,646          
Ministry of Government Estates & Information Services
81 Public Lands & Buildings 98                      41,096,293          41,096,195          
43 Information Technology Office 1,602                 9,292,626            9,291,024            
18 Libraries 226                    2,390,042            2,389,816            
19 Department of Archives -                         1,399,631            1,399,631            
29 Registry General 3,157                 1,331,958            1,328,801            
84 E-Government -                         990,488               990,488               
93 Min. of Govt Estates & Inform. Svcs HQ -                         515,946               515,946               
90 Energy, Telecommunications and E-Commerce HQ -                         (17,546)                (17,546)                

5,083                 56,999,438          56,994,355          
Ministry of Business Development & Tourism
33 Tourism 6,580                 30,207,319          30,200,739          
95 Min. of Business Dev. & Tourism HQ -                         4,667,279            4,667,279            
39 Registrar of Companies -                         3,129,882            3,129,882            
67 E-Commerce 180                    548,186               548,006               

6,760                 38,552,666          38,545,906          

TOTAL CURRENT EXPENSES 1,537,691          1,245,741,006     1,244,203,315     
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 12: Current Expenditure - Estimates Compared to Expenditures
For the year ended March 31, 2012

Adjusted Under (Over)
Expenses Expenditure * Estimates ** Spent

$ $ $ $

Non-Ministry Departments
02 Legislature 5,520,620          5,499,932         5,367,094          (132,838)             
05 Office of the Auditor General 3,863,399          3,834,385         3,969,460          135,075              
01 Governor & Staff 1,782,323          1,781,535         1,684,965          (96,570)               
92 Internal Audit 1,372,206          1,370,325         1,703,243          332,918              
63 Parliamentary Registrar 920,191             905,235            1,035,001          129,766              
85 Ombudsman's Office 802,883             802,588            826,240             23,652                

14,261,622        14,194,000       14,586,003        392,003              

Cabinet Office Departments
09 Cabinet Office 6,891,178          6,855,803         7,401,275          545,472              
14 Department of Statistics 2,765,598          2,754,331         3,243,455          489,124              
26 Department of Human Resources 4,009,253          3,975,581         4,949,932          974,351              
51 Department of Communication & Information 2,661,882          2,610,159         2,600,013          (10,146)               

16,327,911        16,195,874       18,194,675        1,998,801           

Ministry of Transport
31 Airport Operations 25,194,093        22,753,745       20,501,006        (2,252,739)          
35 Public Transportation 23,598,008        21,527,505       20,865,253        (662,252)             
30 Marine & Ports Services 23,094,307        20,695,003       18,897,284        (1,797,719)          
57 Civil Aviation 8,413,697          8,335,673         9,069,026          733,353              
34 Transport Control Department 6,698,711          6,053,917         6,658,838          604,921              
48 Ministry of Transport HQ 1,037,046          1,031,845         999,639             (32,206)               
73 Maritime Administration 2,053,489          2,044,137         1,712,527          (331,610)             

90,089,351        82,441,825       78,703,573        (3,738,252)          

Ministry of Justice
03 Judicial Department 8,924,865          8,269,647         8,299,051          29,404                
25 Corrections 29,272,748        29,428,888       29,653,527        224,639              
87 Ministry of Justice HQ 6,998,254          6,998,254         6,536,820          (461,434)             
04 Attorney General's Chambers 3,875,574          3,758,051         4,146,253          388,202              
88 National Drug Control 4,132,149          4,112,141         3,946,152          (165,989)             
74 Court Services 3,540,614          3,514,210         4,510,716          996,506              
75 Department of Public Prosecutions 2,550,290          2,538,083         2,992,031          453,948              

59,294,494        58,619,274       60,084,550        1,465,276           

Ministry of Finance
Retirement Benefit Expenses 113,096,438      -                        -                        -                          

11 Accountant General 85,189,099        85,019,310       81,787,291        (3,232,019)          
58 Interest on Debt 67,592,428        67,592,428       67,600,000        7,572                  
12 Customs 8,092,349          6,794,368         7,200,001          405,633              
38 Office of the Tax Commissioner 12,436,940        3,083,473         3,165,000          81,527                
80 Project Management & Procurement 1,477,815          1,467,384         1,300,362          (167,022)             
10 Ministry of Finance HQ 10,955,162        10,936,937       11,381,000        444,063              
28 Department of Social Insurance 8,303,921          8,259,062         6,550,000          (1,709,062)          
59 Sinking Fund Contribution -                        25,726,034       25,750,000        23,966                

307,144,152      208,878,996     204,733,654      (4,145,342)          

Ministry of Education
17 Department of Education 120,855,654      120,063,257     116,543,600      (3,519,657)          
41 Bermuda College 18,119,000        18,119,000       18,119,000        -                          
16 Ministry of Education HQ 3,810,693          3,810,693         4,494,693          684,000              

142,785,347      141,992,950     139,157,293      (2,835,657)          

Ministry of Health
24 Hospitals 13,600,483        142,698,074     141,198,050      (1,500,024)          
22 Health Department 30,325,520        29,693,211       31,689,919        1,996,708           
91 Health Insurance 11,915,339        11,867,037       7,988,925          (3,878,112)          
21 Ministry of Health HQ 142,698,074      11,908,118       12,304,166        396,048              

198,539,416      196,166,440     193,181,060      (2,985,380)          

* Adjusted for Non-Budgeted, Non-Cash Items
**  Includes all Approved Supplementary amounts during the year

 59

rgilbert
Text Box

rgilbert
Text Box
Appendix 6

rgilbert
Typewritten Text
__________________________________________________________________________________________________
2010, 2011 and 2012 Consolidated Fund Report - Auditor General of Bermuda                                                                231

rgilbert
Typewritten Text

rgilbert
Typewritten Text



Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 12: Current Expenditure - Estimates Compared to Expenditures (cont'd)
For the year ended March 31, 2012

Adjusted Under (Over)
Expenses Expenditure* Estimates ** Spent

$ $ $ $
Ministry of the Environment, Planning & Infrastructure Strategy
32 Department of Planning 3,634,469          3,609,535          3,932,605          323,070        
72 Environmental Protection 3,233,074          3,315,991          3,515,451          199,460        
50 Ministry of the Environment, Planning & Infra. Strategy HQ 871,818             868,719             887,057             18,338          
97 Land, Surveys & Registration 1,343,314          1,340,561          1,584,449          243,888        
96 Sustainable Development 517,396             517,396             525,777             8,381            
49 Land Valuation 1,081,219          1,048,329          1,049,742          1,413            
89 Energy 436,728             436,728             632,962             196,234        
42 Rent Commissioner 554,792             554,792             587,918             33,126          
46 Telecommunications 1,620,102          1,595,762          1,528,893          (66,869)         

13,292,912        13,287,813        14,244,854        957,041        
Ministry of Youth, Families, Sports & Community Development
20 Youth, Sport & Recreation 10,865,421        10,768,381        11,810,124        1,041,743      
55 Financial Assistance 38,674,696        38,650,812        39,781,741        1,130,929      
23 Child & Family Services 16,017,687        15,946,313        17,412,892        1,466,579      
52 Community & Cultural Affairs 3,817,738          3,801,951          3,877,253          75,302          
71 Ministry of Youth, Families, Sports & Comm. Dev. HQ 2,849,528          2,849,247          3,132,224          282,977        
56 Human Affairs 2,251,731          2,169,826          2,507,463          337,637        

74,476,801        74,186,530        78,521,697        4,335,167      
Ministry of National Security
07 Police 69,451,897        69,060,159        66,402,978        (2,657,181)    
45 Fire Services 17,542,550        13,450,681        13,897,087        446,406        
06 Defence 7,442,831          6,842,386          7,213,164          370,778        
53 Bermuda Housing Corporation 6,587,000          6,587,000          6,587,000          -                    
27 Border Control 17,379,601        16,593,935        16,832,211        238,276        
83 Ministry of National Security HQ 1,337,022          1,337,022          1,410,234          73,212          

119,740,901      113,871,183      112,342,674      (1,528,509)    
Ministry of Economy, Trade & Industry
60 Labour & Training 5,485,283          5,463,851          6,085,400          621,549        
94 Ministry of Economy, Trade & Industry HQ 2,334,111          2,334,111          2,424,911          90,800          
13 Post Office 14,181,396        13,989,119        14,353,385        364,266        

22,000,790        21,787,081        22,863,696        1,076,615      
Ministry of Public Works
68 Parks 10,484,198        10,351,467        10,954,548        603,081        
69 Conservation Services 5,235,580          5,207,483          5,697,517          490,034        
82 Works & Engineering 52,244,936        38,777,373        33,652,672        (5,124,701)    
36 Ministry of Public Works HQ 24,270,491        11,751,596        9,192,767          (2,558,829)    

92,235,205        66,087,919        59,497,504        (6,590,415)    
Ministry of Government Estates & Information Services
18 Libraries 2,390,042          2,362,435          2,371,321          8,886            
43 Information Technology Office 9,292,626          8,147,628          7,884,515          (263,113)       
29 Registry General 1,331,958          1,288,262          1,463,505          175,243        
93 Ministry of Government Estates & Inform. Services HQ 515,946             515,879             624,691             108,812        
84 E-Government 990,488             990,451             1,096,616          106,165        
81 Public Lands & Buildings 41,096,293        24,386,012        20,619,956        (3,766,056)    
90 Energy, Telecommunications and E-Commerce HQ (17,546)             (19,869)             -                        19,869          
19 Department of Archives 1,399,631          1,377,506          1,481,143          103,637        

56,999,438        39,048,304        35,541,747        (3,506,557)    
Ministry of Business Development & Tourism
33 Tourism 30,207,319        28,694,651        30,244,831        1,550,180      
95 Ministry of Business Development & Tourism HQ 4,667,279          4,667,187          5,383,460          716,273        
67 E-Commerce 548,186             543,576             1,080,400          536,824        
39 Registrar of Companies 3,129,882          2,800,843          3,353,309          552,466        

38,552,666        36,706,257        40,062,000        3,355,743      

TOTAL CURRENT EXPENDITURE 1,245,741,006   1,083,464,446   1,071,714,980   (11,749,466)  

* Adjusted for Non-Budgeted, Non-Cash Items
**  Includes all Approved Supplementary amounts during the year
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 13: Commitments - Legislated
For the year ended March 31 2012 2011

Actual Actual
$ $

Unspent Capital Appropriations

Capital Development 18,715,029           9,402,418          
Capital Acquisition 7,037,781             8,210,178          

25,752,810           17,612,596        

Total Authorized Funding

Total Authorized Funding 962,730,796         1,029,096,754   
Projects Completed during the year (56,601,688)          (58,750,601)       

Revised Total Authorized Funding 906,129,108         970,346,153      
Appropriated Capital Development (514,348,192)        (529,369,862)     

Unappropriated Capital Development Commitments 391,780,916         440,976,291      

projects and is subject to the voting of supply by the Legislature. Estimated future
expenditure for continuing capital development projects is as follows:

In accordance  with Section 6 of the Appropriations Act 2011, unspent capital 
appropriations for incomplete capital projects to be carried forward to future years 
are as follows:

Total Authorized Funding represents the estimated total cost of capital development
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Government of Bermuda - Consolidated Fund
Schedule 14: Public Debt - Legislated Limit
As at March 31 2012 2011

Actual Actual

$ $

The Government Loans Act 1978, as amended (2011), defines public debt as debt owed or 
guaranteed by the Consolidated Fund, but only if and when, and to the extent that, the
guarantee obligation becomes due and payable by the Government.

Section 2A(1) of the Act limits public debt (net of sinking fund assets) to $1.45 billion 
(2011 - $1.25 billion) as amended as at March 27, 2012.

Debt (Schedule 7) 1,230,000,000     1,030,000,000      
Overdraft Facility Drawdown (Note 16) 120,720,014        57,490,260           

1,350,720,014     1,087,490,260      
Less:
Sinking Fund (Schedule 7) 114,747,081        85,508,498           

Public Debt 1,235,972,933     1,001,981,762      
Legislated Limit 1,450,000,000     1,250,000,000      

Available  Limit 214,027,067        248,018,238         
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Minister of Finance Response on the Report of the Parliamentary 

Standing Committee on the Public Accounts on the Special Report of 

the Auditor General on the Misuse of Public Funds  

 

TO HIS HONOUR THE SPEAKER AND MEMBERS OF THE 

HONOURABLE HOUSE OF ASSEMBLY: 

 

Introduction 

 

Mr. Speaker, I am grateful for this opportunity to respond to the Public 

Accounts Committee (PAC) Report on the Special Report of the Auditor 

General on the Misuse of Public Funds that was tabled in this Honourable 

House on March, 2012. This PAC Reported focused on the outstanding 

section – Inappropriate Use of Public Funds for Payment of Personal Legal 

Expenses.    

 

Mr. Speaker, it should be noted that the above mentioned incident being 

reported on occurred under the former administration at a time that I was 

actually Chairman of the PAC. Unfortunately, the previous PAC was unable 

to report on this matter due to the change in Government. The change in 

Government has obviously led to delays in responding. Nevertheless, I 

table the Government's written response to the above mentioned PAC 

Report in order to complete the financial reporting accountability cycle 

within Government. 
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Since coming into office in December 2012, the Government has placed 

great emphasis on the need to make continued improvements to 

Government’s accounting and financial control systems and practices.  

 

As mentioned above, this PAC Report focuses on one particular matter – 

Inappropriate Use of Public Funds for Payment of Personal Legal 

Expenses of the Special Report on the Misuse of Public Funds as 

produced by the Auditor General in March 2012. For ease of reference I 

have attached the PAC Report as Annex I.  

 

Inappropriate Use of Public Funds for Payment of Personal Legal 

Expenses  

 

The Government acknowledges the work of the Public Accounts 

Committee in addressing items of concern relating to the above mentioned 

matter. I also note the findings and recommendations emanating from the 

PAC Report. 

As recommended by the PAC, I hereby inform this Honourable House of 

the recommendations submitted and in the PAC Report on the Special 

Report of the Auditor General on the Misuse of Public Funds - 

Inappropriate Use of Public Funds for Payment of Personal Legal 

Expenses and the actions that are to be taken in response to those 

recommendations.  
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Recommendation 1 - Section 5a of the Report: 

“PAC recommends that the Government examine amending Financial 

Instructions to allow for the Cabinet to support a civil action taken on behalf 

of a Minister against anyone who defames and damages the reputation or 

credibility of the Minister when he or she is carrying out his or her duties. 

The PAC also recommends that any amendment to Financial Instructions 

make it clear that any proceeds from any such action revert to the 

Government of Bermuda”. 

The Government is fully supportive of this recommendation and will ensure 

that any civil action taken on behalf of a Minister approved by Cabinet will 

be transparent and fully documented. One of the key findings in the PAC 

report was that whilst the former administration considered the funding of 

this action to be for a government purpose and was an appropriate course 

to follow in the interest of the Government, the Country and Bermuda’s 

international reputation, there was a lack of documentation to support this 

position. As mentioned above, any future civil actions taken by the 

Government on behalf of a Minister will be fully documented which will also 

make it clear that any proceeds from any such action revert to the 

Government of Bermuda. It should be noted that Financial Instructions 

already state that “Government funds or property should only be used for 

Government purposes and must not be used for personal reasons”. 

Accordingly there is no need to amend Financial Instructions to provide for 

this recommendation. The key requirement is to document the cases in 

which the Cabinet is to support a civil action taken on behalf of a Minister 

against anyone who defames and damages the reputation or credibility of 
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the Minister when carrying out his or her duties. This documentation will be 

the support for any payments made towards this matter. 

 

Recommendation 2 - Section 5b of the Report: 

“PAC recommends that the Government ensures that the Auditor General 

receives access to all Government files without delay. The Office of the 

Auditor General must have the cooperation of the executive of the day to 

be effective-the lack of access to information gives the impression, whether 

rightly or wrongly of something to hide. The PAC recognises the doctrine of 

legal privilege; however, if such communication is to a legal team funded by 

the Government, it is the opinion of the Committee that the Office of the 

Auditor General should have access to any information requested in 

accordance with section 14 of the Auditor Act 1990.” 

 

While the Government supports the PAC’s recommendation that the 

Auditor General should have access to any information requested in 

accordance with section 14 of the Audit Act 1990 (“the Act”), the 

Government, having taken legal advice from the Attorney General, does 

not accept that such information includes documents or information which 

is protected by legal professional privilege. The suggestion by the PAC in 

paragraph 5(b) of its report that the withholding of legal professional 

privileged documents or information gives the impression that there is 

something to hide fundamentally fails to comprehend why it is important to 

protect from disclosure to the public legal professional privileged 

information.  
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It is the opinion of the Attorney-General, who is charged under section 71 

of the Bermuda Constitution Order 1968 to be the principal legal adviser to 

the Government, section 14 of the Act does not entitle the Auditor General 

to have access to legal professional privileged information. 

It is important that the Government supports the non-disclosure of legal 

professional privileged information to the public in order to ensure that: 

(1) Government officials are not deterred from telling the whole truth to their 

attorneys for fear that such information may be made public; and 

(2)  Legal advisers are able to give honest and candid advice on a sound 

factual basis to the Government without couching such advice for fear 

that it may find its way into the public domain and used against the 

Government in any civil proceedings against the Government. 

 

The Government is a legal person and is entitled to the same protection 

against the disclosure of legal professional privilege information as any 

other person who seeks advice from legal counsel. 

In the present case, the Attorney-General informed the Auditor General 

(citing legal authorities) of her legal interpretation of section 14 of the 

Auditor Act 1990 and it is inappropriate for the PAC to infer in its findings 

and recommendation expressed in paragraphs 4(f) and 5(b) of its report 

that such legal opinion is incorrect without citing any legal authorities that 

support such an inference. It should be noted that under same section 14 

(d) of the Act, the Auditor General is entitled, in the exercise and for the 

purpose of his functions, to seek from the Attorney General in writing an 

opinion on any question regarding the interpretation of any statutory 
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It is the opinion of the Attorney-General, who is charged under section 71 

of the Bermuda Constitution Order 1968 to be the principal legal adviser to 

the Government, section 14 of the Act does not entitle the Auditor General 

to have access to legal professional privileged information. 

It is important that the Government supports the non-disclosure of legal 

professional privileged information to the public in order to ensure that: 

(1) Government officials are not deterred from telling the whole truth to their 

attorneys for fear that such information may be made public; and 

(2)  Legal advisers are able to give honest and candid advice on a sound 

factual basis to the Government without couching such advice for fear 

that it may find its way into the public domain and used against the 

Government in any civil proceedings against the Government. 

 

The Government is a legal person and is entitled to the same protection 

against the disclosure of legal professional privilege information as any 

other person who seeks advice from legal counsel. 

In the present case, the Attorney-General informed the Auditor General 

(citing legal authorities) of her legal interpretation of section 14 of the 

Auditor Act 1990 and it is inappropriate for the PAC to infer in its findings 

and recommendation expressed in paragraphs 4(f) and 5(b) of its report 

that such legal opinion is incorrect without citing any legal authorities that 

support such an inference. It should be noted that under same section 14 

(d) of the Act, the Auditor General is entitled, in the exercise and for the 

purpose of his functions, to seek from the Attorney General in writing an 

opinion on any question regarding the interpretation of any statutory 
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provision. Hence, it appears that the Legislature intended the Attorney 

General to advise the Auditor General in regards the interpretation of any 

statutory provision, including provisions under the Auditor Act 1990.  

Mr. Speaker, it should be noted that the above mentioned position is 

consistent with the position of the former administration as recorded in their 

reply to the Special Report of the Auditor General on the Misuse of Public 

Funds dated December 19th 2011.  

 

Conclusion 

Mr. Speaker, I wish to express my thanks to the Auditor General and 

members of the Public Accounts Committee for their work in identifying and 

bringing forth their observations and recommendations to the attention of 

this Honourable House.  This Government is committed to strengthening 

the way in which it manages and controls Bermuda’s public finances and I 

have every confidence that continued improvements will be achieved. 
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Minister of Finance Response on the Report of the Parliamentary 

Standing Committee on the Public Accounts on: The Annual 

Report of the Auditor General on the work of the Office of the 

Auditor General and on the Accounts of the Government of 

Bermuda for the Financial Years Ended 31 March, 2009 and 2010  

 

Introduction 

 

Mr. Speaker, I am grateful for this opportunity to respond to the 

Public Accounts Committee Report on the Public Accounts for the 

financial years ended 31 March, 2009 and 2010. This Government 

appreciates that this process is an important component of the 

financial reporting accountability cycle within Government and will 

fulfill its duty to ensure that Government’s financial reporting is raised 

to its optimal level.     

 

Mr. Speaker, before I go into my formal response I would like to 

comment on the role of the Public Accounts Committee (PAC) and 

parliamentary procedure in general.  

 

When the Auditor General tables a report in the House it is 

automatically referred to the PAC, Parliament’s Standing Audit 

Committee. The Committee then selects the portions of the report it 

wants to scrutinise and calls public servants from audited 

organisations to appear before it to respond to the Auditor General’s 

findings. The PAC also reviews any other Special Auditor Reports 
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that have been tabled, and attempts to identify financial shortcomings 

of the Government in light of issues raised in the Auditor General’s 

reports. The Committee then tables its report and makes 

recommendations to the Government for improvements in spending 

practices and request that the Minister of Finance formally replies to 

the points raised in the Report and it is debated including input from 

the relevant and accountable Ministries and Ministers.  

 

Mr. Speaker, unfortunately, because of the passage of time, this PAC 

report is an historical document. While media reporting of the PAC 

Report conveys a sense of immediacy, nothing could be further from 

the truth. Yet, too often the PAC Report is thought to represent the 

status quo when in fact it has been overtaken by events and real 

progress has occurred.  

 

In fact, usually by the time a PAC Report is released more than three 

years has lapsed. Very often Government officials or boards of public 

sector entities – who have the fiduciary responsibility for their own 

accounts – have taken action already to address weaknesses or to 

make enhancements to financial systems and controls. As my 

remarks will show much has been done since 2009 and 2010 which 

this report refers to. In fact, Mr. Speaker during this period the current 

Government was not in office. 
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For ease of reference, I have adopted the same order as the PAC 

Report, which I attach as Annex I. Please note that the latest PAC 

Report relates to the years ending March 31, 2009 and 2010, clearly 

some of my comments may already be in the public domain.  

 

Budget Process and Control 

 

Mr. Speaker, the Ministry of Finance agrees with the Committee that 

during the 2009 – 2010 periods the budget process may not have 

kept up with modern times. Since this period major budget reform has 

occurred.  

 

Mr. Speaker, budgeting and financial performance starts at the very 

top of the government structure, which is with the Cabinet. Previous 

governments appear to have operated whereby Cabinet decided 

what services the Government desired to provide to the public and 

the spending budget became the total of all those services. This 

approach has been one of the key factors behind the fiscal crisis that 

the Bermuda Government finds itself in. 

 

This Government takes the opposite approach, virtually the same 

approach a prudent family would take when arranging its budget. Our 

approach is based on the cash inflows we expect to have available to 

spend. We then allocate spending limits to each ministry based on 

priorities so that services provided to the public fit within the overall 

budget limit. This is what is meant by living within one’s means. 
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Mr. Speaker, Honourable Members will recall, that during the 2013/14 

Budget debate it was announced that the Government was proposing 

that the 2014/15 National Budget provide Bermuda with a foundation 

for what will become a three-year revolving framework, one that will 

embed long-term structural reforms into the current account strategy, 

reforms that will allow us to adopt a multi-year approach to public 

sector financial planning.  

 

To transition to this model, we needed to adopt a medium-term plan 

that would enable us to consolidate and generally rebuild our revenue 

base, identifying new sources of income while underpinning existing 

sources. This required efforts on three fronts: better budget 

preparation, better and more transparent budget execution and 

systematic budget monitoring, the whole underpinned by clearly 

articulated sector strategies, efficient delivery agencies, and 

monitoring by oversight entities and the legislature and, most 

importantly, the public.  

 

Mr. Speaker, as promised we moved to a Medium Term Expenditure 

Framework (MTEF). This is the name given to Government’s medium 

term plans to eliminate the deficit and ultimately reduce the debt. The 

full implementation of a medium-term expenditure framework involved 

the introduction, from the 2014/15 budget cycle, of rolling three-year 

budgets and forward estimates to establish hard multi-year budget 

ceilings for Ministries. The MTEF program allows flexibility in the 
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allocation of resources across a series of annual budgets to meet 

objectives related to debt service and other Government 

commitments that cannot be achieved in a single budget cycle. This 

will enable the Ministry of Finance to begin to fulfill its commitment to 

changing the trajectory of deficits and debt over the medium-term. 

 

To achieve the Ministry of Finance’s strategy for fiscal consolidation 

(i.e. deficit reduction),  the Ministry set an ambitious target of cost 

savings on current account expenditure of 15 per cent , in real terms, 

to be achieved by the end of three years. We noted that this plan 

would be a challenge but could be accomplished if all Ministries work 

together. Further, the discipline of the exercise would also provide a 

strong platform for more effective financial management in the 

medium term. If fiscal consolidation is not successfully implemented, 

there is a material risk of further credit rating downgrades. 

 
Moving forward, the Government will drive fiscal policy management 

by top-down, hard debt targets rather than by bottom-up methodology 

of the past, whereby priority was given to spending plans. 

 

Mr. Speaker, the Budget Office is constantly encouraging all 

managers to commit to higher levels of financial rigor. It is their strong 

view that it is in the country’s interest for all senior executives in the 

public service to maintain a disciplined grip on the budgets that are 

under their charge. The introduction of budget checking in the 

Enterprise Resource Planning System (ERP) introduced in 2011 has 
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also assisted with enhanced budgeting monitoring. This capability 

has facilitated stronger control over the use of budgeted funds by 

ensuring that Ministries and Departments have budgeted funds 

available before committing to the procurement of goods and services 

on behalf of the Government of Bermuda. 

 

MMrr..  SSppeeaakkeerr,,  bbuuddggeettiinngg  iiss  nnoott  aann  eexxaacctt  sscciieennccee  aanndd  iitt  sshhoouulldd  bbee  

nnootteedd  tthhaatt  tthhee  MMiinniissttrryy  ooff  FFiinnaannccee  has procedures in place requesting 

all departments to seek supplementary Estimates before the actual 

overspend. On occasions it is impractical to prohibit overspending of 

appropriated amounts until the Legislature formally approves the 

necessary Supplementary due to timing differences and possible 

emergency expenditure. It must be emphasized that unapproved 

overspends are considered serious financial violations by the Ministry 

of Finance. During the annual budget training sessions conducted by 

the Budget Office the importance of Ministries staying within their 

budget allocation is constantly enforced.  

 

Mr. Speaker, the Budget Office will continue to oversee the 

transformation of the management of the public finances. Although 

there have been some improvements there is always room for further 

enhancement. Accordingly, Ministries are now required to enhance 

their monthly reports pertaining to their expenditure versus budget 

allocations so that slippage can be arrested before becoming 

problematic. This government is committed to changing the trajectory 

of deficits and debt going forward by implementing various measures. 
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Mr. Speaker, I noted the PAC’s concern with regard to limited 

independent review of the Budget. The Government agrees with this 

concern and announced in the 2015/16 Budget Statement that, to 

increase transparency and international credibility, Government 

intends to establish an international, independent committee to 

review, monitor, assess and publicly report on the fiscal progress of 

the government. It was noted that several other islands have also 

adopted similar outside assessors and it has helped bolster credibility 

and confidence. This monitoring committee will be established under 

aegis of the Financial Stability Framework regime already under 

development at the Bermuda Monetary Authority. 

 

Mr. Speaker, while I agree that it would be beneficial for Parliament to 

have their own independent budget offices to scrutinise the 

Executives budget to ensure it is able to deliver planned 

programmes. However such a body would itself use up government 

funds – funds which are already very scarce.   

 

Finally it should be noted that the Ministry of Finance currently 

produce quarterly fiscal date which is released to the public. 
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Revenue Raising 

 

Mr. Speaker, it was pointed out in the 2015/16 Budget Statement that 

a recent study comparing the tax/GDP ratios of small island 

economies illustrated that Bermuda had the lowest ratio. One could 

say kudos to Bermuda for keeping its taxes low. But that would only 

be appropriate if we were balancing or nearly balancing the budget; 

something that clearly is not the case. In view of the inherent and 

serious risks of running large deficits, this study implies that 

Bermuda’s taxes are not high enough to achieve or maintain long 

term fiscal sustainability. The bottom line is Customs Duties are no 

longer producing the portion of revenue that they once did, thus 

exacerbating the annual deficit. 

 

Mr. Speaker, as announced in the Budget speech, Government 

therefore has requested technical assistance from the Caribbean 

Regional Technical Assistance Centre (CARTAC), an IMF regional 

body, to study the feasibility of broadening Bermuda’s tax base.  

 

It was noted that a decision on the outcome of this analysis will be 

taken and communicated after a period of study and public 

consultation. 
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Debt Collection 

 

Mr. Speaker, another concern noted by the PAC in their report and 

shared by the Government is the matter of pension contributions and 

taxes in arrears. As previously stated, this Government places a high 

priority on collecting outstanding amounts owed. 

 

As the PAC Report indicates, Government financial statements show 

large amounts of money as Taxes Receivable. These represent taxes 

that should be paid to government according to law but have not 

been paid. As Government presently has to borrow money to pay 

monthly bills, every unpaid dollar owed to government increases the 

public debt and costs taxpayers the interest payable on that dollar. 

 

Due to the extended recession there are many small businesses that 

have struggled to meet their tax obligations in a timely fashion. 

Government will work with these businesses to make suitable 

arrangements. However, there are others who simply ignore their 

obligations. For this group Government will use all available means to 

collect overdue taxes, thereby improving Government’s cash flow and 

reducing its need for borrowing. 

 

Mr. Speaker, in-lieu of raising taxes or implementing new users fees, 

Governments are putting in strategies and measures to collect on 

their receivables/debts.  
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Some of the most effective strategies for debt collection are as 

follows: 

1. Automated notices and correspondence 

2. Centralized collections 

3. Use of law firms to augment  collection capacity  

4. Automated collection software 

5. Electronic payments 

6. Imposition of penalties and interest 

7. Increased staffing (lowest return on investment) 

 

It is incumbent on the Bermuda Government to take similar 

measures. One such strategy currently being considered by the 

Government relates to the use of law firms to supplement the Debt 

Enforcement Unit (DEU) within the Attorney General’s Chambers. 

 

Mr. Speaker, except where otherwise legislated, Government 

Departments are responsible for collecting outstanding amounts until 

such time as they become 90 days overdue, at which time they must 

be referred to the Accountant General Debt Collection Section which 

will initiate means of recovering the debt.  However, the Tax 

Commissioner and the Director of Social Insurance have their own 

debt collection resources.  The Tax Commissioner pursues taxpayers 

for, amongst other things, overdue Payroll Tax and Land Tax and the 
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Director of Social Insurance likewise recovers outstanding unpaid 

Social Insurance Contributions.  Once all efforts to collect receivables 

have been exhausted, the debt may be referred to the DEU of the 

Attorney-General’s Chamber for Supreme Court Writs.      

 

Currently, the DEU has two staff members and given the massive 

amount of outstanding taxes it is critical to beef-up this unit by 

engaging up to three law firms to secure and enforce court judgments 

against taxpayers who owe taxes in excess of 90 days.   

 

By engaging law firms to augment the manpower of the DEU, the 

Government will quickly strengthen its debt collection capabilities, 

without adding full time employees, and be able to aggressively 

reduce the amounts owed. 

 

Mr. Speaker, the Ministry understands that increased cooperation 

and liaison between Government departments can be quite effective 

in increased tax compliance. Currently, revenue collecting 

departments are supported by the various Government Departments 

who will withhold permits and vehicles licenses where taxpayers are 

in arrears with taxes. Government has also used the offsetting 

provision in the Public Treasury (Administration and Payments) Act 

1969 that allows Departments to recover any monies due to 

taxpayers from Government (i.e. Works and Engineering contracts).  

Also, Departments have set up installment plans and have 
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successfully progressed matters in the courts through the Department 

of Public Prosecution.   

 

The Government through the Office of the Tax Commissioner 

continues to make debt collection and enforcement a priority as well 

as taxpayer education and awareness. To assist with this the 

Government proposes to amend existing tax legislation in order to 

increase the Tax Commissioner's powers for debt collection as well 

as impose stricter penalties for non-compliance and criminal tax 

evasion.  

 

Mr. Speaker, despite these measures, the Ministry is neither satisfied 

nor complacent. As a result, the Ministry will enhance cooperation 

between Government departments by regularizing this process by 

way of the development of an MOU as suggested by the PAC. 

 

Mr. Speaker, the Government will continue to take an aggressive 

stance in recouping tax and pension arrears in order to establish the 

settlement of Government debt as a priority.  

 

Financial Instructions 

 

Mr. Speaker, Honourable Members are aware that Government’s 

Financial Instructions (FI) provide the basis for the financial controls, 

processes, and procedures under which the Government operates. 
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To ensure compliance with FIs the Accountant General’s Department 

ensures that Financial Instructions (FI) are available to, and delivers 

FI training in conjunction with the Department of Human Resources 

for, all Public Officers.  

 

Incidents of non-compliance with Financial Instructions have to be 

reported to the Accountant General who ensures that appropriate 

action is taken against the violating parties. 
 
 

Late Financial Reporting 

 

To facilitate sound financial management and planning, reliable and 

timely information is required. To achieve efficient management - 

flexible and responsive management requires an ongoing flow of 

management information.   

 

Mr. Speaker, I note the PAC’s long-standing concerns with regard to 

late and inadequate financial reporting of certain government entities 

and public funds. Whilst we acknowledge there are still obstacles to 

overcome with regard to late financial reporting for some Government 

entities and public funds, these obstacles are being addressed and 

will be resolved. 

 

I can report to the general public that progress is being made. In 

many cases, management accounts have been prepared and 
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significant progress has been made with regard to bringing all public 

sector entities’ accounts up to date.  

 

Mr. Speaker, the delays in submitting and auditing some public sector 

accounts, combined with enhanced auditing standards are providing 

further challenges to the auditing process. Therefore, in some 

instances, in order to complete the auditing process, the Auditor 

General may have to issue qualified or in some cases disclaimer of 

opinions. 

 

The Ministry of Finance will work with all public sector entities and the 

Auditor General in order to bring all public sector entities’ accounts up 

to date in an auditable state. It is anticipated that with the provision of 

timely auditable financial statements the Auditor General will obtain 

comfort that the pre-conditions for future audits exists and that the 

financial statements will provide information for decision making and 

for accountability purposes. 

 

Relevant Government entities will have to play their part to rectify this 

problem by bringing all outstanding accounts up to date and 

delivering them in an auditable state to the Office of the Auditor 

General. 
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Outstanding Auditor General’s Recommendations 

 

The Government has placed great emphasis on the need to address 

the numerous recommendations made by the Auditor over the years 

and on making continued improvements to Government’s accounting 

and financial control systems and practices. The Accountant 

General’s Department continues to work with Controllers in Ministries 

to ensure audit recommendations that have been noted and accepted 

in prior years are addressed expediently.  

 

PAC Recommendations 

 

Mr. Speaker, I have already provided a fulsome reply to the PAC 

Report. Some of this commentary addresses the various PAC 

Recommendations. For the sake of good order I will provide a brief 

reply to each recommendation in Section 5 of the Report. 

 

Recommendation 5.1.a 

TThhee  MMiinniissttrryy  ooff  FFiinnaannccee  aallrreeaaddyy  has procedures in place requesting 

all departments to seek supplementary Estimates before the actual 

overspend. 

 

Recommendation 5.1.b 

As part of the budget monitoring and control exercises all 

Ministries/Departments are required to review expenditure 

performance and to confirm, on a monthly basis, their current and 
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capital account expenditure performance with the Budget Office. Also 

as part of the enhanced on-going budget monitoring and control 

exercises, the Ministry reports to Cabinet on at least a quarterly basis 

on the overall financial performance of the Government’s 

expenditures and revenues.  

 

If in the course of Ministries’ budget monitoring and control exercises 

they report to the Ministry of Finance that they have potential budget 

overages in certain Departments, these Ministries, in the first instance 

are still required to seek expenditure reduction in other areas of the 

Ministry to cover these items. Also in cases of budget overages in 

one Ministry, Cabinet is asked to realign Ministry budget 

appropriations, including both current and capital expenditures. This 

is to facilitate any additional expenditures that may arise during the 

year. 

 

In cases of budget overages in current account the Budget Office will 

seek to offset these additions by reducing capital spend. 

 

Recommendation 5.1.c 

All Total Authorised Funding (TAF) increases are approved by the 

House either via a Supplementary Estimate or during the normal 

budget appropriation process in the budget session. Any increases in 

the TAF of a project are noted in the “Capital Account Estimates” 

pages in the Budget Book. The PAC is referred to the “Notes to 

Schedule B – Capital Development” in the Budget Book. 
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Recommendation 5.2.a 

The Ministry already publishes aggregate quarterly revenue spending 

figures. This can be incorporated into a mid-year report on 

Government finances to the House. 

 

Recommendation 5.2.b 

The Ministry already publishes aggregate quarterly revenue spending 

figures. It should be noted that PATI requires each Department to 

publish their quarterly spending figures. 

 

Recommendation 5.2.c 

As mentioned in my reply, the Government’s budget methodology 

has been changed to the Medium Term Expenditure Framework. 

Ministries and Departments still use the ZBB rankings during their 

internal budget preparations. It should be noted that the Budget is 

presented at the service level and clearly shows which programmes 

are funded. 

 

Recommendation 5.2.d 

This recommendation will be further considered.  

 

Recommendation 5.3.a 

As mentioned in this report the Ministry will be conducting a review of 

the current tax system. Tax administration will also be included in this 

review. 
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Recommendation 5.3.b 

The Government supports this recommendation. Currently 

Government departments do cooperate on tax collection matters. 

This cooperation will be enhanced. 

 

Recommendation 5.3.c 

The Government supports this recommendation. 

 

Recommendation 5.3.d 

The Government supports this recommendation. As noted in the reply 

the Government is seeking to supplement the DEU with law firms. 

 

Recommendation 5.3.e 

This recommendation will be discussed with the Attorney General. 

 

Recommendation 5.3.f 

Due to potential resource implications, this long standing 

recommendation will only be considered after other debt collection 

strategies have been implemented.  

 

Conclusion 

 

Government and governance is dynamic and just as the international 

regulatory environment has a shifting and changing landscape so too 

it is with the process of government. More is being required of all civil 
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servants, Permanent Secretaries/Chief Accounting Officers and of the 

Ministers of the Government and associated agencies. 

 

The Government appreciates and highly values the efforts of the 

Standing Committee on Public Accounts to strengthen the 

Government’s accountability to Parliament, and to enhance the 

Committee’s contributions to public policy and administration.  The 

Government fully supports the Committee in fulfilling its important 

mandate. 

 

To this end, the Government will continue to work with the Committee 

and respond to its reports and requests for information in a manner 

that appropriately respects the respective roles of Cabinet, Ministers 

and Public Officers within our system of responsible government.  

 

The Government is committed to strengthening the way in which it 

manages and controls Bermuda’s public finances and I have every 

confidence that continued improvements will be achieved. Under this 

administration, there is every expectation that Government’s financial 

reporting and stewardship will reach the highest possible standards.  

 

 

17 July 2015 

FS 40-3       
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